NOTICE OF REGULAR MEETING AGENDA

b LANCASTER CITY COUNCIL

MUNICIPAL CENTER CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS
—‘ 211 N. HENRY STREET, LANCASTER, TEXAS TR
Lancaster ) ’ !

Monday, September 26, 2011 — 7:00 P.M.

CALL 7O ORDER

INVOCATION: MINISTERIAL ALLIANCE
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: COUNCILMEMBER STANLEY JAGLOWSKI

PRESENTATION: EAGLE SCOUT

CITIZENS’ COMMENTS: (At this time citizens who have pre-registered before the call to order will be
allowed to speak on any matter other than personnel matters or matters under litigation, for a length of time
not to exceed three minutes. No Council action or discussion may take place on a matter until such matter
has been placed on an agenda and posted in accordance with law.)

ACTION

1. Consider confirmation of Larry Flatt as Chief of Police of the Lancaster Police
Department; and administer the Oath of Office.

CONSENT AGENDA: (items listed under the consent agenda are considered routine and are generally
enacted in one motion. The exception to this rule is that a Council Member may request one or mare items to
be removed from the consent agenda for separate discussion and action.)

2C. Consider approval of minutes from the City Council Regular Meeting held
September 12, 2011.

3C. Consider Resolution 2011-09-82 of the City Council of the City of Lancaster, Texas,
authorizing a lease agreement with Chase Equipment Finance for the purchase of
telephone equipment and maintenance from Comm3 through a cooperative
purchasing agreement with the Department of Information Resources (DIR) contract
#DIR-SDD-1603 for a total amount not to exceed $383,605.20; authorizing the City
Manager to execute the agreement pursuant to approval; providing a repealing
clause; providing a severability clause; and providing an effective date.

4C. Consider Resolution 2011-09-83 of the City Council of the City of Lancaster, Texas,
approving funding of the Texas Department of Transportation (TXDOT) 1218LNCAS
project for 2012 through 2014 at the Lancaster Regional Airport; authorizing the City
Manager to execute said funding; providing a repealing clause; providing a
severability clause; and providing an effective date.



City Council Agenda
September 26, 2011
Page Two

5.

PUBLIC HEARING

Conduct a Public Hearing and consider an ordinance of the City of Lancaster,
Texas, amending the Lancaster Development Code by amending Article 14.400,
Section 14.402, subsection (c)(6), Community Or Halfway House, for the purpose of
removing reference to Community or Halfway Houses, adding the definition of
"boarding home” and requiring a Specific Use Permit for any said use in Multi-Family
residential zoning districts (MF-16); amending Article 14.400, Section 14.402 for the
purpose of adding subsection (c)11) to add the definition of "penal boarding home”
and requiring a Specific Use Permit for any said use in Light Industrial (LI} and
Medium Industrial (Ml) zoning districts; amending Article 14.400, Section 14.401
Land Use Schedule, for the purpose of amending Table 1, Land Use Tables, to
remove reference to "halfway house” and to reflect the requirement for Specific use
Permits for any Boarding Home use in Muiti-Family residential zoning districts (MF-
16) and for any Penal board Home use in Light Industrial (LI) and Medium Industrial
(Mt) districts; amending Article 14.1300, Section 14.1302, subsection (a) General
Definitions, for the purpose of amending the definitions of "boarding house or lodging
house” and "family” and adding the definition of "penal boarding home”; providing a
repealing clause; providing a severability clause; providing a penalty of fine not to
exceed two thousand dollars ($2,000); and providing an effective date.

ACTION

6.

Discuss and consider an ordinance of the City of Lancaster, Texas, authorizing the
issuance of City of Lancaster, Texas, Tax and Waterworks and Sewer System
Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2011; and containing other
matters incident thereto.

Discuss and consider confirmation of a Civil Service Commission appointment as
designated by the City Manager.

Discuss and consider confirmation of nominations by the Planning and Zoning
Commission for appointment to the Lancaster Historic Landmark Preservation
Committee (HLPC).

ADJOURNMENT

EXECUTIVE SESSION: The Council reserves the right to convene into executive session on any

posted agenda item pursuant to Section 551.071(2) of the TEXAS GOVERNMENT CODE to seek legal
advice concerning such subject.
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ACCESSIBILITY STATEMENT: The Municipal Center is wheelchair-accessible. For sign
interpretive services, call the City Secretary’s office, 972-218-1311, or TDD 1-800-735-2989, at
least 72 hours prior to the meeting. Reasonable accommodation will be made to assist your needs.

Certificate
| hereby certify the above Notice of Meeting was posted at the Lancaster City Hall on
, 2011 @ and copies thereof were hand

delivered to the Mayor, Mayor Pro-Tempore, Deputy Mayor Pro-Tempore and Council
members.

Dolle K. Downe, TRMC
City Secretary
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Agenda Communication for
September 26, 2011

AG11-001

Consider confirmation of Larry Flatt as Chief of Police of the

Lancaster Police Department; and administer the Oath of Office.

This request supports the City Council 2010-2011 Policy Agenda.

Goal 4: Professional & Committed Workforce

Background

Section 143.03 of the Texas Local Government Code requires the appointment of a
person as head of the police department to be confirmed by the municipality's governing
body.

Larry Flatt has been appointed to serve as Police Chief for the Lancaster Police
Department.

Chief Flatt has served the City of Lancaster for 42 years and is a certified master police

officer, a graduate of the FBI National Academy and a lifelong resident of the City of
Lancaster. His promotion follows eight years of service as Assistant Police Chief with the

City.
Recommendation

The City Manager respectfully requests the confirmation of Larry Flatt as Police Chief for
the Lancaster Police Department.

Following confirmation by the City Council, the City Secretary will administer the Oath of
Office.

Prepared and submitted by:
Opal Mauldin Robertson, City Manager

Date: September 15, 2011
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AG11-002

Consider approval of minutes from the City Council Regular
Meeting held September 12, 2011.

Background

Attached for your review and consideration are minutes from the:

o City Council Regular Meeting held September 12, 2011

Prepared and submitted by: Doile K. Downe, City Secretary
September 14, 2011






MINUTES
LANCASTER CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 12, 2011

The City Council of the City of Lancaster, Texas, met in Regular session in the Council
Chambers of City Hall on September 12, 2011 at 7:00 p.m. with a quorum present to-wit:

Councilmembers Present:

Mayor Marcus E. Knight

Walter Weaver

Stanley Jaglowski

Marco Mejia

James Daniels

Mayor Pro Tem Clyde Hairston
Deputy Mayor Pro Tem Nina Morris

City Staff Present:

Opal Mauldin Robertson, City Manager

Sean Johnson, Parks and Recreation Director
Sheree Haynes, Finance Director

Dori Lee, Human Resources Director

Clovia English, Public Works Director

Larry Flatt, Police Chief

Thomas Griffith, Fire Chief

Robert E. Hager, City Attorney

Dolle Downe, City Secretary

Call to Order:
Mayor Knight called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. on September 12, 2011.

Invocation:
Pastor Martin Cottman gave the invocation.

Pledge of Allegiance:
Councilmember Walter Weaver led the Pledge of Allegiance.

Citizens Comments:

James Leveretz, 604 C.R. 4557, Winnsboro, Texas, stated he has been a tenant at the airport
since 1986; commented that he had received a letter from the airport manager; stated that some
of the larger airport hangars have roof leaks and need insulation, grading of the taxiway is
needed to keep water out and that materials for these repairs are stored in a hangar, but no
work has been done; stated that the new fee schedule includes rate increases for the hangars,
but there has been no repair work; asked Council to do their due diligence about airport matters.

R. Taylor, 514 Aspen, stated his concerns had been submitted to the City Manager in a letter,
but he has had no response to date; commented that he had called Councilmember Mejia with
no response, stated he is being stalked and harassed by a city employee; provided a copy of
the letter for Council.

Councilmember Mejia stated that he would meet with him and the City Manager.
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April Bailey, 214 Hill Lane, Red Oak, commented that as a former employee of the City, she
was here to support Mr. Taylor’s claim about being harassed by a city employee.

James Adams, 2003 Hash Road, commented that he is opposed to items 16 & 17 [CPI increase
for Allied Waste Services]; stated that the City should not grant a cost-of-living allowance to
Allied Waste or increase the rate on garbage collection.

Pat Wood, 121 Ellis Street, commented that as the 2™ Saturday on the Square Coordinator, she
would like to commend the job that City staff is doing in getting ready for the 2™ Saturday
events; stated that it is important to promote the Town Square and asked councilmembers to
please support Town Square activities.

Richard Griesman, 128 Pecan Grove, expressed concern about rental of the kitchen area at the
Senior Life Center; stated that originally the kitchen area was not to be rented; commented that
if it is going to be rented, there should be an increased deposit to cover clean-up or damage.

Consent Agenda:
City Secretary Downe read the consent agenda.

1C.  Consider approval of minutes from the City Council Regular Meeting held August
22, 2011.

2C. Consider Resolution 2011-09-72 of the City Council of the City of Lancaster,
Texas, adopting the City of Lancaster Financial Policy providing for prudent
financial management of all funds to enable the City to maintain a long term stable
and positive financial condition and provide guidelines for the day-to-day
planning and operation of the City’s financial matters; and providing an effective
date.

3C. Consider Resolution 2011-09-73 of the City Council of the City of Lancaster,
Texas, adopting the City of Lancaster Investment Policy; providing that all funds
of the City be managed and invested for safety, liquidity, diversification and yield
and that investments be chosen in a manner which promotes diversity by market
sector, credit and maturity; providing that this Policy serves to satisfy the
requirements of Chapter 2256 “Public Funds Investment Act”; and providing an
effective date.

4C. Consider an ordinance of the City of Lancaster, Texas, amending the Code of
Ordinances, by amending Chapter 13, Article 13.500, Section 13.508 Collection of
Water Service Charges, by amending the billing and collection for water and/or
sewer bills; providing a repealing clause; providing a severability clause; and
providing an effective date.

5C. Consider Resolution 2011-09-74 of the City Council of the City of Lancaster,
Texas, electing to require the remittance of a Public Educational and Government
(PEG) fee by holders (Time Warner Cable) of a state issued Certificate of
Franchise Authority; and providing an effective date.
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6C. Consider Resolution 2011-09-75 of the City Council of the City of Lancaster,
Texas, authorizing the Mayor to execute an Assignment of Pipeline License to the
Trinity River Authority of Texas for a sewer pipeline running through the Bear
Creek Force Main Crossing through the Burilington Northern Santa Fe Railway UP
98 Right-of-way and operated by the Trinity River Authority Red Oak Creek
Regional Wastewater System; repealing all resolutions in conflict; providing a
severability clause; and providing an effective date.

7C. Consider Resolution 2011-09-76 of the City Council of the City of Lancaster,
Texas, approving the terms and conditions of the First Amendment to the
interlocal agreement by and between the University of Texas Southwestern
Medical Center at Dallas and the City of Lancaster for services related to the
provision of paramedic continuing education; authorizing the City Manager to
execute said amendment; providing a severability clause; and providing an
effective date.

MOTION: Mayor Pro Tem Hairston made a motion, seconded by Deputy Mayor Pro Tem
Morris, to approve consent items 1C - 7C. The vote was cast 7 for, 0 against.

8. Conduct a Public Hearing on the proposed Fiscal Year 2011-2012 budget and
consider an ordinance of the City of Lancaster, Texas, approving and adopting a
budget for the fiscal year beginning October 1, 2011 and ending September 30,
2012; providing that expenditures for said fiscal year shall be in accordance with
said budget; providing for the repeal of all ordinances in conflict; providing a
severability clause; and providing an effective date.

City Manager Mauldin Robertson stated that the fiscal year budget presented for 2011-2012
maintained the same tax rate but apportions the allocation differently by decreasing the
maintenance and operations from $0.6502 to $0.6012 and increasing the interest and sinking
fund portion from $0.2173 to $0.2663. City Manager Mauldin Robertson commented that work
sessions had been conducted on the proposed budget on August 1 and 15 and a public hearing
was held at the August 22 City Council meeting.

Mayor Knight opened the public hearing.
There were no requests to speak.

MOTION: Mayor Pro Tem Hairston made a motion, seconded by Deputy Mayor Pro Tem
Morris, to close the public hearing. The vote was cast 7 for, 0 against.

Councilmember Mejia commented that the City has come a long way and commended the City
Manager and her staff on their work on the budget; he noted that everyone needs to realize we
are in a recession and there is a long way to go. Councilmember Mejia stated that he gave up
his Council travel budget and reimbursed the City luncheon costs incurred in this fiscal year.
Councilmember Mejia also noted he had given up the City cell phone and was ready to go
paperless for agenda packet, commenting that everyone is a steward of taxpayer money.
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MOTION: Mayor Pro Tem Hairston made a motion, seconded by Counciimember Daniels, to
approve the ordinance adopting a budget for the fiscal year beginning October 1, 2011 and
ending September 30, 2012.

MOTION: Councilmember Weaver made a motion to amend Mayor Pro Tem Hairston’s motion
to remove the City Council travel line items from the budget except for $2,000 for the Mayor to
represent the City and to make those funds undesignated in the general fund. The motion was
seconded by Councilmember Mejia.

Councilmember Daniels commented that the travel funds are used for participation in events
and training that is valuable to the citizens of Lancaster.

Deputy Mayor Pro Tem Morris stated that continuing education is vital for everyone both in
government and in the corporate world, saying that she understands we are in a recession, but
it is a necessary part of the job in representing the citizens.

Councilmember Mejia stated that all kinds of training are available through a wide vanety of
resources including the internet and networking. He commented that Council needs to lead the
City out of the recession.

Mayor Pro Tem Hairston stated that the Council travel budget had been reduced the last two
fiscal years and that Council is taking a cut, commenting that training and participation in City
events is beneficial.

The vote was cast 2 for [Weaver, Mejia), 5 against [Jaglowski, Knight, Daniels, Hairston, Morris]
on Councilmember Weaver's amendment to the original motion. The motion fails.

The vote was cast 6 for, 1 against [Mejia] on the original motion to approve the ordinance
adopting a budget for the fiscal year beginning October 1, 2011 and ending September 30,
2012. The budget, as presented, is adopted.

9. Conduct a Public Hearing on the proposed tax rate for Fiscal Year 2011-2012 and
consider an ordinance of the City of Lancaster, Texas, levying ad valorem taxes
for Fiscal Year 2011-2012 at $0.8675 per one hundred dollars assessed valuation
of all taxable property within the corporate limits to provide additional revenues
for maintenance and operations and interest and sinking funds requirements;
providing due and delinquent dates, penalties, and interest; providing a
homestead exemption and disability exemption; and providing an effective date.

City Manager Mauldin Robertson noted that the total tax rate remains the same with
maintenance and operations decreasing to $0.6012 and the interest and sinking fund increasing
to $0.2663.

Mayor Knight opened the public hearing.

There were no requests to speak.



City Council Meeting
September 12, 2011
Page 5 of 12

MOTION: Deputy Mayor Pro Tem Morris made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem
Hairston, to close the public hearing. The vote was cast 7 for, 0 against.

MOTION: Councilmember Daniels made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Hairston, to
approve an ordinance levying ad valorem taxes for Fiscal Year 2011-2012 at $0.8675 per one
hundred dollars assessed valuation of all taxable property within the corporate limits to provide
additional revenues for maintenance and operations and interest and sinking funds
requirements; providing due and delinquent dates, penalties, and interest; and providing a
homestead exemption and disability exemption. The vote was cast 6 for, 1 against [Mejia].

Deputy Mayor Pro Tem Morris thanked the City Manager for the diligent work on the budget and
for keeping the tax rate the same while allocating more money to the debt service.

10.  Discuss and consider Resolution 2011-09-77 of the City Council of the City of
Lancaster, Texas, ratifying the budget for the Fiscal Year 2011-2012 that results in
a decrease of revenues from property taxes than the previous years; and
providing an effective date.

City Manager Mauldin Robertson stated that a separate vote of the governing body is required
to ratify the budget for fiscal year 2011-2012.

MOTION: Mayor Pro Tem Hairston made a motion, seconded by Councilmember Daniels, to
approve a budget that will result in a decrease of revenue from property taxes than the previous
year and to ratify a property tax revenue decrease reflected in said budget [Resolution 2011-09-
77). The vote was cast 7 for, 0 against.

Mayor Knight commented that he appreciated the budget process this year and commended the
City Manager and staff for their hard work on the budget. Mayor Knight noted that three Town
Hall meetings were held on the budget and encouraged citizens’ participation in the budget
process.

Mayor Pro Tem Hairston commented that he appreciated the transparency in the budget
process this year and thanked the City Manager and staff.

11.  Discuss and consider an ordinance of the City of Lancaster, Texas, making certain
findings in connection with the proposed supplemental services ordered in
connection with the Lancaster Boardwalk Public Improvement District; providing
for: findings of benefits accrued, accepting five year service plan, recording final
assessment onto tax roll, setting the assessment levy, establishing a method of
payment, assessment due, and providing clauses for conflict, severability and
effective date.

City Manager Mauldin Robertson noted that a public hearing had been conducted on the
Boardwalk Public Improvement District at the August 22, 2011 Council meeting.
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MOTION: Councilmember Daniels made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Hairston, to
approve an ordinance making certain findings in connection with the proposed supplemental
services ordered in connection with the Lancaster Boardwalk Public Improvement District;
providing for. findings of benefits accrued, accepting five year service plan, recording final
assessment onto tax roll, setting the assessment levy, and establishing a method of payment,
assessment due. The vote was cast 7 for, 0 against.

12. Discuss and consider an ordinance of the City of Lancaster, Texas, making certain
findings in connection with the proposed supplemental services ordered in
connection with Millbrook East Public Improvement District; providing for:
findings of benefits accrued, accepting five year service plan, recording final
assessment onto tax roll, setting the assessment levy, establishing a method of
payment, assessment due, and providing clauses for conflict, severability and
effective date.

City Manager Mauldin Robertson noted that a public hearing had been conducted on the
Millbrook East Public Improvement District at the August 22, 2011 Council meeting.

MOTION: Mayor Pro Tem Hairston made a motion, seconded by Councilmember Daniels, to
approve an ordinance making certain findings in connection with the proposed supplemental
services ordered in connection with Millorook East Public Improvement District; providing for:
findings of benefits accrued, accepting five year service plan, recording final assessment onto
tax roll, setting the assessment levy, establishing a method of payment, and assessment due.
The vote was cast 7 for, 0 against.

13.  Discuss and consider an ordinance of the City of Lancaster, Texas, making certain
findings in connection with the proposed supplemental services ordered in
connection with the Meadowview Public Improvement District; providing for:
findings of benefits accrued, accepting five year service pian, recording final
assessment onto tax roll, setting the assessment levy, establishing a method of
payment, assessment due, and providing clauses for conflict, severability and an
effective date.

City Manager Mauldin Robertson noted that a public hearing had been conducted on the
Meadowview Public Improvement District at the August 22, 2011 Council meeting.

MOTION: Councilmember Daniels made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Hairston, to
approve an ordinance making certain findings in connection with the proposed supplemental
services ordered in connection with the Meadowview Public Improvement District; providing for:
findings of benefits accrued, accepting five year service plan, recording final assessment onto
tax roll, setting the assessment levy, establishing a method of payment, and assessment due.
The vote was cast 6 for, 1 against [Morris].
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14. Discuss and consider an ordinance of the City of Lancaster, Texas, establishing
Civil Service Classification within the Police and Fire Departments; prescribing
the number of positions in each classification; and providing an effective date.

City Manager Mauldin Robertson stated that the City Council must establish civil service
classifications and number of positions in the Police and Fire Departments each budget year.

Councilmember Mejia stated that given the budget problems the City is experiencing, it is
appropriate to restructure the Police Department to eliminate an Assistant Chief position and
use a captain position to save money.

MOTION: Mayor Pro Tem Hairston made a motion, seconded by Councilmember Daniels, to
approve an ordinance establishing Civil Service Classification within the Police and Fire
Departments and prescribing the number of positions in each classification. The vote was cast
6 for, 1 against [Mejia).

15. Discuss and consider an ordinance of the City of Lancaster, Texas, providing for
increased prior and current service annuities under the Act governing the Texas
Municipal Retirement System (TMRS) for retirees and beneficiaries of deceased
retirees of the City of Lancaster; and establishing an effective date for the
ordinance.

City Manager Mauldin Robertson outlined the proposed changes that reduce the cost-of-living
adjustment for retirees from 70% to 50% which will result in an estimated cost savings of
$177,000 for the City and reduces the City’s contribution rate from 15.59% to 13.7% and
increases the City’s funding ratio from 73.4% to 77.5%.

Councilmember Mejia expressed his concerns about the sustainability of the retirement benefit,
noting that previous Council’'s had changed the plan from twenty-five to twenty years service
which cannot now be changed. He commented that Council needs to be cautious with changes.

MOTION: Mayor Pro Tem Hairston made a motion, seconded by Councilmember Daniels, to
approve an ordinance providing for increased prior and current service annuities under the Act
governing the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS) for retirees and beneficiaries of
deceased retirees of the City of Lancaster. The vote was cast 7 for, 0 against.

16. Discuss and consider Resolution 2011-09-78 of the City Council of the City of
Lancaster, Texas, approving a Consumer Price Index (CPI) rate increase request
by Allied Waste Services; and providing an effective date.

City Manager Mauldin Robertson stated that Council is being asked to consider authorizing a
Consumer Price Index rate increase as provided in the agreement which will result in an
increase of $0.39 per month for residential customers and $0.51 per month for commercial
hand-collect accounts.
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Councilmember Daniels commented that this is allowed by the contract and there are no service
issues.

Deputy Mayor Pro Tem Morris asked why the City was not presented with a decrease for a fuel
adjustment since fuel prices have gone down and commented about the pick-up schedule being
moved forward one day for a holiday schedule and sometimes not picked up.

Brenda Lalonde, with Allied Waste Services, noted that no fuel adjustment or CPI rate increase
has been made in over a year and costs have increased.

Mayor Knight said that as a professional in the solid waste hauling business, he could comment
that it is typical to roll trash service to the next available day following a holiday and that if
someone did experience service problems [no pick-up], City Administration should be notified
promptly to address the problem. Mayor Knight further commented that he had reviewed the
rate with the City Manager and it is reasonable.

Counciimember Mejia asked about the dates of revisions to the service agreement. City
Manager Mauldin Robertson noted that the agreement was originally signed in 2001 and in
2005 went to a once a week pick up schedule, followed by a change in 2009 that implemented
the Recycle Bank program.

Councilmember Weaver asked how much is the actual cost to pick up the trash and what has
increased, commenting that he knows what the contract says, but does not think the City should
write a blank check for increases with no actual costs being presented.

Mayor Pro Tem Hairston commented that not everyone currently seated was on Council at the
time the changes were made to the Allied Waste agreement, but the contract was authorized by
the seated Council at the time and should be honored.

MOTION: Mayor Pro Tem Hairston made a motion, seconded by Councilmember Daniels, to
approve Resolution 2011-09-78 approving a Consumer Price Index (CPI) rate increase request
by Allied Waste Services. The vote was cast 4 for [Jaglowski, Knight, Daniels, Hairston], 3
against [Weaver, Mejia, Morris].

17. Discuss and consider Resolution 2011-09-79 of the City Council of the City of
Lancaster, Texas, amending Section 10.1700 of the Master Fee Schedule for fees
and charges assessed for garbage collection; providing a repealing clause; and
providing an effective date.

City Manager Mauldin Robertson noted that this item amends the Master Fee Schedule to
include the changes to the Allied Waste rates.

MOTION: Mayor Pro Tem Hairston made a motion, seconded by Councilmember Daniels, to
approve Resolution 2011-09-79 amending Section 10.1700 of the Master Fee Schedule for fees
and charges assessed for garbage collection. The vote was cast 4 for [Jaglowski, Knight,
Daniels, Hairston], 3 against [Weaver, Mejia, Morris].
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18. Discuss and consider Resolution 2011-09-80 of the City Council of the City of
Lancaster, Texas, amending the rate for certain fees and charges assessed and
collected by the City for water and wastewater services; providing a repealing
clause; and providing an effective date.

City Manager Mauldin Robertson outlined the request to amend the rates noting discussion by
Council at work sessions on August 1 and 15 and that utility rates maintained since 2009 are
marginally covering operating costs. The notice of violation to the City in regard to deficiencies
in elevated water storage by the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ) and
subsequent mandate requiring construction of an elevated water storage tank necessitate rate
increases.

Mayor Pro Tem Hairston asked about the elevated storage tank. City Manager Mauldin
Robertson noted the construction of the storage tank is part of the plan to the TCEQ to clear the
violation.

Deputy Mayor Pro Tem Morris asked what would happen if the storage tank is not built. City
Manager Mauldin Robertson stated that the TCEQ could fine the City if they are not in
compliance under the plan submitted by the City to TCEQ.

Counciimember Mejia commented on the water tower on Beltline that was built, but is not
operational, saying it was a big mistake. City Manager Mauldin Robertson commented that it
was built prior to her being with the City, but in reviewing the documents, noted that it was built
in anticipation of growth in that area and the storage tank to be built now to become compliant is
based on current number of connections and established growth.

MOTION: Mayor Pro Tem Hairston made a motion, seconded by Councilmember Daniels, to
approve Resolution 2011-09-80 amending the rate for certain fees and charges assessed and
collected by the City for water and wastewater service. The vote was cast 6 for, 1 against
[Mejial.

19. Discuss and consider Resolution 2011-09-81 of the City Council of the City of
Lancaster, Texas, providing for adoption of the new Master Fee Schedule for all
fees and charges assessed and collected by the City; providing a repealing
clause; and providing an effective date.

City Manager Mauldin Robertson noted the updated fee schedule included proposed changes to
the airport t-hangar fees which are comparable to other regional airports in the area and
updates other fees that support the adopted fiscal year 2011-2012 budget.

Mayor Knight asked if staff could help clarify the fee for rental of the kitchen at the Senior Life
Center. Parks and Recreation Director Johnson stated that fees for rental of the Senior Life
Center were lowered to encourage rental of the facility and that the kitchen is considered an
amenity. Director Johnson stated that there is a steeper deposit for rental of the facility and that
there is a plan in place to address any issues with clean-up and/or damage to the kitchen.
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MOTION: Mayor Pro Tem Hairston made a motion, seconded by Councilmember Daniels, to
approve Resolution 2011-09-81 providing for adoption of the new Master Fee Schedule for all
fees and charges assessed and collected by the City. The vote was cast 7 for, 0 against.

20. Receive a presentation and discuss draft redistricting plans from Bickerstaff
Heath Delgado Acosta LLP.

John Long with the firm of Bickerstaff Heath Delgado Acosta presented a proposed draft
Council redistricting plan based on input from individual councilmembers, 2010 Census data
and legal requirements for redistricting. Mr. Long noted that currently the council districts,
particularly District 4, are out of population balance, and the proposed district configuration
balances the populations while meeting legal requirements for redistricting.

Following the presentation, Mayor Knight called for a brief recess at 8:40 p.m. Council
reconvened at 8:45 p.m.

Councilmember Weaver asked if the proposed redistricting plan considered future population
growth. Mr. Long stated that it does not because the submission to the Department of Justice
for approval must be based on the 2010 Census data.

21. Discuss and consider designating one or more draft redistricting plans as
“Illlustrative Plan(s)" to be proposed for public consideration and comment.

MOTION: Councilmember Weaver made a motion, seconded by Councilmember Mejia, to
accept the draft redistricting plan, as presented, as the lllustrative Plan to be considered for
public comment. The vote was cast 7 for, 0 against.

22, Discuss and consider scheduling a public hearing date to receive public
consideration and comment on lllustrative Plan(s) as designated by City Council.

MOTION: Councilmember Weaver made a motion, seconded by Councilmember Mejia, to set
the public hearing for Monday, September 26, 2011 at 7 p.m. in the Council Chambers.

Councilmember Mejia suggested a friendly amendment to the motion to change the public
hearing date to Monday, October 3, 2011 to avoid conflict with a school district meeting
scheduled for September 26. Councilimember Weaver accepted the amendment.

AMENDED MOTION: Councilmember Weaver made a motion, seconded by Councilmember
Meijia, to set the public hearing for Monday, October 3, 2011 at 7 p.m. in the Council Chambers.
The vote was cast 7 for, 0 against.
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EXECUTIVE SESSION

23. The City Council shall convene into closed executive session pursuant to Section
§ 551.071 of the TExAs GOVERNMENT CODE to consult with and receive legal advice
from special legal counsel concerning the Voting Rights Act of 1964 and City
Council legal obligations.

24, Reconvene into open session. Consider and take appropriate action(s), if any, on
closed/executive session matters.

Mayor Knight indicated there is no need for Council to convene into Executive Session since no
legal consultation was needed regarding the proposed redistricting plan.

25. Discuss and consider appointment of council liaisons to City Boards and
Commissions.

Councilmembers discussed methods to break the tie since selection of council liaisons to
boards and commissions is based on council seniority. The three-way tie is among
Councilmembers Weaver and Mejia and Mayor Pro Tem Hairston. Mayor Pro Tem Hairston
desired to draw numbers; Councilmember Mejia desired to set up a rotation system whereby the
council member selecting first last year [Mayor Pro Tem Hairston] would select last this year
and Councilmember Mejia would defer to Counciimember Weaver to select first this year and
Counciimember Mejia would select first next year.

MOTION: Mayor Pro Tem Hairston made a motion, seconded by Councilmember Daniels, to
draw for numbers in order to break the tie among the three, with the person drawing the first
number selecting first and so forth. The vote was cast 3 for [Jaglowski, Daniels, Hairston], 4
against [Weaver, Mejia, Knight, Morris]. The motion fails.

MOTION: Councilmember Weaver made a motion, seconded by Councilmember Daniels, to
rotate the order of selection among the tied councilmembers with Councilmember Mejia
selecting first this year, he [Weaver] selecting second and Mayor Pro Tem Hairston selecting
third and to set the rotation for next year with Councilmember Mejia selecting first, Mayor Pro
Tem Hairston selecting second and he [Weaver] selecting third. The vote was cast 6 for, 1
against [Hairston).

Councilmembers selected the following boards and/or commissions to serve as council liaisons:

Airport Board Councilmember Weaver
Animal Shelter Advisory Committee Councilmember Mejia
Civil Service Commission Councilmember Weaver
Economic Development Corporation DMPT Morris

Historic Landmark Preservation Committee Councilmember Daniels

Property Standards and Appeals Board Councilmember Mejia
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Library Advisory Board MPT Hairston
Parks and Recreation Advisory Board /
Recreational Development Corporation MPT Hairston
Planning and Zoning Commission Councilmember Daniels
Youth Advisory Committee DMPT Morris
Zoning Board of Adjustment Councilmember Jaglowski

MOTION: Councilmember Weaver made a motion, seconded by Councilmember Daniels, to
adjourn. The vote was cast 7 for, 0 against.

The meeting was adjourned at 9:15 p.m.

ATTEST: APPROVED:

Dolle K. Downe, City Secretary Marcus E. Knight, Mayor



LANCASTER CITY COUNCIL 3

Agenda Communication for
September 26, 2011

AG11-003

Consider a resolution of the City Council of the City of Lancaster,
Texas, approving the proposal for telephone equipment and
maintenance from Comm3 through a cooperative purchasing

agreement with the Department of Information Resources (DIR)
contract # DIR-SDD-1603; authorizing staff to pursue a lease
agreement with Chase Financial Services for total lease payments not
to exceed $386,778.73 (financed amount $366,345); authorizing the

Purchasing Agent to issue a Purchase Order pursuant to approval,

repealing all resolutions in conflict, providing a severability clause;

and providing an effective date.

This request supports the City Council 2010-2011 Policy Agenda.

Goal 1: Financially Sound City Government

Background

The City of Lancaster currently uses a combination of Toshiba (legacy) hybrid telephone
system and a ShoreTel (newer) VoIP telephone system. There are many problems that
exist due to compatibility issues between the two systems (no caller ID between
systems, call transfer issues and management issues). Staff must support and maintain
separate user/mailbox/fax databases for each system. In October, 2007 the City
entered into a four year lease agreement with Tamco for the Toshiba system that will
expire on October 1%, 2011. In June, 2009 the City entered into a five year lease
agreement with Tamco for a ShoreTel VolP system. This new ShoreTel system was
installed at the newly built public safety building and both fire stations. This newer
ShoreTel system has a 15 year life span. It is a software based system which allows for
ease of upgrades and expansion, and has been recognized as the number one IP
telephony product on the market for 8 consecutive years by Nemertes Research. Its
modular design provides for limited failure points and system components, as well as
simple and affordable disaster recovery options available to the city should we need
them. The Toshiba legacy PBX technology has been modified to support some IP
technology. Since it is more hardware based, many updates and upgrades require more
component additions to upgrade. (i.e. additional hardware, modified hardware, and
software.) We believe the city would be better served not investing in legacy hardware
that will prove to be obsolete. Traditional systems in the category of our Toshiba system
have a limited life cycle time of approximately 7 years.
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The following are key benefits of the system.

Complexity - Less complexity to manage with the Information Technology team as the
system can be largely managed by city employees, which reduces staff time.
Resources can be shared as the system will be reduced to one phone type.

Shoretel phones have paperiess labels reducing the need to type and retype phone
labels each time you make system changes.

Instant city wide directory for all phone users with features such as search by name and
dial by name. Additionally, the electronic directory eliminates the need for paper
directories and provides access to all employees.

Visual of all City Staff via desktop application that indicates their availability, whether
they are on the phone or in their office.

Improved speed of City communications

Call handling modes will allow calls handied in the appropriate way based upon the
location of the employee and their status (out of office, in meeting, etc...)

In addition to the above employee benefits, citizens will experience better service in that
staff will be able to direct calls accordingly, know who is available {in the office or on the
phone), and with unified messaging it will allow staff to receive voicemail and faxes directly
to their email.

Considerations

Operational — Decrease IT staff time with the operation of one system instead of two
and provides new, updated equipment with better features. The software based system
allows for ease of upgrades and expansion, and the ShoreTel VoIP system has a life
span of 15 years.

Legal — The City maintains executed agreement with the above listed cooperative
agency. Texas law authorizes cooperative agreements to help save time developing
specifications and duplication during the bid process.

Financial — Funding is available in the current budget Fiscal Year.

Account Account Name Amount
01-0507-16 Lease Payments $386,778.73

Staff has obtained quotes from three financial companies to provide lease financial
services for this purchase. A Comparison is as followis.

Lender Estimated Monthly Payment
Chase Financial $ 6,393.42
NEC Equipment Finance $ 6,794.55
TAMCO Capital $ 7,557.58

The term of the lease will be for five years and provides a savings of approximately
$613.61 per month over the current lease.



Agenda Communication

September 26, 2011

Page 3

s  Public Information — There are no public information requirements.

Options/Alternatives

1. City Council may approve the purchase of the new phone equipment, and authorize staff
to pursue a lease agreement with Chase Financial Services for total lease payments not
to exceed $386,778.73 (financed amount $366,345).

2. City Council may reject and direct staff as appropriate.

Recommendation

Staff recommends approving the purchase of new phone equipment with Comm3 and
authorizing staff to pursue a lease agreement with Chase Equipment Finance in an amount
not to exceed $386,778.73 (financed amount $366,345).

Attachments

¢ Resolution
¢ Lease Comparison

Prepared and submitted by:
Dawn Berry, Purchasing Agent
Ron Gleaves, IT Manager

Date: September 13, 2011







RESOLUTION NO. 2011-09-82

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LANCASTER, TEXAS,
APPROVING THE PROPOSAL FOR TELEPHONE EQUIPMENT AND
MAINTENANCE FROM COMM3 THROUGH A COOPERATIVE PURCHASING
AGREEMENT WITH THE DEPARTMENT OF INFORMATION RESOURCES (DIR)
CONTRACT # DIR-SDD-1603; AUTHORIZING STAFF TO PURSUE A LEASE
AGREEMENT WITH CHASE FINANCIAL SERVICES FOR TOTAL LEASE
PAYMENTS NOT TO EXCEED $388,778.73 (FINANCED AMOUNT $366,345);
AUTHORIZING THE PURCHASING AGENT TO ISSUE A PURCHASE ORDER
PURSUANT TO APPROVAL; REPEALING ALL RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT;
PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Lancaster desires to purchase the telephone
equipment;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
LANCASTER, TEXAS, THAT:

Section 1. The City Council hereby approves the purchase of telephone equipment and
maintenance from Comm3 through a cooperative purchasing agreement with the
Department of Information Resources (DIR) for a total amount not to exceed three
hundred eighty-three thousand six hundred five dollars and twenty cents
($383,605.20).

Section 2. That the Purchasing Agent is hereby authorized to issue a purchase order.

Section 3. Any prior resolution of the City Council in conflict with the provisions contained in this
Resolution are hereby repealed and revoked.

Section 4. Should any part of this resolution be held invalid for any reason, the remainder shall
not be affected thereby, and such remaining portions are hereby declared severable.

Section 5. This resolution shall take effect immediately from and after its passage, and it is duly
resolved.

DULY PASSED and approved by the City Council of the City of Lancaster, Texas, on this the
26™ day of September 2011.

ATTEST: APPROVED:

Dolle K. Downe, City Secretary Marcus E. Knight, Mayor

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Robert E. Hager, City Attorney
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Chase Equipment Finance Larry Jackson
2200 Ross Avenue, 8™ Fl Vice President
Dallas, TX 75201

Tel: 214-965-3943 Fax: 214-965-3987

E-Mail: larry.j.jackson@jpmchase.com

July 26, 2011

Mr, Ron Gleaves

IT Manager - Technology Department
City of Lancaster

211 N. Henry 5t.

Lancaster, TX 75146

Re: Telephone and Communication System Financing

Dear Mr. Gleaves:

Chase Equipment Finance for itself, its parents and affiliates, its successors, and assigns, is pleased to
submit the following lease proposal for your review and consideration. This letter is a proposal only
and is contingent upon the Lessee’s compliance with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986 ("Code”), as amended, and all applicable state laws related to Lessee’s ability to enter into a
tax-exempt lease-purchase financing for the intended purposes. Upon your approval, this proposal will
constitute Lessee’s application to Lessor. This is for discussion purposes only and the terms and
provisions are subject, among other things, to approval in accordance with Lessor's internal
procedures, as well as certain additional conditions as set forth in the following.

LESSOR: JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A,
LESSEE: City of Lancaster, TX
TRANSACTION: Fixed-rate, fully amortizing, direct purchase tax-exempt

lease-purchase agreement ("Agreement”).

NON BANK QUALIFIED:; This proposal assumes that Lessee will issue less than $10
million in tax-exempt obligations this calendar year and that
the Lessee will designate this lease as a “bank qualified”
tax-exempt obligation.

APPROPRIATION: This Agreement shall be subject to appropriation.

USE OF PROCEEDS: To finance the acquisition of ShoreTel
Telephone/Communications Equipment

FINANCING AMOUNTS: Not to exceed $366,345

LOCATION OF EQUIPMENT: Lancaster, TX

COMMENCEMENT DATE: Anticipated to be no later than September 30, 2011, Pricing

assumes a Commencement Date of September 30, 2011.

©2011 JPMorgan Chase & Co.
All rights reserved
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FINANCING TERM:
INTEREST RATE:

PAYMENT / FREQUENCY:

ADJUSTMENTS TO RATE/PAYMENTS:

FORWARD RATE LOCK:

PREPAYMENT:

SECURITY:

5 years
2.15%; Interest Rate is valid through July 26, 2011
Monthly payments of principal and interest in arrears, with

first payment due on October 30, 2011. Amortization
schedule is attached.

‘ = of Tax-Exempt Annuat
Term

Payments Interest Rate Payment

The indicative, tax exempt Interest Rates above and the
related Payments quoted herein are based on current market
rates as indicated by the applicable Interest Rate Swap (mid)
(“Index Rate”), as published via Bloomberg News. Index
Rates (indicated below) are quotes as of July 26, 2011. For
every change (increase or decrease) in the Index Rate
between now and the Commencement Date, a corresponding
adjustment will be made to the Interest Rates/Payments to
maintain Lessor's economics. The final Interest
Rates/Payments will be computed and agreed to 3 days prior
to closing and will be firm for the entirety of the lease
schedule.

Rate Calculation: (IR SWAP*64.03%) + Spread = All-In Rate
Example:

3 yr Swap = .9650% * 64.03% + 1,5321 = 2.15%

Upon award of transaction and final credit approval, a formal
rate lock can be executed to maintain the Interest Rates.
The indicative Interest Rates for a specified closing date will
be provided upon request

Lessee and Lessor agree that so long as no Event of Default
has occurred and continues under the Lease and so long as
Lessee gives Lessor at least 30 days prior written notice,
Lessee may elect to prepay, in whole, on the next payment
date following the notice, the total of: all accrued interest,
late charges and other amounts then due and payable under
the Lease; plus the remaining principal balance payable by
Lessee under the Lease as of said prepayment date. Lease
documents shall include a make-whole premium in the event
principal is reduced at any time other than a scheduled
principal reduction date or at maturity.

Lessee will grant Lessor a first priority security interest in the
financed equipment.

Confidential Information: not to be shared with third parties

©2011 JPMorgan Chase & Co,
All rights reserved

CHASE ©
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DOCUMENTATION:

REPORTING REQUIREMENTS:

EVENTS OF DEFAULT:

DISBURSEMENT OF PROCEEDS:

MAINTENANCE & INSURANCE:

REPRESENTATION & WARRANTS:

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT:

GOVERNING LAW:

Lessor or its counsel shall prepare documentation. Lessee
shall also be responsible for its own expenses related to
review of the Lease documents and delivery of legal/validity
opinion to the Lessor. In the event of any conflict between
the provisions of the Lease Documents and the provisions of
the Request for Proposals, the provisions of the Lease
Documents shall control.

Lessee shall deliver audited annual financial statements
within 180 days of end of each fiscal year.

The Events of Default will be standard and customary for
transactions of this nature.

Chase Equipment Finance offers the following funding
options:

1. Direct payment to the vendor(s} or reimbursement of
funds to the lessee.

2. Escrow funding via an initial escrow deposit with
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (‘JPM’) equal to the full
Financing Amount from which disbursements will be
made to vendors, or reimbursements to Lessee (in
compliance with Treasury Reg. 1.150-2) as funds are
required. Interest earned will be utilized for Lessee’s
benefit to conform to the escrow agreement.

All maintenance and insurance are the responsibility of
Lessee, Lessee shall bear all risk of loss or damage to the
Equipment and shall be responsible for keeping the
Equipment insured with companies satisfactory to Lessor and
for such amounts as required by Lessor. Lessor, its parents
and affiliates, its successors, and assigns, must be named as
loss payee and additional insured as applicable, on all
insurance policies. Evidence of such insurance must be
satisfactory to Lessor.

Usual representations and warranties in connection with the
financing, including without limitation, absence of material
adverse change, absence of material litigation, absence of
Default or potential default and continued accuracy of
representations.

Usual and customary conditions related to the issuance of the
Tax Exempt financing, including acceptable legal
documentation and standard approvals from the City, State
and local officials, as may be required.

All aspects of the financing being discussed including this
Proposal and any loan documents would be governed by the
laws of the State of Texas.

Confidential Information: not to be shared with third parties

©2011 JPMorgan Chase & Co.
All rights reserved

CHASE QO
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ASSIGRMENT: This proposal assumes that Lessor will assign the transaction
to JPMorgan Chase & Co.

PROPOSAL EXPIRATION: This proposal shall expire unless Lessee acknowledges its

acceptance by signing and returning a copy of this proposal

to Lessor by 8/2/2011.

IRS Circular 230 Disclosure: JPMorgan Chase & Co. and its affiliates do not provide tax advice.
Accordingly, any discussion of U.S. tax matters contained herein (including any attachments) is not
intended or written to be used, and cannot be used, in connection with the promotion, marketing or
recommendation by anyone unaffiliated with JPMorgan Chase & Co. of any of the matters addressed

herein or for the purpose of avoiding U.S. tax-related penalties.

Please feel free to contact me at (214) 965-3943 or Katie Allen at 312-732-7194 if you have any

questions, or would like to discuss this proposal in greater detail.

Upon receipt of the accepted

proposal, we will promptly begin the approval process so that we may be in a position to finalize this

transaction with you. Thank you for allowing us to be of service!

Sincerely,

Chase Equipment Finance

Larry Jackson
Vice President
Chase Equipment Finance

cc: Reggie Peppers, Chase Bank, N.A.
Larry Jackson, Chase Equipment Finance

City of Lancaster, TX
Accepted Date:

Opal Mauldin-Robertson, City Manager

Confidential Information: not to be shared with third parties
©2011 JPMorgan Chase & Co.
All rights reserved

CHASEQ©
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date funding payment

Jul-13-11 366,345.00

Aug-13-11 6.446.31
Sep-13-11 6,446.31
Oct-13-11 6,448.31
Nov-13-11 6,446.31
Dec-13-11 6,446.31
Jan-13-12 6,446.31
Feb-13-12 6,446.31
Mar-13-12 6.448.31
Apr-13-12 6,446.31
May-13-12 6,446.31
Jun-13-12 6,446.31
Jul-13-12 6,446.31
Aug-13-12 6,446.31
Sep-13-12 6,446.31
Oct-13-12 6,446.31
Nov-13-12 6,446.31
Dec-13-12 6,448.31
Jan-13-13 6,446.31
Feb-13-13 6.446.31
Mar-13-13 6.446.31
Apr-13-13 6,446.31
May-13-13 6.446.31
Jun-13-13 6,446.31
Jul-13-13 6,446.31
Aug-13-13 6,446.31
Sep-13-13 6,446.31
Oct-13-13 6.448.31
Nov-13-13 6,446.31
Dec-13-13 6,446.31
Jan-13-14 6,446.31

Confidential Information: not to be shared with third parties

©2011 JPMorgan Chase & Co.
Al rights reserved

Interest princlpal
658.34 5,787.97
647.94 §,798.38
637.52 5,808.80
627.08 5,819.23
616.62 5,829.69
606.14 5,840.17
595.65 5,850.66
585.14 5,861.18
574.60 5,871.71
564.05 5,882.26
553.48 5,892.83
542.89 5,903.42
532.28 5.914.03
521.65 §,924.66
511.01 5,935.31
500.34 5,945.97
489.66 5,956.66
478.95 5,967.36
468.23 5,978.08
457.49 5,988.83
446.72 5,989.59
435.94 6,010.37
425.14 6,021.17
414.32 6,031.99
403.48 6,042.83
392.62 6,053.69
381.74 6,064.57
370.84 6,075.47
359.93 6,086.39
348.99 6,097.32

balance

366,345.00
360,557.03
354,758.65
348,949.85
343,130.62
337,300.93
331,460.76
325,610.1¢
319,748.92
313,877.21
307,994.95
302,102.12
296,198.69
290,284.66
284,360.01
278,424.70
272,478.73
266,522.07
260,554.71
254,576.63
248,587.80
242,588.21
236,577.84
230,556.67
224,524.68
218,481.85
212,428.16
206,363.59
200,288.12
194,201.73

188,104.41

CHASE ©
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Feb-13-14
Mar-13-14
Apr-13-14
May-13-14
Jun-13-14
Jul-13-14
Aug-13-14
Sep-13-14
Oct-13-14
Nov-13-14
Dec-13-14
Jan-13-15
Feb-13-15
Mar-13-15
Apr-13-15
May-13-15
Jun-13-15
Jul-13-15
Aug-13-15
Sep-13-15
Oct-13-15
Nov-13-15
Dec-13-15
Jan-13-16
Feb-13-16
Mar-13-16
Apr-13-16
May-13-16
Jun-13-16

Jul-13-16

366,345.00

Confidential Infermation: not to be shared with third parties

©2011 JPMorgan Chase & Co.
All rights reserved

6,446.31
6,446.31
6,446.31
6,446.21
6,446.31
6,446.31
6,446.31
6,446.31
6,446.31
6,446.31
6,446.31
6,446.31
6.446.31
6,446.31
6.446.31
6,446.31
6,446.31
6,446.31
6,446.31
6,446.31
6,446.31
6,446.31
6,446.31
6,446.31
6,446.31
6,446.31
6,446.31
6,446.31
6,446.31
6,446.31

386,778.73

338.03
327.05
316.06
305.04
294.01
282.95
271.87
260.78
249.66
238.53
227.37
216.20
205.00
193.78
182.55
171.29
160.02
148.72
137.40
126.06
114.71
103.33
91.93

80.51

69.07

57.61

46.13

34.63

23.11

11.56

20,433.73

€,108.28
6,119.26
6,130.25
6,141.27
6,152.31
6,163.36
6,174.44
6,185.53
6,196.65
6,207.79
6,218.94
6,230.12
6,241.31
6,252.53
6,263.76
6,275.02
6,286.30
6,297.59
6,308.91
6,320.25
6,331.61
6,342.98
6,354.38
6,365.80
6.377.24
6,388.70
6,400.18
6.411.68
6,423.21

6,434.75

366,345.00

181,996.13
175,876.87
169,746.62
163,605.35
157,453.04
151,289.68
145,115.24
138,929.71
132,733.06
126,525.27
120,306.33
114,076.21
107,834.90
101,5682.37
95,318.61
89,043.59
82,757.29
76,459.70
70,150.79
63,830.54
57,498.93
51,155.95
44,801.57
38,435.76
32,058.52
25,669.82
19.269.64
12,857.95
6,434.75

CHASE ©
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LANCASTER CITY COUNCIL 4

Agenda Communication for
September 26, 2011

AG11-004

Consider a resolution of the City Council of the City of Lancaster,
Texas, approving funding of the Texas Department Of
Transportation (TxDOT) 1218LNCAS project for 2012 through 2014
at Lancaster Regional Airport; authorizing the City Manager to
execute said funding agreement; providing a repealing clause;
providing a severability clause; and providing an effective date.

This request supports the City Council 2010-2011 Policy Agenda.

Goal 5: Sound Infrastructure

Background

The next phase in the airport master plan at Lancaster Regional Airport begins in 2012
and continues until 2014. This entails the design/engineering and construction of a new
aircraft apron, stub taxiway, connecting taxilane, helicopter landing apron, fuel farm,
parking lot, and associated service roads. A new south ramp is key to continuing the
airport master plan of increasing corporate jet business at the airport and increasing
general aviation transient traffic all centered around a future planned terminal building.
Having a new, larger, and more centrally located apron is crucial to boosting revenues,
business and development at the airport. The airport has already experienced a growth in
corporate jets by a factor of 8 since the runway was extended in 2010. The helicopter
landing apron is vital to increasing operational safety and ease of use by helicopters. The
airport currently has 10 helicopters based at the airfield and is frequented by many
transient helicopters as well. More than half of these helicopters belong to the Cold War
Air Museum. They operate very large military helicopters that produce such a large rotor
wash that light fixed wing airplanes can be fiipped if parked too close to them. This
specially designated helicopter landing apron mitigates the risk and enhances safety for
both fixed wing and rotary wing operators. The taxiways are required infrastructure to
connect both new aprons to the current runway/taxiway/apron system. The fuel farm is
needed to add value and boost revenues of avgas fuel sales. It will allow for large volume
and 24/7 sales. The parking lot and service roads are to serve the new apron and
terminal building and are required infrastructure to conduct operations at the new apron.
The master plans calls for the terminal building to be constructed in 2014, but will be a
separate TxDOT project.
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Considerations

= Operational — Operational levels at the airport justify continuing the master plan.

* Legal — The resolution has been reviewed by the city attorney.

= Financial — The City of Lancaster’s sponsor share is $31,000 in 2012 for the Design
and engineering.

= Public Information - There are no public information requirements.

Options/Alternatives

1. Council may approve the resolution as presented.

2. Council may reject the resolution. This will delay or halt progress on the master plan
and adversely impact our future funding opportunities with TxDOT Aviation.

Recommendation

Staff recommends approval of the resolution.

Attachments

¢ Resolution
¢ Aviation Capital Improvement Program 1218LNCAS package

Prepared and submitted by:
Mark Divita, Airport Manager

Date: _September 26, 2011




RESOLUTION NO. 2011-09-83

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
LANCASTER, TEXAS, APPROVING FUNDING OF THE TEXAS
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (TXDOT) 1218LNCAS
PROJECT FOR 2012 THROUGH 2014 AT LANCASTER REGIONAL
AIRPORT; AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE SAID
FUNDING AGREEMENT; PROVIDING A REPEALING CLAUSE;
PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN
EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the City of Lancaster intends to make certain improvements to the
Lancaster Regional Airport; and

WHEREAS, the general description of the project is described as: design and
engineering followed by construction of a new aircraft apron, stub taxiway, connecting
taxilane, helicopter landing apron, fuel farm, parking lot, and associated service roads:;
and

WHEREAS, the City of Lancaster intends to request financial assistance from the
Texas Department of Transportation for these improvements; and

WHEREAS, total project cost of the aprons and taxiways are estimated to be
$3,625,000, and the City of Lancaster will be responsible for 10% of the total project
costs currently estimated to be $352,500; and

WHEREAS, total project cost of the roads and parking lot are estimated to be
$235,000, and the City of Lancaster will be responsible for 50% of the total project costs
currently estimated to be $117,500; and

WHEREAS, total project cost of the fuel farm is estimated to be $350,000, and
the City of Lancaster will be responsible for 25% of the total project costs currently
estimated to be $87,500; and

WHEREAS, the City of Lancaster names the Texas Department of
Transportation as its agent for the purposes of applying for, receiving and disbursing all
funds for these improvements and for the administration of contracts necessary for the
implementation of these improvements.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY
OF LANCASTER, TEXAS:

SECTION 1. That the City Manager may execute on behalf of the City of
Lancaster, at the appropriate time, and with the appropriate authorizations of this
govering body, all contracts and agreements with the State of Texas, represented by
the Texas Department of Transportation, and such other parties as shall be necessary
and appropriate for the impiementation of the improvements to the Lancaster Regional
Airport.



SECTION 2. This Resolution shall become effective immediately from and after
its passage, as the law and charter in such cases provide.

DULY PASSED and approved by the City Council of the City of Lancaster,
Texas, on this the ____ day of September 2011.

ATTEST: APPROVED:
Dolle K. Downe, City Secretary Marcus Knight, Mayor
APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Robert E. Hager, City Attorney
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FEDERAL
CFDA: 20.106

City of Lancaster

Lancaster Regional Airport
12181L.NCAS

PROJECT IMPLEMENTATION MEETING

SPONSOR’S SHARE OF PROJECT FUNDS

Total design and construction project costs currently estimated to be $4.110.000.
Total sponsor share including construction and design estimated to be $557,500.

ENGINEERING/DESIGN INFORMATION

A separate grant for engineering design will be offered, 10% of estimated engineering design
costs $31,000 expected to be due by Jan/Feb 2012.

Total estimated design costs $310,000.

Note: Sponsor will be billed 30 days in advance. Sponsor should have the above figures
budgeted and encumbered by these dates. Sponsor will be apprised of all changes.

CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION
Sponsor share of construction costs estimated to be $526,500
Total construction costs estimated to be $3,800,000. This may change based on final design.

Fuel Farm is funded at 75/25.
The road is funded at 50/50.

The Sponsor share will be due prior to construction advertising - estimated to be Sept/ Oct 2013-
this will depend on our federal funds avatilability.

Please be aware if federal funds are not available at the time vour project is
ready to advertise, we will not advertise this project until we have federal
funds. This may possibly delay your project up to a year.

TxDOT will offer a 2nd grant for construction costs following completion of Commission
approval and bid opening.

Construction bids received and opened locally.

TxDOT will execute construction contract.



Forms needed prior to submission for Texas Transportation Commission Approval due
August 22, 2011:
Resolution (Sample enclosed)
Resolution should include the design and construction phases of the project. This
resolution will be used for your total project.

Estimated Sponsor Share at this time is $557.500 for total project cost.

Designation of Sponsor’s Authorized Representative (form enclosed)
This is the person who will receive the agreement and all correspondence
regarding this project.

Certification of Project Funds (form enclosed)
This certifies that funds will be available and when they will be available.

Attorney’s Certificate of Property Interest and Exhibit A map.
This certificate shows the sponsor holds title or has controlling interest to the

airport property.

Designation of Sponsor’s Consultant Selection Committee (form enclosed) for
design

This committee will be authorized to determine the selection criteria, review
proposal of the candidate firms, conduct interviews, if necessary, and select a firm
for award of the design contract, based on a consensus ranking by the committee
members. Please be aware the decision of the selection committee will be FINAL
unless some discrepancy is determined to have occurred in the selection process
and can be documented.

OR

Designation of TxDOT for Consultant Selection (form enclosed)
Another option available to the sponsor is for TxDOT to act as your agent during
consultant selection. In this option, TXDOT would follow the same criteria and
format as we ask the sponsor, but the selection committee would consist of
TxDOT —Aviation staff and a city or county person may also sit on the
committee.

Copy of your most recent audited financial statement

TxDOT Aviation Division Public Hearing on September 22, 2011
Opportunity for sponsor and public comments on financial assistance grants.



Transportation Commission Approval requested on October 27, 2011

FEDERAL FUNDS AVAILABILITY

Federal fiscal year begins October 1, 2011 (FY2012). Federal funds are not available to be

granted until after this date,

APPA (Airport Project Participation Agreement) OVERVIEW

Partl - ID of Project
Describes participants and project description.

Part II - Offer of Financial Assistance

Provides 90% federal and 10% local funding. Except the fuel farm and the road. During
construction the fuel farm is funded at 75/25 and the road is funded at 50/50. NOTE:
Engineering/Design services are offered under this grant agreement. The construction
estimate is included in this agreement but a construction grant will not be issued until
Commission approval and construction bid opening for that phase of the project.

A separate grant will be issued for Construction.

Part I1I - Sponsor Responsibilities

Statutorily driven for state/federal compliance

SPECIFIC GRANT CONDITIONS (Part III):

(Required by Statute & Administrative Code)

%

Sponsor will comply with the attachments (Certification of Airport Fund, and
Airport Assurances required by the FAA.)

Sponsor will comply with applicable rules & regs

Facility shall be controlled for at least 20 years

Facility shall be operated in a safe manner

Public access without unjust discrimination shall be provided

No exclusive rights will be granted

No Through -- the- fence operations -It will not permit or enter into any
arrangement that results in permission for the owner or tenant of a property
used as a residence, or zoned for residential use, to taxi an aircraft between
that property and any location on airport.

All necessary land shall be acquired

When requested, statements of airport revenues & expenses shall be submitted.
yearly audited financial statements should be submitted.

Sponsor shall operate such lighting at least at low intensity from sunset to sunrise
All fees collected shall be used for airport development & improvement



* £ * *

*

An airport fund shall be established for revenues collected and all expenditures
from the airport fund shall be for airport purposes

any revenue from mineral rights be identified as airport revenue; deposited to the

airport fund and used for airport operations
All development shall be consistent with approved ALP

Comprehensive zoning regulations shall be adopted
Recovery of funds spent fraudulently
No steel or manufactured products produced outside U.S. permitted

Sponsor must provide for continuous operation and maintenance of any
navigational aid funded under the AIP during the useful life of the project

NOTE: Special Condition - Must have acceptable maintenance program either through the
TxDOT sponsored RAMP or local maintenance program to be eligible for Capital Improvement
Program grants.

Part IV - Nomination of Agent
TxDOT will act as full agent to insure compliance

Active involvement of sponsor encouraged

Duties performed as agent:

*

*

*

*

L N 2

Handle entire consultant selection process including contract negotiations.
Execute all contracts for design and construction.

Advertise for bid.

Review and approve plans and specifications.

Pay all consultant and construction bills and invoices.

Supervise and direct all project work.

Participate in construction conferences.

Coordinate FAA review of ALP (airspace review).

Administer DBE/HUB Program

CERTIFICATIONS REQUIRED IN AGREEMENT:

Certification of Airport Fund
Certification of Drug-Free Workplace (federal only)



SCHEDULE SUMMARY for Federal funded projects

DATE DUE

Resolution and other forms must be submitted to Aviation Division

August 22, 2011

Public Hearing

September 22, 2011

Texas Transportation Commission Approval of Project

QOctober 27, 2011

APPA sent to Sponsor for acceptance dependent upon federal funds November 2011
APPA returned to Aviation Division as soon as possible but not later than

30 days from date of receipt. Dec 2011
SCHEDULE FOR CONSULTANT SELECTION:

Request for Proposals (RFPs) sent out Nov 2011
RFP’s submitted to Aviation Division Nov 2011
RFP’s sent to Sponsor Consultant Committee Dec 2011
Sponsor Consultant Selection Committee reviews proposals to make Dec 2011
selection or requests Aviation Division to set up interviews

Interviews held if requested Jan 2012
Aviation Division notifies consultants of results of selections and begins Jan 2012
negotiations with selected consultant

Consultant contract sent for acceptance after APPA is fully executed Feb/March 2012
Design estimated to be completed in about 9 to 12 months. Commission | To be scheduled

approval required for construction phase of the project following design.
Sponsor share for construction phase due prior to advertising for
construction contractor.

with Aviation
Project Manager and
selected Consultant

Construction begins approximately 60 days following bid opening.

AVIATION CONTACTS

Call 1-800-68-PILOT (687-4568) Aviation Division Staff

Becky Vick, Grant Manager 512-416-4508; Becky.Vick@TXDOT.GOV
Daniel Benson, Planner; 512-416-4536, Daniel. Benson@txdot.gov
Harry Lorton, Project Manager; 512-416-4535; Harry. Lorton@txdot.gov

Scott Bryan, Property Acquisition 512-416-4538, Scott. Bryan@Txdot.gov




DESIGNATION OF SPONSOR'S AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

L

(Name) (Title)
with the City of Lancaster designates

(Name , Title)
as the City of Lancaster authorized representative for the 1218LNCAS project, who shall have
the authority to make approvals and disapprovals as required on behalf of the City of Lancaster.

City of Lancaster, Texas
(Sponsor)

By:

Title:

Date:

DESIGNATED REPRESENTATIVE

Mailing Address:

*Physical/Overnight Address:

Telephone Number:

Fax Number:

E-mail Address:
* ALL GRANT AGREEMENTS ARE SENT BY OVERNIGHT MAIL




DESIGNATION OF SPONSOR'S
CONSULTANT SELECTION COMMITTEE

L

3

(Name) (Title)
with the City of Lancaster designate the following named individuals as the Consultant Selection
committee, for 1218LNCAS. The committee is authorized to determine selection criteria, review
proposals of candidate firms, conduct interviews, if necessary, and select a firm for the award of
the design contract, based on a consensus ranking by the committee members. The decision of
the selection committee will be final unless some discrepancy is determined to have occurred in
the selection process.

Name Title (if appropriate):
1.

2
3
4.
5

The City of Lancaster has caused this to be duly executed in its name, this
day of 20

City of Lancaster, Texas
{Sponsor)

Title:




DESIGNATION OF TXDOT FOR
CONSULTANT SELECTION

I

(Name) (Title)

with the City of Lancaster designate the Texas Department of Transportation, Aviation Division
as the agent for selecting the consultant for 1218LNCAS. The committee is authorized to
determine selection criteria, review proposals of candidate firms, conduct interviews, if
necessary, and select a firm for the award of the design contract, based on a consensus ranking
by the committee members. The decision of the selection committee will be final unless some
discrepancy is determined to have occurred in the selection process.

The City of Lancaster has caused this to be duly executed in its name,
this day of 20

City of Lancaster, Texas
{Sponsor)

By:

Title:

This is optional. The city or county may have only one voting member on the committee.

I would like to have - ____ also on the committee.
(Name of person and title)

CERTIFICATION OF PROJECT FUNDS



I, ,

(Name) (Title)
do certify that sufficient funds to meet the City of Lancaster’s share of project costs as identified
for the project and will be available in accordance with the schedule shown below:

SPONSOR FUNDS

Source Amount Date Available

City of Lancaster, Texas
(Sponsor)

Title:

Date:







LANCASTER CITY COUNCIL 5

Agenda Communication for
September 26, 2011

AG11-005

Conduct a public hearing and consider an Ordinance of the City of
Lancaster, Texas, amending the Lancaster Development Code by
amending Article 14.400, Section 14.402, subsection (c)(6),
Community or Halfway House, for the purpose of removing
reference to Community or Halfway Houses, adding the definition
of “boarding home,” and requiring a Specific Use Permit for any
said use in Multi-family residential zoning districts (MF-16);
amending Article 14.400, Section 14.402, for the purpose of adding
subsection (c)(11) to add the definition of “penal boarding home”
and requiring a Specific Use Permit for any said use in Light
industrial (L1) and Medium Industrial (Ml) zoning districts;
amending Article 14.400, Section 14.401, Land Use Schedule, for
the purpose of amending Table 1, Land Use Tables, to remove
reference to “halfway house” and to reflect the requirement for
Specific Use Permits for any Boarding Home use in Multi-family
residential zoning districts (MF-16) and for any Penal Boarding
Home use in Light Industrial (LI) and Medium Industrial (Mi)
districts; amending Article 14.1300, Section 14.1302, subsection (a),
General Definitions, for the purpose of amending the definitions of
“boarding house or lodging house” and “family” and adding the
definition of “penal boarding home”; providing a repealing clause;
providing a severability clause; providing a penalty of fine not to
exceed two thousand dollars ($2,000); and providing an effective
date.

This request supports the City Council 2010-2011 Policy Agenda.

Goal 2: Quality Development

Background

Under the current city code, halfway houses are permitted by right in any single-family
residentially zoned area. The only criterion that has to be met is to maintain the confines
of a defined family, per the Lancaster Development Code (LDC), and not be within 1,000
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feet of another halfway house. If the distance requirement is not met, the use could still be
allowed with the approval of a Specific Use Permit.

The definition of family in the LDC is as follows:

One or more persons who are related by blood, adoption or marriage, living
together and occupying a single housekeeping unit with single kitchen facilities, or
a group of not more than five (excluding servants) living together by joint
agreement and occupying a single housekeeping unit with single kitchen facilities,
on a nonprofit, cost-sharing basis.

Considerations

Operational - Because of the nature of halfway houses and the potential impacts
they could have on surrounding residential communities, the land use was reviewed.
Staff conferred with the City's Attorney and developed the following
recommendations:

1. Remove "halfway house/community house” as a use and establish “penal
boarding home™ as a use in the LDC to more appropriately identify the land use.

2. Re-define "boarding home” and “family” as well as define “penal boarding home”
in the LDC.

3. Allow transitional housing-type uses in multi-family residential areas only.

4. Require a Specific Use Permit for transitional housing-type uses.

Following are the proposed changes to the Lancaster Development Code:
AMENDMENT
Section 14.402 Use Standards, Institutional and Community Service Use

Conditions, replace Community or Halfway House with:

(6) Boarding Home

A. A dwelling unit, other than a hotel or motel, where lodging and community
meals, light housework, meal preparation, transportation, grocery shopping,
money management, laundry services, or assistance with self-medication are
provided to three (3) or more persons for compensation.

B. Boarding Homes may only be located in Multi-family Residential Districts. "An
SUP shall be required for any Boarding Home use.”

Add the following use to Section 14.402:

{11) Penal Boarding Home

A. A dwelling unit, other than a hotel or motel, where lodging and community
meals, light housework, meal preparation, transportation, grocery shopping,



Agenda Communication
September 26, 2011

Page 3

money management, laundry services, or assistance with self-medication are
provided to three (3) or more persons for compensation, and at least one of
said persons have been released from imprisonment from any penal institution
and are under the supervision of the Texas Department of Criminal Justice.

B. "Released” and "Penal Institution,” as used in subsection (a) herein, shall have
the same meaning as those terms are defined in Article 62.001 of the
Texas Code of Criminal Procedure, as amended.

C. Penal Boarding Homes may only be located in Light Industrial (L1) and Medium
Industrial (M) zoning districts. An SUP shall be required for any Penal
Boarding Home use.”

AMENDMENT

Section 14.1302 Definitions, Define and re-define the following within the Lancaster
Development Code;

Boarding Home. A dwelling unit, other than a hotel or motel, where lodging and
community meals, light housework, meal preparation, transportation, grocery
shopping, money management, laundry services, or assistance with self-
medication are provided to three (3) or more persons for compensation.

Family. One or more persons related by blood, marriage, or adoption; or a group
not to exceed four (4) persons not all related by blood or marriage, adoption or
guardianship, occupying a dwelling unit.

Penal Boarding Home. A dwelling unit, other than a hotel or motel, where
lodging and community meals, light housework, meal preparation, transportation,
medication are provided to three (3) or more persons for compensation, and at
least one of said persons have been released from imprisonment from any penal
institution and are under the supervision of the Texas Department of Criminal
Justice. The terms "released” and “"penal institution,” as used herein, shall have
the same meaning as those terms are defined in Article 62.001 of the Texas Code
of Criminal Procedure, as amended.”

With these changes, a transitional housing type use (boarding home, halfway
house, etc.) would be more accurately defined within the LDC. Also, transitional
housing would no longer be allowed in single family residential communities. This
would prevent the negative impacts certain types of transitional housing could
potentially have in these environments.

a  Legal - The City Attorney has prepared the ordinance.

= Financial - There are no financial considerations for this case.
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* Public Information - The legal notice for this item was published Friday, August 19,
2011 in the Focus Daily News, in accordance with the requirements of the Lancaster
Development Code. The first public hearing was held on Tuesday, September 6,
2011 at the regular meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission. This is the
second of the two public hearings required for this item.

Options/Alternatives

1. Approve the ordinance as presented.
2. Approve the ordinance with modifications.
3. Deny the ordinance and direct Staff.

Recommendation

At the September 6, 2011 meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission, the
Commission recommended unanimously (5 — 0) to approve the Ordinance as presented.

Staff recommends approval of the Ordinance as presented.
Attachments

Ordinance

Land-use Table from the LDC — Redlined
Planning and Zoning Commission Agenda Communication/with attachments (September
6, 2011)

¢ Unapproved Planning and Zoning Commission Meeting Minutes Excerpt (September 6,
2011)

Prepared and submitted by:
Nathaniel Bamett, Senior Planner

Date: September 12, 2011




ORDINANCE NO. 2011-

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF LANCASTER, TEXAS, AMENDING
THE LANCASTER DEVELOPMENT CODE BY AMENDING ARTICLE
14.400, SECTION 14.402, SUBSECTION (c)(6), COMMUNITY OR
HALFWAY HOUSE, FOR THE PURPOSE OF REMOVING REFERENCE
TO COMMUNITY OR HALFWAY HOUSES, ADDING THE
DEFINITION OF “BOARDING HOME,” AND REQUIRING A SPECIFIC
USE PERMIT FOR ANY SAID USE IN MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL
ZONING DISTRICTS (MF-16); AMENDING ARTICLE 14.400, SECTION
14.402, FOR THE PURPOSE OF ADDING SUBSECTION (c)(11) TO ADD
THE DEFINITION OF “PENAL BOARDING HOME” AND REQUIRE A
SPECIFIC USE PERMIT FOR ANY SAID USE IN LIGHT INDUSTRIAL
(L) AND MEDIUM INDUSTRIAL (MI) ZONING DISTRICTS;
AMENDING ARTICLE 14.400, SECTION 14.401, LAND USE
SCHEDULE, FOR THE PURPOSE OF AMENDING TABLE 1, LAND USE
TABLES, TO REMOVE REFERENCE TO “HALFWAY HOUSE” AND
TO REFLECT THE REQUIREMENT FOR SPECIFIC USE PERMITS
FOR ANY BOARDING HOME USE IN MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL
ZONING DISTRICTS (MF-16) AND FOR ANY PENAL BOARDING
HOME USE IN LIGHT INDUSTRIAL (LI) AND MEDIUM INDUSTRIAL
(MI) DISTRICTS; AMENDING ARTICLE 14.1300, SECTION 14.1302,
SUBSECTION (a), GENERAL DEFINITIONS, FOR THE PURPOSE OF
AMENDING THE DEFINITIONS OF “BOARDING HOUSE OR
LODGING HOUSE” AND “FAMILY” AND ADDING THE DEFINITION
OF “PENAL BOARDING HOME”; PROVIDING A REPEALING
CLAUSE; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING A
PENALTY OF FINE NOT TO EXCEED TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS
(52,000); AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the City Council for the City of Lancaster, Texas (hereinafter, the “City
Council”) has determined that it is in the best interest of the City to amend Article 14.400,
Section 14.402, Subsection (c)(6), Community or Halfway House, for the purpose of removing
the reference to “Community or Halfway House,” adding the definition of “Boarding Home,”
and requiring a specific use permit for any said use in multi-family residential zoning districts
(MF-16);

WHEREAS, the City Council for the City of Lancaster, Texas (hereinafter, the “City
Council”) has determined that it is in the best interest of the City to amend Article 14.400,
Section 14.402, for the purpose of adding Subsection (c)(11) to add the definition of “Penal
Boarding Home” and require a specific use permit for any said use light industrial (LI) and
medium industrial (MI) zoning districts;

TM 49657



WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that it is in the best interest of the City to
amend Article 14.400, Section 14.401, Land Use Schedule, for the purpose of amending Table 1,
Land Use Tables, to remove reference to “Halfway Houses” and to reflect the requirement for
specific use permits for any Boarding Home use in multi-family residential zoning districts (MF-
16) for any Penal Boarding Home in light industrial (LI) and medium industrial (MI) zoning
districts;

WHEREAS, City Council has determined that it is in the best interest of the City to
amend Article 14.1300, Section 14.1302, Subsection (a), General Definitions, for the purpose of
amending the definitions of “Boarding House or Lodging House” and “Family” and adding the
definition of “Penal Boarding Home.”

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL, OF THE
CITY OF LANCASTER, TEXAS THAT:

Section 1. Article 14.400, Section 14.402, Subsection (c)(6), Community or Halfway
House, of the Lancaster Development Code, be and the same is hereby amended by removing all
references to “Community or Halfway House,” and to read as follows:

“ARTICLE 14.400 PERMISSIBLE USES
Sec. 14.402 Use Standards

[...]
(c) Institutional and Community Service Use Conditions

[...]

(6) Boarding Home

A. A dwelling unit, other than a hotel or motel, where lodging and
community meals, light housework, meal preparation,
transportation, grocery shopping, money management, laundry
services, or assistance with self-medication are provided to three
(3) or more persons for compensation.

B. Boarding Homes may only be located in Multi-family Residential
Districts. An SUP shall be required for any Boarding Home use.”
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Section 2. Article 14.400, Section 14.402 be and the same is hereby amended by adding
Subsection (c)(11), to read as follows:

“ARTICLE 14.400 PERMISSIBLE USES
Sec. 14.402 Use Standards

[...]

(d) Institutional and Community Service Use Conditions

(-]

(11) Penal Boarding Home

C. A dwelling unit, other than a hotel or motel, where lodging and
community meals, light housework, meal preparation,
transportation, grocery shopping, money management, laundry
services, or assistance with self-medication are provided to three
(3) or more persons for compensation, and at least one of said
persons have been released from imprisonment from any penal
institution and are under the supervision of the Texas Department
of Criminal Justice.

D. “Released” and “Penal Institution,” as used in subsection (a)
herein, shall have the same meaning as those terms are defined in
Article 62.001 of the Texas Code of Criminal Procedure, as
amended.

E. Penal Boarding Homes may only be located in Light Industrial (LI)
and Medium Industrial (MI) zoning districts. An SUP shall be
required for any Penal Boarding Home use.”

Section 3. Article 14.400, Section 14.401, Land Use Schedule, Table 1, Land Use Tables,
of the Lancaster Development Code be and the same is hereby amended by removing all
references to “Halfway House” and reflecting the requirement for Specific Use Permits for any
Boarding Home use in Multi-Family Residential Zoning Districts (MF-16) and for any Penal
Boarding Home in light industrial (LI} and medium industrial (MI} zoning districts, as shown in
the chart attached hereto as Exhibit A” and incorporated herein.
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Section 4. Article 14.1300, Section 14.1302, Subsection (a), General Definitions, of the
Lancaster Development Code, be and the same is hereby amended by revising the definitions of
“Boarding House or Lodging House” and “Family” and by adding the definition of “Penal
Boarding Home,” to read as follows:

“ARTICLE 14.1300 DEFINITIONS
Sec. 14.1302 Definitions

(a) General Definitions:

[...]

Boarding Home. A dwelling unit, other than a hotel or motel, where lodging
and community meals, light housework, meal preparation, transportation,
grocery shopping, money management, laundry services, or assistance with
self-medication are provided to three (3) or more persons for compensation.

[...]

Family. One or more persons related by blood, marriage, or adoption; or a
group not to exceed four (4) persons not all related by blood or marriage,
adoption or guardianship, occupying a dwelling unit.

Penal Boarding Home. A dwelling unit, other than a hotel or motel, where
lodging and community meals, light housework, meal preparation,
transportation, grocery shopping, money management, laundry services, or
assistance with self-medication are provided to three (3) or more persons for
compensation, and at least one of said persons have been released from
imprisonment from any penal institution and are under the supervision of the
Texas Department of Criminal Justice. The terms “released” and “penal
institution,” as used herein, shall have the same meaning as those terms are
defined in Article 62.001 of the Texas Code of Criminal Procedure, as
amended.”

Section 5. That all provisions of this Ordinance of the City of Lancaster, Texas, in
conflict with the provisions of this ordinance are, and the same are hereby amended, repealed
and all other provisions of the Ordinance of the City not in conflict with the provisions of this
ordinance shall remain in full force and effect.

Section 6. If any article paragraph or subdivision clause or provision of this ordinance
shall be adjudged invalid or held unconstitutional the same shall not affect the validity of this
Ordinance as a whole or any provision thereof other than the part so decided invalid or
unconstitutional.

T™ 49657



Section 7. Any person or firm or corporation violating any of the provisions of this
ordinance or the provisions of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Lancaster, Texas, as
amended hereby, shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction in the municipal
court of the City of Lancaster, Texas shall be subject to a fine no to exceed the sum amount of
two thousand ($2,000) dollars for each offense, and each and every such offense shall continue
shall be deemed to constitute a separate offense.

Section 8. This Ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after the publication of
its caption as the law in such cases provides.

DULY PASSED by the City Council of the City of Lancaster, Texas, on the 26 day of
September 2011.

APPROVED:

MARCUS E. KNIGHT, MAYOR

ATTEST:

DOLLE K. DOWNE, CITY SECRETARY

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

ROBERT E. HAGER, CITY ATTORNEY
(JVP)

T™ 49657



EXHIBIT A TO ORDINANCE NO. 2011-

LAND USE CHART FOR BOARDING HOME AND PENAL BOARDING HOME

[To Be Attached]

TM 49657
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PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION #4

Agenda Communication for
September 6, 2011

M11-07 Conduct a Public Hearing and Consider an ordinance of the
City of Lancaster, Texas, amending the Lancaster Development Code
by amending Article 14.400, section 14.402, subsection (c)(6),
Community or Halfway House, for the purpose of removing reference
to Community or Halfway Houses, adding the definition of “boarding
home,” and requiring a Specific Use Permit for any said use in Multi-
family residential zoning districts (MF-16); amending Article 14.400,
section 14.402, for the purpose of adding subsection (c)(11) to add
the definition of “penal boarding home” and require a Specific Use
Permit for any said use in Light Industrial (Li) and Medlum Industrial
(MI) zoning districts; amending Article 14.400, section 14.401, Land
Use Schedule, for the purpose of amending Table 1, Land Use
Tables, to remove reference to “halfway house” and to reflect the
requirement for Specific Use Permits for any Boarding Home use in
Multi-family residential zoning districts (MF-16) and for any Penal
Boarding Home use in Light Industrial (LI) and Medium industrial
(M) districts; amending Article 14.1300, section 14.1302, subsection
(a), General Definitions, for the purpose of amending the definitions
of “boarding house or lodging house” and “family” and adding the
definition of “penal boarding home”.

Background

Under the current city code, halfway houses are permitted by right in any single-family
residentially zoned area. The only criteria that had to be met were to maintain the confines
of a defined family, per the Lancaster Development Code (LDC), and not be within 1,000
feet of another halfway house. If the distance requirement was not met, the use would still
be allowed however a Specific Use Permit would have been required. The definition of
family in the LDC is as follows:

One or more persons who are related by blood, adoption or marriage, living

together and occupying a single housekeeping unit with single kitchen facilities, or

a group of not more than five (excluding servants) living together by joint

agreement and occupying a single housekeeping unit with single kitchen facilities,
on a nonprofit, cost-sharing basis.



Planning and Zoning Commission
September 6, 2011
Page 2

Because of the nature of halfway houses and the potential impacts they could have on
residential communities, Staff was instructed to address this issue to determine the
appropriateness of this land use. Staff conferred with the City Attorneys and developed
the following recommendations:

1. Remove "halfway house/community house” as a use and establish "penal
boarding home™ as a use in the LDC.

2. Re-define "boarding home” and “family” and define “penal boarding home" in the
LDC.

3. Allow transitional housing-type uses in multi-family residential areas only.

4. Require a Specific Use Permit for transitional housing-type uses.

Following are the proposed changes to the Lancaster Development Code:

AMENDMENT
Section 14.402 Use Standards, Institutional and Community Service Use
Conditions, replace Community or Halfway House with;

(6) Boarding Home

A. A dwelling unit, other than a hotel or motel, where lodging and community
meals, light housework, meal preparation, transportation, grocery shopping,
money management, laundry services, or assistance with self-medication are
provided to three (3) or more persons for compensation.

B. Boarding Homes may only be located in Multi-family Residential Districts.
An SUP shall be required for any Boarding Home use.”

Add the following use to Section 14.402;

(11) Penal Boarding Home

A. A dwelling unit, other than a hotel or motel, where lodging and
community meals, light housework, meal preparation, transportation,
grocery shopping, money management, laundry services, or assistance
with self-medication are provided to three (3) or more persons for
compensation, and at least one of said persons have been released
from imprisonment from any penal institution and are under the
supervision of the Texas Department of Criminal Justice.

B. "Released” and "Penal Institution,” as used in subsection (a) herein,
shall have the same meaning as those terms are defined in Article
62.001 of the Texas Code of Criminal Procedure, as amended.

C. Penal Boarding Homes may only be located in Light Industrial (LI) and
Medium Industrial (MI) zoning districts. An SUP shall be required for
any Penal Boarding Home use.”
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AMENDMENT
Section 14,1302 Definitions, Define and re-define the following within the Lancaster
Development Code;

Boarding Home. A dwelling unit, other than a hotel or motel, where lodging and
community meals, light housework, meal preparation, transportation, grocery
shopping, money management, iaundry services, or assistance with self-
medication are provided to three (3) or more persons for compensation.

Family. One or more persons related by blood, marriage, or adoption; or a group
not to exceed four (4) persons not all related by blood or marriage, adoption or
guardianship, occupying a dwelling unit.

Penal Boarding Home. A dweiling unit, other than a hotel or motel, where
lodging and community meals, light housework, meal preparation, transportation,
grocery shopping, money management, laundry services, or assistance with self-
medication are provided to three (3) or more persons for compensation, and at
least one of said persons have been released from imprisonment from any penal
institution and are under the supervision of the Texas Department of Criminal
Justice. The terms “released” and “penal institution,” as used herein, shall have
the same meaning as those terms are defined in Article 82.001 of the Texas Code
of Criminal Procedure, as amended.”

Considerations
» Ledgal Considerations

The City Attomey has reviewed the changes to the Halfway House amendments.
¢ Public Information

On Friday, August 19, 2011 a Public Hearing notice appeared in the Focus Daily
News, the City of Lancaster's newspaper of record. The Lancaster Development
Code (LDC) requires two public hearings and legal notification in the City’s newspaper
of the record to approve a text amendment. This is the first of the two public hearings;
the second being at City Council on September 26, 2011.

ion ves

1) Recommend approval, as requested.

2) Recommend approval in accordance with medifications and said modifications
shall be stipulations of approval.

3) Postpone consideration.

4) Recommend denial of the request.
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Recommendation

Staff recommends approval of the changes to Lancaster Development Code in reference
to Halfway Houses and the definitions being proposed.

Approval Process

Upon recommendation by the Planning and Zoning Commission, the City Council will
conduct a public hearing and render a final decision for this item at their September 26,
2011, regular meeting.

Attachments

¢ Land-use Table from the LDC — Redlined
e Excerpts from the LDC

Prepared and Submitted by:

Nathaniel Barnett
Senior Planner

Date: September 1, 2011
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1. The Texas Department of Mental Health and Metal Retardation (MHMR);

2. A community center organized under Subchapter A, Chapter 534, Health and
Safety Code, that provides services to persons with disabilities;

3. An entity subject to the Texas Non-Profit Corporation Act; or

4. An entity certified by the Texas Department of Human Services as a provider
under the medical assistance program service persons in intermediate care
facilities for persons with mental retardation; or

5. An entity operating an assisted living facility licensed under Chapter 247,
Health and Safety Code.

C. When the facility is located within a single-family or duplex residential zoning

district,

1. The exterior structure must retain compatibility with the surrounding residential
dwellings, and

2. Not more than six (6) persons with disabilities and two (2) supervisors may
reside in the facility at the same time. The limitation on the number of persons
with disabilities applies regardless of the legal relationship of those persons to
one another.

D. A community or group home may not be established within one-half (14) mile of an
existing community or group home unless a Specific Use Permit is approved by the
City Council.

E. The residents of a community or group home may not keep for the use of the
residents of the home, either on the premises or on a public right-of-way adjacent
to the home, motor vehicles in numbers that exceed the number of bedrooms in the
home.

(6) Community or Halfway House

A. A place where persons are aided in readjusting to society following a period of
imprisonment, hospitalization, or institutionalized treatment.

B. Such facilities may be located no closer than within a 1,000-foot radius to another
halfway house (as measured from building to building). An SUP shall be required
for any facility located closer than 1,000 feet.

C. Such facilities shall be licensed.
(7) Public or Private School, Primary

A. Must be located on a collector or larger roadway unless otherwise approved by the
Director.

B. Must provide adequate drop-off areas so as not to unnecessarily impede street
traffic.




alignment; tune-ups, emergency road service; replacement of starters, alternators, hoses,
brake parts, mufflers; performing state inspections and making minor repairs necessary to pass
said inspection; servicing of air-conditioning systems, and similar minor services for motor
vehicles except heavy load vehicles, but not including any operation named under “Automobile
Repair, Major” or any other similar use. All work must be performed inside an enclosed
building. Vehicles shall not be stored on site for longer than 14 days.

Bar, Cocktail Lounge, Tavern, Saloon, Cantina. An establishment where alcoholic
beverages are sold for on-premises consumption, other than a restaurant as defined in this
Section.

Basement or Cellar. A story having more than one-half (14) of its height below the average
level of the adjoining ground. A cellar shall not be counted as a story for the purposes of height
measurement.

Bed and Breakfast. A single family owner-occupied house offering rooms with breakfast on
a nightly basis for a fee.

Block. A piece or parcel of land entirely surrounded by public highways or streets, other
than alleys. In cases where the platting is incomplete or disconnected, the Building Official
shall determine the outline of the block.

Board. The Board of Adjustment of the City.

Boarding House or Lodging House. A building other than a hotel, occupied as a single
housekeeping unit, where lodging or meals are provided for five or more persons for
compensation, pursuant to previous arrangements, but not for the public or transients.

Buffer. A visual screen constructed of wood, concrete block, masonry, or landscape material
including earthen berms in such a manner that adjacent property will be screened from the use
contemplated, so noise, solid waste, or other objectionable influences will be avoided. Such
buffer shall be horizontal to the ground, opaque, and a minimum of six (6) feet in height.

Building. An enclosed structure, anchored to permanent foundation, and having exterior or
party walls and a roof, designed for the shelter of persons, animals, or property. When divided
by other than commeon or contiguous walls, each portion or Section of such building shall be
regarded as a separate building, except that two buildings connected by a breeze way shall be
deemed as one building. Parking structures shall not be considered as buildings when
calculating building coverage.

Buildable Area. The "buildable area" of the lot is the maximum amount of allowable space
upon which a structure or building may be erected, after meeting the coverage, yard and other
requirements of this Ordinance.

Building Area. The building area of the lot is the gross area covered by the structures when
placed on the lot.

Building Coverage. Percentage of the lot that is occupied by the building area. Parking structures shall not
be included in the calculations for coverage requirements.



f. The determination of whether one family is living independently of another is based on
one or more of the following criteria:

1) Separate sanitary facilities.
2) Separate kitchen facilities.
3) Separate entrances.

4) Separate utilities.

Empty Nester Unit. A residential unit type that is targeted to singles, empty nesters and
retirees, which generally requires a minimum of maintenance and is smaller than typical single
family homes. (See Article V.3.1.a.1)

Exception. Relief from or variation of the provisions of these regulations, other than Use
Regulations, as applied to a specific piece of property, as distinct from a Variance or rezoning,
which may be granted by the Director, the Planning and Zoning Commission or the City
Council as specified in this Unified Development Code. (See “Variance” and “Temporary
Waiver”.)

Family One (1) or more persons who are related by blood, adoption or marriage, living
together and occupying a single housekeeping unit with single kitchen facilities, or a group of
not more than five (5) (excluding servants) living together by joint agreement and occupying a
single housekeeping unit with single kitchen facilities, on a nonprofit, cost-sharing basis.

Filling, Retail Service Station. An establishment where gasoline, oil and grease, or
automobile accessories are sold, supplied or dispensed to the vehicle trade or where motor
vehicles received limited repair, are equipped for service, or where electric storage batteries are
recharged and cared for, or a place where any two or more such activities are carried on or
conducted as the principal use of the establishment. (The storage, sale, lease, or rental of more
than one [1] boat or mobile home, or more than five 5] hauling trailers is prohibited.)

Floor Area Ratio. The relationship of the gross floor area of all buildings on a lot to the total
lot area. Parking structures shall be excluded in the calculation of the floor area ratio.

Frontage. All the property abutting on one (1) side of a street between two (2) intersecting
streets, measured along the street line.

Garage Apartment. A dwelling unit attached to a private garage.

Garage, Community. A building or portion thereof, other than a public, private or storage
garage as defined below, providing storage for motor vehicles with facilities for washing, but no
other services, such garage to be in lieu of private garages within a block or portion of a block.

Garage, Commercial. A commercial garage is any premises and structures used for housing
more than three (3) motor driven vehicles or where any vehicles are kept for remuneration, hire,
or sale and where a retail service station may be maintained as a secondary use.

Garage, Detached or Private. An accessory building for storage only of motor vehicles and
home laundry.

Garage, Public. A building or portion thereof, designed or used for the storage, sale, hiring,
care or repair of motor vehicles, which is operated for commercial purposes.



Unapproved Minutes from the Planning and Zoning Meeting, September 6, 2011

4. M11-07 Conduct a Public Hearing and consider an ordinance of the city of
Lancaster, Texas, amending the Lancaster Deveiopment Code by amending
Article 14.400, section 14.402, subsection (c)(6), Community or Halfway House,
for the purpose of removing reference to Community or Halfway Houses, adding
the definition of “boarding home,” and requiring a Specific Use Permit for any said
use in Multi-family residential zoning districts (MF-16); amending Article 14.400,
section 14.402, for the purpose of adding subsection (c)(11) to add the definition
of “penal boarding home” and require a Specific Use Permit for any said use in
Light Industrial (LI} and Medium Industrial (M) zoning districts; amending Article
14.400, section 14.401, Land Use Schedule, for the purpose of amending Table
1, Land Use Tables, to remove reference to "halfway house” and to reflect the
requirement for Specific Use Permits for any boarding home use in Multi-family
residential zoning districts (MF-16) and for any‘penal boarding home use in Light
Industrial (LI) and Medium Industrial (M) districts; amending Article 14.1300,
section 14.1302, subsection (a), general dﬁynitions, for the purpose of amending
the definitions of “boarding house or lod ing house” and “family” and adding the
definition of “penal boarding home”.

Senior Planner Barnett gave a presentation statiig why the request was being made and
how it would reduce the potential ;negative impacts of halfway houses on residential
communities. By amending these sections of the Ordihance, greater control would be
given to the City to regulate a land use that; could be detrimental. This amendment
would re-define family and boarding home as well. as define a new land use, penal
boarding home, in the Lancaster Development Code. City Attorney Pandya explained
that a use cannot be zoned out/of the Cily:but they colid control where these uses are
allowed.

Chair Colton opene& the public hearing.
IN FAVOR:
None

OPPOSED:
None

Chair Colton entertained - motion to close the public hearing.

COMMISSIONER PROTHRO MADE A MOTION TO CLOSE THE PUBLIC HEARING,
SECONDED BY COMMISSIONER WRIGHT.

AYES: COLTON, ELKINS, MITCHELL, PROTHRO, WRIGHT
NAYES:

THE MOTION CARRIED 5-0.

Commissioner Wright asked if any existing halfway houses would have to
change or would they be allowed to stay. Senior Planner Barnett stated that they
would be grandfathered and any new ones would have to comply by the new



rules. Senior Planner Bamett added that there are no current halfway houses
with a certificate of occupancy in the City.

Chair Colton entertained a motion.

COMMISSIONER ELKINS MADE A MOTION TO APPROVE M11-07, SECONDED BY
COMMISSIONER WRIGHT.

AYES: COLTON, ELKINS, MITCHELL, PROTHRO, WRIGHT
NAYES:

THE MOTION CARRIED 5-0.



LANCASTER CITY COUNCIL 6

Agenda Communication for
September 26, 2011

AG11-006

Discuss and consider an ordinance authorizing the issuance of
City of Lancaster, Texas, Tax and Waterworks and Sewer System
Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2011; And
containing other matters incident thereto.

This request supports the City Council 2010-2011 Policy Agenda
Goal 1: Financially Sustainable City Government
Goal 2: Enhanced City Infrastructure and Facilities

Background

During the 2010 Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ) water system
inspection, it was noted that we failed to meet elevated storage tank requirements in
relation to our current service connections. The prior inspection performed by TCEQ was
in 2006. During the years of 2006 through 2009, the City of Lancaster experienced
extreme growth adding approximately 3,000 additional connections to our existing system.
In doing so, this put our system in violation of the TCEQ's Minimum Water System
Capacity Requirements. The requirement states there must be an elevated storage
capacity of 100 gallons per connection for each pressure plane. Our system failed for the
Upper Pressure Plane. The system has 1.0 million gallons (MG) elevated storage tank
capacity. The system is required to provide at least 1.178 MG of elevated storage tank
capacity based on the number of connections on the day of the investigation (11,782
connections X 100 = 1.178MG).

in 2007, the City of Lancaster adopted a Water Master Plan which identifies the need to
build an elevated storage tank. Funding the Master Plan has been challenging. Based
on the violation issued, the City must construct the required elevated storage tank
capacity to provide 100 gallons per connection in the Upper Pressure Plane. The project
must be completed and functional by October, 2013. In an effort to meet the required
timeline, staff contacted First Southwest to begin the process for obtaining funding.

On August 22, 2011, City Council passed the resolution authorizing the Notice of Intent
Publication for Certificates of Obligation. The first and second publication occurred on
August 26, 2011 and September 2, 2011. Staff met with the bonding agencies thereafter
and on September 14, 2011 received a rating of “Aa3” from Moody's and °A” from
Standard & Poor's. The next step is to approve an ordinance authorizing the City to issue
Certificate of Obligation Bonds.
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Page 2

Considerations

Operational — Approving this ordinance authorizes the City to issue Certificate of
Obligation bonds to raise the capital needed for the purchase of the land, design and
construction of the storage tank, and any related costs for the water/wastewater
system project.

Legal - The draft ordinance has been prepared by our bond council, West &
Associates, LLP.

Financial — The bond sale is required to fulfili obligations and commitments of the
City for the Water/Waste Water project. All fees are included in the debt issuance; no
additional funds need to be budgeted. Bond issuance costs are paid at closing from
the proceeds of the bond issue; therefore, no out of pocket costs are incurred. The
first debt and interest payment related to this issuance is due August 15, 2012.
These costs have been budgeted for FY 2011/12.

Recommendation

Staff recommends approval of the draft ordinance authorizing the issuance of City of
Lancaster, Texas, Tax and Waterworks and Sewer System Surplus Revenue Certificates
of Obligation, Senes 2011.

Attachments

¢ Draft Ordinance
+ Notice of Sale and Bidding Instructions
¢ Preliminary Official Statement

Prepared and submitted by:
Sheree Haynes, Finance Director

Date: __September 14, 2011
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ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF CITY OF
LANCASTER, TEXAS, TAX AND WATERWORKS AND SEWER
SYSTEM SURPLUS REVENUE CERTIFICATES OF OBLIGATION,
SERIES 2011; AND CONTAINING OTHER MATTERS INCIDENT
THERETO

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LANCASTER, TEXAS:

ARTICLE I

FINDINGS AND DETERMINATIONS

Section 1.1:  Findings and Determinations. The City Council hereby officially finds
and determines that:

(a) The City of Lancaster, Texas (the “City™), acting through its City Council, is
authorized pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of Texas Local Government Code,
Chapter 271, Subchapter C, as amended (the “Act”), to issue certificates of obligation (1) to pay
all or any part of the contractual obligations to be incurred for the construction of public works,
and for the purchase of materials, supplies, equipment, machinery, buildings, land and rights-of-
way for authorized needs and purposes, to wit; (a) expanding and improving the water and
wastewater system, (b) design, construction and the equipping thereof of an elevated storage
tank, including drainage improvements incidental thereto, and the acquisition of land and rights-
of-way in connection therewith, to be located in the 792 Pressure Plane as described in the City’s
Water Master Plan which is available for public inspection at City Hall; (c) construction,
improvements and replacement of certain waterlines throughout the city, including the Martin
Berry Waterline, the 3™ Street Water Line and the Lexington Waterline; (d) certain water and
sewer design, construction, renovation, and improvements within the City, and the equipping
thereof, including the Keller Branch interceptor, and (2) payment for professional services
rendered in connection with the above listed projects;

(b) The City Council authorized the publication of a notice of intention to issue City of
Lancaster, Texas, Tax and Waterworks and Sewer System Surplus Revenue Certificates of
Obligation, Taxable Series 2011 (the “Certificates”) to the effect that the City Council was
tentatively scheduled to meet at 7:00 p.m. on September 26, 2011 at its regular meeting place to
adopt an ordinance authorizing the issuance of the Certificates to be payable from (i) an ad
valorem tax levied, within the limits prescribed by law, on the taxable property located within
the City, and (i) and a limited (in an amount not to exceed $1,000), junior and subordinate
pledge of the surplus net revenues (the “Net Revenues™) of the City’s combined Waterworks and
Sewer System (the “System”) remaining after payment of operating and maintenance expenses
of the System and payments for “Prior Lien Obligations” (as defined herein), to the extent that ad
valorem taxes are ever insufficient or unavailable for such purposes, provided that the pledge of
Net Revenues is and shall be junior and subordinate in all respects to the pledge of Net Revenues
to the payment of any obligation of the City, whether authorized heretofore or hereafter, which
the City designates as having a pledge senior to the pledge of the Net Revenues to the payment
of the Certificates.
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(c) Such notice was published at the times and in the manner required by the Act.

(d) The City Council considered the issue of the Certificates at 7:00 p.m. on August 22,
2011 at its regular meeting place.

(e) No petition signed by at least five percent (5%) of the qualified voters of the City has
been filed with or presented to any official of the City protesting the issuance of such Certificates
on or before the date of passage of this Ordinance.

(f) The City has determined that it is in the best interests of the City and that it is
otherwise desirable to issue the Certificates to provide all or part of the funds to pay contractual
obligations to be incurred for the purposes authorized by the Act.

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATIONS

Section 2.1:  Definitions. As used herein, the following terms shall have the meanings
specified, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise:

“Act” shall mean Texas Local Government Code, Chapter 271, Subchapter C, as
amended.

“Additional Obligations™ shall mean additional tax and revenue obligations hereafter
issued under and pursuant to the provisions of V.T.C.A., Local Government Code, Subchapter C
of Chapter 271, or other law, that are payable from ad valorem taxes and additionally payable
from and secured by a parity lien on and pledge of the Net Revenues of the System of equal rank
and dignity with the lien and pledge securing the payment of the Certificates.

“Attorney General” shall mean the Attorney General of the State of Texas.
“Business Day” shall mean a day that is not a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday or other

day on which banking institutions in the city where the designated payment/transfer office of the
Paying Agent/Registrar is located are required or authorized by law or executive order to close.

“Certificate” or “Certificates™ shall mean any or all of the City of Lancaster, Texas, Tax
and Waterworks and Sewer System Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2011,
authorized by this Ordinance.

“City” shall mean the City of Lancaster, Texas.
“City Council” shall mean the governing body of the City.
“Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Comptroller” shall mean the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas.
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“Construction Fund” shall mean the fund by that name created pursuant to Section 5.3
hereof.

“Date of Delivery” shall mean October 26, 2011, or at such other time and date as shall
have been mutuaily agreed upon by the City and the Purchaser for closing.

“Debt Service Fund” shall mean the fund by that name created pursuant to Section 5.2
hereof.

“DTC” means The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, or any successor
securities depository.

“DTC Participant” means brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing
corporations and certain other organizations on behalf of whom DTC was created to hold
securities to facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions among DTC
Participants.

“EMMA” means the Electronic Municipal Market Access System.

“Fiscal Year” shall mean the City’s then designated fiscal year, which currently is the
twelve-month period beginning on the first day of October of a calendar year and ending on the
last day of September of the next succeeding calendar year and each such period may be
designated with the number of the calendar year in which such period ends.

“Initial Certificate” means a single certificate representing the entire principal amount of
the Certificates, payable in stated installments to the Purchaser or its designee, executed by
manual or facsimile signature of the President and Secretary of the Board, approved by the
Attorney General, and registered and manually signed by the Comptrollier, shall be delivered to
the Purchaser or its designee. Upon payment for the Initial Certificate, the Registrar shall cancel
the Initial Certificate and definitive Certificates shall be delivered to the Purchaser.

“Interest Payment Date,” when used in connection with any Certificate, shall mean
February 15 and August 15 of each year, commencing August 15, 2012 until maturity or earlier
redemption of such Certificate.

“Issuance Date” shail mean the date on which the Certificates are delivered to and paid
for by the Purchaser.

“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board.

“Ordinance” as used herein and in the Certificates shall mean this ordinance and all
amendments hereof and supplements hereto which authorize the issuance of the Certificates.

“Outstanding,” when used with reference to the Certificates, shall mean, as of a particular
date, all Certificates theretofore and thereupon delivered pursuant to this Ordinance except: (a)
any Certificates canceled by or on behalf of the City at or before such date; (b) any Certificates
defeased pursuant to the defeasance provisions of this Ordinance or otherwise defeased as
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permitted by applicable law; and (c) any Certificates in lieu of or in substitution for which a
replacement Certificate shall have been delivered pursuant to this Ordinance.

“Paying Agent/Registrar” shall mean The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company,
National Association, and its successors in that capacity of paying agent and registrar of the
Certificates.

“Prior Lien Obligations™ shall mean all bonds or similar obligations now outstanding and
hereafter issued that are payable solely from and secured only by a lien on and pledge of the Net
Revenues of the System, which is prior in right and claim to the lien on and pledge of the Net
Revenues securing the payment of the Similarly Secured Obligations.

“Purchasers” or “Purchaser” shall mean the initial purchaser(s) of the certificates,
including

“Record Date” shall mean the close of business on the last business day of the month
immediately preceding the applicable Interest Payment Date.

“Register” shall mean the registration books for the Certificates kept by the Paying
Agent/Registrar in which are maintained the names and addresses of, and the principal amounts
registered to, each Registered Owner of Certificates.

“Registered Owner” shall mean the person or entity in whose name any Certificate is
registered in the Register.

“Rule” means SEC Rule 15¢2-12.
“SEC” means the United States Securities Exchange Commission.
“Similarly Secured Obligations™ shall mean the Certificates and Additional Obligations.

Section 2.2: Interpretations. All terms defined herein and all pronouns used in this
Ordinance shall be deemed to apply equally to singular and plural and to all genders. The titles
and headings of the articles and sections of this Ordinance have been inserted for convenience of
reference only and are not to be considered a part hereof and shall not in any way modify or
restrict any of the terms or provisions hereof. This Ordinance and all the terms and provisions
hereof shall be liberally construed to effectuate the purposes set forth herein and to sustain the
validity of the Certificates and the validity of the levy of ad valorem taxes to pay the principal of
and interest on the Certificates.

ARTICLE III

TERMS OF THE CERTIFICATES

Section 3.1: Amount, Purpose and Authorization. The Certificates shall be issued in
fully registered form, without coupons, under and pursuant to the authority of the Act in the total
authorized aggregate principal amount of MILLION AND NO/I00 DOLLARS
$ ) for the purpose of providing all or part of the funds to pay contractual obligations
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to be incurred for the purposes described in paragraph 1.1(a) hereof, and to pay the costs of
issuing the Certificates.

Section 3.2:  Designation, Date and Interest Payment Dates. The Certificates shall be
designated as the “City of Lancaster, Texas, Tax and Waterworks and Sewer System Surplus
Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2011, and shall be dated September 15, 2011. The
Certificates shall bear interest at the rates set forth in Section 3.3 below, from the later of the
Date of Delivery or the most recent Interest Payment Date to which interest has been paid or
duly provided for, calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months, payable
February 15 and August 15 of each year, commencing August 15, 2012 until maturity or earlier
redemption.

If interest on any Certificate is not paid on any Interest Payment Date and continues
unpaid for thirty (30) days thereafter, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall establish a new record
date for the payment of such interest, to be known as a Special Record Date. The Paying
Agent/Registrar shall establish a Special Record Date when funds to make such interest payment
are received from or on behalf of the City. Such Special Record Date shall be fifteen (15) days
prior to the date fixed for payment of such past due interest, and notice of the date of payment
and the Special Record Date shall be sent by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, not
later than five (5) days prior to the Special Record Date, to each affected Registered Owner as of
the close of business on the day prior to mailing of such notice.

Section 3.3:  Numbers, Denomination, Interest Rates and Maturities. The Certificates
shall be initially issued bearing the numbers, in the principal amounts and bearing interest at the
rates set forth in the following schedule, and may be transferred and exchanged as set out in this
Ordinance. The Certificates shall mature on August 15 in each of the years and in the amounts
set out in such schedule. Certificates delivered in transfer of or in exchange for other Certificates
shall be numbered in order of their authentication by the Paying Agent/Registrar, shall be in the
denomination of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof and shall mature on the same date and bear
interest at the same rate as the Certificate or Certificates in lieu of which they are delivered.

Certificate Yearof  Principal Interest Certificate Year of Principal Interest
Number Maturity  Amount Rate Number Maturity Amount Rate
R-1 2012 $300,000 % R-11 2022 $370,000 %
R-2 2013 $280,000 % R-12 2023 $385,000 %
R-3 2014 $285,000 % R-13 2024 $400,000 %
R-4 2015 $295,000 % R-14 2025  $415,000 %
R-5 2016 $300,000 % R-15 2026  $430,000 %
R-6 2017 $310,000 % R-16 2027  $450,000 %
R-7 2018 $320,000 % R-17 2028  $470,000 %
R-8 2019 $330,000 % R-18 2029  $495,000 %
R-9 2020 $340,000 % R-19 2030  $515,000 %
R-10 2021 $355,000 % R-20 2031  $540,000 %
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Section 3.4: Redemption Prior to Maturity. The Certificates maturing on and after
August 15, 2022 are subject to redemption prior to maturity, at the option of the City, in whole or
in part, on August 15, 2021, or any date thereafter, at par plus accrued interest to the date fixed for
redemption.

The Certificates maturing on ) and (the "Term Certificates")
are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption in the following amounts (subject to reduction
as hereinafter provided), on the following dates, in each case at a redemption price equal to the
principal amount of the Certificates or the portions thereof so called for redemption plus accrued
interest to the date fixed for redemption:

Mandatory Redemption Dates Principal Amounts
Term Certificates Maturing August 15, 20__ August 15,20 b3
August 15,20 I
August 15,20__ (maturity) $
Term Certificates Maturing August 15,20 August 15,20 $
August 15,20 $

August 15, 20__ (maturity) $

The particular Term Certificates to be redeemed shall be selected by the Registrar by lot
or other customary random selection method, on or before January 1 of each year in which Term
Certificates are to be mandatorily redeemed. The principal amount of Term Certificates to be
mandatorily redeemed in each year shall be reduced by the principal amount of such Term
Certificates that have been optionally redeemed on or before January 1 of such year and which
have not been made the basis for a previous reduction.

(a)  Certificates may be redeemed in part only in integral multiples of $5,000. If a
Certificate subject to redemption is in a denomination larger than $5,000, a portion of such
Certificate may be redeemed, but only in integral multiples of $5,000. In selecting portions of
Certificates for redemption, each Certificate shall be treated as representing that number of
Certificates of $5,000 denomination which is obtained by dividing the principal amount of such
Certificate by $5,000. Upon presentation and surrender of any Certificate for redemption in part,
the Paying Agent/Registrar, in accordance with the provisions of this Ordinance, shall
authenticate and deliver in exchange therefor a Certificate or Certificates of like maturity and
interest rate in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of the Certificate
so surrendered.

(b) Notice of any redemption, identifying the Certificates or portions thereof to be
redeemed, shall be sent by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, to the Registered
Owners thereof at their addresses as shown on the Register, not less than thirty (30) days before
the date fixed for such redemption. By the date fixed for redemption, due provision shall be
made with the Paying Agent/Registrar for the payment of the redemption price of the Certificates
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called for redemption. If such notice of redemption is given, and if due provision for such
payment is made, all as provided above, the Certificates which are to be so redeemed thereby
automatically shall be redeemed prior to their scheduled maturities, they shall not bear interest
after the date fixed for redemption, and they shall not be regarded as being Outstanding except
for the purpose of being paid with the funds so provided for such payment.

Section 3.5: Reserved

Section 3.6: Manner of Payment, Characteristics, Execution and Authentication. The
Paying Agent/Registrar is hereby appointed the paying agent for the Certificates. The
Certificates shall be payable, shall have the characteristics and shall be executed, sealed,
registered and authenticated, all as provided and in the manner indicated in the FORM OF
CERTIFICATES set forth in Article IV of this Ordinance. If any officer of the City whose
manual or facsimile signature shall appear on the Certificates shall cease to be such officer
before the authentication of the Certificates or before the delivery of the Certificates, such
manual or facsimile signature shall nevertheless be valid and sufficient for all purposes as if such
officer had remained in such office.

The approving legal opinions of West & Associates L.L.P., Dallas, Texas, Bond Counsel,
and Andrews Kurth LLP, Houston, Texas, Special Tax Counsel may be printed on the back of
the Certificates over the certification of the City Secretary, which may be executed in facsimile.
CUSIP numbers also may be printed on the Certificates, but errors or omissions in the printing of
either the opinions or the numbers shall have no effect on the validity of the Certificates.

Section 3.7:  Authentication. Except for the Certificates to be initially issued, which
need not be authenticated by the Registrar, only such Certificates as shall bear thereon a
certificate of authentication, substantially in the form provided in Article IV of this Ordinance,
manually executed by an authorized representative of the Paying Agent/Registrar, shall be
entitled to the benefits of this Ordinance or shall be valid or obligatory for any purpose. Such
duly executed certificate of authentication shall be conclusive evidence that the Certificate so
authenticated was delivered by the Paying Agent/Registrar hereunder.

Section 3.8: Ownership. The City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and any other person
may treat the person in whose name any Certificate is registered as the absolute owner of such
Certificate for the purpose of making and receiving payment of the principal thereof and interest
thereon and for all other purposes, whether or not such Certificate is overdue, and neither the
City nor the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be bound by any notice or knowledge to the contrary.
All payments made to the person deemed to be the Registered Owner of any Certificate in
accordance with this Section shall be valid and effective and shall discharge the liability of the
City and the Paying Agent/Registrar upon such Certificate to the extent of the sums paid.

Section 3.9: Registration, Transfer and Exchange. The Paying Agent/Registrar is
hereby appointed the registrar for the Certificates. So long as any Certificate remains
Outstanding, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall keep the Register at the City Administrator’s
office in which, subject to such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe, the Paying
Agent/Registrar shall provide for the registration and transfer of the Certificates in accordance
with the terms of this Ordinance.
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Each Certificate shall be transferable only upon the presentation and surrender thereof at
the principal corporate trust office of the Paying Agent/Registrar, accompanied by an assignment
duly executed by the Registered Owner or his authorized representative in form satisfactory to
the Paying Agent/Registrar. Upon due presentation of any Certificate for transfer, the Paying
Agent/Registrar shall authenticate and deliver in exchange therefor, within seventy-two (72)
hours after such presentation, a new Certificate or Certificates, registered in the name of the
transferee or transferees, in authorized denominations and of the same maturity and aggregate
principal amount and bearing interest at the same rate as the Certificate or Certificates so
presented and surrendered.

All Certificates shall be exchangeable upon the presentation and surrender thereof at the
principal corporate trust office of the Paying Agent/Registrar for a Certificate or Certificates,
maturity and interest rate and in any authorized denomination, in an aggregate principal amount
equal to the unpaid principal amount of the Certificate or Certificates presented for exchange.
The Paying Agent/Registrar shall be and is hereby authorized to authenticate and deliver
exchange Certificates in accordance with the provisions of this Section. Each Certificate
delivered by the Paying Agent/Registrar in accordance with this Section shall be entitled to the
benefits and security of this Ordinance to the same extent as the Certificate or Certificates in lieu
of which such Certificate is delivered.

All Certificates issued in transfer or exchange shall be delivered to the Registered
Owners thereof at the principal corporate trust office of the Paying Agent/Registrar or sent by
United States mail, first class, postage prepaid.

The City or the Paying Agent/Registrar may require the Registered Owner of any
Certificate to pay a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that may be
imposed in connection with the transfer or exchange of such Certificate. Any fee or charge of
the Paying Agent/Registrar for such transfer or exchange shall be paid by the City.

Neither the City nor the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be required to transfer or exchange
any Certificate (1) during the period commencing with the close of business on any Record Date
and ending with the opening of business on the next following principal or interest payment date,
or (it) with respect to any Certificate called for redemption, in whole or in part, within 45 days of
the date fixed for redemption; provided, however, such limitation of transfer shall not be
applicable to an exchange by the registered owner of the uncalled balance of an Certificate.

Section 3.10: Book-Entry Only System. The Initial Certificate shall be registered in the
name of . The definitive Certificates shall be initially issued in the form of a separate
single fully registered Certificate for each of the maturities thereof. Upon initial issuance, the
ownership of each such Certificate shall be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of
DTC, and except as provided in Section 3.13 hereof, all of the Qutstanding Certificates shall be
registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC. Upon delivery by DTC to the Paying
Agent/Registrar of written notice to the effect that DTC has determined to substitute a new
nominee in place of Cede & Co., and subject to the provisions in this Ordinance with respect to
interest checks being mailed to the Owner at the close of business on the Record Date, the word
“Cede & Co.” in this Ordinance shall refer to such new nominee of DTC.




DRAFT

With respect to Certificates registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC,
the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall have no responsibility or obligation to any DTC
Participant or to any person on behalf of whom such a DTC Participant holds an interest in the
Certificates. Without limiting the immediately preceding sentence, the City and the Paying
Agent/Registrar shall have no responsibility or obligation with respect to (a) the accuracy of the
records of DTC, Cede & Co. or any DTC Participant with respect to any ownership interest in
the Certificates, (b) the delivery to any DTC Participant or any other person, other than a
Certificateholder, as shown on the Register, of any notice with respect to the Certificates,
including any notice of redemption or (c) the payment to any DTC Participant or any other
person, other than a Certificateholder as shown in the Register, of any amount with respect to
principal of Certificates, premium, if any, or interest on the Certificates.

Except as provided in Section 3.13 of this Ordinance, the City and the Paying
Agent/Registrar shall be entitled to treat and consider the person in whose name each Certificate
1s registered in the Register as the absolute owner of such Certificate for the purpose of payment
of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on Certificates, for the purpose of giving notices of
redemption and other matters with respect to such Certificate, for the purpose of registering
transfer with respect to such Certificate, and for all other purposes whatsoever. The Paying
Agent/Registrar shall pay all principal of Certificates, premium, if any, and interest on the
Certificates only to or upon the order of the respective owners, as shown in the Register as
provided in this Ordinance, or their respective attorneys duly authorized in writing, and all such
payments shall be valid and effective to fully satisfy and discharge the City’s obligations with
respect to payment of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Certificates to the extent
of the sum or sums so paid. No person other than an owner shall receive a Certificate evidencing
the obligation of the City to make payments of amounts due pursuant to this Ordinance.

Section 3.11: Payments and Notices to Cede & Co. Notwithstanding any other provision
of this Ordinance to the contrary, as long as any Certificates are registered in the name of Cede
& Co., as nominee of DTC, all payments with respect to principal of, premium, if any, and
interest on the Certificates, and all notices with respect to such Certificates shall be made and
given, respectively, in the manner provided in the representation letter of the City to DTC.

Section 3.12: Successor Securities Depository; Transfer Outside Book-Entry Only
System. In the event that the City or the Paying Agent/Registrar determines that DTC is
incapable of discharging its responsibilities described herein and in the representation letter of
the City to DTC, and that it is in the best interest of the beneficial owners of the Certificates that
they be able to obtain certificated Certificates, the City or the Paying Agent/Registrar shall (a)
appoint a successor securities depository, qualified to act as such under Section 17(a) of the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, notify DTC of the appointment of such
successor securities depository and transfer one or more separate Certificates to such successor
securities depository or (b) notify DTC of the availability through DTC of Certificates and
transfer one or more separate Certificates to DTC Participants having Certificates credited to
their DTC accounts. In such event, the Certificates shall no longer be restricted to being
registered in the Register in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, but may be registered
in the name of the successor securities depository, or its nominee, or in whatever name or names
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Certificateholders transferring or exchanging Certificates shall designate, in accordance with the
provisions of this Ordinance.

Section 3.13: Replacement Certificates. Upon the presentation and surrender to the
Paying Agent/Registrar of a damaged or mutilated Certificate, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall
authenticate and deliver in exchange therefor a replacement Certificate, of the same maturity,
interest rate and principal amount, bearing a number not contemporaneously outstanding. The
City or the Paying Agent/Registrar may require the Registered Owner of such Certificate to pay
a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in
connection therewith and any other expenses connected therewith, including the fees and
expenses of the Paying Agent/Registrar and the City.

If any Certificate is lost, apparently destroyed or wrongfully taken, the City, pursuant to
the applicable laws of the State of Texas and ordinances of the City, and in the absence of notice
or knowledge that such Certificate has been acquired by a bona fide purchaser, shall execute, and
the Paying Agent/Registrar shall authenticate and deliver, a replacement Certificate of the same
maturity, interest rate and principal amount, bearing a number not contemporaneously
outstanding, provided that the Registered Owner thereof shall have:

(a) fumnished to the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar satisfactory evidence of the
ownership of and the circumstances of the loss, destruction or theft of such Certificate;

(b) furnished such security or indemnity as may be required by the Paying
Agent/Registrar and the City to save and hold them harmless;

(c) paid all expenses and charges in connection therewith, including, but not limited to,
printing costs, legal fees, fees of the Paying Agent/Registrar and any tax or other governmental
charge that may be imposed; and

(d) met any other reasonable requirements of the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar.

If, after the delivery of such replacement Certificate, a bona fide purchaser of the original
Certificate in lieu of which such replacement Certificate was issued presents for payment such
original Certificate, the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be entitled to recover such
replacement Certificate from the person to whom it was delivered or any person taking
therefrom, except a bona fide purchaser, and shall be entitled to recover upon the security or
indemnity provided therefor to the extent of any loss, damage, cost or expense incurred by the
City or the Paying Agent/Registrar in connection therewith.

If any such mutilated, lost, apparently destroyed or wrongfully taken Certificate has
become or is about to become due and payable, the City in its discretion may, instead of issuing a
replacement Certificate, authorize the Paying Agent/Registrar to pay such Certificate.

Each replacement Certificate delivered in accordance with this Section shall be entitled to
the benefits and security of this Ordinance to the same extent as the Certificate or Certificates in
lieu of which such replacement Certificate is delivered.

10
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Section 3.14: Cancellation. All Certificates paid or redeemed in accordance with this
Ordinance, and all Certificates in lieu of which exchange Certificates or replacement Certificates
are authenticated and delivered in accordance herewith, shall be canceled and destroyed upon the
making of proper records regarding such payment or redemption. The Paying Agent/Registrar
shall periodically furnish the City with certificates of destruction of such Certificates.

ARTICLE IV

FORM OF CERTIFICATES

Section4.1: Form of Certificatess  The Certificates, including the Form of
Comptroller’s Registration Certificate, Form of Paying Agent/Registrar Authentication
Certificate, and Form of Assignment shall be in substantially the form set forth in Exhibit A
hereto, with such omissions, insertions and variations as may be necessary or desirable, and not
prohibited by this Ordinance.

ARTICLE V

SECURITY FOR THE CERTIFICATES

Section 5.1: Pledge and Levy of Taxes and Revenues.

(a) To provide for the payment of principal of and interest on the Certificates, there is
hereby levied, within the limits prescribed by law, for the current year and each succeeding year
thereafter, while the Certificates or any part of the principal thereof and the interest thereon
remain outstanding and unpaid, an ad valorem tax upon all taxable property within the City
sufficient to pay the interest on the Certificates and to create and provide a sinking fund of not
less than 2% of the principal amount of the Certificates or not less than the principal payable out
of such tax, whichever is greater, with full allowance being made for tax delinquencies and the
costs of tax collection, and such taxes, when collected, shall be applied to the payment of
principal of and interest on the Certificates by deposit to the Debt Service Fund and to no other

purpose.

(b) The City hereby declares its purpose and intent to provide and levy a tax legally
sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Certificates, it having been determined that
the existing and available taxing authority of the City for such purpose is adequate to permit a
legally sufficient tax. As long as any Certificates remain outstanding, all moneys on deposit in,
or credited to, the Debt Service Fund (as defined below) shall be secured by a pledge of security,
as provided by law for cities in the State of Texas.

(c) In addition, pursuant to the authority of Chapter 1502, Texas Government Code, as
amended, the City also hereby pledges the revenues to be derived from the City’s water and
sewer system, after the payment of all operation and maintenance expenses thereof (the “Net
Revenues™), in an amount not to exceed $1,000, to the payment of the principal of and interest on
the Certificates, provided that the pledge of Net Revenues is and shall be junior and subordinate
in all respects to the pledge of Net Revenues securing the payment of the Prior Lien Obligations
now outstanding and hereafter issued by the City. The City also reserves the right to issue, for

11
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any lawful purpose at any time, in one or more installments, bonds, certificates of obligation and
other obligations of any kind, secured in whole or in part by a pledge of Net Revenues, that may
be prior and superior in right to, on a parity with, or junior and subordinate to the pledge of Net
Revenues securing the Certificates.

(d) Reserved.

Section 5.2: Debt Service Fund. The Tax and Waterworks and Sewer System Surplus
Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2011, Debt Service Fund (the “Debt Service Fund”) is
hereby created as a special fund solely for the benefit of the Certificates. The City shall establish
and maintain such fund at an official City depository and shall keep such fund separate and apart
from all other funds and accounts of the City. Any amount on deposit in the Debt Service Fund
shall be maintained by the City in trust for the Registered Owners of the Certificates. Such
amount, plus any other amounts deposited by the City into such fund and any and all investment
earmings on amounts on deposit in such fund, shall be used only to pay the principal of, premium,
if any, and interest on the Certificates.

Section 5.3: Construction Fund. The Tax and Waterworks and Sewer System Surplus
Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2011, Construction Fund (the “Construction Fund”) is
hereby created as a special fund of the City. Money in deposit in the Construction Fund shall be
used only for the purposes set forth in Section 3.1 of this Ordinance. Money on deposit in the
Construction Fund may, at the option of the City, be invested as permitted by Texas law,
provided that all such deposits and investments shall be made in such manner that the money
required to be expended from the Construction Fund will be available at the proper time or times.

All interest and income derived from such deposits and investments shall remain in the
Construction Fund, except that, to the extent required by law, such interest and income may be
applied to make such payments to the United States of America as shall be required to assure that
interest on the Certificates is exempt from federal income taxation. Upon the completion of the
purposes set forth in Section 3.1 of this Ordinance, any surplus funds on deposit in the
Construction Fund shall be transferred into the Debt Service Fund.

Section 5.4:  Further Proceedings. After the Certificates to be initially issued have been
executed, it shall be the duty of the Mayor to deliver the Certificates to be initially issued and all
pertinent records and proceedings to the Attorney General for examination and approval, After
the Certificates to be initially issued have been approved by the Attomey General, they shall be
delivered to the Comptroller for registration. Upon registration of the Certificates to be initially
issued, the Comptroller (or a deputy lawfully designated in writing to act for the Comptroller)
shall manually sign the Comptroller’s registration certificate prescribed herein to be affixed or
attached to the Certificates to be initially issued, and the seal of said Comptroller shall be
impressed, or placed in facsimile, thereon.

12
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ARTICLE VI

CONCERNING THE PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR

Section 6.1:  Acceptance. The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, National
Association, is hereby appointed as the initial Paying Agent/Registrar for the Certificates
pursuant to the terms and provisions of the Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement by and between
the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar. The Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement shall be
substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, the terms and provisions of which are
hereby approved, and the Mayor is hereby authorized to execute and deliver such Paying
Agent/Registrar Agreement on behalf of the City in multiple counterparts and the City Secretary
is hereby authorized to attest thereto and affix the City’s seal. Such initial Paying
Agent/Registrar and any successor Paying Agent/Registrar, by undertaking the performance of
the duties of the Paying Agent/Registrar hereunder, and in consideration of the payment of any
fees pursuant to the terms of any contract between the Paying Agent/Registrar and the City
and/or the deposits of money pursuant to this Ordinance, shall be deemed to accept and agree to
abide by the terms of this Ordinance.

Section 6.2: Trust Funds. All money transferred to the Paying Agent/Registrar in its
capacity as Paying Agent/Registrar for the Certificates under this Ordinance (except any sums
representing Paying Agent/Registrar’s fees) shall be held in trust for the benefit of the City, shall
be the property of the City and shall be disbursed in accordance with this Ordinance.

Section 6.3:  Certificates Presented. Subject to the provisions of Section 6.4, all
matured Certificates presented to the Paying Agent/Registrar for payment shall be paid without
the necessity of further instructions from the City. Such Certificates shall be canceled as
provided herein.

Section 6.4: Unclaimed Funds Held by the Paying Agent/Registrar. Funds held by the

Paying Agent/Registrar that represent principal of and interest on the Certificates remaining
unclaimed by the Registered Owner thereof after the expiration of three years from the date such
funds have become due and payable (a) shall be reported and disposed of by the Paying
Agent/Registrar in accordance with the provisions of Title 6 of the Texas Property Code, as
amended, to the extent such provisions are applicable to such funds, or (b) to the extent such
provisions do not apply to the funds, such funds shall be paid by the Paying Agent/Registrar to
the City upon receipt by the Paying Agent/Registrar of a written request therefor from the City.

The Paying Agent/Registrar shall have no liability to the Registered Owners of the
Certificates by virtue of actions taken in compliance with this Section.

Section 6.5: Paying Agent/Registrar May Own __Certificates. The Paying
Agent/Registrar in its individual or any other capacity, may become the owner or pledgee of
Certificates with the same rights it would have if it were not the Paying Agent/Registrar.

Section 6.6:  Successor Paying Agents/Registrars. The City covenants that at all times
while any Certificates are Outstanding it will provide a commercial bank or trust company,
organized under the laws of the United States or any state and duly qualified and legally
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authorized to serve as and perform the duties and services of Paying Agent/Registrar for the
Certificates. The City reserves the right to change the Paying Agent/Registrar for the
Certificates on not less than sixty (60) days’ written notice to the Paying Agent/Registrar, as long
as any such notice is effective not less than 60 days prior to the next succeeding principal or
interest payment date on the Certificates. Promptly upon the appointment of any successor
Paying Agent/Registrar, the previous Paying Agent/Registrar shall deliver the Register or a copy
thereof to the new Paying Agent/Registrar, and the new Paying Agent/Registrar shall notify each
Registered Owner, by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, of such change and of the
address of the new Paying Agent/Registrar. Each Paying Agent/Registrar hereunder, by acting
in that capacity, shall be deemed to have agreed to the provisions of this Ordinance.

ARTICLE VII

PROVISIONS CONCERNING SALE AND
APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS OF CERTIFICATES

Section 7.1:  Sale of Certificates. The sale and delivery of the Certificates to the
Purchaser is hereby authorized, approved, ratified and confirmed, subject to the approving
opinion as to the legality of the Certificates of the Attorney General of the State of Texas and
West & Associates, L.L.P., Bond Counsel, and it is hereby determined that the Purchaser’s bid is
the highest bid for the Certificates as a result of invitations for competitive bids.

Section 7.2:  Approval, Registration and Delivery. The Mayor is hereby authorized to
have control and custody of the Certificates and all necessary records and proceedings pertaining
thereto pending their delivery, and the Mayor and other officers and employees of the City are
hereby authorized and directed to make such certifications and to execute such instruments as
may be necessary to accomplish the delivery of the Certificates and to assure the investigation,
examination and approval thereof by the Attorney General and the registration of the Initial
Certificate by the Comptroller. Upon registration of the Certificates, the Comptroller (or the
Comptroller’s certificates clerk or an assistant certificates clerk lawfully designated in writing to
act for the Comptroller) shall manually sign the Comptroller’s Registration Certificates
prescribed herein to be attached or affixed to each Certificates initially delivered and the seal of
the Comptroller shall be impressed or printed or lithographed thereon.

Section 7.3: Offering Documents; Ratings. The City hereby ratifies and confirms its
prior approval of the form, contents and dissemination of the Preliminary Official Statement and
the Notice of Sale and Bidding Instructions prepared in the initial offering and sale of the
Certificates. The City hereby authorizes the preparation of a final Official Statement, relating to
the Certificates, dated as of the date hereof, which reflects the terms of the Purchaser’s bid and
other relevant information, and the City ratifies and approves the distribution of such Official
Statement in the offer and sale of the Certificates and in the reoffering of the Certificates by the
Purchaser, with such changes therein or additions thereto as the officials executing same may
deem advisable, such determination to be conclusively evidenced by their execution thereof.
The Mayor is hereby authorized and directed to execute, and the City Secretary is hereby
authorized and directed to attest, the final Official Statement. It is further hereby officially
found, determined and declared that the statements and representations contained in the
Preliminary Official Statement and final Official Statement are true and correct in all material
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respects, to the best knowledge and belief of the City Council, and that, as of the date thereof, the
Preliminary Official Statement was an official statement of the City with respect to the
Certificates that was deemed “final” by an authorized official of the City except for the omission
of no more than the information permitted by subsection (b)(1) of Rule 15¢2-12 of the SEC. The
proper officials of the City are hereby authorized to execute and deliver a certificate pertaining to
the final Official Statement as prescribed, therein, dated as of the date of payment for and
delivery of the Certificates. A copy of the Preliminary Official Statement is attached hereto as
Exhibit C.

Further, the City Council hereby ratifies, authorizes and approves the actions of the
Mayor, the City’s financial advisor and other consultants in seeking a rating on the Certificates
from Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a Standard &
Poor’s Financial Services LLC business and such actions are hereby ratified and confirmed.

Section 7.4:  Application of Proceeds of Certificates; Appropriation. Proceeds from the
sale of the Certificates shall, promptly upon receipt by the City, be applied as follows:

(a) Accrued interest in the amount of § , shall be deposited into the
Debt Service Fund created in Section 5.2 of this Ordinance.

(b)  Premium on the Certificates in the amount of $ , shall be used
to pay costs of issuance, which includes the Purchaser’s discount
3 ). Excess premium of $ shall be deposited in the
Debt Service Fund.

(c¢)  Certificate proceeds in the amount of $ shall be deposited in the
Construction Fund created in Section 5.3 and used for the purposes
described in Section 3.1 of this Ordinance. Any proceeds remaining after
accomplishing such purposes, including earnings on investments of such
proceeds, shall be deposited into the Debt Service Fund.

Section 7.5: Tax Covenants. The City shall comply with each of the following
covenants:

(a) The City will use all of the proceeds of the Certificates to (i) provide funds to pay
contractual obligations to be incurred for the purposes set forth in Section 3.1 hereof (the
“Project”), which Project will be owned and operated by the City, and (ii) to pay the costs of
issuing the Certificates. The City will not use any portion of the proceeds of the Certificates to
pay the principal of or interest or redemption premium on, any other obligation of the City or a
related person.

(b) The City will not directly or indirectly take any action, or omit to take any action,
which action or omission would cause the Certificates to constitute “private activity bonds”
within the meaning of Section 141(a) of the Code.

(c) Principal of and interest on the Certificates will be paid solely from ad valorem taxes
and Net Revenues collected by the City, investment earnings on such collections, and as
available, proceeds of the Certificates.
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(d) Based upon all facts and estimates now known or reasonably expected to be in
existence on the date the Certificates are delivered, the City reasonably expects that the proceeds
of the Certificates will not be used in a manner that would cause the Certificates or any portion
thereof to be an “arbitrage bond” within the meaning of Section 148 of the Code.

(e) At all times while the Certificates are outstanding, the City will identify and properly
account for all amounts constituting gross proceeds of the Certificates in accordance with the
Regulations. The City will monitor the yield on the investments of the proceeds of the
Certificates and, to the extent required by the Code and the Regulations, will restrict the yield on
such investments to a yield which is not materially higher than the yield on the Certificates. To
the extent necessary to prevent the Certificates from constituting “arbitrage bonds,” the City will
make such payments as are necessary to cause the yield on all yield-restricted nonpurpose
investments allocable to the Certificates to be less than the yield that is materially higher than the
yield on the Certificates.

{f) The City will not take any action or knowingly omit to take any action which, if taken
or omitted, would cause the Certificates to be treated as “federally guaranteed” obligations for
purposes of Section 149(b) of the Code.

(g) The City represents that not more than fifty percent (50%) of the proceeds of the
Certificates will be invested in nonpurpose investments {as defined in Section 148(f}(6)(A) of the
Code) having a substantially guaranteed yield for four years or more within the meaning of
Section 149(g)(3)(A)(i1) of the Code, and the City reasonably expects that at least eighty-five
percent (85%) of the spendable proceeds of the Certificates will be used to carry out the
governmental purpose of the Certificates within the three-year period beginning on the date of
issue of the Certificates.

(h) The City will take all necessary steps to comply with the requirement that certain
amounts earned by the City on the investment of the gross proceeds of the Certificates, if any, be
rebated to the federal government. Specifically, the City will (i) maintain records regarding the
receipt, investment, and expenditure of the gross proceeds of the Certificates as may be required
to calculate such excess arbitrage profits separately from records of amounts on deposit in the
funds and accounts of the City allocable to other obligations of the City or moneys which do not
represent gross proceeds of any obligations of the City and retain such records for at least six
years after the day on which the last outstanding Certificate is discharged, (ii) account for all
gross proceeds under a reasonable, consistently applied method of accounting, not employed as
an artifice or device to avoid in whole or in part, the requirements of Section 148 of the Code,
including any specified method of accounting required by applicable Regulations to be used for
all or a portion of any gross proceeds, (iii) calculate, at such times as are required by applicable
Regulations, the amount of excess arbitrage profits, if any, eamed from the investment of the
gross proceeds of the Certificates and (iv) timely pay, as required by applicable Regulations, all
amounts required to be rebated to the federal government. In addition, the City will exercise
reasonable diligence to assure that no errors are made in the calculations required by the
preceding sentence and, if such an error is made, to discover and promptly correct such error
within a reasonable amount of time thereafter, including payment to the federal government of
any delinquent amounts owed to it, interest thereon and any penalty.
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(i) The City will not directly or indirectly pay any amount otherwise payable to the
federal government pursuant to the foregoing requirements to any person other than the federal
government by entering into any investment arrangement with respect to the gross proceeds of
the Certificates that might result in a reduction in the amount required to be paid to the federal
government because such arrangement results in a smaller profit or a larger loss than would have
resulted if such arrangement had been at arm's length and had the yield on the Certificates not
been relevant to either party.

() The City will timely file or cause to be filed with the Secretary of the Treasury of the
United States the information required by Section 149(e) of the Code with respect to the
Certificates on such form and in such place as the Secretary may prescribe.

(k) The City will not issue or use the Certificates as part of an “abusive arbitrage device”
(as defined in Section 1.14810(a) of the Regulations). Without limiting the foregoing, the
Certificates are not and will not be a part of a transaction or series of transactions that attempts to
circumvent the provisions of Section 148 of the Code and the Regulations by (i) enabling the
City to exploit the difference between tax-exempt and taxable interest rates to gain a material
financial advantage, or (ii) increasing the burden on the market for tax-exempt obligations.

(I) Proper officers of the City charged with the responsibility for issuing the Certificates
are hereby directed to make, execute and deliver certifications as to facts, estimates or
circumstances in existence as of the date of issuance of the Certificates and stating whether there
are facts, estimates or circumstances that would materially change the City's expectations. On or
after the date of issuance of the Certificates, the City will take such actions as are necessary and
appropriate to assure the continuous accuracy of the representations contained in such
certificates.

(m) The covenants and representations made or required by this Section are for the
benefit of the Certificate holders and any subsequent Certificate holder, and may be relied upon
by the Certificate holders and any subsequent Certificate holder and bond counsel to the City.

In complying with the foregoing covenants, the City may rely upon an unqualified
opinion issued to the City by nationally recognized bond counsel that any action by the City or
reliance upon any interpretation of the Code or Regulations contained in such opinion will not
cause interest on the Certificates to be includable in gross income of the owners thereof for
federal income tax purposes under existing law.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance, the City's representations and
obligations under the covenants and provisions of this Section 7.5 shall survive the defeasance
and discharge of the Certificates for as long as such matters are relevant to the exclusion of
interest on the Certificates from the gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax
purposes.

Section 7.6: Reserved.

Section 7.7:  Related Matters. In order that the City shall satisfy in a timely manner all
of its obligations under this Ordinance, the Mayor, City Secretary and all other appropriate
officers, agents, representatives and employees of the City are hereby authorized and directed to
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take all other actions that are reasonably necessary to provide for the issuance and delivery of the
Certificates, including, without limitation, executing and delivering on behalf of the City all
certificates, consents, receipts, requests, notices, and other documents as may be reasonably
necessary to satisfy the City’s obligations under this Ordinance and to direct the transfer and
application of funds of the City consistent with the provisions of this Ordinance.

ARTICLE VIII
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING

Section 8.1:  Continuing Disclosure.

(a) The City will provide certain updated financial information and operating data to
the MSRB annually in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB and available via the
EMMA system at www.emma.msrb.org. The information to be updated includes all quantitative
financial information and operating data with respect to the City of the general type included in
the Official Statement authorized by Section 7.3 of this Ordinance in APPENDIX A, Tables |
through 6 and Tables 8 through 15, and APPENDIX B to the extent that such information and
financial statements are customarily prepared by the City and is publicly available (currently,
information that is customarily prepared by the City and is publicly available consists of the
City’s annual audited financial statements and annual property tax reports). The City shall update
such information within six months after the end of each fiscal year. If the City commissions an
audit of such statements and the audit is completed within the period during which they must be
provided. If audited financial statements are not so provided, then the City shall provide
unaudited financial statements for the applicable fiscal year by the required time, and audited
financial statements when and if audited financial statements become available.

If the City changes its fiscal year, it will notify the MSRB of the change (and of the date
of the new fiscal year end) prior to the next date by which the City otherwise would be required
to provide financial information and operating data pursuant to this Section.

The financial information and operating data to be provided pursuant to this Section may
be set forth in full in one or more documents or may be included by specific reference to
documents (1) available to the public on the MSRB’s internet web site or (ii) filed with the SEC.
All filings shall be made electronically, in the format specified by the MSRB.

(b)  The City shall notify the MSRB in an electronic format prescribed by the MSRB,
in a timely manner (not in excess of ten (10) days after the occurrence of the event), of any of the
following events with respect to the Certificates:

(1) Principal and interest payment delinquencies;

(i)  Non-payment related defaults, if material,

(i)  Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial
difficulties;
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(iv)  Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial
difficulties;

v) Substitution of credit or liquidity providers or their failure to
perform;

(vi)  Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service
of proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of
Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or
determinations with respect to the tax status of the Certificates, or
other material events affecting the tax status of the Certificates;

(vii) Modifications to rights of holders of the Certificates, if material;

(viii) Certificate calls, if material, and tender offers;

(ix) Defeasances;

(x) Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the
Certificates, if material;

(xi)  Rating changes;

(xii) Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the City;

(xiii) The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition
involving the City or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets
of the City, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry
into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the
termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions,
other than pursuant to its terms, if material; and

(xiv) Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of
name of a trustee, if material.

The City shall notify the MSRB in an electronic format prescribed by the MSRB, in a
timely manner, of any failure by the City to provide financial information or operating data in
accordance with this Section by the time required by such Section.

All documents provided to the MSRB shall be accompanied by identifying information,
as prescribed by the MSRB.

(©) The City shall be obligated to observe and perform the covenants specified in this
Section for so long as, but only for so long as, the City remains an “obligated person™ with
respect to the Certificates within the meaning of the Rule, except that the City in any event will
give the notice required by this Section of any Certificate calls and defeasance that cause the City
to be no longer such an “obligated person.”

The provisions of this Section are for the sole benefit of the Registered Owners and
beneficial owners of the Certificates, and nothing in this Section, express or implied, shall give
any benefit or any legal or equitable right, remedy, or claim hereunder to any other person. The
City undertakes to provide only the financial information, operating data, financial statements,
and notices which it has expressly agreed to provide pursuant to this Section and does not hereby
undertake to provide any other information that may be relevant or material to a complete
presentation of the City’s financial results, condition, or prospects or hereby undertake to update
any information provided in accordance with this Section or otherwise, except as expressly
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provided herein. The City does not make any representation or warranty concerning such
information or its usefulness to a decision to invest in or sell Certificates at any future date.

UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL THE CITY BE LIABLE TO THE
REGISTERED OWNER OR BENEFICIAL OWNER OF ANY CERTIFICATE OR ANY
OTHER PERSON, IN CONTRACT OR TORT, FOR DAMAGES RESULTING IN WHOLE
OR IN PART FROM ANY BREACH BY THE CITY, WHETHER NEGLIGENT OR
WITHOUT FAULT ON ITS PART, OF ANY COVENANT SPECIFIED IN THIS SECTION,
BUT EVERY RIGHT AND REMEDY OF ANY SUCH PERSON, IN CONTRACT OR TORT,
FOR OR ON ACCOUNT OF ANY SUCH BREACH SHALL BE LIMITED TO AN ACTION
FOR MANDAMUS OR SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE.

No default by the City in observing or performing its obligations under this Section shall
constitute a breach of or default under the Ordinance for purposes of any other provision of this
Ordinance.

Nothing in this Section is intended to or shall act to disclaim, waive, or otherwise limit
the duties of the City under federal and state securities laws.

(d)  The provisions of this Section may be amended by the City from time to time to
adapt to changed circumstances that arise from a change in legal requirements, a change in law,
or a change in the identity, nature, status, or type of operations of the City, but only if (1) the
provisions of this Section, as so amended, would have permitted a purchaser to purchase or sell
the Certificates in the primary offering of the Certificates in compliance with the Rule, taking
into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule to the date of such amendment, as
well as such changed circumstances, and (2) either (a) the Registered Owners of a majority in
aggregate principal amount (or any greater amount required by any other provision of this
Ordinance that authorizes such an amendment) of the Outstanding Certificates consent to such
amendment or (b) a person that is unaffiliated with the City (such as nationally recognized bond
counsel) determines that such amendment will not materially impair the interests of the
Registered Owners and beneficial owners of the Certificates. If the City so amends the
provisions of this Section, it shall include with any amended financial information or operating
data next provided in accordance with this Section an explanation, in narrative form, of the
reasons for the amendment and of the impact of any change in the type of financial information
or operating data so provided. The City may also amend or repeal the provisions of this Section
if the SEC amends or repeals the applicable provisions of the Rule or a court of final jurisdiction
enters judgment that such provisions of the Rule are invalid, and the City also may amend the
provisions of this Section in its discretion in any other manner or circumstance, but in any case
only if and to the extent that the provisions of this sentence would not have prevented an
purchaser from lawfully purchasing or selling Certificates in the primary offering of the
Certificates, giving effect to (a) such provisions as so amended and (b) any amendments or
interpretations of the Rule.
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ARTICLE IX

MISCELLANEQUS

Section 9.1: Defeasance. The City may defease the provisions of this Ordinance and
discharge its obligations to the Registered Owners of any or all of the Certificates to pay the
principal of and interest thereon in any manner now or hereafter permitted by law, including by
depositing with the Paying Agent/Registrar or with the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the
State of Texas either:

(a) cash in an amount equal to the principal amount of such Certificates plus interest
thereon to the date of maturity or redemption; or

(b)  pursuant to an escrow or trust agreement, cash and/or (i) direct noncallable
obligations of United States of America, including obligations that are unconditionally
guaranteed by the United States of America; (i) noncallable obligations of an agency or
instrumentality of the United States, including obligations that are unconditionally guaranteed or
insured by the agency or instrumentality and that, on the date the govemning body of the issuer
adopts or approves the proceedings authorizing the issuance of refunding bonds, are rated as to
investment quality by a nationally recognized investment rating firm not less than AAA or its
equivalent; or (iit) noncallable obligations of a state or an agency or a county, municipality, or
other political subdivision of a state that have been refunded and that, on the date the governing
body of the issuer adopts or approves the proceedings authorizing the issuance of refunding
bonds, are rated as to investment quality by a nationally recognized investment rating firm not
less than AAA or its equivalent, which, in the case of (i), (ii) or (iii), may be in book-entry form,
and the principal of and interest on which will, when due or redeemable at the option of the
holder, without further investment or reinvestment of either the principal amount thereof or the
interest eamings thereon, provide money in an amount which, together with other moneys, if
any, held in such escrow at the same time and available for such purpose, shall be sufficient to
provide for the timely payment of the principal of and interest thereon to the date of maturity or
earlier redemption; provided, however, that if any of the Certificates are to be redeemed prior to
their respective dates of maturity, provision shall have been made for giving notice of
redemption as provided in this Ordinance. Upon such deposit, such Certificates shall no longer
be regarded to be Outstanding or unpaid. Any surplus amounts not required to accomplish such
defeasance shall be returned to the City.

Section 9.2: Ordinance a Contract — Amendments. This Ordinance shall constitute a
contract with the Registered Owners from time to time, be binding on the City, and shall not be
amended or repealed by the City so long as any Certificate remains Qutstanding except as
permitted in this Section. The City reserves the right to amend this Ordinance without the
consent of any holder for the purpose of amending or supplementing this Ordinance to (i) cure
any ambiguity, defect or omission herein that does not materially adversely affect the interests of
the holders, (ii) grant additional rights or security for the benefit of the holders, (iii) add events of
default as shall not be inconsistent with the provisions of this Ordinance that do not materially
adversely affect the interests of the holders, (iv) qualify this Ordinance under the Trust Indenture
Act of 1939, as amended, or corresponding provisions of federal laws from time to time in effect
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or (v) make such other provisions in regard to matters or questions arising under this Ordinance
that are not inconsistent with the provisions hereof and which, in the opinion of bond counsel for
the City, do not materially adversely affect the interests of the holders.

This Ordinance further provides that the holders of the Certificates aggregating in
principal amount 51% of the outstanding Certificates shall have the right from time to time to
approve any amendment not described above in this Ordinance if it is deemed necessary or
desirable by the City; provided, however, that without the consent of 100% of the holders in
original principal amount of the then outstanding Certificates so affected, no amendment may be
made for the purpose of: (i) making any change in the maturity of any of the outstanding
Certificates; (i1) reducing the rate of interest borne by any of the outstanding Certificates; (iii)
reducing the amount of the principal of, or redemption premium, if any, payable on any
outstanding Certificates; (iv) modifying the terms of payment of principal or of interest or
redemption premium on outstanding Certificates, or imposing any condition with respect to such
payment; or (v) changing the minimum percentage of the principal amount of the Certificates, as
the case may be necessary for consent to such amendment.

Section 9.3: Attorney General Modification. In order to obtain the approval of the
Certificates by the Attorney General of the State of Texas, any provision of this Ordinance may
be modified, altered or amended after the date of its adoption if required by the Attorney General
in connection with the Attorney General’s examination as to the legality of the Certificates and
approval thereof in accordance with the applicable law. Such changes, if any, shall be provided
to the City Secretary and the City Secretary shall insert such changes into this Ordinance as if
approved on the date hereof.

Section 9.4: Legal Holidays. In any case where the date interest accrues and becomes
payable on the Certificates or principal of the Certificates matures or the date fixed for
redemption of any Certificates or a Record Date shall be in the City a Saturday, Sunday, legal
holiday or a day on which banking institutions are authorized by law to close, then payment of
interest or principal need not be made on such date, or the Record Date shall not occur on such
date, but payment may be made or the Record Date shall occur on the next succeeding day which
is not in the City a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday or a day on which banking institutions are
authorized by law to close with the same force and effect as if (i) made on the date of maturity or
the date fixed for redemption and no interest shall accrue for the period from the date of maturity
or redemption to the date of actual payment or (ii) the Record Date had occurred on the last day
of that calendar month.

Section 9.5: Power to Revise Form of Documents. Notwithstanding any other
provision of this Ordinance, the Mayor is hereby authorized to make or approve such revisions,
additions, deletions, and variations to this Ordinance and in the form of the documents attached
hereto as exhibits as, in the judgment of the Mayor, and in the opinion of Bond and/or Special
Tax Counsel to the City, may be necessary or convenient to carry out or assist in carrying out the
purposes of this Ordinance, the Preliminary Official Statement, the fina] Official Statement, or as
may be required for approval of the Certificates by the Attorney General of Texas; provided,
however, that any changes to such documents resulting in substantive amendments to the terms
and conditions of the Certificates or such documents shall be subject to the prior approval of the
City Council.
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Section 9.6: No_Recourse Against City Officials. No recourse shall be had for the
payment of principal of or interest on any Certificates or for any claim based thereon or on this
Ordinance against any official of the City or any person executing any Certificates.

Section 9.7:  Further Proceedings. The Mayor, Mayor Pro-Tem, City Secretary,
Director of Finance and other appropriate officials of the City are hereby authorized and directed
to do any and all things necessary and/or convenient to carry out the terms of this Ordinance.

Section 9.8:  Severability. If any Section, paragraph, clause or provision of this
Ordinance shall for any reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or
unenforceability of such Section, paragraph, clause or provision shall not affect any of the
remaining provisions of this Ordinance.

Section 9.9: Open Meeting. It is hereby found, determined and declared that a
sufficient written notice of the date, hour, place and subject of the meeting of the City Council at
which this Ordinance was adopted was posted at a place convenient and readily accessible at all
times to the general public at City Hall for the time required by law preceding this meeting, as
required by the Open Meetings Law, Chapter 551, Texas Government Code, and that this
meeting has been open to the public as required by law at all times during which this Ordinance
and the subject matter thereof has been discussed, considered and formally acted upon. The City
Council further ratifies, approves and confirms such written notice and the contents and posting
thereof.

Section 9.10: Repealer. All orders, resolutions and ordinances, or parts thereof,
inconsistent herewith are hereby repealed to the extent of such inconsistency.

Section 9.11: Effective Date. This Ordinance shall be in force and effect from and after
its passage on the date shown below.
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PASSED AND ADOPTED this September 26, 2011.

CITY OF LANCASTER, TEXAS

Marcus E. Knight, Mayor

ATTEST:

Dolle X. Downe, City Secretary

(SEAL)

[City's CO 2011 Execution Page]
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EXHIBIT A

FORM OF CERTIFICATE

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
STATE OF TEXAS

CITY OF LANCANSTER, TEXAS
TAX AND WATERWORKS AND SEWER SYSTEM SURPLUS REVENUE
CERTIFICATES OF OBLIGATION, SERIES 2011

NUMBER DENOMINATION

RIJ{E-GISTERED ’ REGISTERED

’INTEREST RATE: DATED DATE: MATURITY DATE: 2CUSIP:
September 15, 2011 August 15,

REGISTERED OWNER:

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: DOLLARS

>THE CITY OF LANCASTER, TEXAS, a municipal corporation of the State of Texas
(the “City”), for value received, hereby promises to pay to the Registered Owner identified above
or its registered assigns, on the Maturity Date specified above (or on earlier redemption as herein
provided), upon presentation and surrender of this Certificate at the principal corporate trust
office of The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, National Association, Dallas, Texas, or
its successor (the “Paying Agent/Registrar”), the principal amount identified above (or so much
thereof as shall not have been paid or deemed to have been paid upon prior redemption) payable
in any coin or currency of the United States of America which on the date of payment of such
principal is legal tender for the payment of debts due to the United States of America, and to pay

! Initial Certificate shall be numbered T-1.
2 Omitted from initial Certificate.

? The following paragraph should be inserted into the Initial Certificate:

THE CITY OF LANCASTER, TEXAS, a municipal corporation of the State of Texas (the “City”), for
value received, hereby promises to pay to the Registered Owner identified above or its registered assigns, on August
15 of each of the years and in the principal amounts set forth in the following schedule: [Insert information
regarding years of maturity, principal amounts and interest rates from Section 3.3 of the Ordinance.] (or on earlier
redemption as herein provided}, upon presentation and surrender of this Certificate at the principal corporate trust
office of The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, National Association, Dallas, Texas, or its successor (the
“Paying Agent/Registrar”), the principal amounts identified above (or so much thereof as shall not have been paid or
deemed to have been paid upon prior redemption} payable in any coin or currency of the United States of America
which on the date of payment of such principal is legal tender for the payment of debts due to the United States of
America, and to pay interest thercon at the rate shown above, calculated on a basis of a 360-day year composed of
twelve 30-day months, from the later of the Dated Date or the most recent interest payment date to which interest
has been paid or duly provided for.
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interest thereon at the rate shown above, calculated on a basis of a 360-day year composed of
twelve 30-day months, from the later of October 27, 2011 or the most recent interest payment
date to which interest has been paid or duly provided for. Interest on this Certificate is payable
on February 15 and August 15 of each year commencing August 15, 2012 until maturity or
earlier redemption of this Certificate, by check sent by United States mail, first class, postage
prepaid, by the Paying Agent/Registrar to the Registered Owner of record as of the close of
business on the last day of the calendar month immediately preceding the applicable interest
payment date, as shown on the registration books kept by the Paying Agent/Registrar. Any
accrued interest payable at maturity or earlier redemption shall be paid upon presentation and
surrender of this Certificate at the principal corporate trust office of the Paying Agent/Registrar.

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ONE OF A DULY AUTHORIZED SERIES OF
CERTIFICATES (the “Certificates™) in the aggregate principal amount of $ issued
pursuant to an ordinance adopted by the City Council of the City on September 26, 2011 (the
“Ordinance™) (1) to pay all or any part of the contractual obligations to be incurred for the
construction of public works, and for the purchase of materials, supplies, equipment, machinery,
buildings, land and rights-of-way for authorized needs and purposes, to wit; (a) expanding and
improving the water and wastewater system; (b) design, construction and the equipping thereof
of an elevated storage tank, including drainage improvements incidental thereto, and the
acquisition of land and rights-of-way in connection therewith, to be located in the 792 Pressure
Plane as described in the City’s Water Master Plan which is available for public inspection at
City Hall; (c) construction, improvements and replacement of certain waterlines throughout the
city, including the Martin Berry Waterline, the 3™ Street Water Line and the Lexington
Waterline; (d) certain water and sewer design, construction, renovation, and improvements
within the City, and the equipping thereof, including the Keller Branch interceptor; and (2)
payment for professional services rendered in connection with the above listed projects.

‘REFERENCE IS HEREBY MADE TO THE FURTHER PROVISIONS OF THIS
CERTIFICATE SET FORTH ON THE REVERSE HEREOF, WHICH PROVISIONS SHALL
HAVE THE SAME FORCE AND EFFECT AS IF SET FORTH AT THIS PLACE.

STHIS CERTIFICATE shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to
any benefit under the Ordinance unless this Certificate is authenticated by the Paying
Agent/Registrar by due execution of the authentication certificate endorsed hereon.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused its corporate seal to be impressed or
placed in facsimile hereon and this Certificate to be signed by the Mayor, countersigned by the
City Secretary by their manual, lithographed or printed facsimile signatures.

* This paragraph shall be omitted from the initial Certificate and any other Certificate for which text does not appear
on the back of a printed centificate.
* In the initial Certificale, this paragraph shall read:
“THIS CERTIFICATE shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to
any benefit under the Ordinance unless this Certificate is registered by the Comptroller of Public
Accounts of the State of Texas by due execution of the registration certificate endorsed hereon.”
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CITY OF LANCASTER, TEXAS

Mayor
(SEAL)

COUNTERSIGNED:

City Secretary
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[REVERSE OF CERTIFICATE]

THE CITY RESERVES THE RIGHT, at its option, to redeem, prior to their maturity,
Certificates maturing on and after August 15, 2022, in whole or in part, on August 15, 2021, or
any date thereafter, at par plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption.

THE CERTIFICATES MATURING on August 15,20, August 15,20, and August 15,20
(the "Term Certificates") are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption in the following
amounts (subject to reduction as hereinafter provided), on the following dates, in each case at a
redemption price equal to the principal amount of the Certificates or the portions thereof so called
for redemption plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption:

Mandatory Redemption Dates  Principal Amounts
Term Certificates Maturing August 15, 20__ August 15,20 $
August 15,20
August 15,20
August 15,20
August 15,20

The particular Term Certificates to be redeemed shall be selected by the Registrar by Jot
or other customary random selection method, on or before January 1 of each year in which Term
Certificates are to be mandatorily redeemed. The principal amount of Term Certificates to be
mandatorily redeemed in each year shall be reduced by the principal amount of such Term
Certificates that have been optionally redeemed on or before January 1 of such year and which
have not been made the basis for a previous reduction.

At the request of the Paying Agent/Registrar, the redemption price of the Certificates to
be redeemed at the option of the City will be determined by an independent accounting firm,
investment banking firm or financial advisor retained by the City at the City’s expense to
calculate such redemption price. The Paying Agent/Registrar and the City may conclusively rely

A-3



| DRAFT |

on the determination of such redemption price by such independent accounting firm, investment
banking firm or financial advisor and will not be liable for such reliance.

CERTIFICATES MAY BE REDEEMED IN PART only in integral multiples of $5,000.
If a Certificate subject to redemption is in a denomination larger than $5,000, a portion of such
Certificate may be redeemed, but only in integral muitiples of $5,000. In selecting portions of
Certificates for redemption, each Certificate shall be treated as representing that number of
Certificates of $5,000 denomination which is obtained by dividing the principal amount of such
Certificate by $5,000. Upon surrender of any Certificate for redemption in part, the Paying
Agent/Registrar, in accordance with the provisions of the Ordinance, shall authenticate and
deliver in exchange therefor a Certificate or Certificates of like maturity and interest rate in an
aggregate principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of the Certificate so surrendered.

NOTICE OF ANY SUCH REDEMPTION, identifying the Certificates or portions
thereof to be redeemed, shall be sent by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, to the
Registered Owners thereof at their addresses as shown on the books of registration kept by the
Paying Agent/Registrar, not less than thirty (30) days before the date fixed for such redemption.
By the date fixed for redemption, due provision shall be made with the Paying Agent/Registrar
for the payment of the redemption price of the Certificates called for redemption. If such notice
of redemption is given, and if due provision for such payment is made, all as provided above, the
Certificates which are to be so redeemed thereby automatically shall be redeemed prior to their
scheduled maturities, they shall not bear interest after the date fixed for redemption, and they
shall not be regarded as being outstanding except for the purpose of being paid with the funds so
provided for such payment.

THIS CERTIFICATE IS TRANSFERABLE only upon presentation and surrender at the
principal corporate trust office of the Paying Agent/Registrar, accompanied by an assignment
duly executed by the Registered Owner or its authorized representative, subject to the terms and
conditions of the Ordinance.

THIS CERTIFICATE IS EXCHANGEABLE at the principal corporate trust office of the
Paying Agent/Registrar for a Certificate or Certificates of the same maturity and interest rate and
in the principal amount of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, subject to the terms and
conditions of the Ordinance.

NEITHER THE CITY NOR THE PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR shall be required to
transfer or exchange any Certificate (i) during the period commencing with the close of business
on any Record Date and ending with the opening of business on the next following principal or
interest payment date, or (ii) with respect to any Certificate called for redemption, in whole or in
part, within 45 days of the date fixed for redemption; provided, however, such limitation of
transfer shall not be applicable to an exchange by the registered owner of the uncalled balance of
a Certificate.

THE CITY OR PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR may require the Registered Owner of
any Certificate to pay a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that may be
imposed in connection with the transfer or exchange of a Certificate. Any fee or charge of the
Paying Agent/Registrar for a transfer or exchange shall be paid by the City.
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THE REGISTERED OWNER of this Certificate by acceptance hereof, acknowledges
and agrees to be bound by all the terms and conditions of the Ordinance.

IT IS HEREBY DECLARED AND REPRESENTED that this Certificate has been duly
and validly issued and delivered; that all acts, conditions and things required or proper to be
performed, exist and to be done precedent to or in the issuance and delivery of this Certificate
have been performed, exist and have been done in accordance with law; that the Certificates do
not exceed any constitutional or statutory limitation; and that annual ad valorem taxes sufficient
to provide for the payment of the interest on and principal of this Certificate, as such interest
comes due and such principal matures, have been levied and ordered to be levied, within the
limits prescribed by law, against all taxable property in the City and have been irrevocably
pledged for such payment.

IT IS FURTHER DECLARED AND REPRESENTED that the revenues to be derived
from the City’s water and sewer system, after the payment of all operation and maintenance
expenses thereof (the “Net Revenues™), in an amount not to exceed $1,000, are pledged to the
payment of the principal of and interest on the Certificates, provided that the pledge of Net
Revenues is and shall be junior and subordinate in all respects to the pledge of Net Revenues to
the payment of any obligation of the City, whether authorized heretofore or hereafter, which the
City designates as having a pledge senior to the pledge of the Net Revenues to the payment of
the Certificates. The City also reserves the right to issue, for any lawful purpose at any time, in
one or more installments, bonds, certificates of obligation and other obligations of any kind,
secured in whole or in part by a pledge of Net Revenues, that may be prior and superior in right
to, on a parity with, or junior and subordinate to the pledge of Net Revenues securing the
Certificates.

REFERENCE IS HEREBY MADE TO THE ORDINANCE, a copy of which is filed
with the Paying Agent/Registrar, for the full provisions thereof, to all of which the Registered
Owners of the Certificates assent by acceptance of the Certificates.
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FORM OF COMPTROLLER’S REGISTRATION CERTIFICATE

The following form of Comptroller’s Registration Certificate shall be attached or affixed
to each of the Certificates initially delivered:

THE STATE OF TEXAS
REGISTER NO.
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER OF PUBLIC ACCOUNTS

I hereby certify that this certificate has been examined, certified as to validity and
approved by the Attorney General of the State of Texas, and that this certificate has been
registered by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas.

WITNESS MY SIGNATURE AND SEAL OF OFFICE this

Comptroller of Public Accounts
of the State of Texas
[SEAL]
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FORM OF PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR’S AUTHENTICATION CERTIFICATE

The following form of authentication certificate shall be printed on the face of each of the
Certificates other than those initially delivered:

AUTHENTICATION CERTIFICATE

This Certificate is one of the Certificates described in and delivered pursuant to the
within-mentioned Ordinance; and, except for the Certificates initially delivered, this Certificate
has been issued in exchange for or replacement of a Certificate, Certificates, or a portion of a
Certificate or Certificates of an issue which originally was approved by the Attomey General of
the State of Texas and registered by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas.

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST
COMPANY, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By:

Authorized Signature
Date of Authentication:
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FORM OF ASSIGNMENT

The following form of assignment shall be printed on the back of each of the Certificates:

ASSIGNMENT

For value recetved, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto

(Please print or type name, address, and zib code of Transferee)

(Please insert Social Security or Taxpayer Identification Number of Transferee)

the within certificate and all rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints

attorney to transfer such certificate on the books kept

for registration thereof, with full power of substitution in the premises.

DATED:

Signature Guaranteed:

NOTICE: Signature must be guaranteed by a
member firm of the New York Stock Exchange
or a commercial bank or trust company.

Registered Owner

NOTICE: The signature above must
correspond to the name of the Registered
Owner as shown on the face of this certificate
in every particular, without any alteration,
enlargement or change whatsoever.
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EXHIBIT B

PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR AGREEMENT

See Tab
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EXHIBIT C

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT

See Tab __
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NOTICE OF SALE
AND
BIDDING INSTRUCTIONS

ON

$7,585,000
CITY OF LANCASTER, TEXAS
{Dallas County)
TAX AND WATERWORKS AND SEWER SYSTEM SURPLUS REVENUE CERTIFICATES OF OBLIGATION,
SERIES 2011

Sealed Blds Due Monday, September 26, 2011, at 11:00 AM, CDT
WILLB IGNATED AS "QUALIFIED TAX- IGATIONS" FOR FIN INSTITUTIONS.
THE SALE

CERTIFICATES OFFERED FOR SALE AT COMPETITIVE BIDDING . . . The City of Lancaster, Texas (the "City") is offering for sale its
$7,585,000 Tax and Waterworks and Sewer System Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2011 (the "Certificates”).
Bidders may submit bids for the Certificates by any of the following methods:

(1) Deliver bids directly to the City as described below in "Bids Delivered to the City;"
{2) Submit bids electronically as described below in “Electronic Bidding Procedures;" or
(3) Submit bids by telephone or facsimile as described below in "Bids by Telephone or Facsimile.”

Bips DELIVERED TO CITY . . . Scaled bids, plainly marked “Bid for Certificates,” should be addressed to "Mayor and City Council,
City of Lancaster, Texas," and should be delivered to the City's Financial Advisor, First Southwest Company, al 777 Main Street,
Suite 1200, Fort Worth, Texas 76102, prior to 11:00 AM, CDT, on the date of the sale.

ELECTRONIC BIDDING PROCEDURES . . . Any prospective bidder that intends to submil an electronic bid must submit its electronic
bid through the facilities of PARITY. Subscription to PARITY, i-Deal’s BIDCOMP Competitive Bidding Systems is required in
order to submit an electronic bid. The City will neither confirm any subscription nor be responsible for the failure of any prospective
bidder to subscribe. Bidders submitting an electronic bid shall not be required to submit Official Bid Forms prior to bidding.

An electronic bid made through the facilities of PARITY shall be deemed an irrevocable offer to purchase the Certificates on the
terms provided in this Notice of Sale and Bidding Instructions, and shall be binding upon the bidder as if made by a signed, sealed
bid delivered to the City. The City shall not be responsible for any malfunction or mistake made by, or as a result of the use of the
facilities of, PARITY, the use of such facilities being the sole risk of the prospective bidder.

If any provislons of the Notice of Sale and Bidding Instructions shall conflict with information provided by PARITY, as
the approved provider of electronic bidding services, this Notice of Sale and Bidding Instructions shall contrel. Further
information about PARITY, including any fee charged, may be obtained from Parity Customer Support, 40 West 23rd
Street, Sth Floor, New York, New York 10010, (212) 404-8102.

For purposes of the bidding process, regardless of the bidding method, the time as maintained by i-Deal shall constitute the official
time. For information purposes only, bidders are requested to state in thelr electronic bids the true interest cost to the City,
as described under "Basls for Award" below. All electronic bids shall be deemed to incorporate the provislons of this Notice
of Sale and Bldding Instructions and the Officlal Bld Form. The winning bidder shall submit a signed bid form if not
previously submitted.

Bips BY TELEPHONE OR FACSIMILE . . . Bidders must submit, prior to September 26, 2011, a SIGNED Official Bid Form to David
Medanich, First Southwest Company, 777 Main Street, Suite 1200, Fort Worth, Texas 76102, and submit their bid by telephone or
facsimile (fax) on the date of the sale.

Telephone bids will be accepted at (817) 332-9710, between 10:00 AM, CDT and 11:00 AM, CDT on the date of the sale.

Fax bids will be received between 10:00 AM, CDT and 11:00 AM, CDT, on the date of the sale at (317) 336-5572, attention: Gloria
Lindsey.

First Southwest Company will not be responsible for submitting to the City any blds received after the above deadlines.

The City and First Southwest Company are not responsible if such telephone or facsimile numbers are busy which prevents a bid
or bids from being submilted on a timely basis.

First Southwest Company assumes no responsibility or liability with respect to any irregularities associated with the submission of
bids if any options are exercised.



PLACE AND T'ME OF BID OPENING. . . The bids for the Certificates will be publicly opened and read at the offices of the Financial
Advisor, at 11:00 AM, CDT, Monday, September 26, 201 1.

AWARD OF THE CERTIFICATES . . . The City Council will take action to award the Certificates (or reject all bids) at a meeting
scheduled to convene at 7:00 PM, CDT, on the date of the bid opening, and adopt an ordinance authorizing the Certificates and
approving the Preliminary Official Statement (the "Ordinance"). The City reserves the right to reject any and all bids and to waive
any irregularities except time of submission.

THE CERTIFICATES

DESCRIPTION . .. The Certificates will be dated September 15, 2011 (the "Dated Date"}. Interest will accrue from the Dated Date
and will be due on February 15, 2012, and cach August and February 15 thereafter until the earlier of maturity or prior redemption,
The Certificates will be issued only in fully registered form in any integral multiple of $5,000 for any one maturity. The Certificates
will mature on August 15 in each year as follows:

MATURITY SCHEDULE

Principal Principal Principal
Year Amount Year Amount Year Amount
2012 § 300,000 2019 $ 330,000 2026 $ 430,000
2013 280,000 2020 340,000 2027 450,000
2014 285,000 2021 355,000 2028 470,000
2015 295,000 2022 370,000 2029 495,000
2016 300,000 2023 385,000 2030 515,000
2017 310,000 2024 400,000 2031 540,000
2018 320,000 2025 415,000

OPTIONAL REDEMPTION . . . The City reserves the right, at its option, to redeem Certificates having stated maturities on and after
August 15, 2022, in whole or in part in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, on August 15, 2021, or any date
thereafter, at the par value thereof plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption.

SErRIAL CERTIFICATES AND/OR TERM CERTIFICATES . . . Bidders may provide that all of the Certificates be issued as senal
Certificates maturing in accord with the Maturity Schedule shown on the Official Bid Form (“Serial Certificates™) or may provide
that any two or more consecutive annual principal amounts be combined into one or more term Certificates (" Term Certificates").

MANDATORY SINKING FUND . . . If the successful bidder elects to alter the Maturity Schedule reflected above and convert principal
amounts of the Serial Certificates into Tenm Centificates, such Term Certificates shall be subject to mandatory redemption on the first
August 135 next following the last maturity for Serial Certificates, and annually thereafier on each August 15 until the stated maturity
for the Term Certificates at the redemption prices of par plus accrued interest to the date of redemption. The principal amounts of the
Term Certificates to be redeemed on each mandatory redemption date shall be the principal amounts that would have been due and
payable in the Maturity Schedule shown above had no conversion to Term Certificates occurred. At least thirty (30) days prior to
each mandatory redemption date, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall select by lot the Term Certificates to be redeemed and cause a
notice of redemption to be given in the manner provided in the Preliminary Official Statement.

The principal amount of the Term Centificates required to be redeemed pursuant to the operation of such mandatory redemption
provisions may be reduced, at the option of the City, by the principal amount of the Term Certificates of the same maturity which (i)
shall have been acquired by the City at a price not exceeding the principal amount of such Term Certificates plus accrued interest to
the date or purchase thereof, and delivered to the Paying Agent/Registrar for cancellation or (ii) shall have been redeemed pursuant
to the optional redemption provisions and not theretofore credited against a mandatory redemption requirement.

A final Official Statement will incorporate the mandatory redemption provisions for the Certificates in the event the successful
bidder elects to convert serial maturities into one or more Term Certificates.

BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM ... The City intends to utilize the Book-Entry-Only System of The Depository Trust Company
("DTC"). See "The Certificates - Book-Entry-Only System" in the Preliminary Official Statement.

PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR . . . The initial Paying Agent/Registrar shall be The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, National
Association, Dallas, Texas (see "The Certificates - Paying Agent/Registrar” in the Preliminary Official Statement).

SOURCE OF PAYMENT . .. The Cenificates constitute direct obligations of the City, payable from a combination of (i) the levy and
collection of an annual ad valorem tax, within the limits prescribed by law, on all taxable property within the City, and (ii) a limited
pledge (not to exceed $1,000), junior and subordinate of the surplus Net Revenues of the City’s Waterworks and Sewer System.

Further details regarding the Certificates are set forth in the Preliminary Official Staternent.



CONDITIONS OF THE SALE

TYPE OF BIDS AND INTEREST RATES . . . The Certificates will be sold in one block on an " All or None” basis, and at a price of
not less than their par value and not more than 100.5% of their princlpal amount. Bidders are invited to name the rate(s) of
interest to be bome by the Certificates, provided that each rate bid must be in a multiple of 1/8 of 1% or 1/100 of 1% and the net
effective interest rate must not exceed 15%. The highest rate bid may not exceed the lowest rate bid by more than 3% in rate.
For Certificates having stated maturities on and after August 15, 2022, no reoffering yield producing a dollar price less
than 98.00 for any individual maturity will be accepted. The high bidder will be required to submit reoffering yields and
dollar prices prior to award. No limitation is imposed upon bidders as to the number of rates or changes which may be used.
All Certificates of one maturity must bear one and the same rate. No bids involving supplemental interest rates will be
considered. Each bidder shall state in the bid the total interest cost in dollars and the effective interest rate determined thereby
(calculated in the manner prescribed by Chapter 1204, Texas Government Code), which shall be considered informative only and
not as a part of the bid.

BAsIS FOR AWARD . . . The sale of the Certificates will be awarded to the bidder making a bid that conforms to the specifications
herein and which produces the lowest True Interest Cost rate to the City. The True Interest Cost rate is that rate which, when used to
compute the total present value as of the Dated Date of all debt service payments on the Certificates on the basis of semi-annual
compounding, produces an amount equal to the sum of the par value of the Certificates plus any premium bid (but not interest
accrued from the Dated Date to the date of their delivery). In the event of a bidder's error in interest cost rate calculations, the interest
rates, and premium, if any, set forth in the Official Bid Form will be considered as the official bid.

Goob Farti DEPOSIT . .. A Good Faith Deposit, payable to the "City of Lancaster, Texas", in the amount of $227,550.00, is
required. Such Good Faith Deposit shall be a bank cashier’s check or certified check, which is to be retained uncashed by the City
pending the initial purchaser's (“Initial Purchasers”) compliance with the terms of the bid and the Notice of Sale and Bidding
Instructions. The Good Faith Deposit may accompany the Official Bid Form or it may be submitted separately. If submitted
separately, it shall be made available to the City prior to the opening of the bids, and shall be accompanied by instructions from the
bank on which drawn which authorize its use as a Good Faith Deposit by the Initial Purchaser who shall be named in such
instructions. The Good Faith Deposit of the Initial Purchaser will be returned to the Initial Purchaser upon payment for the
Certificates. No interest will be allowed on the Good Faith Deposit. In the event the Initial Purchaser should fail or refuse to take
up and pay for the Certificates in accordance with the bid, then said check shall be cashed and accepted by the City as full and
complete liquidated damages. The checks accompanying bids other than the winning bid will be returned immediately afier the bids
are opened, and an award of the Certificates has been made.

DELIVERY OF THE CERTIFICATES AND ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTS

CUSIP NUMBERS . . . It is anticipated that CUSIP identification numbers will appear on the Certificates, but neither the failure to
print or type such number on any Certificate nor any error with respect thereto shall constitute cause for a failure or refusal by the
Initial Purchaser to accept delivery of and pay for the Certificates in accordance with the terms of this Notice of Sale and Bidding
Instructions and the terms of the Official Bid Form. All expenses in relation to the printing or typing of CUSIP numbers on the
Certificates shall be paid by the City; provided, however, that the CUSIP Service Bureau charge for the assignment of the numbers
shall be the responsibility of and shall be paid for by the Initial Purchaser.

DELIVERY OF CERTIFICATES . . . Initial Delivery will be accomplished by the issuance of one Initial Certificate (also called the
“Certificate" or “"Centificates"), either in typed or printed form, in the aggregate principal amount of $7,585,000, payable in stated
installments to the Initial Purchaser or its designee, signed by the Mayor and City Secretary, approved by the Attorney General of the
State of Texas, and registered and manually signed by the Comptroller of Public Accounts. Upon delivery of the Initial Certificate, it
shall be immediately cancelled and one definitive Certificate for each maturity will be registered and delivered only to Cede & Co.,
and deposited with DTC in connection with DTC's Book-Entry-Only System. Delivery will be at the corporate trust office of the
Paying Agent/Registrar in Dallas, Texas. Payment for the Certificates must be made in immediately available funds for
unconditional credit to the City, or as otherwise directed by the City. The Initial Purchaser will be given six business days' notice of
the time fixed for delivery of the Certificates. 1t is anticipated that delivery of the Certificates can be made on or about October 26,
2011, and it is understood and agreed that the Initial Purchaser will accept delivery and make payment for the Centificates by 10:00
AM, CDT, on October 26, 2011, or thereafter on the date the Centificate is tendered for delivery, up to and including November 9,
2011. If for any reason the City is unable to make delivery on or before November 9, 2011, the City shall immediately contact the
Initial Purchaser and offer to allow the Initial Purchaser to extend its offer for an additional thirty days. If the Initial Purchaser does
not elect to extend its offer within six days thereafier, then its Good Faith Deposit will be retumed, and both the City and the Initial
Purchaser shall be relieved of any further obligation. In no event shall the City be liable for any damages by reason of its failure to
deliver the Centificates, provided such failure is due to circumstances beyond the City's reasonable control.

CONDITtONS TO DELIVERY . . . The obligation of the Initial Purchaser to take up and pay for the Certificates is subject to the
Initial Purchaser's receipt of (a) the legal opinion of West & Associates, L.L.P., Dallas, Texas, Bond Counsel for the City ("Bond
Counsel") and Andrews Kurth, LLP, Houston, Texas, Special Tax Counsel ("Special Tax Counsel"), (b) the no-litigation
certificate, and (c) the certification as to the Official Statement, all as further described in the Official Statement,

In order to provide the City with information required to enable it to comply with certain conditions of the Intemal Revenue Code
of 1986 relating to the exemption of interest on the Certificates from the gross income of their owners, the Initial Purchaser will



be required to complete, execute, and deliver to the City (on or before the 6th business day prior to the delivery of the
Certificates) a certification as to their "issue price” substantially in the form and to the effect attached hereto or accompanying
this Notice of Sale and Bidding Instructions (the "Certificate Regarding Issue Price™). In the event the successful bidder will not
reoffer the Certificates for sale, such certificate may be modified in a manner approved by Special Tax Counsel. In po event will
the Clty fail to deliver the Certificates as a result of the Initial Purchaser's inability to sell a substantial amount of the
Certificates at a particular price prior to delivery. Each bidder, by submitting its bid, agrees to complete, execute, and deliver
such a certificate by the date of delivery of the Certificates, if its bid is accepted by the City. 1t will be the responsibility of the
Initial Purchaser to institute such syndicate reporting requirements to make such investigation, or otherwise to ascertain the facts
necessary to enable it to make such certification with reasonable certainty. Any questions concerning such certification should be
directed to Special Tax Counsel.

LEGAL OPFINION . . . The Certificates are offered when, as and if issued, subject to the approval of the Attomey General of the
State of Texas. Delivery of and payment for the Certificates is subject to the receipt by the Initial Purchaser of opinions of Bond
Counsel, to the effect that the Certificates are valid and binding obligations of the City and that the interest on the Certificates
will be excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes under existing law, subject to the matters described under
"Tax Matters” in the Preliminary Official Statement, including altemative minimum tax consequences for corporations.

CERTIFICATION OF PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT . . . At the time of payment for and Initial Delivery of the Certificates, the
City will execute and deliver to the Initial Purchaser a certificate in the form set forth in the Official Statement.

CHANGE IN TAx EXEMPT STATUS ... At any time before the Certificates are tendered for delivery, the Initial Purchaser may
withdraw its bid if the interest received by private holders on obligations of the same type and character shall be declared to be
includable in gross income under present federal income tax laws, either by ruling of the Intemal Revenue Service or by a decision of
any federal court, or shall be declared taxable or be required to be taken into account in computing any federal income taxes, by the
terms of any federal income tax law enacted subsequent to the date of this Notice of Sale and Bidding Instructions.

GENERAL

FINANCIAL ADVISOR . . . First Southwest Company is employed as Financial Advisor to the City in connection with the issuance
of the Certificates. The Financial Advisor's fee for services rendered with respect to the sale of the Certificates is contingent
upon the issuance and delivery of the Certificates. First Southwest Company, in its capacity as Financial Advisor, has relied on
the opinion of Bond and Special Tax Counsel and has not verified and does not assume any responsibility for the information,
covenants and representations contained in any of the legal documents with respect to the federal income tax status of the
Certificates, or the possible impact of any present, pending or future actions taken by any legislative or judicial bodies.

BLUE SKY Laws ... By submission of its bid, the Initial Purchaser represents that the sale of the Certificates in states other than
Texas will be made only pursuant to exemptions from registration or, where necessary, the Initial Purchaser will register the
Certificates in accordance with the securities law of the states in which the Certificates are offered or sold. The City agrees to
cooperate with the Initial Purchaser, at the Initial Purchaser's written request and expense, in registering the Certificates or obtaining
an exemption from registration in any state where such action is necessary, provided, however, that the City shall not be obligated to
qualify as a foreign corporation or to execute a general or special consent to service of process in any such jurisdiction.

NOT AN OFFER TO SELL . . . This Notice of Sale and Bidding Instructions does not alone constitute an offer to sell the Certificates,
but is merely notice of the sale of the Certificates. The offer to sell the Certificates is being made by means of the Notice of Sale and
Bidding Instructions, the Official Bid Form and the Preliminary Official Statement. Prospective purchasers are urged to carefully
examine the Preliminary Official Statement to determine the investment quality of the Certificates.

ISSUANCE OF APDITIONAL DEBT . . . The City does not anticipate issuing additional general obligation debt within the next six
month period.

RATINGS . . . The presently outstanding tax supported debt of the City is rated "Aa3" by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. ("Moody's")
and "A” by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a Standard & Poor’s Financial Services business ("S&P"). The City also has issues
outstanding which are rated "Aaa" by Moody's and "AAA" by S&P through insurance by various commercial insurance companies.
Applications for contract ratings on this issue have been made to both Moody's and S&P. The results of their determinations will be
provided as soon as possible.

MUNICIPAL BOND INSURANCE . . . In the event the Certificates are qualified for municipal bond insurance, and the Purchaser
desires to purchase such insurance, the cost therefor will be paid by the Initial Purchaser. Any fees to be paid to the rating
agencies as a result of said insutance will be paid by the City. 1t will be the responsibility of the Initial Purchaser to disclose the
existence of insurance, its terms and the effect thereof with respect to the reoffering of the Certificates. Any rating downgrade by
Moody’s or S&P, respectively, of the bond insurance provider after the Bid Opening shall not relieve the Initial Purchaser of its
obligation under the heading "DELIVERY OF THE CERTIFICATES AND ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTS".

THE PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT AND COMPLIANCE wiTH SEC RULE 15c2-12...The City has prepared the
accompanying Preliminary Official Statement and, for the limited purpose of complying with U.S. Security & Exchange
Commission Rule 15¢2-12 (the "Rule"), deems such Preliminary Official Statement to be final as of its date within the meaning of
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such Rule for the purpose of review prior to bidding. To the best knowledge and belief of the City, the Preliminary Official Statement
contains information, in¢luding financial information or operating data, concerning every entity, enterprise, fund, account, or person
that is material to an evaluation of the offering of the Certificates. Representations made and to be made by the City conceming the
absence of material misstatements and omissions in the Preliminary Official Statement are addressed elsewhere in this Notice of Sale
and Bidding Instructions and in the Preliminary Official Statement.

The City will furnish to the Initial Purchaser, acting through a designated senior representative, in accordance with instructions
received from the Initial Purchaser, within seven (7) business days from the sale date an aggregate of 250 copies of the Official
Statement reflecting interest rates and other terms relating to the initial reoffering of the Certificates. The cost of any Official
Statement in excess of the number specified shall be prepared and distributed at the cost of the Initial Purchaser. The Initial
Purchaser shall be responsible for providing in writing the initial reoffering prices and other terms, if any, to the Financial Advisor by
the ¢lose of the next business day after the award. Except as noted above, the City assumes no responsibility or obligation for the
distribution or delivery of any copies of the Official Statement in connection with the offering or reoffering of the Certificates.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT . . . The City will agree in the Ordinance to provide certain periodic information and
notices of material events in accordance with the Rule 15¢2-12, as described in the Preliminary Official Statement under
"Continuing Disclosure of Information”. The Initial Purchaser's obligation to accept and pay for the Certificates is conditioned
upon delivery to the Initial Purchaser or agent of a certified copy of the Ordinance containing the agreement described under such
heading.

COMPLIANCE WITH PRIOR UNDERTAKINGS . . . During the last five years, the City has complied in all material respects with all
continuing disclosure agreements made by it in accordance with the Rule. Updated unaudited financial information of the general
type included in Appendix B has, in each of the last five years, been timely filed in the form of updates to certain tables containing
similar information. This information has been subsequently amended when the City’s audited financial statements have become
available. The City’s 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, and 2010 audited financial statements release dates were January 29, 2007,
Janvary 9, 2008, February 25, 2009, February 16, 2010, April 19, 2010, and August 22, 2011 respectively. The City has
implemented several administrative changes to increase the efficiency of its annual reporting procedures and to ensure timely
preparation of its annual audited financial statements.

ADDITIONAL COPIES OF NOTICE, BID FORM AND STATEMENT . . . A limited number of additional copies of this Notice of Sale and
Bidding Instructions, the Official Bid Form and the Preliminary Official Statement, as available over and above the normal mailing,
may be obtained at the offices of First Southwest Company, lnvestment Bankers, 325 North St. Paul, Suite 800, Dallas, Texas 75201,
Financial Advisor to the City.

On the date of the sale, the City will, in the Ordinance authorizing the issuance of the Certificates, confirm its approval of the form
and content of the Preliminary Official Statement, and any addenda, supplement or amendment thereto, and authorize its vse in the
reoffering of the Certificates by the Initial Purchaser.

MARCUS E. KNIGHT
Mayor
City of Lancaster, Texas
ATTEST:

DOLLE DOWNE
City Secretary

September 14, 2011



BOND YEARS

Bonds Accumulated Bonds
Maturing Amount Bond Years Bond Years Maturing
2012 300,000 275.000 275.000 2012
2013 280,000 536.667 §11.667 2013
2014 285,000 831.250 1,642.917 2014
2015 295,000 1,155.417 2,798.333 2015
2016 300,000 1,475.000 4,273.333 2016
2017 310,000 1,834.167 6,107.500 2017
2018 320,000 2,213.333 8,320.833 2018
2019 330,000 2,612.500 10,933,333 2019
2020 340,000 3,031.667 13.,965.000 2020
2021 355,000 3,520.417 17,485.417 2021
2022 370,000 4,039.167 21,524.583 2022
2023 385,000 4,587.917 26,112.500 2023
2024 400,000 5,166.667 31,279.167 2024
2025 415,000 5,775.417 37,054.583 2025
2026 430,000 6,414.167 43,468.750 2026
2027 450,000 7,162.500 50,631.250 2027
2028 470,000 7,950.833 58.582.083 2028
2029 495,000 8,868.750 67.450.832 2029
2030 515,000 9,742.083 77.192.917 2030
2031 540,000 10,755.000 87,947.917 2031

Average Maturity ... ....... ..o oo 11.596 Years



OFFICIAL BID FORM

Honorable Mayor and City Council September 26, 2011
City of Lancaster, Texas

Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council:

Reference is made to your Preliminary Official Statement and Notice of Sale and Bidding Instructions, dated September [4, 2011 of
$7,585,000 CITY OF LANCASTER, TEXAS TAX AND WATERWORKS AND SEWER SYSTEM SURPLUS REVENUE
CERTIFICATES OF OBLIGATION, SERIES 201 [, both of which constitute a part hereof.

For your legally issued Certificates, as described in said Notice of Sale and Bidding Instruclions and Preliminary Official Siatement,
we will pay you par and accrued interest from dale of issue to date of delivery to us, plus a cash premium of § (not to
exceed 0.5% of par amount of Centificates) for Certificates maturing and bearing interest as follows:

Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest

Maturity Amount Rate Maturity Amount Rate Maturity Amount Rate
8/15/2012 300,000 Yo 8/15/2019 § 330,000 % 8/15/2026 $ 430,000 %
8/15/2013 280,000 % 8/15/2020 340,000 % 8/15/2027 450,000 o
8/15/2014 285,000 % 8/15/2021 355,000 % 8/15/2028 470,000 %
8/15/2015 295,000 % 8/15/2022 370,000 % 8/152029 495,000 %
8/15/2016 300,000 % 8/15/2023 385,000 % 8/152030 515,000 %
8/15/2017 310,000 % 8/15/2024 400,000 % 8/15/2031 540,000 %
8/15/2018 320,000 Yo 8/15/2025 415,000 %

Of the principal maturities set forth in the table above, term bonds have been created as indicated in the following table (which may
include multiple term bonds, one term bond or no term bond if none is indicated). For those years which have been combined into a
term bond, the principal amount shown in the table above shall be the mandatory sinking fund redemption amounts in such years
except that the amount shown in the year of the term bond maturity date shall mature in such year. The term bonds created are as
follows:

Year of
Maturity Date First M andatory Principal Interest
August 15 Redemption Amount Rate
3 %
3 %
3 %
$ Yo
$ %
Our calculation (which is not a part of this bid) of the true interest cost from the above is:
TRUE INTEREST COST %
We are having the Certificates of the following maturities insured by at
a premium of § » said premium to be paid by the Initial Purchaser. Any fees to be paid to the rating agencies
as a result of said insurance will be paid by the City.
The Initial Certificates shall be registered in the name of » which will, upon

payment for the Certificates, be canceled by the Paying Agent/Registrar. The Certificates will then be registered in the name of Cede
& Co. (DTC's partnership nominee), under the Book-Entry-Only Syslem.

A bank cashier’s check or certified check of the Bank, , in the amount of $227,550.00,
which represents our Good Faith Deposit (is attached hereto) or (has been made available to you prior to the opening of this bid), and
is submitted in accordance with the terms as sct forth in the Preliminary Official Statement and Notice of Sale and Bidding
Instructions. Such Good Faith Deposit is payable to the order of “The City of Lancaster, Texas", If the Centificates are awarded
to us, the Good Faith Deposit will remain uncashed and will be retumned to us at the time of delivery of 1he Bonds by the City.




We agree to aceept delivery of the Certificates utilizing the Book-Entry-Only System through DTC and make payment for the Initial
Certificate in immediately available funds in the Corporate Trust Division, The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, National
Association, not later than 10:00 AM, CDT, on October 26, 2011, or thereafter on the date the Certificates are tendered for delivery,
pursuant to the terms set forth in the Notice of Sale and Bidding Instructions. It will be the obligation of the Initial Purchaser of the
Certificates to complete the DTC Eligibility Questionnaire.

The undersigned agrees to complete, execute, and deliver to the City, at least six business days prior to delivery of the Certificates, a
certificate relating to the "issue price” of the Certificates in the form and to the effect accompanying the Notice of Sale and Bidding
Instructions, with such changes thereto as may be acceptable to the City.

If the bid is accepted by the City, this bid shall thereupon become a contract of purchase for the Certificates under the terms
contained in this Official Bid Form and in the Notice of Sale and Bidding Instructions. We hereby acknowledge that we have
received and read the Notice of Sale and Bidding Instructions and Preliminary Official Statement referred to above.

‘We agree to provide in writing the Initial reoffering prices and other terms, if any, to the Financial Advisor by the close of the
next business day after the award.

Respectfully submitted, Syndicate Members:

Name of Underwriter or Manager

Authorized Representative

Phone Number

Signature
ACCEPTANCE CLAUSE

The above and foregoing bid is hereby in all things accepted by the City of Lancaster, Texas, subject to and in accordance with the
Notice of Sale and Bidding Instructions, this the 26th day of September, 2011,

ATTEST:

Mayor
City of Lancaster, Texas

City Secretary



CERTIFICATE REGARDING ISSUE PRICE

The undersigned hereby certifies with respect to the sale of the City of Lancaster, Texas Tax and Waterworks and Sewer System
Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 201, dated September 15, 2011 (the “Certificates”), as follows:

1.

The undersigned is a duly authorized representative of the underwriter or of the manager of the syndicate of
underwriters that purchased the Certificates from the City of Lancaster, Texas (the “lssuer”) pursuant to a
competitively bid sale. {Such underwriter or syndicate of underwrilers is referred to herein as the “Initial Purchaser”).
In this capacity, the undersigned is familiar with the facts stated herein.

2. The term “Initial Offering Prices” means the respective initial offering prices (exclusive of accrued interest) for the
Certificates of each maturity (stated as a percent of par) as set forth in the following table.

INITIAL INITIAL

PRINCIPAL OFFERING PRINCIPAL OFFERING

MATURITY AMOUNT PRICE MATURITY AMOUNT PRICE
2012 $ 300,000 % 2022 $ 370,000 %
2013 280,000 % 2023 385,000 %
2014 285,000 %o 2024 400,000 %
2015 295,000 % 2025 415,000 %
2016 300,000 " 2026 430,000 _ %
2017 310,000 % 2027 450,000 _ %
2018 320,000 _ % 2028 470,000 %
2019 330,000 % 2029 495,000 %
2020 340,000 % 2030 515,000 %
2021 355,000 % 2031 540,000 _ %

3. The term "Public” shall not include bond houses, brokers, and similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of
wholesalers or underwriters. The term “Sale Date” means the first day on which there was a binding contract in writing
for the sale of the Certificates by the lssuer to the Initial Purchaser on specific terms that were not later modified or
adjusted in any material respect. In the case of the Certificates, the Sale Date is September 26, 2011. The tetm “lssue
Date” means the first day on which there is a physical delivery of the written evidence of the Certificates in exchange
for the purchase price (but not earlier) than the day interest on the Certificates begins to accrue for federal income tax
purposes). In the case of the Certificates, the Issue Date is ,2011.

4. Based on the actual facts and reasonable expectations in existence, the Initial Offering Price for each Certificate (a)
represented the price (payable in cash, with no other consideration being included, and exclusive of accrued interest), at
which the Initial Purchaser reasonably expected each such Certificate would be sold to the Public, and (b) did not
exceed what the Initial Purchaser believed to be the respective fair market value of each such Certificate.

5. The Initial Purchaser has made a bona fide public offering to the Public of all the Certificates of each maturity at the
Initial Offering Prices set forth above in paragraph 2. The Initial Offering Prices were determined on the Sale Date
based on the Initial Purchaser’s reasonable expectations regarding the Initial Offering Prices, and at least 10 percent
of all of the Certificates, except any Retained Certificates (as defined below) were sold to the Public at the Initial
Offering Prices. For the Certificates maturing in the years . , and , of which at least
10 percent of each maturity was not sold to the Public at the Initial Offenng Pnces (the “Relamed Certificates), the
Initial Purchaser reasonably expected, as of the Sale Date to sell a substantial amount of each maturity of
such Certificates to the Public at the respective Initial Offering Prices.

6. The aggregate of the respective Initial Offering Prices (the “lssue Price”) of all of the Certificates, exclusive of accrued
interest and without adjustment for any costs of issuance, is § . The pre-issuance accrued interest on the
Certificates as of the Issue Date is §

7. The Initial Purchaser [has/has not] purchased bond insurance or another form of credit enhancement (*Guarantee™)

securing the payment of the principal of, or interest on, any of the Certificates. 1f any Guarantee has been purchased
with respect to all or any portion of the Certificates —

a. The provider of the Guarantee is (the “*Guarantor”).

b. The fee or premium paid to the Guarantor for the Guarantee is § (the “Premium™). The
Premium is set forth in the Guarantor's commitment, does not exceed a reasonable charge for the transfer of
the credit risk provided by the Guarantee, and does not include any direct or indirect payment or
compensation (such as rating agency fees) for any service other than the transfer of such credit risk. The



Guarantor has not provided any service other than the Guarantee, except for any such service for which the
Guarantor has charged a reasonable arm’s length price which will be in addition to, and stated separately
from, the Premium. No portion of the Premium is refundable upon the redemption or defeasance of any of
the Certificates.

c. As a result of the Guarantee, the interest rates on the Certificates are less than those which would have
been necessary in order to sell the Certificates at the respective Initial Offering Prices without the Guarantee.
The present value of such interest savings expected to result from the Guarantee is greater than the present
value of the Premium. In both cases, such present values have been determined as of the Issue Date using the
yield on the Certificates (computed for this purpose by treating the Premium as additional interest on the
Certificates) as the discount rate,

We understand that the Issuer will rely on the above in making certain representations to Andrews Kurth LLP, Bond Counsel to
the Issuer, and in complying with the conditions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the Treasury
Regulations in effect thereunder, necessary for interest on the Certificates to be and remain excludable from gross income for
federal income tax purposes.

EXECUTED and DELIVERED as of and on the __ day of 2011,
INITIAL PURCHASER
By:
Name:

Title:




»

FirstSouthwest PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT Ratings:
Continuing Disdosure Services Moody’s: "Aa3"
(See*C ng Drsclosucs of lafe * herein) Dated September 14, 2011 S&P: "A"
(See "Other Informatlon -
NEW ISSUE - Book-Entry-Only Ratings™ hereln)

In the opinion of Spe cial Tax Counsel, interest on the Certificates is ¢ xeludable from gross inc ome for fe deral income tax purposes under existing law,
subject to the m aners described under “TAX MATTERS - Tax Exem ption’” herein, and is not includable in the altemative m inimum taxable income of
individuals. See “TAX MATTERS - Tax Exem ption” for a diseussion of the opinion of Sp ecial Tax Counsel, 1n ¢cludmg the altemati ve minimum tax on
corporations

TH RTIFICATES Wl o TAX- BLIGATI " FOR 1 1
$7,585,000
CITY OF LANCASTER, TEXAS
~ (Dallas County)
TAX AND WATERWORKS AND SEWER SYSTEM SURPLUS
A REVENUE CERTIFICATES OF OBLIGATION, SERIES 2012
Lancaster
Dated Diate: September 1S, 2011 Due: August 15, as shown below

PAVMENT TERMS Interest on the $7, 585 000 C ity of L ancaster. T exas T ax and Wa terworks a nd Se wer Sy stem Surplus R evenue C ertificates of
Obligation, Series 2011 (the "Certificates™) will accrue from September 15, 2011 (the “D ated Date”), will be payable February 15 and August 15 of each
year until matunty or prior re demption, commeneing August |5, 2012, and will be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day
months, The defimuve Certificates will be iniually regisiered and delivered only to Cede & Co, the nominee of The Depository Trust Company {*DTC")
pursuant to the B ook-Entry-Only Sy stem de seribed herein. B eneficial ow nership of the Certifieates may be acquired in de nominations of $5, 000 or
mtegral multiples thereof within a maturity. No physical dellvery of the Certificates wlll be made to the owners thereof. Principal of, premium, if any,
and interest on the Certificates will be payable by the Paying Agent/Registrar to Cede & Co., which will make distribution of the amounts so paid to the
participating members of DTC for subsequent payment 10 the beneficial owners of the Certificates Se ¢ "The Certificates - B ook-Entry-Only Sy stem”
herein. The iniual Paying Agent/Registrar is The Bank of Ne w York Me llon Trust C ompany, N A , Da llas, Te xas (se¢ “The Certificates - Pa ying
Agent/Registrar”).

AUTBORITY FOR ISSUANCE  The Certificates are 1ssued pursuant 10 the Constitution and general laws of the State of Texas (the "State"), particularly
Subchapter C of Chapter 271, Texas Local Government Code. as amended, and constitute dircct obligations of the City of L ancaster. Texas (the "City"),
payable from a combination of (1) the levy and collection of an annual ad valorem tax, within the limits preseribed by law, on all taxable property within
the City, and (i} a lim ited pledge {not to exceed $1,000), junior and subordinate of the surplus Net Revenues of the City’s Waterworks and Sewer System
as provided in the ordinance authorizing the Certificates {the "Ordinance”} (see "The Certificates - Authority for Issuance")

PURPOSE . . . Proceeds from the sale of the Certificates will be used for {i} for paying contractua | abligations 10 be incurred for the construction of public
works, and purchase of materials, supplies, equipment, machinery, buildings. land and right-of-way for a uthonzed needs and purposes to (a) expand and
improve the water and wastewater system; (b} design, construction and equipping of a n elevated storage tank, including drainage improvements and the
acquisition of land and rights-of-way in c onnection therewith, 10 be located in the 792 Pressure Plane as described in the City’s Water Master Plan; (¢)
construction, improvements and replacement of certain waterlines throughout the city, including the Martin Berry Waterline, the 3rd Street Waterline and
the L exington Watcrline; (d) c ertain water and se wer de sign, c onstruction, renavation, and im provements within the City, and the equipping thereof,
including the Keller Branch inmterceptor; and (i) paying for professional services rendered s connection with the above listed projects

MATURITY SCHEDULE CUSIP Prefix'": 514444

Aug 15 Interest Inittal CUSIP Aug 15 Interest Initial CUSIP

Amounl Maturity Rale Yield Suffix!" Amounl Maturity Rale Yield Suffix!"
$ 300,000 2012 $ 370,000 2022
280,000 2013 385,000 2023
285,000 2014 400,000 2024
295,000 2015 415,000 2025
300,000 2016 430,000 2026
310,000 2017 450,000 2027
320,000 2018 470,000 2028
330,000 2019 495,000 2029
340,000 2020 515,000 2030
355,000 2021 540,000 2031

(Accrued Interest from September 15, 2011 to be added)

(1} CUSIPisa registered trademark of the A merican Bankers Association. C USIP data herein 1s provided by CUSIP Global Services, managed by
Standard & Poor’s Finaneial Services LLC on be half of the American Bankers Association T his data is not inte nded to create a database and does not
serve in any way as a subsiitute for the CUSIP Services. Neither the City nor the Financial Advisor is responsible for the selcction or correctness of the
CUSIP numbers set forth herein

REDEMPTION  The City reserves the nght, at its option, to redeem Certificates having stated maturities on and after August 15, 2022, in whole or in part
in prineipal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, on August 15, 2021, or any date thereafier, at the par value thereof plus accrued interest to
the date of redemption.

LEGALITY  The Certificates are o ffered for delivery when, as and 1 1 ssued and received by the Underwriters of the Certificates and subject 10 the
approving opinion of the Attorney General of Texas and the opinion of West & Associates, L L.P.. Bond Counsel, Dallas, Texas, and Andrews Kurth, LLP,
Special Tax Counsel, Houston Texas (see Appendix C, "Form of Bond and Speeial Tax Counsels® Opinions™),

DELIVERY It 1s expected that the Certificates will be available for delivery through The Depository Trust Company on Octaber 26, 2011

BIDS DUE MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 26, 2011, AT 11:00 AM, CDT



For pwrposes of compliance with Rule 15¢2-12 of the U.S. Secnrities and Exchange Commission (the "Rule"), this document constitutes an Official Statement of the
City with respect to the Certificates that has been "deemed finai" by the City as of its date except for the omission of no more than the information permisted by the
Rirfe.

This Official Statement, which includes the cover page, Schedule and the Appendices hereto, does not constitute an offer (o sell or the solicitation of an affer to buy
in any jurisdiction to ony person to whom it is uniowfud 10 make such offer, solicitation or sale.

No dealer, broker, solesperson or other person has been anthorized to give information or to make any representation other than those contained in this Officiol
Statement, and, if given or mode, such other information or representations muss not be relied upon.

The information set forth herein has been obtained from the City and other sources believed to be reliable, but such information is not guaranteed os to accuracy or
completeness and is not 10 be constried as a representation, promise or guarantee of the Financiol Advisors.

This Official Statement includes descriptions and summaries of certain events, matters and documents. Such descriptians and summaries do not purport to be
complete and afl such descripiions, summaries and references thereto are qualified in their entirety by reference to this Official Statement in its entirery and to each
such document, copies of which may be obtained from the Financial Advisors. Any statements made in this Offfcial Statement or the appendices hereto involving
matters of apinian or estimates, whether or noet so expressly stated, are set forth as such and not as representations of fact, and no representation is made thas any of
such opinions or estimates will be reafized.

The information and expressions of opinion ¢ ined herein are subfect to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale
made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been na change in the affairs of the City or other matters described herein.
See "CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION® for a description of the City's undertaking to provide certoin information on a continuing basis.

NEITHER THE CITY NOR ITS FINANCIAL ADVISORS, OR THE INITIAL PURCHSER MAKES ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY WITH RESPECT TO THE
INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT REGARDING THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY OR ITS BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM,

THE CERTIFICATES HAVE NQT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, IN RELIANCE UPON EXEMPTIONS
CONTAINED IN SUCH ACT. THE REGISTRATION QR QUALIFICATION OF THE CERTIFICATES IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF
SECURITIES LAW OF THE STATES IN WHICH THE CERTIFICATES HAVE BEEN REGISTERED OR QUALIFIED, IF ANY, AND THE EXEMPTION FROM
REGISTRATION OR QUALIFICATION IN OTHER STATES, IF ANY, CANNOT BE REGARDED AS A RECOMMENDATION THEREOF. THE CERTIFICATES
HAVE NOT BEEN RECOMMENDED BY ANY FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY. FURTHERMORE, THE
FOREGOING AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT CONFIRMED THE ACCURACY OR DETERMINED THE ADEQUACY OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT. ANY
REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY MAY BE A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT CONTAINS "FORWARD-LOOKING" STATEMENTS WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 2IE OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 934, AS AMENDED. SUCH STATEMENTS MAY INVOLVE KNOWN AND UNKNOWN RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES AND OTHER FACTORS
WHICH MAY CAUSE THE ACTUAL RESULTS, PERFORMANCE AND ACHIEVEMENTS TO BE DIFFERENT FROM FUTURE RESULTS, PERFORMANCE AND
ACHIEVEMENTS EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED BY SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. INVESTORS ARE CAUTIONED THAT THE ACTUAL RESULTS
COULD DIFFER MATERIALLY FROM THOSE SET FORTH IN THE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT SUMMARY

This sum mary is subject in all respects to them  ore com plete information and definitions contained or incorporated in this
Official Statement. The offering of the Certificates to potential investors is made only by means of this entire Official Statement.

No person is authorized to detach
Statement.

THE CITY. ..o

THE CERTIFICATES ........ocne.......

PAYMENT OF INTEREST ...............

AUTHORITY FOR ISSUANCE..........

SECURITY FOR THE
CERTIFICATES ...oo.ootveeemrereerrenne

QUALIFIED TAX-EXEMPT
OBLIGATIONS ..ot

REDEMPTION ..o,

Tax EXEMPTION

USE OF PROCEEDS ............cccoeuves

this summary from this Offici al Statement or to otherwise us e it without the entire Official

The City of Lancaster is a political subdivision and m unicipal corporation of the State located
in Dallas County, Texas, The City was incorporated in 1952, and first adopted its Home Rule
Charter in 1956. The City operates under a Council/Manager form of government with a City
Council comprised of the May or and six Councilm embers. The City Manager is the ¢hief
administrative officer. The City covers appr oximately 29 square miles (see "Introduction -
Description of the City").

The $7,585,000 Ta x and W aterworks and Sewer Sy stem Surplus Revenue Certificates of
Obligation, Series 2011 are to mature on August 15 in the years 2012 through 2031 (see “The
Certificates - Description of the Certificates™).

Interest on the Certificates accrues from September 15, 2011, and is payable August 15, 2012,
and each February 15 and August 15 thereafter until m aturity or prior redem ption (see "The
Certificates - Description of the Certificates” and "The Certificates - Optional Redemption™).

The Certificates are issued pursuant to the general laws of the State, particularly Subchapter C
of Chapter 271. Texas Local Government Code, as amended. and the Ordinance passed by the
City Council of the City (see "The Certificates - Authority for 1ssuance").

The Centificates constitute direct obligations of the City payable from (i) a continuing annual ad
valorem tax levied, within the lim its prescribed by law, on all ta xable property within the City

and (ii) a lim ited pledge (not to exceed  $1,000), junior and subordinate of the surplus Net
Revenues (as defined in the Ordinance) of th e City's Water and S ewer S vstem (s ee "The

Certificates - Security and Source of Payment").

The City will designate the Certificates as “Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations” for financial
institutions (see "Tax Matters - Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations for Financial Institutions”).

The City reserves the right, at its option, to redeem the Certificates having stated maturities on
and after August 15, 2022, in whole or in part in principal amounts of $5.000 or any integral
multiple thereof, on August 15, 2021, or any date thereafier, at the par value thereof plus
accrued interest to the date of redemption (see "The Certificates - Optional Redemption").

In the opinion of Special Tax Counsel, interest on the Certificates is excludable from gross
income for federal income tax purposes under ex isting law, subject to the matters described
under “TAX MATTERS - Tax Exem ption” herein, a nd is not includable in the alternative
minimum taxable income of individuals. § ee “ TAX MATTERS - Tax Exem ption™ for a
discussion of the opinion of Special Tax Couns el, including the alternative minimum tax on
corporations.

Proceeds from the s ale of the Certificates will be us ed for (i) for pay  ing contractual
obligations to be incurted for the construction  of public works, and purchase of materials,
supplies, equipment, machiner y, buildings, land and right-of-way for authorized needs and
purposes to (a) expand and improve the water and wastewater system; (b) design, construction
and equipping of an elevated storage tank,  including drainage improvements and the
acquisition of land and rights-of-way  in connection therewith, to be located in the 792
Pressure Plane as described in the City 's Water Master Plan: (c) ¢ onstruction, improvements

and replacement of certain waterlines throughout the city , including the Martin Berry
Waterline, the 3rd Street W aterline and the Lexington Waterline; (d) certain water and sewer
design. construction, renovati on, and improvements within the City  , and the equipping

thereof, including the Keller Branch  interceptor; and (ii) pay ing for professional services
rendered in connection with the above listed projects.

il



RATINGS

BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM

The Certificates and presently outstanding une nhanced tax supported debt of the City  are
rated "Aa3"” by Moody 's Investors Service, Inc. ("Moody's") and "A" by Standard & Poor' s
Ratings Services, a Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC business ("S&P").

The definitive Centificates will be initially registered and delivered only to Cede & Ca., the
nominee of DTC pursuant to the Book-Entry  -Only Sy stem described herein.  Beneficial
ownership of the Certificates may  be acqui red in denominations of $5,000 or integral
multiples thereof. WNo phy sical delivery ofthe Certificates will be m ade to the beneficial
owners thereof. Principal of, prem ium, if any, and interest on the Certificates will be pay able
by the Paying Agent/Registrar to Cede & Co., which will m ake distribution of the amounts s¢
paid to the participating members of DTC for subsequent payment to the beneficial owners of

the Certificates (see "The Certificates - Book-Entry-Only System™).

LEGAL OPINIONS..........ccoeeiiiinne West & Associates, L.L.P., Dallas, Texas, Bond C ounsel, and Andrews Kurth LLP, Houston,
Texas, Special Tax Counsel.
PAYMENT RECORD .......cooccvrivnen The City has never defaulted on the payment of its tax supported indebtedness.
SELECTED FINANCtAL INFORMATION
Ratio Tax-
Per Supported
Fiscal Per Capita Capita Debt
Year Estimated Taxable Taxable Tax- Tax- to Taxable % of
Ended City Assessed Assessed Supported Supported Assessed Total Tax
9/30 Population Valuation Valuation D ebt Debt Valuation Collections
2008 35,8000 § 1,709,096,790 £ 47,740 $ 55,125,000 $ 1,540 3.23% 99.68%
2009 36,200 1,725,352,328 47,662 53,250,000 1,471 3.09% 98.96%
2010 36,3612 1,563,581,389 43,002 86,225,000 2,371 551% 98.99%
2011 36,3900 1,498,202,005 41,171 84,055,000 2,310 5.61% 98.25% ¥
2012 36,4200 1,497,549,787 41,119 88,525,000 ¥ 2.431 591% NA

(1) Source: North Central Texas Council of Governments.
(2) Source: U.S. Census Bureau.

(3) Estimate provided by City Staff.

(4) Projected; includes the Certificates. Includes self-supporting de bt. See Tables 1 and 10 herein and the

thereto.

(5) Collections for part year only, through August 1, 2011,

For additional information regarding the City, please contact:

Opal Mauldin-Robertson David K. Medanich

Sheree Haynes

City of Lancaster

211 North Henry Street
Lancaster, Texas 75146
(972) 218-1300

or

Nick Bulaich

First Southwest Company

777 Main Street, Suite 1200
Fort Worth, Texas 76102-3123
(817) 332-9710

footnotes related



CITY OFFICIALS, STAFF, AND CONSULTANTS

ELECTED OFFICIALS
Length of Term
City Council Service Expires Occupation
Marcus E. Knight 3 Years May, 2012 Business Executive
Mayor
Walter Weaver 1 Year May, 2013 Retired Teacher
Councilmember, District 1
Stanley Jaglowski Newly May, 2014 Automotive Service Professional
Councilmember, District 2 Elecied
Marco Mejia | Year May, 2013 Business Owner. Construction Company
Councilmember, District 3
James Daniels 7 Years May, 2014 Retired
Councilmember, District 4
Clyde C. Hariston 1 Year May, 2013 Minister
Councilmember, Districl §
Nina Morris 3 Years May, 2014 Comnmunity Volunteer
Councilmember, District 6
SELECTED ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF
Length of
Length of Service to
Service Municipal
Name Position with City Governments
Opal Mauldin-Robertson City Manager 9 Years 19 Years
Sheree Haynes Director of Finance 2 Months 11 Years
Dolle Downe City Secretary 8 Years 20 Years
Bob Hager City Attorney 34 Years 34 Years
CONSULTANTS AND ADVISORS
Centified Public ACCOUNLANIS .......c.oo.vvecervrvemeriiem st ssssssns s ressrsssssnas et ssassssmsarsssnssessesnessessanseseseseenes WEAVET & Tidwell L.L.P.
Dallas. Texas
BONA COUNSE] ..ottt ittt ae st s e s e st s ane e ssbameare b obserenerenens West & Associates, L.L.P.
Dallas, Texas
Special Tax Counsel ................. ervererenee Andrews Kurth LLP

Financial Advisor ........c.coeeeeie.

Houston. Texas

... First Southwest Company

Fort Worth, Texas
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PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT
RELATING TO

$7,585,000
CITY OF LANCASTER, TEXAS
TAX AND WATERWORKS AND SEWER SYSTEM SURPLUS
REVENUE CERTIFICATES OF OBLIGATION, SERIES 2011

INTRODUCTION

This Preliminary Official Statement, which includes the Appendices hereto, provides certain information regarding the issuance
of $7,585,000 City of Lancaster, Texas, Ta x and Waterworks and Sewer System Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation,
Series 2011 (the "Certificates™). Capitalized terms used in this Prelim inary Official Statement have the same meanings assigned
to such terms in the ordinance to be adopted on the date of sa  le of the Certificates which w ill authorize the issuance of the
Certificates (the "Ordinance"), except as otherwise indicated herein,

There follow in this Official S tatement des criptions of the Ce rtificates and certain inform ation regarding the City and its
finances. All descriptions of documents contained herein are only summaries and are qualified in their entirety by reference to
each such document. Copies of such documents may be obtained from the City's Financial Advisor, First Southwest Company,
Dallas, Texas.

DESCRIPTION OF THE CITY . . . The City is a political subdivision and municipal corporation of the State, duly organized and
existing under the laws of the State, including the City 's Home Rule Charter. The City was incorporated in 1952, and first
adopted its Hom e Rule Charter in 1956. The City operates under a Council/Manager form of government with a City Council
comprised of the Mayor and six Councilmembers. The term of office is three y ears with the terms of the May or and two of the
Councilmembers’ terms expiring in even-numbered years and the other terms of th ¢ four remaining Councilmembers expiring in
odd-numbered y ears. The City Manager is the chief administrative  officer for the City. Some of the services that the City
provides are: public safety (police and fire protection), municipal court, streets, ¢ ngineering. traffic and transportation, water
distribution, sewer treatment, sanitation, health, recreati  on, public improvements, pla  nning and zening, and general
administrative services. The 2010 Census population for the City was 36.361, while the es timated 2012 population is 36,420.
The City covers approximately 31 square miles.

PLAN OF FINANCING

PURPOSE . . . Proceeds from the sale of the Certificates will be used fo r (i) for pay ing contractual obligations to be incurred for
the censtruction of public works, and purchase of materials, supplies, equipment, machinery, buildings. land and right-of-way for
authorized needs and purposes to (a) expand and improve the water and was tewater system; (b} design, construction and
equipping of an elevated storage tank,  including drainage improvements and the acquisition of land and rights-of-way in
connection therewith, to be located in the 792 Pressure Plane as  described in the City 's Water Master Plan; (c) construction.
improvements and replacem ent of certain waterlines throughout the city, including the Martin Berry Waterline, the 3rd Street
Waterline and the Lexington Waterline; (d) certain water and sewer design, construc tion, renovation, and improvements within
the City, and the equipping thercof, including the Keller Branch interceptor; and (ii) paying for profcssional services rendered in
connection with the above listed projects.

SOURCES AND USES OF PROCEEDS . . . The proceeds from the sale of the Certificates will be applied as follows:

The Centificates

Sources of Funds

Par Amount s -

Accrued Interest -
Total Sources of Funds LY -
Uses of Funds

Deposit to Construction Fund LY -

Deposit to Interest and Sinking Fund -

Costs of Issuance " -
Total Uses of Funds s -



THE CERTIFICATES

DESCRIPTION OF THE CERTIFICATES . . . The Certificates are dated September 15, 2011. and mature on August 15 in each of the
years and in the amounts shown on the cover page hereof. Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-
day months, and will be pay able on August 15 and February 15 of each year, commencing August 15, 2012. The definitive
Certificates will be issued only in fully registered form in any integral m ultiple of $5,000 for any one m aturity and will be
initially registered and delivered only to Cede & Co., the nom ince of The Depository Trust Com pany ("DTC") pursuant to the
Book-Entry-Only Sy stem described herein. No physical dellvery of the Certificates will he made to the owners thereof.
Principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Certificates will be pay able by the Pay ing Agent/Registrar to Cede & Co.,
which will m ake distribution of the am  ounts so paid to the pa  rticipating m embers of DTC for subsequent pay ment to the
beneficial owners of the Certificates. See "Book-Entry-Only System"” herein.

AUTHORITY FOR ISSUANCE . . . The Certificates are being issued pursuant to the C onstitution and general laws of the State of Texas,
particularly Subchapter C of Chapter 271, Texas Local Government Code (the Certificate of Obligation Act of 1971), as amended.
and the Ordinance passed by the City Council.

SECURITY AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT . . . The Certificates constitute direct obligations of the City and the principal theteof and
interest thereon are pay able from an annual ad valorem tax levied by the City , within the limits prescribed by law, upon all
taxable property in the City , and are additionally secured by and payable from a lim ited pledge (not to exceed $1,000), junior
and subordinate of the surplus net revenues of the City 's waterworks and sewer sy stem remaining after payment of all operation
and maintenance expenses therecf, and all  debt service, reserve and ot her requirements in connection with all  of the City's
revenue obligations (now or hereafter outst anding) that are pay able from all or part  of said revenues, all as provided in the
Ordinance.

TaX RATE LIMITATION . . . All taxable property within the City is subject to the assessment, levy and collection by the City of a
continuing, direct annual ad valorem tax within the limits prescribed by law sufficient to provide for the pay ment of principal of
and interest on all ad valorem tax debt. Article X1. Section 5 of the Texas Constitution is applicable to the City, and provides for
a maximum ad valotem tax rate of $2.50 per $100 Taxable Assessed Valuation for all City purposes. The Home Rule Charter of
the City adopts the constitutional m  aximum tax rate of $2.50 per $100 Assessed Valuation for all City purposes.
Administratively, the Texas Attomey General will permit allocation of $1.50 of the $2.50 m aximum tax rate for all general obli gation
debt service. The issuance of the Certificates does not violate this constitutional provision, the City's Home Rule Charter, or the Texas
Attomey General's administrative policy.

OPTIONAL REDEMPTION . . . The City reserves the right, at its option, to redeem Certificates having stated maturities on and after
August 15, 2022, in whole or in part in principal am ounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, on August 15, 2021, or any
date thereafter, at the par value thereof plus accrued interest to the date of redemption. 1f less than all of the Certificates are to be
redeemed, the City may select the maturities of Certificates to be redeemed. If less than all the Certificates of any maturity are to
be redeemed, the Paying Agent/Registrar {or DTC while the Certificates are in Book-Entry-Only form) shall determine by lot the
Centificates, or portions thereof, within such maturity to be redeemed. If a Centificate (or any portion of the principal s um
thereof) shall have been called for redemption and  notice of such redemption shall have been given, such Certificate {or the
principal amount thereof to be redeemed) shall become due and payable on such redemption date and interest thereon shall cease
to accrue from and after the redem ption date, provided funds fo r the pay ment of the redem ption price and accrued interest
thereon are held by the Paying Agent/Registrar on the redemption date.

With respect to any optional redem ption of the Certificates, unl ess certain prerequisites to su ch redemption required by the
Ordinance have been met and money sufficient to pay the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Certificates to be
redeemed will have been received by the Paying Agent/Registrar prior to the giving of such notice of redem ption, such notice
will state that said redem ption may, at the option of the City , be conditional upon the satisfaction of such prerequisites and
receipt of such money by the Pay ing Agent/Registrar on or prior to the date fixed for such redem ption or upon any prerequisite
set forth in such notice of redemption. If a conditional notice of redemption is given and such prerequisites to the redemption are
not fulfilled, such notice will be of no force and effect, th ¢ City will notredeemn  such Certificates, and the Pay  ing
Agent/Registrar will give notice in the m anner in which the notice of redem ption was given, to the effect that such Certificates
have not been redeemed.

NoTICE OF REDEMPTION . . . Not less than 30 days prior to a redemption date for the Centificates, the City shall cause a notice of
redemption to be sent by United States mail, first clas s. postage prepaid, to the regis tered owners of the Certificates to be
redeemed, in whole or in part, at the address of the regi stered owner appearing on the registration books of the Pay ing
Agent/Registrar at the close of business on the business day next preceding the date of mailing such notice. ANY NOTICE SO
MAILED SHALL BE CONCLUSIVELY  PRESUMED TO HAVE BEEN DULY GIVEN WHETHER OR NOT THE
REGISTERED OWNER RECEIVES SUCH NOTICE. If a Certificate (or any portion of its principal sum) shall have been duly
called for redemption and any other conditi on to redemption satisfied, then upon the re demption date such Certificate (or the
pertion of its principal sum to be redeemed) shall become due a nd payable. and. if moneys for the pay ment of the redemption
price and the interest accrued on the principal am ount to be redeemed to the date of redem ption are held for the purpose of such
payment by the Paying Agent/Registrar, interest shall cease to accrue and be pay able from and afier the redem ption date on the
principal amount redeemed.



BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM . .. This sectian describes how ownership of the Certificates is to be transferred and how the
principle of, premium, if any, and interest on the Certificates are to be paid to and accredited by DTC while the Certificates are
registered in its nominee name. The information in this section concerming DTC and the Book-Entry-Only System has been
provided by DTC for use in disclasure documents such as this Official Statement. The City believes the source of such
information to be reliable, but takes no responsibility for the accuracy or completeness thereof.

The City cannot and does not give any assurance that (1) DTC will distribute payments of debt service on the Certificates, or
redemption or other notices, to DTC Participants, (2) DTC Participants or athers will distribute debt service payments paid
to DTC or its nominee (as the registered owner of the Certificates), or redemption or other notices, to the Beneficial Owners,
or that they will do so on a timely basis, or (3} DTC will serve and act in the manner described in this Official Statement. The
current rules applicable to DTC are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and the current procedures of DTC
fo be followed in dealing with DTC Participants are on file with DTC.

The Depository Trust Com pany ("DTC"), New York, New York,  will act as securities depository  for the Certificates. The
Certificates will be issued as fully -registered Certificates registered in the nam e of Cede & Co. (DTC's partnership nom inee) or
such other nam e as m ay be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully -registered Bond certificate will be
issued for each m aturity of the Certificates, each in the aggr egate principal amount of such m aturity, and wil] be deposited wi th
DTC.

DTC. the world's largest securities depository . is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law,
a "banking organization" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, am ember of the F ederal Reserve S ystem, a
"clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York  Uniform Com mercial Code. and a "clearing agency” registered
pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Ex change Act of 1934. DTC holds a nd provides asset servicing for
over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues. corporate and m unicipal debt issues, and money market instruments
(from over 100 countries) that DTC' s participants (“Direct Partic ipants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade
settlement am ong Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposite d securities, through electronic
computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Pa  rticipants’ accounts. This elim inates the need for phy sical
movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U. S. securities brokers and dealers, banks.
trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organi zations. DTC is a wholly -owned subsidiary of The Depository
Trust & Clearing Corporation ("DTCC"). DTCC is the holding co mpany for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and
Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated
subsidiaries. Access to the DTC sy stem is also available to others such as both U. S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealer s,
banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant,
either directly or indirectly ("Indirect Participants”). DTC has a Standard & Poor's rating of AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to
its Participants are on file withthe  Securities and Exchange Com mission. More information about DTC can be found at
www.dtce.com.

Purchases of Certificates under the DTC sy stem must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a credit for
the Certificates on DTC' s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Bond ("Beneficial Owner”) is in turn
to be recorded on the Direct and Indir ect Participants' records. Beneficial Own ers will not receive written confirm ation from
DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however. expect  ed to receive written confirm  ations providing details of the
transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Benefi cial
Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Certificates are to be accomplished by entries made on
the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Bene ficial Owners will not  receive
certificates representing their ownership in terests in Certificates, except in the ev ent that use of the book-entry sy stem for the
Certificates is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Certificates deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name of DTC's
partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such ot her name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit
of Certificates with DTC and their registration in the nam e of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change
in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowle dge of the actual Beneficial Owners of th e Centificates; DTC's records reflect only
the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Certificates are credite d, which may or may not be the Beneficial
Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will rem ain res ponsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their
customers. Convey ance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participan ts, by Direct Participants to Indirect
Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Particip ants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among
them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of Certificates
may wish to take certain steps to augm  ent the transm ission to them of notices of s ignificant events with respect to the
Certificates, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed ame ndments to the Bond documents . For example, Beneficial
Owners of Certificates may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Certificates for their benefit has agreed to obtain and
transmit notices to Beneficial Owners. In  the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to
the registrar and request that copies of notices be provided directly to them.



Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. 1f less than all of the Certificates within a maturity are being redeemed, DTC's practice
is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such maturity 1o be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Certificates unless authorized by
a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC's MMI Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the
City as soon as possible after the record  date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.'s consenting or voting rights to those
Direct Participants to whose accounts Certif icates are credited on the record date (ide ntified in a listing attached to the Omn ibus
Proxy).

All pay ments on the Certificates will be m  ade to Cede & Co., or such other nom inee as m ay be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC. DTC's practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’ s receipt of funds and corresponding
detail inform ation from the City or the P aying Agent/Registrar, on pay able date in accordance with their res pective holdings
shown on DTC’ s records. Pay ments by Participants to Bene ficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and
customary practices, as is the case with Certificates held for the accounts of cu stomers in bearer form or registered in "stree t
name," and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, the Pay ing Agent/Registrar, or the City. subject to any
statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of redem ption proceeds, distributions, and
dividend paymenits to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized repres entative of DTC) is the
responsibility of the City orthe Paying Agent/Registrar, disbursem ent of such pay ments to Direct Participants will be the
responsibility of DTC. and disbursem ent of such pay ments to the Beneficial Qwners will be the responsibility of Direct and
Indirect Participants,

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Certificates at any time by giving reasonable notice
to the City or the Pay ing Agent/Registrar. Under such circumstances, in the event that a s uccessor depository is not obtained,
Bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered.

The City may decide to discontinue use of the sy stem of book-entry -only transfers through DTC (or a successor securities
depository). In that event, Bond certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC.

The information in this section concerning DTC and  DTC's book-entry sy stem has been obtained from sources that the City
believes to be reliable, but neither the City nor the Underwriters take any responsibility for the accuracy thereof,

Use of Certain Terms in Other Sections of this QOfficial Statement. In reading this Official Stat ement it should be understood that
while the Certificates are in the Book-Entry -Only Sy stem, references in other sections of this Official Statement to registered
owners should be read to include the person for which the Partic ipant acquires an interest in the Certificates, but (i) all rig hts of
ownership must be exercised through DTC and the Book-Entry -Only System, and (ii) except as described above, notices that are
to be given to registered owners under the Ordinance will be given only to DTC.

EFFECT OF TERMINATION OF BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM In the event that the Book-Entry -Only Sy stem is discontinued by
DTC or the use of the Book-Entry-Only System is discontinued by the City, printed Certificates will be issued to the holders and
the Certificates will be subject to trans{ er, exchange and registration provisions as set forth in the Ordinance and sum marized
under “THE CERTIFICATES - Transfer, Exchange and Registration” below.

PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR ... The initial Pay ing Agent/Registrar for the Cer tificates is The Bank of New York Trust
Company, N.A., Dallas , Texas. In the Ordinance, the City retains the right to replace the P aying Agent/Registrar. The City
covenants to maintain and provide a Pay ing Agent/Registrar at all times until the Certificates, as the case may be, are duly paid
and any successor Pay ing Agent/Registrar shall be a commercial bank or trust company organized under the laws of the duly
qualified and legally authorized to serve as and perform the du ties and services of Pay ing AgentRegistrar for the Certificates .
Upon any change in the Pay ing Agent/Registrar for the Certificates, the City agrees to promptly cause a written notice thereof to
be sent to each registered owner of the Centificates affected by the changes by United S tates mail, first class, postage prepaid,
which notice shall also give the address of the new Paying Agent/Registrar.

Principal of the Centificates is pay able to the registered holder appearing on the registration books of the Pay ing Agent/Registrar
(the “Registered Owner™) at the Desi gnated Pay ment/Transfer Office of the Pay ing Agent/Registrar upon surrender of the
Certificates for pay ment; provided, however. that so long as Cede & Co. {or other DTC nominee} is the registered owner of the
Certificates. all payments will be made as described under “T HE CERTIFICATES - Book-Entry -Cnly System™ herein. Interest
on the Certificates is pay able to the Registered Owner appearing on the registration books of the Pay ing Agent/Registrar at the
close of business on the Record Date (identified below) and such interest shall be paid by the Pay ing Agent/Registrar by check
miailed, firs t clas s pos tage prepaid. to the Regis  tered Own eror by s uch other arrangem ent, acceptable to the P aying
Agent/Registrar, requested by and at the risk and expense of the Registered Owner. If the date for the payment of the principal of
or interest on the Certificates shall be a Saturday , Sunday, a legal holiday, or a day when banking institutions in the city where
the Designated Payment/Transfer office of the Paying Agent/Registrar is located is authorized by law or executive order to close,
then the date for such pay ment shall be the next succeeding da y which is not such a Saturday . Sunday, legal holiday , or day
when banking institutions are authorized to close; and pay ment on such date shall have the same force and effect as if m ade on
the original date payment was due.
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TRANSFER, EXCHANGE AND REGISTRATION . .. In the event the Book-Entry -Only System should be discontinued, printed
Certificates will be delivered to the Registered Owners and ther eafter the Certificates may be transfetred and exchanged on the
registration books of the Pay ing Agent/Registrar only upon presentation and surrender of such printed Certificates to the Pay ing
Agent/Registrar and such transfer or exchange shall be without expense or service charge to the Registered Owner, except  for
any tax or other governmental charges required to be paid with respect 1o such regist ration. exchange and transfer. Certificat es
may be assigned by the execution of an assignment form on the resp ective Certificates or by other instrument of transfer and
assignment acceptable to the P aying Agent/Registrar, New Certifi cates will be delivered by the Paying Agent/Registrar, in lieu
of the Certificates being trans ferred or exchanged, at the de  signated office of the Pay ing Agent/Registrar, or sent by United
States mail, first class, postage prepaid, to the new Registered Owner or his designee. To the extent possible, new Certificate s
issued in an exchange or transfer of Cer tificates will be delivered to the registered owner or assignee of the registered owner in
not more than three business day s after the receipt of the Certificates to be canceled. and the written instrum ent of transfer or
request for exchange duly executed by the Regis tered Owner or his duly authorized agent, in form satisfactory to the Paying
Agent/Registrar. New Certificates registered and delivered in an exchange or transfer shall be in any integral multiple of $5,000
for any one maturity and for a like aggregate principal amount as the Certificates surrendered for exchange or transfer. See "The
Certificates — Book-Entry -Only System" herein for a description of the system to be utilized initially in regard to ownership and
transferability of the Certificates. Neither the City nor the Pay ing Agent/Registrar shall be required to transfer or exchange any
Certificate (i) during the period commencing with the close of  business on any Record Date and ending with the opening of
business on the next following principal or interest pay ment date, or (ii) with respect to any Certificate called for redemption, in
whole or in part, within 45 day s of the date fixed for redemp tion; provided, however, such limitation of transfer shall not be
applicable to an exchange by the Registered Owner of the uncalled balance of a Certificate.

RECORD DATE FOR INTEREST PAYMENT . . . The record date (“Record Date") for th e interest payable on the Certificates on any
interest payment date means the close of business on the last business day of the month next preceding the interest payment date.

In the event of a non-pay ment of interest on a scheduled payment date, and for thirty {30) days thereafier. a new record date for
such interest payment (a "Special Record Date") will be established by the Pay ing Agent/Registrar, if and when funds for the

payment of such interest have been received from the City . Notice of the S pecial Record Date and of the scheduled payment
date of the past due interest {("Special Pa yment Date", which s hall be fifteen (15} day s afier the Special Record Date) shall be
sent at leas t five (5) bus iness day s prior to the Special Record Date by United States m ail, first class postage prepaid, to th e
address of each Registered Owner of a Certificate to be paid on the Special Pay ment Date that appears on the registration books
of the Paying Agent/Registrar at the close of business on the last business day next preceding the date of mailing of such notice.

REPLACEMENT CERTIFICATES . . . Ifany Certificate is m utilated, destroy ed, stolen or lost, a new Cenrtificate in the same
denominations and bearing the sam ¢ rate of interest as the Certif icate so m utilated, destroy ed, stolen or lost will be issued as
provided in the Ordinance and subject to the applicable laws of  the State of Texas. In the case of a m utilated Certificate, such
new Certificate will be delivered only  upon surrender and cancella tion of such m utilated Certificate. In the case of any
Centificate issued in lieu of and substitution for an Certificate which has been destroy ed. stolen or lost, such new Certificat e will
be delivered only (a) upon filing with the City and the Pay ing Agent/Registrar a certificate to the effect that such Centificate has
been destroyed, stolen or lost and proof of ownership thereof, and (b) upon furnishing the City and the Pay ing Agent/Registrar
with indemnity satisfactory to hold the City and the Pay ing Agent/Registrar harmless. The person requesting the authentication
and delivery of a new Centificate must pay such expenses as the Paying Agent/Registrar may incut in connection therewith,

REMEDIES . . . The Ordinance establishes specific events of default with respect to the respective The Ordinance does not specify
events of default with respect to the Cer tificates. If the City defaults in the pay ment of principal or interest on the Certifi cates
when due, or the City defaults in the obs ervation or performance of any other covenants, conditions, or obligations set forth i n
the Ordinance, the registered owners of the Certificates. as applicable, may seek a writ of m andamus to compel the City or City
officials to carry out the legally imposed duties with respect to the applicable Certificates if there is no other available re medy at
law to com pel performance of the Certificates or the Ordinance and the City 's obligations are not uncertain or disputed. The
issuance of a writ of mandamus is controlled by  equitable principl es and rests with the discreti on of the court. but may not be
arbitrarily refused. There is no acceleration of m aturity of the Certificates in the event of default and, The Ordinance does not
specify events of default with res pect to the Cenrtificates. If the City defaults in th e pay ment of principal or interest on the
Certificates when due, or the City defaults in the observation or performance of any other covenants. conditions, or obligations
set forth in an Ordinance, the registered owners of the Certif icates, as applicable, may seek a writ of m andamus to com pel the
City or City officials to carry out the legally im posed duties w ith respect to the applicable Ce ntificates if there is no other
available remedy at law to com pel performance of the Certificat es or the Ordinance and the City 's obligations are not uncertain
or disputed. The issuance of a writ of mandamus is controlled by equitable principles and rests with the discretion of the cour t,
but m ay not be arbitrarily refus ed. There is no acceleration of  maturity of the Certificates inthe event  of default and,
consequently. the remedy of mandamus may have to be relied upon from year to y ear. The Ordinance does not provide for the
appointment of a trustee to represent the interest of the holders  of the Certificates upon any failure of the City to perform in
accordance with the term s of the Ordinance, or upon any other condition and accordingly all legal actions to enforce such
remedies would have to be undertaken at the initiative of, and be financed by, the registered owners. On June 30, 2006, the Texas
Supreme Court ruled in Tooke v. City  of Mexia, I97 S.W.3d 325 (Tex. 2006) that a waiver of sovereign immunity ina
contractual dispute must be provided for by statute in** clear and unam biguous” language. Because it is unclear whether the
Texas legislature has effectively waived the City's sovereign im munity from a suit fo r money damages, Certificateholders may
not be able to bring such a suit against the City for breach of the Certificates or Ordinance covenants. Even if a judgment against
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the City could be obtained, it could not be enforced by direct levy and execution against the City ’s property. Further, the
registered owners cannot themselves foreclose on property within the City or sell property within the City to enforce the tax lien
on taxable property to pay the principal of and interest on the Ce rtificates. Furthermore, the City is eligible to seek relief from its
creditors under Chapter 9 of the U.S. Bankruptcy  Code (“Chap ter 9). Although Chapter 9 provides for the recognition of a
security interest represented by a specifically pledged source of revenues, the pledge of ad valorem taxes in support of a gene ral
obligation of a bankrupt entity is not specifically recognized as a security interest under Chapter 9. Chapter 9 also includes an
automatic stay provision that would prohibit, without Bankruptcy Court approval, the prosecution of any other legal action by
creditors or Bondholders of an entity which has sought protecti on under Chapter 9. Therefore, should the City  avail itself of
Chapter 9 protection from creditors, the ability to enforce would be subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court {which could
require that the action be heard in Bankruptcy Court instead of other federal or state court); and the Bankruptcy Code provides
for broad discretionary powers of a Bankruptcy Court in adm inistering any proceeding brought before it. The opinion of Bond
Counsel will note that all opinions relative  to the enforceability of the Certificates are qualified with respect to the customary
rights of debtors relative to their creditors.

DEFEASANCE . . . Certificates may be defeased in any manner provided by law now or hereafier.

AMENDMENTS . ., In the Ordinance, the City has reserved the right to amend the Ordinance without the consent of any holder for
the purpose of amending or supplem enting the Ordinance to (i) cure any ambiguity, defect or omission therein that does not
materially adversely affect the interests of the holders, (i} grant additional rights or security for the benefit of the holde rs, (iii)
add events of default as shall not be inc onsistent with the provisions of the Ordina nce that do not materially adversely affect the
interests of the holders, (iv) qualify  the Ordinance under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or corresponding
provisions of federal laws from time to time in effect or (v) make such other provisions in regard to matters or questions aris ing
under the Ordinance that are not inconsistent with the provisions thereof and which, in the opinion of Bond Counsel for the City,
do not materially adversely affect the interests of the holders.

The Ordinance further provides that the holders of  the Certificates, as applicable. aggregating in principal amount 5 1% of the
outstanding Certificates, as the cas e may be, s hall have the ri ght from time to time to approve any amendment not described
above to the Ordinance if it is deem ed necessary or desirable by the City; provided, however, that without the consent of 100%
of the helders in original principal amount of the then outsta nding Certificates so affected, no amendment may be made for the
purpose of: (i) making any change in the maturity of any of the outstanding Centificates; (ii) reducing the rate of interest borne
by any of the outstanding Certificates; (iii) reducing the am ount of the principal of, or redemption premium, if any, payable on
any outstanding Certificates: (iv) modify ing the terms of pay ment of principal or  of interest or redemption premium on
outstanding Certificates, or imposing any condition with respect to such pay ment; or (v) changing the minimum percentage of
the principal amount of the Certificates necessary for consent to such am endment. Reference ism ade to the Ordinance for
further provisions relating to the amendment thereof.



TAX INFORMATION

AD VALOREM Tax Law . . . The appraisal of property within the City is the responsibility of the Dallas Central Appraisal District
(the "Appraisal District”). Excluding ag ricultural and open-space land, which m ay be taxed on the basis of productive capacity , the
Appraisal District is required under the Title 1 of the Texas Tax Code (referred to here in as the *Property Tax Code") o appra ise all
property within the Appraisal District on the basis of 100% of its market value and is prohibited from applying any assessment ratios.
In determining market value of property, different methods of appraisal may be used, including the cost method of appraisal, the
income method of appraisal and the market data comparison method of appraisal. and the method considered most appropriate by
the chief apprais er is to be us ed. S tate law requires the appr aised value of a residence homestead to  be based solely on the
property’s value as a residence homestead, regardless of whether residential use is cons idered to be the highest and best use of
the property . State law further limits the appraised value of are sidence homestead for atax v ear te an amount that would not
exceed the lesser of (1) the property’s market value in the most recent tax year in which it was determined by the appraisal office
or (2} the sum of (a) 10% of the property s appraised value in the preceding tax y ear, plus (b) the property ’s appraised value the
preceding tax y ear, plus (c) the m arket value of all new im provements to the property . The value placed upon property within
the Appraisal District is subject to review by an Appraisal Re view Board, consisting of sevent y-five members appointed by the
Board of Directors of the Apprais al District. The Apprais al Di strict is required to review the value of  property within the
Appraisal District at least every three years. The City may require annual review at its own e xpense, and is entitled to challenge
the determination of appraised value of property within the City by petition filed with the Appraisal Review Board.

Reference is made to the Property Tax Code for identification of property subject to taxation; pr operty exempt or which may be
exempted from taxation, if claim ed: the appraisal of property for ad valorem taxa tion purposes; and the procedures and limitati ons
applicable to the levy and collection of ad valorem taxes,

Article V111 of the State Constitution ("Article V111”) and State law provide for certain exem ptions from property taxes, the valuation
of agricultural and open-space lands at productivity value and the exemption of certain personal property from ad valorem taxation.

Under Section 1-b, Article V111, and State law. the governing body of a political subdivision, at its option, may grant an exemption of
not less than $3,000 of the market value of the residence homestead of persons 65 y ears of age or older and the disabled from all ad
valorem taxes thereafter levied by the political subdivision. O nce authorized. such exemption may be repealed or decreased or
increased in amount (i} by the governing body of the political subdivision or (ii} by a favorable vote of a majority of the qualified
voters at an election called by the governing body of the politi cal subdivision. which election must be called upon receipt of a
petition signed by at least 20% of the number of qualified voters who voted in the preceding election of the political subdivis jon.
In the case of a decrease. the amount of the exemption may not be reduced to less than $3,000 of the market value,

The surviving spouse of an individual who qualifies for the foregoing exemption for the residen ce homestead of a person 65 or
older (but not the disabled}) is entitled to  an exemption for the same property in an am ount equal to that of the exem ption for
which the deceased spouse qualified if (i) the deceased spouse died in  a year in which the deceas ed spouse qualified for the

exemption, (ii} the surviving spouse was at least 35 y ears of age at the tim e of the death of the individual’s spouse and (jii) the
property was the residence hom estead of the surviving spous ¢ when the deceased spouse died  and rem ains the residence

homestead of the surviving spouse.

In addition to any other exem ptions provided by the Property Tax Code, the goveming body of a political subdivision, at its
aption, may grant an exemption of up to 20%  of the market value of residence homesteads, with a minimum exemption of
$5,000.

In the case of residence homestead exemptions granted under Section 1-b. Article V111, ad valorem taxe s may continue to be
levied against the value of hom esteads exempted where ad valore m taxes have previously been pledged for the pay ment of debt
if cessation of the levy would impair the obligation of the contract by which the debt was created.

As of January 1. 2004, under Article V111 a nd State law, the governing body of a county , municipality or junior college distric1
may provide for a freeze on total amount of ad valorem levied on the residence hom estead of a disabled person or persons 65
years of age or older above the amount of tax imposed  in the year such residence qualified for such exemption. Also, upon
receipt of a petition signed by  five percent of the registered vot  ers of the county , m unicipality or junior college district, a n
election must be held to determine by majority vote whether to establish such a limitation on taxes paid on residence homesteads
of persons 65 y ears of age or who are disabled. Upon providing for such exemption, the total amount of taxes imposed on such
homestead cannot be increased except for re pairs or improvements requited to comply with governmental requirements and such
freeze is transferable to a different residence hom estead. Also, a surviving spouse of a taxpay er who qualifies for the freeze on
ad valorem taxes is entitled to the sam e exemption so long as the property was the residence hom estead of the surviving spouse
when the deceased spouse died and remains the residence homestead of the surviving spouse and the spouse was at least 55 years
of age at the time of the death of the i  ndividual’s spouse. If improvements (other  than repairs or improvements required to
comply with governmental requirements) are made to the property, the value of the improvements is taxed at the then current tax
rate, and the total amount of taxes imposed  is increased to reflect the new improve ments with the new amount of taxes then
serving as the ceiling on taxes for the following years. Once established such freeze cannot be repealed or rescinded.
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State law and Section 2. Article VIII, mandate an additional property tax exemption for disabled veterans or the surviving spouse
or children of a deceas ed veteran who died while on active duty  in the arm ed forces; the exem ption applies to either real or
personal property with the amount of assessed valuation ex empted ranging from $5,000 to a maximum of $12,000;p  rovided.
however, that beginning in the 2009 tax y ear, a disabled vetera n who receives from the from the United States Departm ent of
Veterans Affaits or its successor 100 percent disability compensation due to a service-connected disability and a rating of 100
percent disabled or of individual unem ployability is entitled to an exemption from taxation of the total appraised valve of the
veteran’s residence homestead.

Article VIII provides that eligible owners of both agricultural land (Section 1-d) and open-space land (Section 1-d-1). includi  ng
open-space land devoted to farm or ranch purposes or open-space land devoted to timber production, may elect to have such property
appraised for property taxation on the basis of its productive cap acity. The same land may not be qualified under both Section s 1-d
and 1-d-1.

Nonbusiness personal property, such as automobiles or light tr ucks, are exempt from ad valore m taxation unless the governing bo dy
of a political subdivision elects to tax this property. Boats owned as nonbusiness property are exempt from ad valorem taxation.

Article VIIT, Section 1-j, provides for "fr eeport property” to be exempted from ad va lorem taxation, Freeport property is defined as
goods detained in Texas for 175 day s or less for the purpose of  assembly, storage, manufacturing, processing or fabrication.
Notwithstanding such exem ption, counties, school districts, junior college district s and cities m ay tax such tangible personal
property provided official action to tax the same was taken before April 1. 1990. Dccisions to continue to tax may be reversed in
the future; decisions to exempt freeport property are not subject to reversal.

Article V1ll, Section 1-n of the Texas Constitution provides fo  r the exemption from taxation of "goods-in-transit.” Section
11.253 of the Tax Code defines "goods-in-transit” as personal  property acquired or imported into Texas and transported  to
another location in the State or cutside of the State within 175 days of the date the property was acquired or imported into Texas.
The exemption excludes oil, natural gas, petroleum products, aircraft and special i nventory, including motor vehicle, vessel an d
out board motor, heavy  equipment and manufactured housing  inventory. Section 11.253 of the Tax Code permits local
governmental entities. on a local option basis. to take official action by January 1 of the year preceding a tax year. after holding a
public hearing, to tax goods-intransit during the following y ear. A taxpayer may receive only one of the freeport exem ptions or
one of the goods-in-transit exemptions. but not both, for items of personal property.

The City may create one or more tax increment financing districts (“TIF") within the City and freeze the taxable values of real
property in the TIF at the value at the tim ¢ of its creation. Other overlapping taxing units levy ing taxes in the TIF may agree to
contribute all or part of future ad valore m taxes levied and collected against the value of property in the TIF in excessofthe
"frozen values” to pay or finance the cos ts of certain public im provements in the TIF. Taxes levied by the City against the

values of real property in the TIF in excess of the "frozen" value are not available for general city use but are restricted to paying
or financing "project costs” within the TIF. The City  also may enter into tax abatement ag reements to encourage economic

development. Under the agreem ents, a property owner agrees to construct certain improvements on its property . The City in
turn agrees not to levy atax on all or part of the increased  value atiributable to the im provements until the expiration of th ¢
agreement. The abatement agreement could last for a period of up to 10 vears.

The City is authorized, pursuant to Chapter 380, Texas Local Government Code, as amended  ("Chapter 380"), to establish
programs to promofe state or local economic  development and to stimulate business a nd commercial activity in the City . In
accordance with a program established pursuant to Chapter 380, the City may make loans or grants of public funds for econom ic
development purposes, however no obligations secured by ad valorem taxes may be issued for such purposes unless approved by
voters of the City . The City may contract with the federa 1government, the State, another political subdivision, a nonprofit
organization or any other entity, including private entities, for the administration of such a program.

EFFECTIVE TAX RATE AND ROLLBACK TAX RATE . . . Section 26.05 of the Property Tax Code provides that the governing body
of a taxing unit is required to adopt the annual tax rate per $100 taxable value for the unit before the later of September 30 or the
60" day after the date the certified appraisal roll is received by the taxing unit, and a failure to adopt a tax rate by such required
date will result in the tax rate for the taxing unit for the tax y  ear to be the lower of the effective tax rate calculated for  that tax
year or the tax rate adopted by the taxing unit for the preceding tax year. The tax rate consists of two components: (1) a rate for
funding of maintenance and operation expenditures for the next year, and (2) a rate to fund debt service in the next year.

Under the Property Tax Code, the City must annually calculate and publicize its "effective tax rate" and "rollback tax rate".
Furthermote, the City Council m ay not adopt a tax rate that exceed s the lower of the rollback tax rate or the effective tax rat e
until two public hearings are held on the propesed tax rate following a notice of such public hearings (including the requirem ent
that notice be posted on the City s website if the City owns. operates or controls an internet website and public notice be given
by television if the City has free access to a television channe 1) and the City Council has otherwise com plied with the legal
requirements for the adoption of such tax rate. If the adopted tax rate exceeds the rollback tax rate the qualified voters of the City
by petition may require that an election be held to determ ine whether or not to reduce the tax rate adopted for the current y ear to
the rollback tax rate.



"Effective tax rate” m eans the rate that will produce last year's total tax levy (adjusted) from this y ear's total taxable valu es
(adjusted). "Adjusted” means lo st values are not included in the calculation of last year's taxes and new values are not included
in this year's taxable values.

"Rollback tax rate” m eans the rate that will produce last y ear's maintenance and operation tax levy (adjusted) from this year's
values (adjusted) m ultiplied by 1.08 plus a rate that will produce this year's debt service from this y ear's values (unadjusted )
divided by the anticipated tax collection rate.

The Property Tax Code provides that certain cities and counties in the State m ay submit a proposition to the voters to authorize
an additional one-half cent sales tax on reta il sales of taxable item s. If the additional tax is levied, the effective tax rat e and the
rollback tax rate calculations are required to be offset by the revenue that will be generated by the sales tax in the current year.

Reference is made to the Property Tax Code for definitive require ments for the levy and collection of ad valorem taxes and the
calculation of the various defined tax rates.

The Property Tax Code also makes provision for the split payment of taxes, discounts for early payment and the postponement of
the delinquency date of taxes under certain circumstances.

PROPERTY ASSESSMENT AND TAX PAYMENT . . . Property within the City is generally assessed as of J anuary 1 of each y ear.
Business inventory may, at the option of th e taxpayer, be assessed as of September 1. Qil and gas reserves are assessed on the
basis of a valuation process which uses an average of the daily price of oil and gas for the prior y ear. Taxes become due
October | of the same y ear, and become delinquent on February 1 of the following y ear. Disabled taxpay ers and taxpay ers 65
years old or older are permitted by State law to pay taxes on homesteads in four installments with the first due on February 1 of
cach year and the final installment due on August 1.

PENALTIES AND INTEREST . . . Charges for penalty and interest on the unpaid balance of delinquent taxes are made as follows:

Cumulative Cumulative

Month Penalty Interest Total
February 6% 1% 7%
March 7 2 9
April 8 3 11
May 9 4 13
June 10 5 15
July 12 6 18

After July, penalty remains at 12%, and interes t accrues at a rate of one percent (%) for each m onth or portion of a month the
tax remains unpaid. A delinquent tax conti nues to accrue interest as long  as the tax remains unpaid, regardless of whether a
Jjudgment for the delinquent tax has been rendered. The purpose of  imposing such interest is t¢ compensate the taxing unit for
revenue lost because of the delinquency . In addition the taxing unit m ay contract with an atiorney  for the collection of
delinquent taxes and the amount of compensati on as set forth in such contract may provide for a fee of up to 20% of the amount
of delinquent tax, penalty, and interest collected, and such fee may be added to the total tax penalty and interest charge. Under
certain circumstances, taxes which become delinquent on the homestead of a taxpay er 65 y cars old or older incur a penalty of
8% per annum with no additional penalties or interest assessed. In gene ral, property subject to the City 's lien may be sold. in
whole or in parcels, pursuant to court order to collect the amounts due. Federal law does not allow for the collection of pena lty
and interest against an estate in bankruptcy . Federal bankrupicy law provides that an autom atic stay of action by creditors and
other entities, including governm ental units, goes into effect with the filing of any petition in bankruptcy . The autom atic stay
prevents governmental units from foreclosing on property and prevents liens for post-petition taxes from attaching to property
and obtaining s ecured creditor s tatus unless, in either case, an order lifting the stay is obtained from the bankruptcy court. In
many cases posi-petition taxes are paid as an adm inistrative expense of the estate in bankruptcy or by order of the bankruptcy
court.

CiITY APPLICATION OF TAX CODE . . . The City grants an exem ption lo the m arket value of the residen ce homestead of persons
65 years of age or older of $30,000; the disabled are also granted an exemption of $30,000.

The City has not granted any part of the additional exemption of up to 20% of the market value of residence homesteads;
minimum exemption of $5,000.

See Table 1 for a listing of the amounts of the exemptions described above.

The City has not adopted the tax freeze for citizens who are disabled or are 65 years of age or older, which became a local option
and subject to local referendum on January 1, 2004.

Ad valorem taxes are not levied by the City against the exempt value of residence homesteads for the payment of debt.
The City does not tax nonbusiness personal property, and Dallas County collects taxes for the City.

The City does not permit split payments of taxes, and discounts for the early payment of taxes are not allowed.
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The City does not tax freeport property.
The City does collect the additional one-quarter cent sales tax for reduction of ad valorem taxes.

TAX ABATEMENTS . . . The City has adopted a tax abatement policy and currently grants abatements to the following companies.

2011 2011 Year

Corporation Name Market Value Tax Value on Roll
White Rock £ 1.965.070 $ 7.855 2009
Prologis 31,189,110 31,189,110 2008
Brenntag 13,058,170 13,058,170 2003

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING ZONES . . . The City has not created and does not participate in any TIFs created under Chapter 311
of the Tax Code.

CHAPTER 38) AGREEMENTS . .. The City hasapolicy inplace relating to Chapter 380 economic development incentive
programs, and has entered into two such agreements.

The Remainder of Page Left Blank Intentionally



TABLE 1 - VALUATION, EXEMPTIONS AND GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT

2011/12 Market Valuation Established by Dallas Central Appraisal District $ 1.740.802.380

Less Exemptions/Reductions at 100% Market Value:

Over 65/Disabled Persons Exemptions $ 50,288,307

Disabled Veterans Exemptions 8,664,323

Freeport Exemption 24,927,975

Capped Value Loss 760,774

Pollution Control Exemption 1,255,477

Totally Exempt Property 77,248,570

Agricultrural and Other Exemptions 80,107,167 243,252,593
2011/12 Taxable Assessed Valuation $ 1.497,549.787

City Funded Debt Payable from Ad Valorem Taxes (as of 8-15-11) "

General Obligation Bonds $ 56,730,000

Centificates of Obligation 27,325,000

The Certificates 7,585,000
Funded Debt Payable from Ad Valorem Taxes $ 91,640,000
Less Self-Supporting Debt: **

Water and Sewer System General Obligation Debt £ 14,921,189 ¥

Stormwater System General Obligation Debt 565,000

Airport System General Obligation Debt 137,280

Economic Development Corporation General Obligation Debt 2,655,000

Recreational Development Corporation General Obligation Debt 9,120,000 27,398,469
General Purpose Funded Debt Payable from Ad Valorem Taxes $ 64,241,531
Interest and Sinking Fund as of 8-15-11 h 467,099
Ratio Total Funded Debt to Taxable Assessed Valvation . ....... .. ... ... ... ................. 6.12%
Ratio Net Funded Debt to Taxable Assessed Valvation . _........ ... ... . ... ................. 4.29%

2012 Estimated Population - 36,420
Per Capita Taxable Assessed Valuvation - $41.119
Per Capita Total Funded Debt - $2,516
Per Capita Net Funded Debt - $1,764

(1} The above statement of indebtedness  does not include currently outstanding $450.000 Waterworks and Sewer Sy stem
Revenue Bonds, as these bonds are pay  able solely from the net revenues of the Waterwor ks and Sewer Sy stem (the
"System"). as defined in the ordinances authorizing such bonds.

(2) General obligation debt in the amounts shown for which repay ment is provided from revenues of the respective revenue
systems. The amount of self supporting debt is based on the percentages of revenue support as shown in Table 10. 1t is the
City’s current policy to provide these payments from respective system revenues. This policy is subject to change in the
future, To the extent such policy is changed and such sel f-supporting debt is not paid from the respective system revenues,
such debt will be paid from ad valorem taxes.

(3) Includes the Certificates.



TABLE 2 - TAXABLE ASSESSED VALUATIONS BY CATEGORY

Taxable Appraised Value for Fiscal Year Ended September 30,

2012 2011 2010
% of % of % of
Category Amount Total Amounl Total Amounl Total
Real, Residential, Single-Family £ 900,351,520 51L.72% $ 905,759,510 54.27% $ 943972980 54.26%
Real, Residential, Multi-Family 71,756,440 4.12% 74,506,500 4.46% 81,307,440 4.67%
Real, Vacant Lots/Tracts 59,847,390 3.44% 57,268,340 3.43% 52,158,020 3.00%
Real, Acreage (Land Only) 77,143,990 4.43% 88,313,230 5.29% 105,008,020 6.04%
Real, Farm and Ranch Improvements 12,872,360 0.74% 15,079,790 0.90% 16,633,110 0.96%
Real, Commercial 292,632,870 16.81% 244 442170 14.65% 256,529.490 14.75%
Real, Industrial 29,204,940 1.68% 18,277,640 1.10% 19,343,890 1.11%
Qil, Gas and Mineral Reserves 460 0.00% - 0.00% 0.00%
Real and Tangible Personal, Utilities 90,043,510 5.17% 78,660,170 4.71% 94,398,980 5.43%
Tangible Personal, Commercial 155,244 900 B.92% 137,597,940 8.24% 109,677,600 6.30%
Tangible Personal, Industrial 49.641.320 2.85% 47,702,600 2.86% 58,785,810 338%
Tangible Personal, Other - 0.00% - 0.00% 200,920 0.01%
Tangible Personal, Mobile Homes 721,940 0.04% 855,740 0.05% 846,280 0.05%
Special Inventory 1,340,740 0.08% 502,170 0.03% 818,060 0.05%
Total Appraised Value Before Exemplions $ 1,740,802,380 100.00% % 1,658,965,800 100.00% $ 1,739,680,600 100.00%
Totally Exempt Property (77,248,570) - -
Total Exemptions/Reductions 1166.004,023) (170.763,795) (176,099.211)
Taxable Assessed Value § 1,497,549,787 % 1,498,202,005 § 1.563,581.389
Taxable Appraised Value for
Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2009 2008
Y of % of
Category Amount Tolal Amounl Total
Real, Residential, Single-Family $ 1,058,645200 55.91% § 1,041208,720 56.06%
Real, Residential, Multi-Family 93,503,550 4.94% 78,812,720 4.24%
Real, Vacant Lols/Tracls 56,378,290 298% 59,137,290 3.18%
Real, Acreage (Land Cnly) 93,379,190 4.93% 92,445,135 4.98%
Real, Farm and Ranch Improvements 15,598 400 0.82% B.151,825 0.44%
Real, Commercial 262,452,680 13.86% 256,133,320 13.79%
Real, Industrial 19,316,550 1.02% 18,961,110 1.02%
Real and Tangitle Personal. Utilities 122247900 6.46% 130,892,610 7.05%
Tangible Personal, Commercial 108,659,690 3.74% 107,072,820 5.76%
Tangible Personal, Industrial 61,761,690 3.26% 62,796,960 3.38%
Tangible Personal, Other 140,920 0.01% 160,120 0.0i%
Tangible Personal, Mobile Homes 826,840 0.04% 874,380 0.05%
Special Invenlory 690,800 (.04% 822.080 0.04%
Total Appraised Value Before Exemptions $ 1.893,601,700 100.00% $ 1857469090 100.00%

Totally Exempt Property
Tolal Exemptions/Reductions
Tanable Assessed Value

(168,249,372)
$ 1,725,352.328

(148,372,300)

§ 1,709,096,790

NOTE: Valuations shown are certified taxa ble assessed values reported by the Dallas Central Appraisal District to the S tate
Comptroller of Public Accounts. Certified values are subject to change throughout the year as contested values are resolved and

the Appraisal District updates records.



TABLE 3 - VALUATION AND GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT HISTORY

Ra tio

Fiscal Taxable Tax Debt Tax Debt Funded
Year T axable Assessed Quistanding to Taxable Debt
Ended Estimated Assessed Valuation at End Assessed Per
930 Population Valuation Per Capita of Year Valuation Capita
2008 358001 $ 1,709.096,790¢ $ 47.740 $ 55.125.000 3.23% § 1,540
2009 36,200 i 1,725,352,328 47.662 53.250,000 3.09% 1,471
2010 36,3612 1,563,581,389 43,002 86,225,000 551% 2,371
2011 36,390 1,498,202,005 41,171 84,055,000 5.61% 2,310
2012 36,4201 1,497,549,787 41,119 88,525,000  5.91% 2,431

{1) Source: North Central Texas Council of Governments.

(2) Source: U.S. Census Bureau.

(3) Estimate provided by City Staff.

{(4) Projected, includes the Certificates. Includes self-supporting debt. See Tables 1 and 10 herein and accompanying footnotes
for more detailed information on the City's general obligation self-supporting debt. Preliminary, subject to change.

TABLE 4 - TAX RATE, LEvY AND COLLECTION HISTORY

Fiscal %% of Current % of Total
Year Distrib ution Tax Tax

Ended Tax General Interest and Collections Collections
930 Rate Fund Sinking Fund Tax Levy to Tax Levy to Tax Levy
2008 $ 07375 $ 0.6091 $ 0.1284 $ 12,435.678 96.33% 99.68%
2009 0.7775 06441 0.1334 13,298,918 95.22% 98.96%
2010 0.7775 06141 0.1634 12,171,705 95.78% 98.99%
2011 0.8675 0.6502 02173 13,040,469 97.42% " 9825% M
2012 0.8675 0.6002 0.2673 12,991,245 NA NA

(1} Collections through August 1, 2011.

TABLE 5 - TEN LARGEST TAXPAYERS !

2010/11 % of Total
Taxable Taxable
Assessed Assessed
Name of Taxpaver Nature of Property Valuation Valuation
AT&T Communications Utility $ 61,691,611 4.12%
ONCOR Electric Utility Delivery 50,672,890 3.38%
Prologis Warehouse/Distribution 32,232,710 2.15%
Wal-Mart Retail 21,425,380 1.43%
SBC Advanced Solutions Utlity 13,648,510 0.91%
Brasscraft Manufacturing Plumbing Products 13,102.476 0.87%
M&A Texas Lancaster Ltd. Real Estate 10,500,000 0.70%
WRC Southpointe Building 1 Par Warehouse/Distribution 10,225990 0.68%
Brenntag Southwest, Inc. Industrial Chemicals 9,381,660 0.63%
Pleasant Run Courtyard Apartments 8.795,000 0.59%
$ DR IER6,227

(1) At the dale hereof. a listing of the top ten taxpayers for tax year 2011/12 is unavailable.

GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT LIMITATION . . . No general obligation debt limitation is imposed on the City under current State
law or the City’s Home Rule Charter (see "The Certificates — Tax Rate Limitation”)



TABLE 6 - TAX ADEQuACY "

2011 Principal and Interest Requirements $ 4.525,140
$0.3053 Tax Rate at 99.00% Collection Produces $ 4526299
Average Annual Principal and Interest Requirements, 2011 - 2040 $ 4,080,927
$0.2753 Tax Rate at 99.00% Collection Produces § 4.081.527
Maximum Principal and Interest Requirements, 2022 $ 5.144,587
$0.3471 Tax Rate at 99.00% Collection Produces $ 5.146.015

(1) Does not include the Centificates, less self-supporting debt. Also, includes that portion of interest o ffset by the refundable tax
credit to be received by the City from the Department of Treasury as a result of a portion of the related outs tanding obligations
being designated as "Build America Bonds." See "Table 9 — Interest and Sinking Fund Budget Projection” herein.

TABLE 7 - ESTIMATED OVERLAPPING DEBT

Expenditures of the various taxing entities within the territory of the City are paid out of ad valorem taxes levied by such entities
on properties within the City. Such entities are independent of the City and may incur borrowings to finance their expenditure s.
This statement of direct and estimated overlapping ad valorem tax debt ("Tax Debt") was deve loped from information contained
in "Texas Municipal Reports" published by the Municipal Advisory Council of Texas. Except for the amounts relating to the

City, the City has not independently verified the accuracy or completeness of such inform ation, and no person should rely upon
such information as being accurate or com plete. Furthermore, certain of the entities listed may have issued additional Tax Debt
since the date hereof, and such entities m ay have programs requiring the issuance of substantial amounts of additional Tax Debt,
the amount of which cannot be determined. The following table reflects the estimated share of overlapping Tax Debt of the City.

2001/12 City's Authorized
Taxable 2010711 Total Estimated Overlapping Bul Unissued
Assessed Tax GO % G.0. Debt Debt as of
Taxing Jurisdiction Value Rale Debt Applicable As of 9-1-11 9/1/201 |
City of Lancaster $ 1497549787 $ 0777500 § 64,241,531 " 160.00% $ 64241531 $ 14,550,695
Lancaster Independent School District 1,527.718,315 1412700 99,392 165 26.88% 86,351,913 665,000
Dallas tndependent School District 75,050,783,992 1.271343 2,619,400,000 0.15% 3,929,100 2,078
Dallas County 156,266,248 986 0.228100 143,932,642 0.94% 1,352,967 6,200,000
Dallas County Community College 162,789,062,031 0.094500 396,140,000 094% 3,723.716 -
Dallas County Hospital Districl 156,435,665,588 0.274000 705,000,000 0.94% 6,627.000 42,000,000
Total Direct and Qverlapping G.Q. Debt $ 166,226,227
Ratio of Direci and Overlapping G.Q. Debi o Taxable Assessed Valuation . ............. , 11 10%
Per Capita Overlapping G.O. Debl. . .. ... ... ... ... . . ; $ 456415

(1} Does not include the Cenrtificates, less self-supporting debt.
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TABLE 9 - INTEREST AND SINKING FUND BUDGET PROJECTION

Tax-Supported Debt Service Requirements, Fiscal Year Ending 9-30-11............... . .. .. . ..... oo 34525140

Budgeted Interest and Sinking Fund, 9-30-10 . .. ... .. ... ... ... ... ... .. ... ... . $ 1,081,805

Budgeted Interest and Sinking Fund Tax Levy ... ................ ... .. ... ....... ...325 1,513

Build AmericaBonds Subsidy . .. ... .. 926,763

Estimated Investment Eamings . ... .......... ... ..o i ok 2,550 5,262,631

Estimated Balance, 9-30-11 . .. .. $ 737,491
TABLE [ - COMPUTATION OF SELF-SUPPORTING DeBT "
Revenue Available for Debt Service from Waterworks and Sewer System, Fiscal Year Ended 9-30-10 . . .. $ 2,644,433
Less: Revenue Bonds Requirements, 2011 Fiscal Year .. ............... .. ... . it . 104,775
Balance Available for OtherPurposes . ... ... ... ... . ... .. ... ... e $ 2,539,658
System General Obligation Bond Requirements, 2011 Fiscal Year .. ................. e 1,308,223
Balance . ... e $ 1,231,435
Percentage of System General Obligation Bonds, Self-Supporting ... ................ Pl . - R 100.00%5
Revenue Available for Debt Service from Stormwater Fund, Fiscal Year Ended 9-30-10 . . . .$ 114,592
Stormwater General Obligation Bond Requirements, 2011 Fiscal Year..... ... ... ... . .. e TR L 49,013
Balance . .. ... TR L. .. % 65530
Percentage of Stormwater General Obligation Bonds, Self-Supperting ... ......... ... . ... ceee oo, 100.00%
Fund Balances Available for Debt Service from LEDC, Fiscal Year Ended 9-30-10...... ... ... ... .. $ 6151029
EDC General Obligation Bond Requirements, 2011 Fiscal Year . . . ., s SRR T - 227,750
Balance .. e v 3 387352
Percentage of LEDC General Obligation Bonds, Self-Supporting . .................... T 100.00%
Fund Balances Available for Debt Service from LRDC, Fiscal Year Ended 9-30-10....... . ... .. ..... .3 485,464
LRDC General Obligation Bond Requirements, 2011 Fiscal Year. .. .. ... ... ........ .... S —— o 909,299
Balance . ... ... .. ... e $ (423,835
Percentage of LRDC General Obligation Bonds, Self-Supporting . ... ....__.. ... .... . ... .. . ... .. 53.39%
Revenue Available for Debt Service from Airport Fund, Fiscal Year Ended 9-30-10. . ... . .. R R $ 196,063
Airport General Obligation Bond Requirements, 2011 Fiscal Year............. ... ... AT 16,418
Balancoe . .. .. e GRS . % 179,650
Percentage of Airport General Obligation Bonds, Self-Supporting . ................... 100.00%

(1) Itis the City's current policy to pay the above-describ ed self=supporting debt from the respective revenue sources shown above. this
policy is subject to change in the future. In the event the City changes it policy, or such revenues are not sufficient to pay debt service on
such obligations, the City will be required to levy an ad valorem tax to pay such debt service.

(2) Represents the fund balance available to pay debt service on debt that is considered self-supported debt payable from the proceeds of
the ¥z cent sales and use tax levied on  behalf of the Lancaster Economic Development Corporation ("LEDC"). See Table 14 for a
description of sales and use taxes.

(3) The deficit occurred because the debt service and operating expenses of the Lancaster Recreation Center, Library, and Senior Center
- exceed the Y2f sales tax revenue dedicated for Lancaster Recreational Development Corporation ("LRDC"} The General Fund budgets
each year to cover the deficit in the LRDC.  Information for fiscal year 2010 indicates that the 3¢ sales tax generated $1.814, 922. debt
service was $906, 616, and the amount transferred from the  General Fund was $314, 671 Any deficit in fiscal year 2011 will be
eliminated through a similar transfer.  1f revenues are insufficient. the City is obligated to pay the debt service from ad val  orem tax
revenue.

TABLE 11 - AUTHORIZED BuT UNISSUED GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS

Amount
Date Amount Heretofore Unissued
Purpose Authorized Autherized Issued Balance
Permanent Public Improvements 11/6/2007 $ 37.545,695  § 22995000 § 14.550.695
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ANTICIPATED ISSUANCE OF ADDITIONAL GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT . . . The City does not anticipate the is suance of
additional general obligation debt within the next twelve months.

TABLE 12 - OTHER OBLIGATIONS

The annual requirements to amortize the capital leases as of September 30, 2010 are as follows:

Capital Leases
Fiscal Government Activities Business-Type Activities
Year Principal Interest Total Principal Interest Total
2011 $ 228,406  $ 14,647  $ 243,053 $ 206,069  § 26,043  $ 232,112
2012 114,785 5,864 120,649 25,661 277 25938
2013 43,730 549 44,279 - - -
2014 43912 367 44,279 - - -
2015 44,095 184 44,279 - -

Total $ 474,928 $ 21611 $ 496,539 $ 231,730 $ 26.320 $ 258,050
_——— e e e e

PENSION FUND . . . The City provides pension benefits for all of its full-time employees through the Texas Municipal Retirement
System ("ITMRS"), a State-wide administer ed pension plan. The City makes annual contributions to the plan equal to the
amounts accrued for pension expense.

Plan Description ... The City  provides pension benefits for all of  its full-tim e em ployees through a nontraditional, joint
contributory, hy brid defined benefit plan in the state-wide  Texas Municipal Retirem ent Sy stem (TMRS), an agent m ultiple-
employer public employ ee retirement sy stem. The plan provisions that have been adopted by the City are within the options
available in the governing state statutes of TMRS. TMRS issues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial report that
includes financial statements and require  d supplementary information (RSI) for TMRS: the report also provides detailed
explanations of the contributions, benefits and actuarial methods and assumptions used by the System.

Employee deposit rate 7.0%
Matching ratio (city to employee) 2ol
Years required for vesting 5
Service retirement eligibility 60/5, 0/20
{expressed as age/years of service)

Updated Service Credit 100%
Annutiy Increase (to retirees) 70% of CP1

Contributions . . . Under the state law governing TMRS, the contribution rate for each city is determined annually by the actuary,
using the Projectcd Unit Credit actuarial cost method. This rate consists of the normal cost contribution rate and the prior service
cost contribution rate, which is calculated to be a level percen t of pay roll from year to year. The normal cost contribution r ate
finances the portion of an active member’s projected benefit a llocated annually; the prior service contribution rate amortizes the
unfunded (overfunded) actuarial liability (asset) over the applicable period for that city . Both the normal cost and prior service
contribution rates include recognition of the projected impact of annually repeating benelfits, su ch as Updated Service Credits
and Annuity Increases. The City contributes to the TM RS Plan at an actuarially determined rate. Both the employees and the
City make contributions monthly . Since the City needs to know its contribution rate in advance for budgetary purposes, there is
a one-year delay between the actuarial valuation that serves as the basis for the rate and the calendar year when the rate goes into
effect.

Actuarial Valuation Dale 12/31/2007 12/31/2008 12/31/2009
Actuarial Value of Assets 526,735,438 $ 26,431,828 $ 29,362,600
Acluarial Accried Liability (AAL) $42,017.867 $42,814,837 $ 45,558,535
Percentage Funded 63.6% 61.7% 64.5%
Unfunded Acturial Accrued Liability (UAAL) $15,282,429 $ 16,383,009 $ 16,195,935
Annual Covered Payroll $ 13,260,730 $ 14,507 867 £ 14,525,485
UAAL as percentage of Cover Payroll 1152% 112.9% 111.5%
Net Pension Obligation (NPO) at Beginning of Period $ - $ - $ -
Annual Pension Cost:

Annual Required coniribution (ARC) £ 1,481,222 $ 1727903 $ 1,764,806

Contribution Made {1.481,222) (1,727,903) (1,764,806)
NPG at End of Period $ - $ - 3 -
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The required contribution rates for fiscal

y ear 2010 were determ ined as part of the Decem ber 31, 2007 and 2008 actuarial
valuations. Additional information as of the latest actuarial valuation, December 31, 2009, as follows:

12/31/2007 12/31/2008 12/31/2009
Actuarial Cost Method Projected Unit Credit Projected Unil Credit Projected Unit Credit
Amortization Method Level Percent of Payroll Level Percent of Payroll Level Percent of Payroll
GASB 25 Equivalent Single 30 years - 29 years - 28 years -
Amortization Period closed penod closed period closed period
Amortization Period for New Gains/Losses 30 years 30 years 30 years
Asset Valuation Method Amortized Cost Amortized Cost 10-year Smoothed Market
Actuarial Assumptions:
Investmeni Rale of Retum®* 7 0% 7.5% 7.5%
Projected Salary Increases* Varies by age and service Varies by age and service Varies by age and service
* Includes Lnflation at 30% 30% 3.0%
Cost-of-Living Adjustments 2 1% 21% 2.1%

OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS . . . In addition to providing pension bene fits through the Texas Municipal Retirement
System, the City has opted to provide eligible retired employees with the following post-employment benefits:

Supplemental Death Benefits . .. The City participates in the cost sharing multiple-employer defined benefit group-term life
insurance plan operated by TMRS (the "SDBF"), and the City provides this coverage to both current and retired employees. The
death benefit for active employ  ces provi des a lump-sum pay ment approximately equal to the employ ee’s annual salary
(calculated based on the em ployee’s actual earnings for the 12-month period preceding the month of death). Retired employees
are insured for $7,500.

The City contributes to the SDBF at a contractually required rate as determined by an annual act uarial valuation, which rate is
equal to the cost of providing one-y ear term life insurance. Th e City s funding policy for the SDBF is to assure that adequate
resources are available to meet all death benefit pay ments for the upcoming y ear; the intent is not to pre-fund retiree  term life
insurance during employees’ entire careers.

The City’s contributions to SDBF fo r the fiscal y ears ended September 30, 2010, 2009 and 2008, were $25,157, $73.918, and
$111.113, respectively, which equaled the required contributions each year.

Post-Employment Health Care . . . The City offers its retired employees that meet the eligibility requitements for the TMRS plan
described above post-employ ment health insurance under the City ’s retiree health plan (the "Plan"). The retiree pay s 100% of
the retired employ ces’ premium, but the em ployees’ spouses and dependents are not cove red. Spouses and eligible dependents
convert to COBRA coverage once the  retired employ ec is no longer enrolled in muni  cipal coverage. Coverage supplements
Medicare once the retiree, spouse or dependent is eligible fo  r Medicare. Asof Decem ber 31, 2009, 7 retited em  ployees
participated in the Plan. Based on the latest actuarial valua  tion report, as of Decem ber 31, 2009, the City had an actuarial
accrued liability of $498,266, with actuarial value of assets of $0.  As of such date, the City s actuarially -determined required
annual contribution, calculated by am ortizing the City ’s unfunded actuarial accrued liability over a period of 30 years, was
approximately $68.395, based on a 3% payroll growth rate.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION
TABLE 13 - CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,

Revenues. 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Program Revenues
Charges for Services $ 3198515 £ 3229244 $ 3,682.085 $ 4665593 § 5945436
Operating Grants & Contributions 8,817,871 8,424 486 10,588,454 8,922,577 9,385,998
Capital Grants & Contributions 1,866,380 1,384,895 132,158 6,557,823 5,066,852

General Revenues:

Taxes & Fees 18,566,343 19,277,229 18,280,947 16,164,303 14,610,183
Other 1,410,397 1,537,715 1,345,966 1,224,644 653,172
Total Revenues $ 33 859606 $ 33,853,569 § 34029610 $ 37,534 940 $ 35,661,641
Expenses.
Program Expenses:
General Government § 4,603.846 $ 3,689,422 $ 5395286 $ 4274611 $ 4538632
Public Safety 14,829,005 14,487,896 14,116,941 13.169,737 13,718,040
Public Works 5,678,976 4,902,806 3,162,728 3,176,963 1,129 462
Community Development and Recreation 1317628 1,506,422 4,290,873 3,635,543 3.937.805
Community Services - - - 29,037 775
Social and Welfare 8,599,376 8,496,435 9,015,301 8,071,230 7,659,020
Non Depanimental - - - 1.949,265 2,703,926
Interest and Fiscal Charges 2,880,768 2,053,606 2,367,768 1.514,305 879,335
Total Expenses $ 37,909,599 $ 35,136,587 $ 38,348,897 $ 35,820,691 $ 34,566,995

Increase (Decrease in Net Assets Before Tranfers) $ {4,049993) £ {1283.018) $ 4319287 $ 1.714249 $ 1,094 646

Transfers 2,381,236 1,327,236 1,327,654 794,510 {236,396)
Change in Net Assets $ (1,668757) § 44218 $ (2991633) § 2508759 $ 858250
Net Assets - Beginning 61,263,965 61,219,747 62,459,903 58 857,192 59.398,617
Prior Period Adjustments (1,492,019 - 1,751,477 1,093,952 (1,399,675)
Net Assets - Ending $ 58,103,189 $ 61,263,965 $ 51,219,747 $ 62459903 ¥ 58,857,192
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TABLE 13A - GENERAL FUND REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES HISTORY

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,

Revenues 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Taxes and Fees § 16.014.357 $ 16,660,858 $ 16,011,131 $ 15,135,141 $ 13.684,059
Licenses and Permits 502.940 495 859 771,028 749,750 1.327.956
Intergovernmental 295,736 223,944 85,190 134,641 695216
Charges for Services 516,420 517,691 455,084 996,431 844,018
Fines and Forfeitures 839,868 998.405 1.338.090 1,634,682 1,500,360
Interest 7,073 15.629 59.808 100,245 169.919
Miscellaneous 604,188 628,222 1,634,789 372,095 1,486,376
Total Revenues $ 18,780,582 $ 19,540,608 $ 20,355,120 $ 19,122,985 $ 19,707,904
Expenditures
General Government $ 3,332,021 £ 3292946 $ 4185437 $ 2,791,941 £ 1,934,675
Public Safety 13,416,346 13,071,145 13,944,602 12,502,555 11,546,216
Public Works 3,243,523 2,088,899 2,753,728 1,104,224 1,012,413
Cultural and Recreational 1,010,385 1,213,686 3,907,702 3,719,050 3,668,960
Community Service - - - 19,073 775
Non Departmental 360,037 79,260 - 1,606,171 2,612,449
Debt Service 54.254 - 124,619 - -
Total Expenditures § 21,416,566 $ 19,745,936 $ 24916.088 $ 21.743.014 $ 20.775.488
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues

Over Expenditures $ (2,635.984) $ (205328) $ (4,560,968) $ (2.620,029) $ (1,067,584)
Transfers 1n $ 2485236 $ 1.436,004 $ 1429334 § 884,626 $ 1,281,960
Transfers Out - - (125,035) (505.079) (573,319)
Proceeds from Capital Lease - 732,858 - -
Transfer from Component Unit - - - - -
Total Sources (Uses) $ 2485236 $ 1436.004 $ 2,037,157 $ 379,547 $ 708,641
Net Increase (Decrease) $ (150,748) $ 1,230,676 $ (2,523,811) % (2,240482) $ (358.943)
Beginning Fund Balance 3,908,328 2,677,652 3,449,986 5,567,938 5,926,881
Prior Period Adjustments - - 1,751,477 122,530 -
Ending Fund Balance $ 3.757.580 $ 3908328 $ 2.677.652 $ 3.449.986 $ 5.567938

TABLE 14 - MUNICIPAL SALES TAX HiSTORY

In addition to the sales and use tax levied by the State of Te xas. the City levies the following local sales and use taxes for the

purposes described: (i} a one percent (1%) sales and use tax the proceeds of which ar e credited to the General Fund of the City
and are not pledged to the payment of debt: (ii) a voter-authorized one-half of one percent (1/2 of 1%) sales and use tax collected
on behalf of Lancaster Recreational Developm ent Corporation (" LRDC") for park and recreational development; (iii) a voter-
authorized one-quarter of one percent (1/4 of 1%)  sales and use tax collected on behalf of Lancaster Economic Development
Corporation ("LEDC") for economic developmen t and which may be pledged to the pay ment of debt issued by the LEDC; and
(iv) a voter-authorized one-quarter of one percent (1/4 of | %) sales and use tax for  property tax reduction. Collection and
enforcement of the sales and use taxes are effected through the Co mptroller of Public Accounts, State of Texas, who remits the
proceeds of the tax, afler deduction of a 2% s ervice fee, to the City monthly. Such sales tax revenues are not pledged to the
payment of the Certificates.

DISTRIBUTION OF SALES AND USE TAXES

Property Tax Relief 0.25¢
Economic and Community Development 0.25¢
Recreational Development Corporation 0.50¢
City Sales & Use Tax 1.00¢
State Sales & Use Tax 6.25¢

Total 8.25¢
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GENERAL FUND SALES AND USE TAX

Fiscal
Year % of Equivalent of
Ended Total Ad Valorem Ad Valorem Per
9/30 Collected Tax Levy Tax Rate Capita
2007 $ 2,934,047 28.62% $ 0.1892 $ 84
2008 2.776.060 22.32% 0.1624 78
2009 3.105.369 23.38% 0.1800 86
2010 3,626,995 29.80% 0.2320 100
2001 W 2,671,048 20.48% 0.1782 73

(1} Collections through August 1, 2011.

EconoMIC DEVELOPMENT, RECREATION DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTY REDUCTION SALES AND USE TAXES

Fiscal 1/4% 1/12% 1/4%
Year Economic Recreational Property
Ended Development Development Reduction
Collected Tax Collected Tax Collected Tax Collected
2007 $ 733,512 $  1,467.023 b 733,512
2008 694.015 1,388,030 694.015
2009 776,342 1,552,684 776,342
2010 906.749 1,813,497 906,749
2011 667,762 1,335,524 667,762

{1} Collections through August 1, 2011,
FINANCIAL POLICIES

Basis of Accounting . . . The City 's accounting records of the government al fund revenues and expenditures are recognized on the
modified accrual basis. Revenues are recognized in the accounting period in which they are available and measurable. Expenditures
are recognized in the accounting period in which the fund liability occurred, if measurable, except for unm atured interest on general
long-term debt.

Proprietary Fund revenues and expenses are recognized on the fu Il accrual basis. Revenues are recognized in the accounting per iod
in which they are eamned and become measurable. Expenses are recognized in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Fund Balances . . . Itisthe City ‘s policy regarding the General Fund and Enterprise Funds that working capital resources should be
maintained at a minimum of 10%, with a stated target of 1 5% of the Fund's operating expenditure budget. The City maintains its
various debt service funds in accordance with the covenants of the bond ordinances.

Use of bond Proceeds. . . The City’s policy is to use bond proceeds for capital e xpenditures only. Such revenues are never to be used
1o fund normal City operations.

Budgetary Procedures. . . The City Charter establishes the fis cal year as the twelve-month period beginning each October 1. Each
year between May and July , the City Manager analy zes, and then afier review, submits  a budget of estimated revenues and
expenditures to the City Council. Subsequently , the City C ouncil will hold work sessions to discuss and am  end the budget to
coincide with their direction of the City. Various public hearings may be held to comply with applicable law. The City Council will
adopt a budget prior to September 30. If the Council failsto  adopt a budget then the budget presented to the Council by  the C ity
Manager becomes the adopted budget. e

During the fiscal y ear, budgetary control is maintained by the monthly review of departmental appropriation balances. Actual
operations are compared to the amounts set forth in the budget. Departmental appropriations that have not been expended lapse at the
end of the fiscal y ear. Therefore, funds that were budgeted and not used by the departments during the fiscal y ear are not available
for their use unless appropriated in the ensuing fiscal year's budget.

INVESTMENTS

The City invests its investable funds in investments authorized by Texas law and in accordance with investment policies approved by
the City Council. Both State law and the City’s investment policies are subject to change.
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LEGAL INVESTMENTS . . . Under Texas law, the City is authorized to invest in (1) obligations, including letters of credit, of the United
States or its agencies and instrum entalities, (2} direct obliga tions of the State of Texas or its agencies and instrum  entalities, (3)
collateralized mortgage obligations directly issued by a federal agency or instrumentality of the United States, the underlying security
for which is guaranteed by an agency or instrum entality of the United States, (4) other obligations, the principal of and interest on
which are unconditionally guaranteed or insured by , or backed by the full faith and credit of, the State of Texas or the United States
or their respective agencies and instrum entalities, including oblig ations that are fully guaranteed or insured by the Federal D eposit
Insurance Corporation or by the explicit full faith and credit of the United States, (5) obligati ons of states, agencies, count ies, cities,
and other political subdivisions of any state rated as to investm ent quality by a nationally recognized investment rating firm not less
than A or its equivalent, (6) bonds issued,  assumed, or guaranteed by the State of Israel, (7) certificates of deposit and shar e
certificates meeting the requirements of the Texas Public Funds Investment Act (Chapter 2256, Texas Government Code) (i) that are
issued by or through an institution that either hasitsm ain office or a branch office in Texas, and are guaranteed or insured by the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the National Credit Union Insurance Fund. or are secured as fo principal by obligations
described in the clauses (1) through (6) or in any other manner and amount provided by law for City deposits, or (i} where (a) the
funds are invested by the City through (1) a broker that has its main office or a branch office in the State of Texas and is selected from
a list adopted by the City as required by law or (I1} a depository institution that has its m ain office or a branch office in t he State of
Texas that is selected by the City; (b) the broker or the depository institution selected by the City arranges for the deposit of the funds
in certificates of deposit in one or more federally insured depository institutions, wherever located, for the account of the City; (c) the
full am ount of the principal and accrued interest of each of the certificates of deposit is insure  d by the United States or an
instrumentality of the United States, and (d) the City  appoint s the depository institution selected under (a) above, a  custodian as
described by Section 257.041(d) of the Texas Governm ent Code, or a clearing broker-deal  er registered with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and operating pursuant to Securities and Ex change Commission Rule 15¢3-3 (17 C.F.R. Section 240.15¢3-3)
as custodian for the City with respect to the certificates of deposit; (8) fully collateralized repurchase agreements that have a defined
termination date, are fully secured by a combination of cash and obligations described in clause (1) which are pledged to the C iy,
held in the City’s name, and deposited at the time the investment is made with the City or with a third party selected and approved by
the City and are placed through a prim ary govemment securities deal er, as defined by the Federal Reserve, or a financial insti tution
doing business in the State; (9) bankers’ accepta nces with the remaining term of 270 days or less, if the short-termy obligations of the
accepting bank or its parent are raled at least A-1 or P-1 or th ¢ equivalent by at least one nationally recognized credit rating agency,
(10} commercial paper that is rated at least A-1 or P-1 or th e equivalent by either (a) two nationally recognized credit rating agencies
or (b) one nationally recognized credit rating agency if the paper is fully secured by an irrevocable letter of credit issued by a U.S. or
state bank, (11) no-load m oney m arket m utual funds regulated by the Securities and Exchange Com mission that have a dollar
weighted average portfolio maturity of 90 days or less and include in their investment objectives the maintenance of a stable net asset
value of $1 for each share, and (12) no-load m  utual funds regist ered with the Securities and Exchange Com mission that: have an
average weighted m aturity of les s than two y ears; invests exclusively in obligations described in the preceding clauses; and are
continuously rated as to investment quality by at least one na tionally recognized investment ra ting fitm of not less than AAA o rits
equivalent, and (13) guaranteed investment ¢ ontracts secured by obligations of the United S tates of Am erica ot its agencies and
instrumentalities, other than the prohibited obligations described in the next succeeding paragraph.

The City may invest in such obligations directly  or through govern ment investment pools that invest solely in such obligations
provided that the pools are rated no lower than AAA or AAAm or an equivalent by at least one nationally recognized rating service
or no lower than investment grade by at least one nationally recognized rating service with a weighted average maturity no greater
than 90 days. The City is specifically prohibited from investing in: (1) obligations whose payment represents the coupon payments on
the outstanding principal balance of the underlying mortgage-backed security collateral and pay s ne principal; {2) obligations whose
payment represents the principal stream of cash flow from the underly ing mortgage-backed security and bears no interest; (3)
collateralized mortgage obligations that have a stated finalm  aturity of greater than 10y ears; and (4) collateralized m origage
obligations the interest rate of which is determined by an index that adjusts opposite to the changes in a market index.

Governmental bodies in the State are authorized to im  plement securities lending program s if (i) the securities loaned under the
program are 100% collateralized, a loan made under the program allows for terminati on at any time and a loan made under the
program is either secured by (a) obligations that are described in clauses (1) thr ough (6} of the first paragraph under this subcaption,
(b) irrevocable letter of credit issued by  a state or national bank that is continuously rated by a nationally recognized inves tment
rating firm not less than “A” or its equivalent, or (¢} cash invested in obligations that are described in clauses (1) through (6) and (10)
through (12) of the first paragraph under this subcaption, or an  authorized investment pool; (ii} securities held as collateral under a
loan are pledged to the governmental body , held in the name of the governmental body and deposited at the time the investment is
made with the City or a third party designated by the City ; (iii} a loan m ade under the program is placed through either a primary
govemment securities dealer or a financial institution doing busine ss in the State of Texas; and (iv) the agreem ent to lend se curities
has a term of one year or less,

INVESTMENT POLICIES . . . Under Texas law, the City is required to invest its funds under written investm ent policies that primarily
emphasize safety of principal and liquidity ; that address investment diversification, yield, maturity, and the quality and capability of
investment management; and that includes a list of authorized investments for City funds, maximum allowable stated maturity of any
individual investment, and the ma ximum average dollar-weighted maturity ajlowed for pooled fund groups. All City funds must be
invested consistent with a formally adopted "Investment Strategy Statement" that specifically addresses each fund's investment. Each
Investment Strategy Statement will describe its objectives concemning: (1) suitability of investment type, (2) preservation and safety of
principal. (3) liquidity, (4) marketability of each investment, (5) diversification of the portfolio, and (6) yield.
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Under Texas law, City investm ents must be m ade "with judgm ent and care, unde r prevailing circum stances, that a person of
prudence, discretion, and intelligence would exercise in the m  anagement of the person’s own affa irs, not for speculation, but f or
investment, considering the probable safety of capital and the probable income to be derived.” At least quarterly the investm ent
officers of the City shall submit an investment report detailing: (1) the investment position of the City, (2) that all investment officers
jointly prepared and signed the report, (3) the  beginning market value, any additions and changes to market value, and the endi ng
value of each pooled fund group, (4) the book value and m arket value of each separately listed asset at the beginning and end of the
reporting period, (5) the maturity date of each separately invested asset, {6) the account or fund or pooled fund group for whi ch each
individual investment was acquired, and (7} the compliance of the investment  portfolio as it relates to: (a) adopted investment
strategy statements and (b) state law. No person may invest City funds without express written authority from the City Council.

ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS . . . Under State law, the City is additionally required to: (1) annually review its adopted policies and
strategies; (2) adopt arule, order, ordina nce or resolution stating that it has review ed its investment po licy and investment
strategies and records any changes made to either its investment policy or investment strategy in the respective rule, order,
ordinance or resolution; (3) require any investment officers with personal business relationships or relatives with firms seeking to
sell securities to the entity  to disclose the relationship and f ile a statem ent with the Texas Ethics Commission and the City
Council; {4} require the qualified representative of firm s offering to engage in an investm ent transaction with the City to: (a)
receive and review the City s investm ent policy , (b) acknow ledge that reasonable controls and procedures have been
implemented to preclude investment tran  sactions conducted between the  City and the business organization that are not
authorized by the City’s investment policy (except to the extent that this authorization is dependent on an analysis of the makeup
of the City's entire portfolio or requires an interpretation of subjective investment standards), and (c) deliver a written statement
in a form acceptable to the City and the business organization a tiesting to these requirements; {5) perform an annual audit of the
management controls on i nvestments and adherence to the City 's investment policy : (6) provide specific investment training for
the Treasurer. chief financial officer and investment officers: {7 ) restrict reverse repurchase agreements to not more than 90 days
and restrict the investment of reverse repurchase agreement funds to no greater than the term of the reverse purchase agreement
(8) restrict the investment in no-load mutual funds  in the aggregate to no more than 15% of the City ’s monthly average fund
balance, excluding bond proceeds and reserves and other funds held for debt service; (9) require local governm ent investment
pools to conform to the new disclosure, rati ng, net asset value, yield calculation, and advisory board require ments; and (10) a t
least annually review, revise, and adopt a list of qualified brokers that are authorized to engage in investment transactions w ith
the City.

TABLE 15 - CURRENT INVESTMENTS

As of August 1, 2011, the City s investable funds were invested in the following categories:

Market

Description Percent Value
TexPool 41.22% $ 14,571,293
Logic - Pooled Cash 22.17% 7,838,923
Logic 2010 GO Bond Fund 36.61% 12,941,644

100.00% $ 35,351,860

No funds of the City are invested in derivative securities, i.e ., securities whose rate of return is determined by reference to some
other instrument. index, or commodity,
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TAX MATTERS

Tax Exemption. . . In the opinion of Andrews Kurth LLP, Special Tax C ounsel, interest on the Bonds is (1) excludable under
Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code  of 1986, as amended (the “Code™), from gross income of the owners thereof for
federal income tax purposes and (2) is not includable in the a lternative minimum taxable income of individuals or, except as
described below, corporations.

The foregoing opinions of Bond Counsel are based on  the Code and the regulations. rulings and court decisions thereunder in
existence on the date of issue of the Bonds. Such authorities ar e subject to change and any such change could prospectively or
retroactively result in the inclusion of the interest on the Bonds in gross income of the owners thereof or change the treatmen t of
such interest for purposes of computing alternative minimum taxable income.

In rendering its opinions, Bond Counsel has a ssumed continuing compliance by the City with certain covenants of the ordinance
authorizing the issuance of the Bonds (the “ Ordinance™) and has relied on representations by the City with respect to m atters
solely within the knowledge of the City, which Bond Counsel has not independently verified. The covenants and representations
relate to, am ong other things, the use of Bond proceeds and any  facilities financed therewith, th e source of repay ment of the
Bonds, the investm ent of Bond proceeds and certain other am ounts prior to expenditure, and requirem ents that excess arbitrage
earned on the investment of Bond proceeds and certain other am ounts be paid periodically to the United States and that the City
file an information report with the Internal Revenue Service (the “Service”). Lfthe City should fail to comply with the covenants
in the Ordinance, or if its representations relating to the Bonds that are contained in  the Ordinance should be determined to b e
inaccurate ot incom plete, interest on the Bonds could becom ¢ taxable from the date of delivery of the Bonds, regardless of the
date on which the event causing such taxability occurs.

Intetest on all tax-exempt obligations, such  as the Bonds, owned by a corporation (oth er than an S corporation, a regulated
investrnent company . a real estate investment trust (REIT). a  real estate mortgage investment conduit (REMIC) or a financial
asset securitization investment trust (FAS IT)) will be included in such corporation’ s adjusted current earnings for purposes of
calculating such corporation’s alternative minimurm taxable income. A corporation’s alternative m inimum taxable incomne is the
basis on which the alternative minimum tax imposed by the Code is computed.

Except as stated above, Bond Counsel will express no opinion as to  any federal. state or local tax consequences resulting from
the ownership of, receipt or accrual of interest on or acquisition or disposition of the Bonds.

Bond Counsel’s opinion is not a guarantee of a result, but represents its legal judgment based upon its review of existing statutes,
regulations, published rulings and court decisions and the representations and covenant s of the City described above. No ruling
has been sought from the Service with respect to the matters  addressed in the opinion of Bond Counsel, and Bond Counsel’s
opinion is not binding on the Service. The Service has an ongoing pr ogram of auditing the tax-exem pt status of the interest on
municipal obligations. 1f an audit of the Bonds is commenced, under current procedures the Service is likely to treat the City as
the “taxpayer,” and the owners of the Bonds may have no right to participate in the audit process. ln responding to ot defendi ng
an audit of the tax-exempt status of the interest on the Bonds , the City may have different or conflicting interests from the
owners of the Bonds. Public awareness of  any future audit of the Bonds could advers ely affect the value and liguidity of the
Bonds during the pendency of the audit, regardless of its ultimate outcome.

Under the Code, taxpayers are required to provide information on their returns regarding the amount of tax-exempt interest, such
as interest on the Bonds, received or accrued during the year.

Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should be aware that the ownership of tax-exempt obligations. such as the Bonds, may result
in collateral federal incom e tax consequences to, am ong others, financial institutions, life insurance com panies, property and
casualty ins urance com panies, certain foreign corporations doi ng business in the United States,  certain $ corporations with
Subchapter C earnings and profits, individual recipients of Soci al Security or Railroad Retirem ent benefits, taxpay ers who are
deemed to have incurred or continued inde btedness to purchase or carry tax-exempt obligations. taxpayers owning an interest in
a FASIT that holds tax-exempt obligations, and individuals otherwise eligible for the carned income tax credit. Such prospective
purchasers should consult their tax advisors as to the consequences of investing in the Bonds.

TAX TREATMENT OF ORIGINAL ISSUE DISCOUNT AND PREMI1UM BONDS

Discount Bonds. . . Some of the Bonds m ay be offered at initial offering prices which are less than the stated redem ption prices
at maturity of such Bonds. 1f a substantia | amount of any maturity of the Bonds is so Id to members of the public (which for this
purpose excludes bond houses, brokers and sim ilar persons or entities acting in the capac ity of wholesalers or underwriters) at
such initial offering price, an initial owner who purchases the Bonds of that m aturity (the “Discount Bonds™) will be considered
to have “original issue discount” for federa | income tax purpases equal to the differe nce between (a) the stated redemption price
payable at the m aturity of such Discount Bond and (b) the initial offering price to the public of such  Discount Bond. Under
existing law, such original issue discount will be treated for  federal income tax purposes as additional interest on a Bond and
such initial owner will be entitled to exclude from  gross incom e for federal incom e tax purposes that portion of such original
issue discount deemed to be earned (as di scussed below) during the period while such Discount Bond continues to be owned by
such initial owner. Except as otherwise provided herein, the discussion regarding interest on the Bonds under the caption “TAX
EXEMPTION" generally applies to original issue discount deemed to be eamed on  a Discount Bond while held by an owner
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who has purchased such Bond at the initial offering price in the initial public offering of the Bonds and that discussion should be
considered in connection with this portion of the Official Statement.

In the event of a redemption, sale, or other taxable dispositi on of a Discount Bond prior to its stated maturity , however, any
amount realized by such initial owner in excess of the basis of such Discount Bond in the hands of such owner (increased to
reflect the portion of the original issue discount deemed to have been earned while such Discount Bond continues to be held by
such initial owner} will be includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes.

Because original issue discount on a Discount Bond will be treated  for federal income tax purposes as interest on a Bond, such
original issue discount must be taken into account for certain fe deral income tax purposes as it is deem ed to be carned even
though there will not be a corresponding cash  payment. Corporations that purchase Discount Bonds m ust 1ake into account
original issue discount as it is deemed to  be earned for purposes of determining alte mative minimum tax. Other owners of a
Discount Bond m ay be required to take into account such original issue discount as it is deem edto be earned for purposes of
determining certain collateral federal tax consequences of owning a Bond. See “T AX EXEMPTION" for a discussion regarding
the alternative minimum taxable income consequences for corporations and for a reference 1o collateral federal tax consequences
for certain other owners.

The characterization of original issue discount as interest is  for federal income tax purposes only and does ot otherwise affe ct
the rights or obligations of the owner of a Discount Bond or of the City . The portion of the principal of a Discount Bond
representing original issue discount is pay able upon the maturity or carlier redemption of such Bond to the registered owner of
the Discount Bond at that time.

Under special tax accounting rules prescribed by existing law, a portion of the original issue discount on each Discount Bond i s
deemed to be earned each day . The portion of the original issu e discount deemed to be earned each day is determined under an
actuarial method of accrual, using the yield to maturity as the constant interest rate and semi-annual compounding.

The federal income tax consequences of the purchase, ownership, redemption, sale or other disposition of Discount Bonds by an
owner that did not purchase such  Bonds in the initial public offering and at the initial offering price m ay be determ ined
according to rules which differ from those described above. All prospective purchaser s of Discount Bonds should consult their
tax advisors with respect to the determ  ination for federal, s tate and local incom e tax purposes of interest and original  issue
discount accrued upon redemption, sale or othe r disposition of such Discount Bonds and w ith respect to the federal, state, loca |
and foreign tax consequences of the purchase, ownership, redemption, sale or other disposition of such Discount Bonds.

Premium Bonds. . . Some of the Bonds m ay be offered at initial offering prices which exceed the stated redem ption prices
payable at the maturity of such Bonds. If a substantial amount of any maturity of the Bonds is sold to members of the public
(which for this purpose excludes bond houses, brokers and sim ilar persons or entities ac ting in the capacity of wholesalers or
undenwriters) at such initial offering price, each of the Bonds of such maturity (“Premium Bonds”) will be considered for federal
income tax purposes to have "bond premium” equal to the amount of such excess. The basis for federal income tax purposes of a
Premium Bond in the hands of an initial pur chaser who purchases such Bond in the in itial offering m ust be reduced each y ear
and upon the sale or other taxable disposition of the Bond by the amount of amortizable bond premium. This reduction in basis
will increase the am ount of any gain (or decrease the amount of any loss) recognized for federal incom e 1ax purposes upon the
sale or other taxable disposition of a Prem ium Bond by the initial purchaser. Generally, no corresponding deduction is allowed
for federal income tax purposes. for the reduction in basi s resulting from amortizable bond premium. The amount of bond
premium on a Premium Bond which is amortizable each year (or shorter period in the event of a sale or disposition of a Prem ium
Bond) is determ ined under special tax accounting rules which use a constant ¥ ield throughout the term of the Prein ium Bond
based on the initial purchaser’s original basis in such Bond .

The federal income fax consequences of th e purchase, ownership, redemption, sale or other disposition by an owner of Bonds
that are not purchased in the initial offering or which are purch  ased at an am ount representing a price other than the initial
offering prices for the Bonds of the sam ¢ maturity may be determined according to rules wh ich differ from those described
above. Moreover, all prospective purchasers of Bonds should consult their tax advisors with respect to the federal, state, local
and foreign tax consequences of the purchase, ownership, sedemption, sale or other disposition of Premium Bonds.

QUALIFIED TAX-EXEMPT OBLIGATIONS

Section 265(a) of the Code provides, in general, that interest expenses incurred to acquire or carry tax-exempt obligations are not
deductible from the gross incom e of the holder. For certain holders that are ** financial institutions™ within the m eaning of such
section, complete disallowance of such expense would apply to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1986, with respect to
tax-exempt obligations acquired after August 7, 1986. Section 265(b) of the Code provides an exception to this rule for intere st
expense incurred by financial institutions to carry tax-exempt obligations {other than certain private activity bonds) which ar e
designated by an issuer as “qualified tax-ex empt obligations.” An issuer may only designatc an issue as an issue of “ qualified
tax-exempt obligations” where less than $10 m illion of tax-exempt obligations are issued by the issuer during the calendar y ear
in which the issue so designated is issued.

The City will designate the Bonds as “qualified tax-exempt obligations.” Further, the City will represent that it has or will take
such action necessary for the Bonds to constitute “qualified tax-exempt obligations.”

Notwithstanding the designation of the Bonds as “qualified tax-ex empt obligations,” financial institutions acquiring the Bonds
will be subject to a twenty percent (20%) disallowance of interest expenses allocable 1o the Bonds.
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FEDERAL INCOME TAX ACCOUNTING TREATMENT OF ORIGINAL
ISSUE DISCOUNT AND PREMIUM OBLIGATIONS

DISCOUNT CERTIFICATES . . . Som e of the Certificates m ay be offered at an initial offering price which is less than the stated
redemption price at m aturity of such Certificates. If the initia 1 offering prices of the Certifi cates are lower than the state d
redemption price pay able at m aturity, the Certificates of that m aturity (the "Discount Certificat es") will be considered to hav e
"original issue discount” for federal incom e tax purposes. An initial owner who purchases a Discount Certificate  in the initial
public offering of the Certificate at such an initial  offering price will acquire such Discount Certificate  with original issue
discount equal to the difference between (a) the stated redemption price payable at the maturity of such Discount Certificate and
(b} the initial offering price to the public of such Discount Cer tificate. Under existing law, such original issue discount wi 11 be
treated for federal incom e tax purposes as additional interest on an Certificate and such initial owner will be entitled to exclude
from gross income for federal income tax purposes that portion of such original issue discount deemed to be earned (as discussed
below) during the period while such Discount Certificate  continues to be owned by such in itial owner. Exceptas otherwise
provided herein, the discussion regarding interest on the Certificates under the caption "TAX EXEMPTION" generally applies to
original issue discount deemed to be earned on a Discount Certificates while held by an owner who has purchased such
Certificates at the initial offering price in the initial public offering of the Certificates and that discussion should be considered in
connection with this portion of the Official Statement.

In the event of a redemption, sale, or othe r taxable disposition of a Discount Certificate prior to its stated maturity, however, any
amount realized by such initial owner in exce ss of the basis of such Discount Certificates in the hands of such owner (increased
to reflect the portion of the original issue discount deem ed to have been earned while such Discount Certificate continues to be
held by such initial owner) will be includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes.

Because original issue discount on a Discount Certificate  will be treated for federal incom e tax purposes as interest on an
Certificate, such original issue discount m ust be taken into account for certain federal incom e tax purposes as it is deem ed to be
eamed even though there will not be a comresponding cash payment. Owners of a Discount Certificate may be required to take
into account original issue discount as it is deemed to be earned for purposes of  determining certain collateral federal tax
consequences of owning a Certificate. S ee "TAX MATTERS” for a reference to collateral federal tax consequences for certain
owners.

The characterization of original issue discount as interest is for federal income tax purposes only and does not otherwise affe ct
the rights or obligations of the owner of a Discount Certificate or of the City . The portion of the principal of a  Discount
Certificate representing original issue discount is pay able upon the maturity or earlier redemption of such Certificate  to the
registered owner of the Discount Certificate at that time.

Under special tax accounting rules prescribed by  existing la w. a portion of the original issue discount on each Discount
Certificate is deem ed to be eamned each day . The portion of the or  iginal issue discount deem ed to be camned each  day is
determined under an actuarial m ethod of accrual, using the y  ield to m aturity as the constant interest rate and semi-annual
compounding.

The federal income tax consequences of the purchase, ownership, redemption, sale or other disposition of Discount Certificate by
an owner that did not purchase such Cer tificate in the initial public offering and at the initial offering price m ay be determ ined
according to rules which differ from those de scribed above. All prospective purchaser s of Discount Certificate should consult
their tax advisors with respect to the determ ination for federal, state and local income tax purposes of interest and original issue
discount accrued upon redem ption, sale or othe r disposition of such Discount Certificates and with respect to the federal, stat e,
local and foreign tax consequencesof th e purchase, ownership, redemption, sale  or other disposition of such Discount
Certificates.

PREMIUM CERTIFICATES . . . Some of the Certificates m ay be offered at an initial offering price which exceeds the stated
redemption price payable at the maturity of such Certificates. If any of the Certificates of such maturities are sold to members of
the public (which for this purpose exclude s bond houses, brokers and similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of
wholesalers or underwriters} at such initial offering prices, each of the Certificates of such m aturities ("Premium Certificates")
will be considered for federal incom e tax purpeses to have "bond prem ium" equal to the am ount of such excess. The basis for
federal income tax purposes of a Premium  in the hands of an initial purchaser who purchases such Cenrtificate in the initial
offering must be reduced each year and upon the sale or other taxable disposition of the Certificate by the amount of amortizable
bond premium. This reduction in basis will increase the am ount of any gain {or decrease the amount of any loss) recognized for
federal incom e tax purposes upon the sale or othe  r taxable disposition ofa  Premium Centificate by the initial purchaser,
Generally, no corresponding deduction is allo wed for federal incom e tax purposes, fo r the reduction in basis resylting from
amortizable bond premium. The amount of bond premium on a Premium Certificate which is amortizable each year (or shorter
period in the event of a sale or disposition of a Premium Certificate} is determined under special tax accounting rules which use a
constant yield throughout the term of the Premium Centificate based on the initial purchaser’s original basis in such Certificate .
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The federal income tax consequences of  the purchase, ownership, redemption, sale  or other disposition by  an owner of
Certificates that are not purchased in th e initial offering or which are purchased at an amount representing a price other than the
initial offering prices for the Certificates of the sam ¢ maturity may be determ ined according to rules which differ from those
described above. Moreover, all prospective  purchasers of Certificates should consult  their tax advisors with respectto  the
federal, state, local and foreign tax conse quences of the purchase, ownership, redemption, sale or other disposition of Premium
Certificates.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION

In the Ordinance, the City has m ade the following agreem ent fo r the benefit of the helders and beneficial owners of the
Certificates. The City is required to obs erve the agreement for so long as it remain s obligated to advance fundsto  pay the
Certificates. Under the agreement, the City will be obligated to provide certain updated financial information and operating data
annually, and timely notice of specified m aterial events, to the Municipal Securities Rulem aking Board (the "MSRB") through
its Electronic Municipal Market Access System.

ANNUAL REPORTS . . . The City will provide certain updated financial in formation and operating data which is custom  arily
prepared by the City andis publicly available to the MS RB on an annual basis.  The information to be updated includes
quantitative financial inform ation and operating data with respect to the City  ofthe general ty pe included in this Official
Statement under Tables numbered 1 through 6 and 8 through 15and  in Appendix B to the extent that such information and
financial statements are cus tomarily prepared by the City and is publicly available (currently , information that is custom arily
prepared by the City and is publicly available consists of the City ‘s annual audited financial statements and annual property tax
reports). The City will update and provide this information within six months after the end of each fiscal year.

The financial information and operating data  to be provided may be set forth in fu Il in one or more documents or may  be
included by specific reference to any document available to the public on the MSRB’s Internet Web site or filed with the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC™), as permitied by the Rule. The updated information will include audited
financial statements, if the City commissions an audit and it is completed by the required time. If audited financial statements are
not available by the required time, the City will provide unaudite d financial inform ation of the ty pe described in the precedin g
paragraph by the required time and audited fi nancial statements when and if such audited financial statements become available.
Any such financial statem ents will be pr epared in accordance with the accounting prin ciples described in Appendix B or such
other accounting principles as the City may be required to employ from time to time pursuant to State law ot regulation.

The City’s current fiscal year end is September 30. Accordingly, the City must provide updated information by March 31 in each
year following the end of its fiscal year, unless the City changes its fiscal year. 1f the City changes its fiscal year, it will notify
the MSRB of the change prior to the next date by which the C ity otherwise would be required to provide financial information
and operaling data.

NOTICE OF CERTAIN EVENTS . . . The City will also provide timely notices of certain events to the MSRB. The City will provide
notice of any of the following events with respect to the Certificates to the MSRB in a tim ely manner (but not in excess of ten
business day s afler the occurrence of the event): (1) principal and interest pay ment delinque neies: (2) non-pay ment related
defaults, if m aterial; (3) unscheduled draws on debt service re serves reflecting financial diffi culties; (4) unscheduled draws on
credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties: (5) substitu tion of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to p erform:
(6) adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Se rvice of proposed or final determ inations of taxability, Notices
of Proposed Issue {IRS Form 5701-TEB), or other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax-exempt status of the
Certificates, or other m aterial events affecting the tax s tatus of the Certificates; (7) m odifications to rights of holders of the
Certificates, if material; {8) Bond calls, ifm aterial, and tende r offers; (9) defeasances; (10) release, substitution, or sale of
property securing repay ment of the Certificates , if m aterial; (11) rating changes ; (12) bankruptcy , insolvency, receivership, or
similar event of the City, which shall occur as described below; (13) the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition
involving the City or the sale of all or substantially all of its assets, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into of
a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the term  ination of a definitive agreem ent relating to any such actions,
other than pursuant to its terms, if material; and (14) appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of nam ¢ of a
trustee, if m aterial. In addition, the City  will provide tim ely notice of any failure by the City to provide annual financial
information in accordance with their agreernent described above under "Annual Reports”.

For these purposes. any event described in (12) in the im mediately preceding paragraph is considered to occur when any of the
following occur: the appointm ent of a receiver, fiscal agent, or similar officer for the City in a proceeding under the United
States Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state  or federal law in which a court or governm  ental authority has
assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or busin ess of the City , or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by
leaving the existing governing body and officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a cour t or
governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a pl an of reorganization, arrangement, or liquidation by a court or
governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the City.

AVAILABILITY OF INFORMATION . .. In connection with its continuing disclosu  re agreement entered into with respect to the
Certificates, the City will file all required inform ation and documentation with the MS RB in electronic form at in accordance
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with MSRB guidelines. Accessto such fili  ngs will be provided, without charge  to the general public, by  the MSRB at
www.emma.mstb.org .

LIMITATIONS AND AMENDMENTS . . . The City has agreed to update information and to provide notices of material events only as
described above. The City  has not agreed to provide otherin  formation that may be relevant or materialtoa  complete
presentation of its financial results of operations, condition, or prospects or agreed 10 update any information that is provid ed,
except as described above. The City  makes no representation or warranty concerning such information or concerning its
usefulness to a decision to invest in or sell Certificates at any future date. The City disclaims any contractual or tort liability for
damages res ulting in whole or in part from  any breach of its continuing dis closure agreement or from any s tatement m ade
pursuant to its agreement, although holders of Obligations may seck a writ of mandamus to compel the City to comply with its
agreement.

The City may amend its continuing disclosure agreem ent from time to time to adapt to changed circum stances that arise from a
change in legal requirements, a change in law. or a change in the identity , nature, status, or type of operations of the City , if (i)
the agreement, as amended, would have permitted an underwriter to purchase or sell Certificates in the offering described herein
in compliance with the Rule, taking into account any amendments or interpre tations of the Rule to the date of such amendment,
as well as such changed circumstances, and (i) either (a) the holders of a major ity in apgregate principal amount of the
outstanding Certificates consent to the am endment or (b) any person unaffiliated with the City (such as nationally recognized
bond counsel) determines that the amendment will not materially impair the interests of the holders and beneficial owners of th e
Certificates. The City may also amend or repeal the provis ions of this continuing disclosure ag reement if the S EC amends or
repeals the applicable provisions of the Rule or a court of fi nal jurisdiction enters judgment that such provisions of the Rule are
invalid, but only if and to the extent that the provisions of this sentence would not prevent an underwriter from lawfully
purchasing or selling Certificates in the primary offering of the Certificates. If the City so amends the agreement, it has agreed
to include with the next financial inform ation and operating data provided in accordance with its agreem ent described above
under "Annual Reports” an explanation, in narrative form, of the r easons for the amendment and of the impact of any change in
the type of financial information and operating data so provided.

COMPLIANCE WITH PRIOR UNDERTAKINGS . . . During the last five y ears, the City has complied in all material respects with all
continuing disclosure agreem ents made by it in accordance with  the Rule. Updated unaudited financial inform  ation of the
general type included in Appendix B has, in cach of the last five y ears, been timely filed in the form of updates to certain tables
containing similar information. This info rmation has been subsequently amended when the City s audited financial statem ents
have become available. The City s 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, and 2010 audited financial statements release dates were
January 29, 2007, January 9, 2008, February 25, 2009, February 16, 2010. April 19. 2010. and August 22, 2011 respectively
The City has implemented several administ rative changes to increase the efficiency of its annual reporting procedures and to
ensure timely preparation of its annual audited financial statements,

OTHER INFORMATION
RATINGS

The Certificates and the presently outstanding tax supported debt of the City is rated *Aa3" by Moody's and "A" by S&P. An
explanation of the significance of such ratings may be obtaine d from the companies fumnishing the ratings. The ratings reflect
only the respective views of such organizations and the City makes no representation as to the appropriateness of the ratings,
There is no assurance that such ratings will continue for any given period of tim e or that they will not be revised downward or
withdrawn entirely by either or both of such rating companies, if in the judgment of either or both companies, circumstances so
warrant. Any such downward revision or withdrawal of suchra  tings. or either of them, may have an advers ¢ effect on the
market price of the Certificates.

LITIGATION

1t is the opinion of the City Attorney and City Staff that there is no pending litigation against the City that would have a material
adverse financial impact upon the City or its operations.

REGISTRATION AND QUALIFICATION OF CERTIFICATES FOR SALE

The sale of the Certificates has not been registered under th e United States Federal Securitie s Actof 1933, as am ended, in
reliance upon the exemption provided thereunder by  Section 3(a)(2 ); and the Certificates have not  been qualified under the
Securities Act of Texas in reliance upon various exemptions contained therein: nor have the Certificates been qualified under the
securities acts of any jurisdiction. The City assumes no res ponsibility for qualification of the Certificates under the securities
laws of any jurisdiction in which the Certificates may be sold, assigned. pledged. hy pothecated. or otherwise transferred. This
disclaimer of responsibility for qualification for  sale or other disposition of the Certificates  shall not be construed as an
interpretation of any kind with regard to the availability of any exemption from securities registration provisions.

i4



LEGAL INVESTMENTS AND ELIGIBILITY TO SECURE PUBLIC FUNDS IN TEXAS

Under the Texas Public Security Procedures Act (Texas Government Code, Chapter  1201), the Certificates are (1) negotiable
instruments, (2) investment securities to which Chapter 8 of the Texas Business and Commerce Cede applies, and (3) legal and
authorized investments for (A) an insurance company. (B) a fiduciary or trustee, (C) a sinking fund of a municipality or other
political subdivision or public agency of the State of Texas. The Certificates are eligible to secure deposits of any public funds of
the State of Texas, its agencies and political subdivisions, and are legal security for those deposits to the extent of their m arket
value. For political subdivisions in Texas which have adopted investment policies and guidelines in accordan ce with the Public
Funds Investment Act (Texas Government Code, chapter 2256), the Certificates may have to be assigned a rating of not less than
“A” or itsequivalent as to investm ent quality by a national rati ng agency before such cbligations are eligible investments for
sinking funds and other public funds. In addition. various provisions of the Texas Finance Code provide that, subject to a prudent
investor standard, the Certificates are legal investments for state banks, savings banks, trust companies with at least $1 million of
capital, and savings and loan asseciations. No review has been made of the laws in  other $ tates to determ ine whether the
Certificates are legal investments for various institutions in those states.

The City has made ne investigation of other laws, rules, regulations or investment criteria which might apply to such institutions
or entities or which m ight limit the suitability of the Certificates for any of the foregeing purposes or lim it the authority of such
institutions or entities to purchase or invest in the Certificates for such purposes. Th e City has made no review of the laws in
other states to determine whether the Certificates are legal investment for various institutions in those states.

LEGAL MATTERS

The delivery of the Certificates is subj ect to 1) the unqualified approving  legal opinion of the Atterney  General of Texas
approving the Initial Certificate and to the effect that the Certificates are valid and legally binding obligations of the City , 2) the
approving legal opinion of Bond Counsel, to like effect; and 3) th e approving legal epinicn of Special Tax Counsel to the effec t
that the interest on the Certificates will be excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103(a) of
the Code, subject to the matters described under "Tax Maiters” herein. The form of Bend and Special Tax Counsels® opinions are
attached hereto in Appendix C. The custom ary closing papers, including a certificate to the effect that no litigation of any nature
has been filed or is then pending to restrain the issuance and  delivery of the Certificates, or which would affect the provisic n
made for their pay ment or security , or in any manner questioning the validity of the Certificates will also be furnished. Bond
Counsel was not requested to participate, and did not take part. in the preparation of the Notice of Sale and Bidding Instructi ons,
the Official Bid Form or the Official Statem ent, and such fi rms have not assumed any responsibility with respect thereto or
undertaken independently to verify any of the informatien cont ained therein. except that, in its capacity as Bond Counsel, such
firm has reviewed the informatien describing the Certificates in the Official Statement to verify that such description conforms to
the provisions of the Ordinance. Special Tax Counsel was not requested to participate, and did not take part, in the preparation of
the Official Statement, and such firm has not assum ed any re sponsibility with respect thereto or undertaken independently to
verify any of the information contained therein, except that, in its capacity as Special Tax Couns el, such firm has reviewed th e
information under the captions "TAX MATTERS" in the Official Stat ement and such firm is of the opinion that the inform ation
relating to the Certificates and the legal issues contained under such captions is an accurate and fair description of the laws and
legal issues addressed therein and, with re spect to the Certificates, such information conforms to the Ordinance, The legal fees to
be paid Bond and Special Tax Counsel for se rvices rendered in connection with the issu ance of the Certificates is contingent on
the sale and delivery of the Certificates. The legal opinions  will accom pany the Certificates deposited with DTC er will be
printed on the Centificates in the event of the discontinuance of the Book-Entry-Only System.

Bond and Special Tax Counsel were engage d by, and only represent the City . The va rious legal opinions to be delivered
concurrently with the delivery of the Certificates express the professional judgment of the attorney s rendering the opinions as to
the legal issues explicitly addressed therein. In rendering a le gal opinion, the attorney does not become an insurer or guarantor of
the expression of professional judgment, of the transaction opi  ned upon, or of the future performance of  the parties to the
transaction, nor does the rendering of an opinion guarantee the outco me of any legal dispute that may arise out of the transaction
opined upon, or of the future performance of the parties to th e transaction. Nor does the rendering of an opinicn guarantee the
cutcome of any legal dispute that may arise out of the transaction.

AUTHENTICITY OF FINANCIAL DATA AND OTHER INFORMATION

The financial data and other information contained herein have been obtained from City records, audited financial statements and
other sources, which are believed to be reliable. There is no guarantee that any of the assumptions or estimates contained herein
will be realized. All of the sum maries of the statutes, documents and resclutions cent ained in this Official Statem ent are made
subject to all of the provisions of such  statutes. documents and resolutions. Thes e summaries do not purport to be complete
statements of such provisions and reference  is made to such documents for further information. Reference is m ade to original
documents in all respects.
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FINANCIAL ADVISOR

First Southwest Company is employed as Financial Advisor to the City in connection with the issuance of the Certificates. The
Financial Advisor's fee for services rendere d with respect to the sale of the Certif  icates is contingent upon the issuance and
delivery of the Certificates. First Sout hwest Company may submita bid for the Certificates, either independently oras a
member of a sy ndicate organized to submit a bid for the Certificates. F irst Southwest Company, in its capacity as Financial
Advisor, does not assum ¢ any responsibility for the information, covenants and representations ¢ ontained in any of the legal
documents with respect to the federal incom e tax s tatus of the Certificates , or the possible impact of any present, pending or
future actions taken by any legislative or judicial bodies.

The Financial Advisor to the City has provided the following senten ce for inclusion in this Official S tatement. The F inancial
Advisor has reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as part of, its responsibilities to the City
and., as applicable, to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but
the Financial Advisor does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.

INITIAL PURCHASER

After requesting com petitive bids for the Certificat es, the City accepted the bid of (the "Initial
Purchaser"}) to purchase the Certificates at the interest rates shown on the cover page hereof of the Official Statement at a price of
par plus a cash prem jum of § . The Initial Purchaser can  give no assurance that any trading m arket will be

developed for the Certificates afier their sale by the City to the Initial Purchaser. The City has no control over the price at which
the Certificates are subsequently sold a nd the initial y ield at which the Certificates will be priced and reoffered will be
established by and will be the responsibility of the Initial Purchaser.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

The s tatements contained in this Official S tatement, and in any other information provided by the City , that are not purely
historical, are forward-looking statements, including statements regarding the City 's expectations, hopes, intentions, or strategies
regarding the future. Readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. A 1l forward-looking statem ents
including in this Official S tatement are based on inform ation available to the City on the date hereof, and the City assumes no
obligation to update any such forward-looking statements. The City’s actual results could differ materially from those discussed
in such forward-looking statements.

The forward-looking statements included herein are necessarily based on various assum ptions and estimates and are inherently
subject to various risks and uncertaintie s, including risks and uncertainties relati ng to the possible invalidity of the underl ying
assurnptions and estimates and possible cha nges or developments in social, economic, business, industry , market, legal, and
regulatory circumstances and conditions and actions taken or omitted to be taken by third parties. including customers. suppliers.
business partners and competitors and legislative, judicial and other governm ental authorities and officials. Assum ptions related
to the foregoing involve judgments with respect to, among other things, future economic, competitive, and market conditions and
future business decisions, all of which are difficult or im possible to predict accurately and many of which are beyond the control
of the City . Any of such assum ptions could be inaccurate and, therefore, there can be no assurance that the forward-looking
statements included in this Official statement will prove to be accurate.
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CERTIFICATION OF THE QFFICIAL STATEMENT

At the time of payment for and delivery of the Certificates, the City will furnish a certificate, executed by proper officers, acting
in their official capacities, to the effect that to the best of their knowledge and belief: (a) the descriptions and statem ents of or
pertaining to the City centained in its Official Statement, a nd any addenda, supplement, or amendment thereto, on the date of

such Official Statement, on the date of s ale of the Certificates and the acceptance of the bes t bid therefor, and on the date o f the
delivery, were and are true and correct in allm  aterial res pects; (b) insofar as the City and its affairs. including its  financial
affairs, are concerned, such Official Statement did not and does not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact required to be s tated therein or neces sary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circum stances under
which they were made, not misleading; (c) insofar as the descriptions and statements, including financial data, of or pertaining to
entities. other than the City, and their activities contained in such Official Statem ent are concerned, such statem ents and dat a
have been obtained from sources which the City believes to be reliable and the City has no reason to believe that they are untrue
in any material respect; and (d) there has been no material adverse change in the financial condition of the City since the date of
the last audited financial statements of the City.

The Ordinance autherizing the issuance of the Certificates will also approve the form and content of this Official Statem ent, and
any addenda, supplement, or amendm ent thereto, and authorize its further use in the reoffering of the Certificates by the Initial
Purchaser.

MARCUS E. KNIGHT
Mayor
City of Lancaster, Texas
ATTEST:

DOLLE DOWNE
City Secretary
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LocATiON . .. The City of Lancaster is a growing community located in south central Da llas County approximately twelve miles
south of the downtown Dallas business district. The City is located near the m ajor intersections of Interstate Highways 35, 635 and
45, providing ready access to all parts of the Dallas-Fort Worth Metroplex.

PoPULATON . .. The City has grown steadily since the mid-1970's, when it was a small bedroom community.

Population history is as follows:

Year Population Year Population
1970 Census 10,612 1998 23,300
1980 Census 14,807 1999 24300
1990 Census 22,117 2000 Census 25.894
1991 22,189 2001 26,350
1992 22,877 2002 26,400
1993 22,877 2003 26,796
1986 20,750 2004 28,700
1987 20,850 2005 31,700
1988 23,000 2006 33,450
1989 23,000 2007 35,050
1994 22,300 2008 35,800
1995 22,300 2009 36,200
1996 23,000 2010 Census 36,361
1997 23,400 2011 36,390

EDUCATION. . . Educational facilities are primarily provided by the Lancaster Independent School District. The District is comprised
of a Developmental Center, five elementary , one intermediate, one junior high and one high school. All campuses in the Distric t are
accredited by the Southem Association of Colleges and Schools and the Texas Education Agency. The high school curriculum offers
sound basics for college preparation with  college credit available in senior-level  honors courses and features a strong vocatio nal
training program. Lancaster boasts a student-to-computer ratio of four-to-one, the lowest in the Dallas area and one of the low  est
nationwide. The District has been recognized nationally for its commitment to instructional technology.

Higher education facilities located within a 35-mile radius of the City include Southern Methodist University, the University of Texas
at Arlington, Texas Christian University . the University of No rth Texas at Dallas, Northwood University, and Cedar Valley Junior
College.

TRANSPORTATION . . . The City is bounded in the west by Interstate Highway 35 East, in the east by Interstate Highway 45, and in the
north by Interstate Highway 635 South, and is traversed by  State Highway 342. The City is served by the Lancaster Municipal
Airport, M-K-T Railroad, Southern Pacific  Railroad, two bus lines and five freight lines. The City is approxim ately 30 m iles
southeast of the Dallas-Fort Worth International Airport and 18 miles from Dallas Love Field.

RECREATION . . . Recreational facilities in the City are provided by four City parks covering 165 acres of land, one swim ming pool,
four lighted tennis courts, seven lighted  ball diamonds, one v outh center and several m ovie theaters. Country View Golf Course
offers a 175-acre public golf course.

GROWTH INDICES
Fiscal Building Permits"" Water
Year Population Number Value Customers
2006 33,450 830 119,006,275 10.655
2007 35,050 360 58,349,498 10,489
2008 35,800 119 64,790,861 10,718
2009 36.200 111 21,641,764 10,800
2010 36,361 1.416 35,734,783 11,715

(1) Sources: City of Lancaster, Planning Department.

EcoxoMy . .. The City has eight major industrial or commercial sites  totaling over 5,300 acres available for marketing to new
business and industry with all utilities available. There are four industrial parks totaling over 300 acres with all utilities  in place.
Lancaster Municipal Airport has undergone ma jor changes by adding to its capacity for general aviation and offering a natural
opportunity for freight-related indus tries. Additions includea 1,500 foot expansion to the runway  (lo a total of 6,500 feet),
taxiway, lighting and navigational directional beacon to existing facilities.

The City 15 primanly a suburban residential area with industry and manufacturing beco ming increasingly important to the local
economy.
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APPENDIX B

EXCERPTS FROM THE
CITY OF LANCASTER, TEXAS
ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT
For the Year Ended September 30, 2010
The information contained in this Appendix cons ists of excerpts from the City of Lancaster,
Texas Annual Financial Report for the Year Ended September 30, 2010, and is not intended

to be acom plete statement of the City's financial condition. Reference is made to the
complete Report for further information.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To Members of the City Council
and City Manager
City of Lancaster, Texas

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the govemmental activities,
business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund,
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Lancaster (the City) as of and for
the year ended September 30, 2010 which collectively comprise the City’s basic financlal
statements as listed In the table of contents. These financial stalements are the responsibility of
the City’s administration. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these basic financial
statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
basic financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures In the basic financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall basic financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the respective financial position of the government activities, business type activilies, the
aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund Information of the City as of September 30, 2010, and the respective changes in financial
position, where applicable, cash flows and the respective budgetary comparison for the General
Fund, for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated August
16, 2011, on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and our tests
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and
other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an
opinion on the internat control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral
part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be
considered in assessing the results of our audit.

AN INDEPENDENT WEAVER AND TIDWELL LLP DALLAS
MEMBER OF BAKER TIELY CERTHFIED PUBLIC ACGOUNTANTS AND CONSULTANTS 12221 MERIT DRIVE, SUITE 1400, DALLAS, TX 75251
INTERNATIONAL WAW WEAVERLLP.COM P:(972) 490 1870  F:(972) 702 8321



City of Lancaster
August 16, 2011

Page 2

The accompanying management's discussion and analysis, schedule of funding progress, and
budgetary comparison schedules on pages 3 through 11 and 47, 48,49, and 51, respectively, are
not a required part of the baslc financial statements but are supplementary information required by
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. We have applied certain limited procedures,
which consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods of measurement
and presentation of the required supplementary information. However, we did not audit the
information and express no opinion on it.

Our audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken
as a whole. The combining, individual non-major fund financial statements, and discretely
presented component units listed in the table of contents are presented for purposes of additional
analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements of the City. The combining
and individual non-major and discretely presented component unit fund financial statements have
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements
and, in our opinion, are faidy stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial
statements taken as a whole.

Loaawon ard) Diducotl LLL.
WEAVER AND TIDWELL, L.L.P.

Dallas, Texas
August 16, 2011



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CITY OF LANCASTER, TEXAS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

The Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) section presents a narrative overview and
analysls of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2010. We
encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with the City's
financial statements, which follow this section.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

o/

The assets of the City exceeded its liabilities at the end of the fiscal year 2010, resulting
in $104,642,340 of net assets. Net assets assoclated with governmental activities are
approximately $58 million, or 56% of the fotal net assets of the City. Net assets
associated with business-type activities are approximately $47 million, or 44% of the
total net assets of the City. The largest portion of net assets consists of invested In
capital assets, net of related debt, which is approximately $80 million.

Unrestricted net assets, which may be used to meet the City's future obligations, consist
of $8 million, or 8% of the City's total net assets. Unrestricted net assets for
governmental activities are approximately $6 million, or 10% of total net assets for
governmental activities; unrestricted net assets for business activities are approximately
$2 million, or 4% of total net assets for business-type activities.

As of the close of fiscal year 2010, the Clty of Lancaster’s governmental funds reported
a combined ending fund balance of $25,735,296 an increase of $27,969,592 from the
prior year. A significant portion of the increase is in the capital projects fund, Bonds of
$34,995,000 were sold in fiscal year 2010 to pay for construction.

At the end of the current fiscal year, total fund balance for the general fund was
$3,757,580. This represents approximately 18% of general fund expenditures which is
more than the 15% required by the City's adopted fund balance policy. Of this amount,
85.40% is available for spending at the government's discretion (unreserved fund
balance).

The City's total capital assets net of accumulated depreciation increased by
approximately $9 million which is primarily attributed to additions to the construction of
Clty buildings and improvements.



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CITY OF LANCASTER, TEXAS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to the City of Lancaster's
basic financial statements. The Clty’s basic financial statements are comprised of three
components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3)
notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other supplementary information in
additlon to the basic financlal statements themselves.

Government-wide Flnancial Statements The government-wide financial statements are
designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the City of Lancaster finances, in a
manner similar {0 private-sector business.

The statement of net assets presents Information on all of the City of Lancaster's assets and
liabilities, with the difference between the two reported as net assefs. Over time, increases or
decreases in net assets may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the
City of Lancaster is improving or deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the City's net assets changed
during the most recent fiscal year. All of the current year's revenues and expenses are taken
into account regardless of when cash is received or paid. Thus, revenues and expenses are
reported in this statement for some items that will enly result in cash flows in future fiscal
periods, for example uncollected taxes and earned, but not used, vacation leave.

Both of the government—wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from
other functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user
fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental activifies of the City include
general administration, public safety, public works, drainage systems, library, human resources
and finance. The business-type activities of the City include water and sewer, airport
operations, refuse, and golf course operations.

The government-wide financial statements include the Economic Development Corporation and
the Recreational Development Corporation as part of its reporting entity as discretely presented
component units. Discrete presentation entails reporting component unit financial data in
columns separate from the financial data of the primary government. The Lancaster Economic
Development Corporation and the Lancaster Recreational Development Corporation are legally
separate entities.

The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 12 through 14 of this report.

Fund Financial Statements The fund financial statements provide detailed information about
the most significant funds — not the City as a whole. Some funds are required to be established
by state law and by bond covenants. - The City Council also establishes many other funds to
help it control and manage money for particular purposes or to show that it is meeting legal
responsibilities when using certain taxes, grants, or other money. The City’s two kinds of funds
- Governmental and Proprietary — utilize different accounting approaches.



MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Governmental Funds The majority of the City's basic services are reported in governmental
funds, which focus on how money flows Into and out of those funds and the balances left at
year-end that are available for spending. These funds are reported using an accounting method
identified as the modified accrual basls of accounting, which measures cash and all other
financial assets that can be readily converted to cash. The govemmental fund statements
provide a detailed short-term view of the City’s general government operations and the basic
services it provides. Governmental fund information helps you determine whether there are
more or fewer financial resources that can be spent in the near future to finance the City’s
programs.

By comparing information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented
for govemmental activities in the government-wide financial statements, readers may better
understand the long-term impact of the government's near-term financing decisions. The
relationships, or differences between governmental activities (reported in the Statement of Net
Assets and the Statement of Activities) and govemmental funds, are detailed in a reconciliation
following the fund financial statements.

Information is presented separately in the governmental funds balance sheet and in the
governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the
General Fund, HUD Fund, Debt Service Fund, and Capital Projects Fund, all of which are
considered to be major funds. Data from the other governmental funds are combined into a
single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of these non-major governmental
funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.

Proprletary Funds The City charges customers for the services it provides, whether to outside
customers or to other units within the City. These services are generally reported in proprietary
funds. Proprietary funds are reported in the same way that all activities are reported in the
Statement of Net Assets and the Statement of Activities. In fact, the City’s enterprise funds (a
component of proprietary funds) are identical to the business-type activities that are reported in
the government-wide statements but provide more detail and additional information, such as
cash flows, for proprietary funds.

The City of Lancaster maintains an Enterprise Fund to account for (1) water and sewer services
provided to the City's retail and wholesale customers, (2) trash collection and disposal services,
(3) operation of the City’s airport, and (4) operation of the City's golf course. All aclivities
associated with providing such services are accounted for in this fund, including administration,
operation, maintenance, debt service, capital improvements, billing and collection. The City’s
intent is that the cost of providing the services to the general public on a continuing basls is
financed through user charges in a manner similar to a private business enterprise.

The proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 19 through 21 of this report.
Notes to the Financlal Statements The notes provide additional information that is essential to

a full understanding of the data provided in the govermment-wide and fund financial statements.
The notes to the financial statements can be found on pages 22 through 48 of this report.
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Other Information In addition to the basic financial statement and accompanying notes, this
report also presents certain required supplementary information concerning the City's progress
in funding its obligations. Required supplementary information immediately follows the notes to
the financlal statements. Combining statements for non-major governmental funds and
component unit fund financial statements follow the section of required supplementary
information.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

As noted earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's
financial position. As of September 30, 2010, the City of Lancaster assets exceeded its
liabilities by $104,642,340.

The largest portion of the City's net assets, 86%, reflects Its investment in capital assets (e.g.,
land, building, equipment, improvements, construction in progress, and infrastructure), less any
debt used to acquire those assets that Is still outstanding. The Clty uses these capital assets to
provide services to citizens; consequently these assets are not available for future spending.
Although the City's investments in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it shouid be
noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since
the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

An additional portion of the City's net assets, 6%, represents resources that are subject to
external resfriction on how they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net
assets, $7,997,135 or 8%, may be used to meet the City's ongoing obligations to citizens and
creditors,

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS FOR GOVERNMENTAL AND BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES

Govemmental Business-iype Govemmental  Businessa-type

Activilies Activities Total Activities Activitles Total
2010 2010 2010 2009 2000 2000
Current and Olher Assels $ 43318778 $ 10048308 $ 553085145 § 15805224 § 16770058 & 31,584,283
Capilal Assols 89,407,068 47,685,560 147,083 548 84,214 821 43713430 137,928,261
Total Assets $ 142!?24i766 $ 57|733|926 ] 200|458‘891 $ 110!020!045 $ 59.492I489 5 169|512,534
Long-Term Liabfkties $ 80,508,810 0,468,374 § 90,035,193 $ 45441312 § 10,641,373 5 55882885
Othar Liabllitles 4 054 767 1,726,401 6,781,158 3,314,7e8 1,641,803 4,956 571
Total Uabllities $ 84621578 § 11194775 § 058163561 S 48756080 § 12183178 & 60,039,268
Net Assets:
Invested In Cepilal assels, net of
Related Debt $ 51,819877 $§ 239,436110 § 00264987 $ 40,388,087/ $ 33863811 $ 74,019,878

Restricted 222,762 6,187 456 8,390,218 820,279 8,060,825 8,680,104
Unrestricled 8,080,650 1,838 6586 7,887,135 20,277,818 7,696,877 27,873,208
Tolal Net Assets $ 58103186 § 46539161 § 104842340 5 81263665 § 47308313 8 108673278
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. Analysis of Clty’s Operations The following table provides a summary of the City's operations
for the year ended September 30, 2010. Overall, the City had a decrease in net assets of

$3,830,938.

REVENUES AND EXPENSES FOR GOVERNMENTAL AND BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES

REVENUES:.
Progream Revenues:
Charges for Sacvices
Operating Grant & Contribution
Capital Grants & Contributions
General Revenue
Texes & Fess
Others
Tolal Revenues

Program Expenses
General Gavernment

Public Safety
Public Works

Community Development and Recreation

Soclal angd Waelfare

Interesi and Fiscal Charges
Waler & Sewer

Reluse

Alrporl

Golf Course

Tolal Expenses

Increase (decrsase In nel assets
befora {ransfers)
Trensfers
Change in Net Aaseta
Nat Assala - Beginning
Priar Period Adjustmeant
Net Aasels - Baginning, as Restaled
Nel Assaels - Ending

Governmenial  Business-typa Governmente!  Businass-type
Activiliag Activitles Total Activities Acthvilies Total
2010 2010 2010 2008 2009 2000
$ 31980815 $ 12372728 § 16,571,343 3 3220244 § 12057176 & 16,188,416
8,817,871 382 800 9,200,471 8,424 486 30,885 8,456,181
1,866,380 505,264 2.431,744 1,384,805 530,710 1,915,605
16,566,343 - 16,566,343 18,277,229 o 19,277,220
1,410,397 40,080 1,450 457 1,637,715 52,279 1,580,988
33,658,608 14,360,762 48,220,358 33,863,569 13,570,851 47,424 420
4,603,048 - 4,803,848 3,686 422 - 3,680,422
14,824,005 - 14,629,005 14,487,808 . 14,487 596
5,678,978 - 65,678,678 4,902,806 - 4,002 806
1,317,629 - 1,317,628 1,508,422 - 1,508,422
8.689,376 9,500,376 8,408,435 - 9,496,435
2,880,786 2,850,760 2,053,808 - 2,053,606
- 10,082,971 10,082,971 - 9,621,112 9,621,112
- 1,789,530 1,760,630 - 135,278 136,276
- 810,211 810,211 - 1,247,727 1,247,727
- 86,986 56 968 - 923,023 923,025
37,908,598 12,749,678 50,650,277 35,136,687 11,925,038 47,064,625
(4,049,893) 1,811,074 {2,438,819) {1,283,018) 1,842,613 356,795
2,381,208 {2,381,238) - 1,327,238 {1,327,238) -
{1,666, 757 (770,182} (2,438,019) 44,218 36,577 380,795
61,263,066 47,300,313 108,573,276 81,219,747 48,893,738 108,213,463
{1.492,019) - {1.482,019) - - .
68,771,848 47,300,313 107,081,286 681,219.747 48,993,736 108,213 483

$ 68,103,183 ! 46639161 & 104642340 $ 61 283965 $ 47,308,313 §1M|573!ﬂ6
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F!nancial Analysis of the Government's Funds
Governmental Funds

The focus of the Cily's governmenta! funds is to provide information on near-term inflows,
oufflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the
City's financing requirements. In particular, unreserved fund balance may serve as a useful
measure of government's net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.

As of the end of the current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported a combined
ending fund balance of $25,735,296, an increase of $27,968,592 from the prior year. This
amount includes fund balance reserved for debt service of $1,081,805 and reserved for
inventory and prepaid items of $690,548. The net unreserved fund balance was $23,796,351,
an increase of $26,784,821 from prior year. The majorify of this increase was due to the sale of
bonds in fiscal year 2010 to pay for construction.

In the General Fund, the original budget projected a $44,241 increase in fund balance this fiscal
year, however the actual decrease was $150,748. The largest area of decrease was in building
permit feas which is related to the national housing crisis and recession.

The HUD Fund has a total fund balance of $960,264 an increase of $76,186 from the prior year.
The budget includes a planned reduction in housing assistance based on a decrease in
revenues frorm HUD due to overall economic conditions.

Proprietary Funds The City's proprietary fund statements provide detail on the City's individual
business-like activities.

Unrestricted net assets of the proprietary funds at the end of the year were $1,936,585. The
total decrease in net assets was $0.8 million from the prior year.
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Capital Assets The City's investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type
activities as of September 30, 2010, amount to $147,093,546 (net of accumulated depreciation).
This investment in capital assets includes iand, buildings, park facilities, roads, bridges and
water and sewer lines.

Governmental Business-Type
Activitles Activities Totals
2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010
Land $11990,383 § 12,337,857 $§ 35968261 $ 4,879,781 $ 15585544 § 17,217,638
Buildings 22,769,952 24,487,196 4 867 634 4,941,048 27,637,588 29,428,244
Equipment 14,808,568 15,425,046 2,658,003 2,803,307 17,266,671 18,229,263
Conslruction In Progress 4,037,011 3,779,844 1,945 797 4,562,786 5,982,806 8,342,610
Other Structures - - 936,717 951,822 926,717 951,622
Improvements 1,660,169 1,860,168 54,967,088 55,664,932 56,627,257 67,325,101
Streets and Bridges 77,348,463 83,660,110 - - 77,346,483 83,850,110
Drainage 7319618 7,319,619 - - 7,310819 7,319,619
Runways & Taxiways - - 2,796,087 3,410,079 2,796,087 3,410,079
Accumulgled Depreciation __(45 626,344) _ (49.482,755) (28,054,157)  (20,527,976)  (73,580,501)  (78,880,730)
Total 94,214,821 § 99407086 § 43,713,430 47,685,560 $ 137,026,251 147,053,546

Long-term Debt At the end of the current fiscal year, the City had total bonds outstanding of
$86,455,002. Of this amount $86,005,002 is tax supported debt. The remainder of the City's
debt represents bonds secured solely by specified revenue sources (i.e., revenue bonds).

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Totals

2009 2010 2008 2010 2009 2010

General Obligation Bonds  § 30,181,631 $ 652,441531 § 6,453471 $ 5648471 $ 38335002 $ 58,090,002
Cerificates of Obligation 13,710,000 25,345,000 2,770,000 2,570,000 16,480,000 27,915,000

Notes payable - 417.356 152 560 417,356 152,560
Revenue Bonds - - 530,000 450,000 530,000 450,000
Capltal Leases 715,197 488,961 452 545 447600 1,167,742 948,661
Total $44|606723 § 78,285,492 510,3231372 $ 0268631 3 54930100 $ 87,554,123

The City’s total long-term debt increased by $32,624,023, during the current fiscal year.

o The City has an A2 rating from Moody's Investors Service and an A rating from Standard
and Poor's.



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CITY OF LANCASTER, TEXAS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

Long-term Debt - continued

o The Cily issued $22,995,000 General Obligation Bonds, Taxable Series 2010A (Build
America Bonds — Direct Payment) and $12,000,000 Tax and Waterworks and Sewer
System Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Taxable Series 2010A (Build
America Bonds — Direct Payment) on March 15, 2010 and payable on February 15 and
August 15 of each year, commencing on February 15, 2011, until maturity or prior
redemption.

Proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be used for (i) constructing and equipping
permanent public improvements, and (ii) to pay the costs assaociated with the issuance of

the Bonds.

Proceeds from the sale of the Cerfificates wili be used for: (a) improvements to the
Lancaster Municipai airport; (b} acquisition of land at the south end of the runway for the
expansion of the Lancaster Municipal Airport; (c) City-wide park design, renovations,
improvements and equipping of such parks; (d) City-wide hike and bike traii deslgn and
construction, and equipping of such ftrails; (¢) City-wide sidewalk design and
construction; (f) Design, construction and the equipping thereof of a retaining wali in the
Westwood neighborhood, Including drainage improvements incidental thereto; {g)
Design of the Nokomis Road Bridge at Ten Mile Creek; (h) Street and alley design,
improvements and the equipping thereof, including drainage improvements Incidental
thereto, (i) Acquisition of the right-of-way for Longhorn Drive to extend it to the i-20
Service Road; (j) Design, renovation and improvements to Historic Town Square and the
Municipal Court, including the beautification, Improvements, landscaping, the addition of
sidewalks and parking lots, infrastructure improvements, and the equipping thereof; (k)
Purchase of police cars and fleet trucks; and (l) payment for professional services
rendered in connection with the above listed projects.

The City has designated all of each series of the Bonds and Cedificates as “Build
America Bonds® under and pursuant to the Federal American Recovery and
Reinvestment Act of 2009, and in accordance with the guidance included in the Internal
Revenue Service's Notice 2009-28, effective as of April 3, 2009, and has irrevocably
elected to receive directly from the United States Department of the Treasury direct
subsidy payments equal to 35% of the interest payable by the City.

Economic Factor and Next Year's Budgets and Rates

In the fiscal year 2011 budget, general fund revenues are budgeted to decrease by 4.0% from
the 2010 budget year. This decrease is mostly attributed to a decrease in fines and forfeitures
and licenses and permits due to current economic conditions.

Property taxes make up about 46% of budgeted revenues and sales tax make up about 20% of
budgeted revenues,

10
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Request for Information

For additional information please contact Director of Finance, Sheree Haynes, at 972-218-1333
or Finance Department, City of Lancaster, Texas, P.O. Box 940 Lancaster, TX 75148, email
shaynes@lancaster-tx.com.
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ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables (net of allowance)
Notes
Deilnquent taxes
Accounts
Sales tax
Fines
Due from othar govemments
Due from component unit
Prepald items
inventory
Debt lssuance costs
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivaients
Capltai assets:
Land and construction in progress
Cther capitai assets,
net of accumulated depreciation

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Liabliities:

Accounts and contracts payable
Accrued liabiilties
Accrued interest
Due to primary governmenl
Deposits
Deferred Revenue
Noncurrent llabitfes:
Cua within one year
Due in more than one year

Totai Llabliities

Net Assats:
invested in capitai assets,
net of related debt
Reastricted for debt service
Restricted for capitat
Unrestricted

Totai Net Assets

The Notes to Financial Statements are
an |ntegral part of these statements.

CITY OF LANCASTER

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2010
Primary Government Component Unlits
Lancaster Lancaster
Economic Recreational
Governmental  Buslness-lype Development Development
Actlvities Activities Total Corporation Corporation
$ 25,583,638 $ 7228489 $ 32812105 $ 2339745 $ 25,422
12,405,000 5 12,405,000 . -
1,181,333 “ 1,181,333 - -
1,045,301 1,737,883 2,783,184 - 26
781,294 - 78t,204 149,996 312,518
113,580 - 113,580 - -
13,082 - 13,082 - -
528,753 - 528,763 - -
686,637 - 688,637 - -
391 48,175 50,086 - -
974,242 282,282 1,256,524 - -

- 753,557 753,557 - -

18,117,701 9,442 547 25,560,248 100,378 989,18
83,200,285 36,243 0t3 121,633,258 - 12918,728
142,724,785 57,733,926 200,458,691 2,590,119 14,243,812
1,714,549 640,63 2,355,162 4,657 45634
699,862 278,597 978,450 7,549 78,250
1,099 766 53,634 1,163,400 14,381 50,398

- 5 s . 528,753

75,680 763,557 829,137 - -

485,000 - 465,000 - -
1,892,380 1,374,57t 3,266,951 115,000 515,000
78,674,439 8,093 803 86,768,242 2,655,000 9,120,000
84,621,578 11,184,775 95,816,351 2,796,587 10,338,035
51,819,877 38,435,t10 90,254,987 100,378 4,270,846

222,782 731,987 954,749 - -

- 5,435,469 5,435,469 . -
8,060,550 1,936,585 7,997,135 (306,846) {365,069)
$_66103,160  § 48530161  § 104642340 § (206468} _$ 3905777
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CITY OF LANCASTER
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

Program Revenues
Charges for  Opearating Grants Capital Grants
Functions/Programs Expenses Services and Contributiens _and Contrlbutions
Primary Govemment:
Govemmental activities:
Ganeral government $ 4,603,846 - $ - -
Public safety 14,829,006 1,759,747 - 59,316
Public works 5,678,976 920,381 - 898,883
Community development and recreation 1,317,628 518,507 3,234 208,18t
Soclal and welfare 8,589,376 - 8,814,837 -
interest and fiscal charges 2,880,768 - - -
Total govommental activitiea 37,909,599 3,198,615 8,817,871 1,866,390
Business-type activitiea:
Walter and sewer 10,082,971 10,924,181 - 565,364
Refuse 1,769,530 1,799,068 - -
Airport 810,211 576,949 382,600 -
Golf course 86,966 72,550 - -
Totat business-type activities 12,749,878 13,372,728 362,600 565,364
Total primary government $ 50,650,277 $ 16,571,343 § 9,200,471 2431,744
Component Units:
Lancaster Economic Development Corporation $ 4t082 $ - $ - $ -
Lancaster Recreational Development Corporation 2,988,063 480,677 22 996 -
$ 3399145 § 480677 § 22,99 § -
GENERAL REVENUES:
Taxes:
Property taxes
Seles taxes
Franchise laxes

Other Jocal taxes
interest on Investments
Misceilaneous

Transfers

Totai general revenues and transfers

Change in net assets
NET ASSETS (DEFICIT), beginning of year
PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT
NET ASSETS (DEFICIT), snd of year

The Notes to Financial Statements are
an integral part of these stalements,
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Net (Expense) Revenue and
Changes In Net Assots

Prdmary Government Component Units
Lancaster Lancastar
Economic Recreationat
Governmental Business-type Development Development
Activities Activities Total Corporation Corporation
$ (4603846) $ - $ (4603,8468) § - $ -
(13,009,942) - (13,000,942) - -
(3,859,732) - (3,859,732) - -
112,284 - 112,294 - -
215,261 - 215,261 - -
(2,880,768) - (2,880,768) - -
(24,0286,733) - (24,026,733) - S
- 1,406 554 1,408,554 - -
- 20,5638 20,638
- 149 338 149,338 - -
- (14,416) (14,416) o -
- 1,571,014 1,571,014 - -
$ (24,026,733) $ 1571014 3§ (22,485,719} § s § -
$ - $ - $ o $ (411,082) $ -
_ . . S (2,484 390)
$ o $ - $ - $ (411,082) $ (2,484,390)
12,194,286 - 12,194,286 - -
4,532,556 - 4,532,556 906,611 1,814,622
1,722,966 - 1,722,966 - -
116,535 - 116,535 - -
36,118 15,963 52,081 2,973 7
1,374,279 24,007 1,398,376 - 8,536
2,381,238 {2,381,2386) - S -
22,357,976 {2,341,176) 20,016,800 909,484 1,823,465
{1,668,757) {770,162) (2,438,919) 498,402 (860,925)
61,263,965 47,309,313 108,573,278 (704,870) 4,566,702
{1,492,019) . {1,492,018) . .

$ 58103189 $ 48,539,151 $ 104,642,340 $ (206,468) $ 3,905,777
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CITY OF LANCASTER
BALANCE SHEET —- GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2010
Ganeral
Capital Obligation Other Total
General HUD Projects Dsbt Service Governmental Governmantal
ASSETS Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds
Cash and cash equivalenis $ 3235t47 $ 10272865 § 200823800 % 1054451 § 204,184 $ 25,583,636
Recelvables (ne! of allowance .
for uncoliectibles):
Notes - - - 12,406,000 - 12,405,000
Delinquent taxes 906,504 - - 288,077 8,752 1,181,333
Accounts 458,952 - 382,800 - 205,749 1,046,301
Sales fax 781,204 - - - - 761,204
Fines 113,580 - - - - 113,680
Due from:
Other funds - - - - 38,061 38,051
Other governments 13,002 - - - - 13,082
Componen unit 528,753 - - - - 628,753
inventory, at cost kAR S . - - - 3,911
Prepald items 2,411 - - - 884,226 688,837
TOTAL ASSETS § 8,041,844 $ 1,027,265 § 20,445,200 $ 13,727,628 § 1,138,842 $ 42.380i588
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liablitos:
Accounts and contracts payable $ 620040 § 10627 $  1,017047 § - $ 86,835 $ 1,714,549
Accrued liabllitles 588,849 66,374 - - 54,638 800,882
Deposits 75,580 - - - . 75,580
Dua to:
Other funds - - - - 38,051 38,061
Deferred ravenue 999,685 - - 12,845,723 471,932 14,117 250
Totai llabi!itles 2,284,064 67,001 1,017,047 12,645,723 831,457 16,845,292
Fund balances:
Reserved for.
Debt service - - - 1,081,806 - 1,081,805
Inventory and prepald itemns 8,322 - - - 884,226 690,648
Gourt technology 35,871 - - - - 35,87
Wastood wall 30,000 - - - - 30,000
Unreserved, designated reported in:
General fund 100,721 - - - - t00,721
Unresarved and undesignated 3,664,868 980,264 19,428, 162 5 (178,741) 23,708 361
Tota! fund balances 3,757,680 960,264 19,428,162 1,081,805 507 485 25,735,266
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
FUND BALANCES $ 8041644 $ 1027285 § 20445209 § 13727528 & 1138942 §  42,3B0,686

The Notes to Financial Statements are
an Integral part of these statements.
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CITY OF LANCASTER

RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL

FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

Total fund balance-governmental funds

Amounts reported for govemmenta! activities in the statement of net asssts are
different because:

Casls associated with the issuance of govemmental long term debt are expensed when
incurred in the fund statements and are capitalized and amortized over the tife
of the debt in the government-wide statements.

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources
and therefore are not reported as assets in govemmental funds. Capital assets are

reported in the government-wide financial statements, net of accumulated depreciation.

interest payable on long term debt does not require current financiai resources,
therefore interest payable is not reported as a liability in the govemmental funds
balance sheet,

Revenues eamned but not available within sixty days of the year
end are not recognized as revenue on the fund financial statements.

Notes receivable are not measurable and available within sixty days of year end, and
therefore are entirely deferred In the fund financial statements.

Long-term liabillties, including bonds payable, are not due and payabie In the current period and

therefore are not reported in the fund financlal statements. Long-term liabiltles
at year-end consist of:

General obligation bonds
Cerlificates of obligation bonds
OPEB iiability

Premium payabie

Capital leagse

Compensated absences
Deferred loss on refunding

Total net assets - governmentai activitles

The Notes to Financial Stalements are
an Integral part of these stalements.
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$ 26,735,296

074,242

89,407,988

(1,099,786)

1,247,250

12,405,000

(52,441,531)
(25,345,000)
(23,320)
(291,946)
(498,981)
(2,733,874)

767,813

$ 58,103,180



CITY OF LANCASTER
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
[N FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

Capltal Obligetion Other Total
General HUD Projacts Debt Bervice Governmentst Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds
REVENUES:
Taxes and fees $ 18014367 § - $ - § 2555547 3 10688475 % 19,638,379
Licensas and permits . £02,040 . - - 305,005 807,946
Intergovemmental 205,738 8,733,102 808,681 1,133,669 200,500 11,070,885
Charges for services 518,420 - - - - 518,420
Fines and forfells 530,688 - 87,020 ' - - 806,897
Interest 7073 1,878 24,582 2,081 723 36,118
Miscollaneous 804 188 B1,575 - 10,102 31,5697 727 462
Total revenugs 18,780,682 8,816,368 700,262 3,701,578 1,705,300 33,704,108
EXPENDITURES:
Cuwrent.
General govemment 3,332,011 - - - - 3,332,021
Public salety 13,418,346 - 338 - 580,743 14,008,428
Pubtfic works 3,243,623 - - - 761,607 4,005,130
Community davelopment
and recreation 1,010,386 - - - 178,302 1,168,887
Sodlal and welfara - 0,598,376 - - - 8,580.375
Capltal outlay 3a0,0a7 78,794 7,337,728 - 449,903 8,226,662
Debt service:
Principal retiremanl 54,264 - - 1,281,236 25,000 1,370,400
Interest and fiscal charges - - 443 701 1,815,247 250388 2,384,088
Total expanditures 21,418,666 8,678,170 7,761,848 3,206,483 2,027,683 43,110,760
Excess (deficlency} of revenues
over (under) expenditures (2,635,984) 138,168 {7.081,658) 485 093 (322,383) {9,406,844)
Other financing sources (uses):
Operaling transfers in 2,485,236 - - - - 2,485,238
Operaling transfers out - (62,000} - - (42,000) (104,000)
Bonds lssued - - 34,005 000 - - 34,585,000
Total other financing
sources (uses) 2,485,236 {62,000) 34,886,000 - {42,000} 37,376,238
Net change in fund belances {150,748} 78,166 27,813,444 486,003 (384,363) 27,968,602
Fund balances, beginning of year 3,608,328 B84 078 {B,465,262) 588 712 571,668 (2,234 208)
Fund balances, end of year $ 3757580 & 960,264 8§ 18428162 8 1081806 § 507485  § 26736200

The Notes te Financial Stataments are
an Integral part of these statemsnis,
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CITY OF LANCASTER
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES,

EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL

FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

Net chenge in fund balances - total governmental funds

Amounts reported for govemmantal activities in the statement of activities are
differant because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, In the statement
of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated usaful lives
as depreciation expense. This amount Is the amount of capitai outiay recorded as
capitai assets in the current period.

Governmental funds do not recognize assets contributed by developers. However,
in the statement of activities the fair market value of those assets are
recognized as rovenue, then alfocated over their astimated usefui lives and
raported as depreciation expense.

Depreciation axpense on capitai assats Is reported in the government-wide statement of
activities and changes in net assets, byt they do not require the use of current financlal
resources. Therefore, depreciation expanse is not reported as expenditures in the
governmentai funds.

Current year principal payments of long-tam liabilittes are shawn as expenditures in the fund
financial slatements, but shown as reductions In long-term llabilities In the government-
wide financial statements as follows:

General and certificates of obligation bonds $ 1,100,000
Capfital leases 216,236

The Issuance of long term debt, such as bonds and capltal leases, are shown as "Other Sources®
and "Other Uses"” In the governmentel funds, but are shown on the statement of
of net assets with related costs amortized over tha Iife of the bonds. Differences

consist of the foltowing:
Issuance of Bonds $ (34,985,000)
Bond issuance Gosts 443,781
Amottization of [ssuance costs (38,787)
Amortization of refunding loes (65,664)

Amortization of bond premium/discount 13,605
Current year changes in the long term Eablity for compensated absances do not
require the use of current financial resources; therefore, are not reported as
expenditures in governmental funds.

Current year changes In accrued interest payable do not require the use of current
financial rasources; tharefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmentat
funds.

Cartain revenues in the government-wide statement of activities that do notl
provide current financlal resources are not reported as ravenue in the
governmental funds.

Change in net assets of govemmental activities

The Notes to Financtal Statements are
an integral part of these statements,
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$ 27,969,592

8,230,693

898,883

(3,936,411}

t,316,236

{34,632,085)

87,335

(858,637)

(743,383)
1,668,757



CITY OF LANCASTER

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2010
Non-major Total
Water and Enterprise Proprietary
ASSETS Sewer Funds Fiunds
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,980,140 $ 248,329 $ 7,228,469

Recelvables (net of allowance for uncollectibles):

Accounts 844,700 130,259 974,959

Unbiiled 875,718 87,206 782,924

Due from cther funds 2,851,393 - 2,851,393

Inventory - 46,175 46,175

Total current assets . 11,351,951 511,989 11,863,920
Restricted assets:

Cash 753,857 - 753,557
Deferred bond Issuance costs 278,183 3,008 282,282
Capital assets:

Non-depreclable 4,848 327 4,794,220 9,442,547

Depreclable {nst of accumutated depreciation) 34,5846 311 3,696,702 38,243,013
TOTAL ASSETS 51,679,320 £,005,990 80,585,319

LIABILITIES
Current fiabllities:

Accounts and contracts payable 352,416 288,197 640,813

Accrued jiabilities 248,427 30,170 278,597

Accrued Interest 51,385 2,249 53,634

Due to other funds - 2,851,393 2,851,383

Deposits 753,657 - 753,567

Totai current iiabliities 1,405,785 3,172,000 4,577,794
Non-current liabilities:
Due within ¢ne year 1,282,910 91,681 1,374,571
Due In more than one year 7,877,937 215,866 8,093,803
Total non-current jlabilities 9,160,847 307,527 9,468,374
TOTAL LIABILITIES 10,566,632 3,479,536 14,048,168
NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assetls, net of related debt 30,082,306 8,342,804 38,435,110
Rastricted for debt senvice 731,987 - 731,987
Restricted for capital 5,435,489 - 5,435,469
Unrestricted 4,752,935 {2,816,350) 1,938,585
TOTAL NET ASSETS $ 41,012,697 $ 5,526,454 $ 46,538,151

The Notes to Financlal Statements are
an Integral part of these statements.
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CITY OF LANCASTER
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND
CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

OPERATING REVENUES:
Charges for setvices
intergovermmental
Miscellznaous

Total operating revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Personnel services
Maintenance
Purchase of water
Materials and supplies
Heat, light and powser
Depreciation
Benefit payments
Sewage treatment
Spedial services
Equipment rental

Total operating expenses
OPERATING INCOME

NONOPERATING REVENUES
(EXPENSES)
Interest revenue
Interast and fiscal charges
Impact fee revenue
QOther nonoperating revenue

Total nonoperating
revenues (expensas)

INCOME BEFORE TRANSFERS

CONTRIBUTIONS AND TRANSFERS:
Capital contributions
Operating transfers out

Total contributions and transfers
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS
NET ASSETS, BEGINNING OF YEAR
NET ASSETS, END OF YEAR

The Notes {o Financial Slatements are
an Integrel part of these statements.

Water and Non-major

Sewer Fund Enterprise Funds Total
$ 10,676,700 $ 2,448,667 $ 13,125,267
- 382,600 382,800
139,830 - 138,830
10,818,530 2,831,167 13,647,897
1,244,262 216,747 1,461,000
411,567 157,873 569,240
2,197,353 - 2,197,353
70,754 208,802 369,648
147,403 33,215 180,618
1,384,054 89,764 1,473 818
305,644 56,325 451,869
3,520,703 - 3,520,703
301,678 1,760,565 2,062,243
8,071 29,728 36,797
9,679,389 2,642,907 12,322,298
1,137,141 188,260 1,325,401
15,607 356 15,863
(403,582) {(23,800) (427,382)
107,831 - 107,631
- 24,087 24,097
(280,344} 853 {279,691)
866,797 188,913 1,045,710
565,364 - 565,364
{2,374,236) {7.000) (2,381,236)
(1,808,872) {7,000) (1,815,872)
(852,075) 181,913 (770,162)
41,064,772 5,344,541 47,309,313
$ 41012697 $ 5,526,454 $ 46,539,151
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. CITY OF LANCASTER
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Recelpts from customears and users
Receipts from other funds
Payments to employees
Payments to suppliers

Net cash provided by operating acthvities

CA3SH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Acquisition and construction of caplts! assets
Princlpef payments on debt
Interest payments on dsbt
Payments on capital leases
impact fees collected

Net cash used in capital
and ralated financing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Operaling fransfars out to other funds
Proceeds from olher nonoperating reveniue
Nat ¢cash provided by (used tn) noncapital financing sctivities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIMITIES:
Intarest on Investments

Net increasa in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

RECONCGILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Total cash and ¢ash aquivalents

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH
PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Operating mcome
Adjusiments to reconciie operating income to

nat cash provided by operating aclivities:
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for bad debts
Change In assats and llabilities:
Accounts recaivable
Dua to/ from other funds
Prepaids
Accounts and contracts payable
Accrued liabifiies
Deposils
Compensated absences
Net cash provided by oparating actlvities

The Notes to Financial Statements are
an inlegrel parl of these statements.
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Non-major
Water and Enterpriae
Sewer Fund Funda Total

$ 10741980 $ 2805882 $ 13,547,842
§,005,178 2,048,817 7,054,985
(4,644,718) {267,174) (1,914,8682)
(8,6668,352) {2,234,571) (8,890,823}
7,446,068 2,359,054 9,797,122
(2,814,013) {2,068,571) (4,880,584)
(775,000) (274,796) (1,049,766)
{(405,548) (23,830) (429,376)
(4,845) - (4,545)

107,831 - 107,83t
(3,691,873) (2,385,197) (8,267,070}
(2,374,228) (7,000} {2,381,236)

- 24 097 24,097
{2,374,238) 17,097 (2,357,139)
15,607 356 15,883
4,195,566 3310 1,196,876
6,538,131 245,019 8,783,150

$ 7.733607 § 248326 $ 7,682,028
$ 60980,t40 % 248328 § 7,228,489
753,667 - 753,567

$ 7733687 § 248320 $ 7,962,026

$ 1,137,149 & 183,260 § 1,325,401
1,384,054 89,350 1,473,404
144,992 - 141,992
(269,869) (25,185) (254,854)
5,005,178 2,048,817 7,05t,895

- 10,634 10,534

(897) 18,502 17,805

(128) 18,077 46,861

53,107 - 53,107

{4,812) 5,795 887

$ 7448088 §$ 2351064 5 9,797,122




CITY OF LANCASTER
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The basic financial statements of the City of Lancaster are presented in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles applicable to state and local governmental units as
set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The following Is a
summary of the more significant accounting policies:

A. Reporting Entity

The City of Lancaster (City) was incorporated in 1853. The City operates as a home-rule
city, under a Councii-Manager form of govemment and provides the following services as
authorized by its charter: public safety (police and fire), highways and streets, water and
sewer utilities, sanitation, health and social services, parks and recreation, public
improvements, airport, golf course, planning and zoning, and general administrative
services.

The City's basic financial statements include the separate governmental entities that are
controlied by or are dependent on the City. The determination to include separate
governmental entities is based on the criteria of GASB Statement 14, "The Financial
Reporting Entity” as amended by GASB 39, “Determining Whether Certain Organizations
Are Component Units". GASB Statement 14 defines the reporting entity as the primary
government and those component units for which the primary government is financially
accountable. To be financially accountable, a voting majority of the component unit's
board must be appointed by the primary govemment, and either (A) the primary
government must be able to impose its will, or (B) the primary government may potentially
benefit financially or be financially responsible for the component unit.

The Lancaster Economic Development Corporation (Economic) and the Lancaster
Recreational Development Corporation (Recreational) are nonprofit industrial development
corporations formed in July and October, 1995; respectively, under the Development
Corporation Act of 1979. Both Economic and Recreational are organized exclusively for
the purposes of benefiting and accomplishing public purposes, and to act on behalf of the
City. This includes the construction and renovation of municipal buildings, the acquisition,
improverment and operation of parks as well as other economic development purposes.
The affairs of these corporations are managed by two separate boards of directors, which
are appointed by the City Council. The Clty Council approves annual budgets and
issuances of debt. Economic and Recreational have been discretely presented in the
accompanying financial statements. Separate financial statements of the individual
component units are not available.,
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CITY OF LANCASTER
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — CONTINUED
B. Baslis of Presentation
Govemment-wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements (the statement of net assets and the statement
of activities) report information on all of the activities of the City. The effect of interfund
activity, within the govemmental and business-type activities columns, has been removed
from these statements. Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes
and intergovemmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type activifies,
which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support.

The statement of net assets presents information on all the City's assets and liabilities,
with the difference between the two reported as “net assets”. Over time, increases or
decreases in net assets may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of
the City is improving or deteriorating.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a
given program are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly
identifiable with a specific program of City government. Program revenues include 1)
charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods,
services, or privileges provided by a given program and 2) operating or capital grants and
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a
particular program. Taxes and other ltems not properly included among program
revenues are reported instead as general revenues.

Fund Financial Statements

The City segregates transactions related to certaln functlons or activities In separate
funds in order to aid financial management and to demonstrate legal compllance.
Separate statements are presented for govemmental funds and proprietary funds.
These statements present each major fund as a separate column on the fund financial
statements; all non-major funds are aggregated and presented In a single column.

Governmental funds are those funds through which most govermmental functions
typically are financed. The measurement focus of governmental funds is on the sources,
uses and balances of current financial resources. The City has presented the following
major govemmental funds:

General Fund - The General Fund is the main operating fund of the City. This fund is
used to account for ali financial resources not accounted for In other funds. All general
tax revenues and other recelpts that are not restricted by law or contractuai agreement
to some other fund are accounted for in this fund. General operating expenditures, fixed
charges and capital improvement costs that are not paid through other funds are pald
from the General Fund.
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CITY OF LANCASTER
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — CONTINUED
B. Basls of Presentation -~ Continued

HUD Fund - The HUD Fund is used to account for funds from grants received from the
U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development and transactions reiating to the
Lancaster Housing Agency. The Lancaster Housing Agency provides housing assistance
to low income families

Capital Projects Fund — The Capital Projects Fund is utilized to account for financiai
resources to be used for the acquisition or construction of major capitai facilities.

Generai Obligation Debt Service Fund — The Debt Service Fund is used to account for the
accumulation of resources and for the payment of general long-term debt principal,
interest, and related costs, as well as the payment of lease/purchase items. The revenue
source is principally ad valorem texes levied by the City and transfers in for the payment of
lease/purchases.

Proprietary Funds are accounted for using the economic resources measurement focus
and the accrual basis of accounting. The accounting objectives are determinations of
net income, financlal position and cash flow. All assets and liabilities are included on the
Statement of Net Assets. The City has presented the foliowing major proprietary fund:

Water and Sewer Fund — The Water and Sewer Fund is used to account for the
acquisition, operation and maintenance of a municipal water and sewer utility, supported
primarily by user charges to the public.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating
items. Operating revenues and expenses generaily result from providing services and
producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing
operations. Operating expenses for the proprietary funds include the cost of personnel
and contractual services, supplies and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and
expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and
expenses.

C. Measurement Focus

Measurement focus is the accounting convention, which determines which assets, and
liabilities are included on the balance sheet of a fund type and whether a fund type's
operating statement presents "financial flow" or capital maintenance information per fund.

The government-wide statements and fund financial statements for proprietary funds are
reported using the economic resources measurement focus, which means all assets and
liabilities {whether current or non-current) are included on the statement of net assets and
the operating statemenis present increases (revenues) and decreases (expenses) in net
total assets.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financlal resources
measurement focus, which means only current assets and current liabilities are generally
included on their balance sheets.
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CITY OF LANCASTER
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED
C. Measurement Focus — Continued

Their reported fund balance (net current assets) Is considered a measure of “available
spendable resources.” Govemnmental fund operating statements present increases
(revenues and other financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and other financing
uses) in net curent assets. Accordingly, they are said to present a summary of sources
and uses of "avallable spendable resources” during a period.

Proprietary funds are accounted for on a “net income and capital maintenance”
measurement focus. This means that all assets, liabilities, equity, revenues, expenses
and transfers relating to the activity of a proprietary fund are accounted for through the
proprietary fund. The measurement focus is upon the determination of net income,
financiai position and cash flows.

Private-sector standards of accounting and financial reporting issued prior to December 1,
1989, generally are foilowed in both the government-wide and proprietary fund financial
statements to the extent that those standards do not conflict with or contradict the
guidance of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. Governments also have the
option of following subsequent private-sector guidance for their business-type activities
and enterprise funds, subject to the same limitation. The City has elected not to follow
subsequent private-sector guidance.

D. Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures or expenses are
recognized in the accounts and reported in the financial statements. Basis of accounting
relates to the timing of the measurements made, regardless of the measurement focus
applied.

The government-wide statements and fund financial statements for proprietary funds are
accounted for using the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis, revenues
are recognized when eamed, including unbilled water and sewer services which are
accrued. Expenses are recognized at the time the liabllity is incurred.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the modified accrual basis for
accounting. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized
when susceptible to accrual; i.e., when they become both measurable and available.
“Measurable” means the amount of the transaction can be determined and "available”
means collectible within the current period or soon enough, thereafter, to be used to pay
liabilities of the current period.

Ad valorem, franchise and sales tax revenues recorded in the General Fund are
considered to be susceptible-to-accrual. Licenses and permits, charges for services
(except for sanitation services), fines and forfeits and rents and concessions are recorded
as revenues when received in cash because they are generally not measurabie until
actually received. Investment earnings and intergovernmental revenue are recorded as
earned since they are measurable and available.



CITY OF LANCASTER
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — CONTINUED
E. Cash Flows Statement

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the City considers cash and cash equivalents
to be all unrestricted cash and certificates of deposit with an original maturity date of three
months or less.

F. Investments

Substantially all operating cash, deposits, and short-term investments are maintained in
consolidated cash and investment accounts. Related interest income is allocated to the
various funds based primarily on ownership by each fund of specific investments. Cash
equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with original maturlties of three months or
less.

Investments in U.S. Treasury and agency obligations with maturities of one year or less
when purchased are reporied at amortized cost. Nonparticipating contracts are reported
at cost. All other investments are reported at fair value.

State statutes authorize the City to invest in obligations of the U.S. Government or its
agencies; obligations of the State of Texas or its agencies; and certain other obligations,
repurchase agreements, money market mutual funds and certificates of deposits within
established criterion.

G. Allowance for Uncollectlble Accounts
An allowance for uncollectible taxes including penalties and interest and water and sewer
biled receivables is provided based on an analysis of historical trends. The allowances at
September 30, 2010 were $229,749 for uncollectible taxes, $961,877 for water and sewer
billings, $75,730 for court fees and fines, and $665,800 for ambulance fees is refiected in
the financial statements.

H. Inventory
Inventories, which are recognized as expenditures as they are consumed, are stated at
cost (first-in, first-out) for govemmental funds. Inventories in the General Fund consist of
expendable supplies.

l. Prepald ltems

Prepaid balances are for payments made by the City in the current year to provide
services occurring in the subsequent year.
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CITY OF LANCASTER
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — CONTINUED

J

Interfund Recelvables and Payables

Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type
activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as “internal balances”,

Transactions Between Funds

Quasi-external transactions are accounted for as revenues, expenditures or expenses.
Transactions that constitute reimbursements to a fund for expendituresf/expenses initially
made from it that are properly applicabie to another fund, are recorded as expenditures/
expenses In the reimbursing fund and as a reduction of expenditures/expenses in the
fund reimbursed. Ail other interfund transactions, except quasi-external transactions and
reimhursements, are recorded as fransfers.

Capltal Assets

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and Infrastructure assets, are
reported in the applicable govemmental or business-type activities columns in the
government-wide financial statements and in the fund financiali statements for
proprietary funds. Ali capital assets are valued at historical cost or estimated historical
cost if actual historical cost is not avaliable. Donated assets are valued at fair market
value on the date donated. Repairs and malintenance are recorded as expenses.
Renewals and betterments are capitalized. Interest is capitalized on Proprietary Furd
type asseis acquired with tax-exempt debt. The amount of interest to be capitalized is
calculated by offsetting interest expenses incurred from the date of the borrowing unit until
completion of the project with interest earned on Invested proceeds over the same period.

Assets capitaiized have a useful life of over one year. Depreciation is recorded on each
class of depreciable property utilizing the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the assets. Estimated useful lives of major categories of property are

Piants and buildings 25 years
Other structures 10-50 years
Machinery and equipment 6-10 years

. Accumulated Unpald Vacatlons, Sick Leave and Other Employee Benefit Amounts

Sick leave ig recorded when paid because employees are not compensated for unused
sick leave. Vacation is earned in varying amounts up to a maximum of 20 days per year
for employees with 10 or more years of service. Unused vacation leave carried forward
from one year to the next is limited to 260 hours.
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CITY OF LANCASTER
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — CONTINUED

M. Accumulated Unpald Vacations, Sick Leave and Other Em ployee Benefit Amounts —
Continued

The liability for unused vested vacation leave as of September 30, 2010, is shown as a
liability for compensated absences in the applicable governmental or business-type
activities columns in the government-wide statements and in the fund financial statements
for the proprietary funds. The amount to be paid from current available financial resources
is not considered significant.

NOTE 2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS

At year-end, the carrying amount of the City's bank deposits was $1,749,250 {composed of
$1,574,210 related to the primary government and $175,040 related to discretely presented
component units) and the bank balances were $2,094,161. The bank balances on
September 30, 2010 were entirely covered by federal depository insurance or by collateral
held by the City's agent in the City’s name.

Statutes authorize the City to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. agencies and
repurchase agreements and municipal pools. During the year ended September 30, 2010, the
City did not own any types of securities other than those permitted by the statute.

Governmental investments are categorized as either (1) insured or registered for which
securities are held by the City or its agent in the City’s name, (2) unjnsured and unregistered
for which securities are held by the counterparty’s trust department or agent In the City's
name, or (3) uninsured and unregistered for which the securities are held by the counterparty
or its trust department or agent, but not in the City’s name.

During the year ended September 30, 2010 the City Invested in Texpool and LOGIC funds.
Texpool is an investment fund authorized by the Texas Legislalure and administered by the
Texas State Treasury. The Texas Treasury Safekeeping Trust Company is the trustee and is
a limited purpose trust company authorized pursuant to Texas Government Code. TexPool
operates in a manner consistent with the SEC's Rule 2a7 of the Investment Company Act of
1840. TexPool uses amortized cost rather than market value to report net assets to compuie
share prices. Accordingly the fair value of the position in TexPool is the same as the value of
TexPool shares. Texpool is rated as a AAA money market fund by Standard and Poor’s and
Moody’s.

Interest Rate Risk
The strategy of the City is to maintain sufficient liquidity in its portfolio and structure the
investment portfolio so that securities mature to meet cash requirements for ongoing

operations, thereby avoiding the need to sell securites in the secondary market prior to
maturity.
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NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS — CONTINUED

Credit Risk

In compliance with the City’s Investment Policy as of September 30, 2010, the City
minimized credit risk losses due to default of a security issuer or backer by limiting
investments to the safest types of securities, pre-qualifying financial institutions,
broker/dealers, and advisors with which the City does business, and diversifying the
investment portfolio so that potential losses on individual securities are minimized.

Investments at year end are shown below:

Carrying Fair Weighted Average
amount value Maturity (Years)
Primary Government
Texpool $ 12,946,363  $ 12,946,363 0.003
LOGIC 19,045,089 18,045,089 0.003
Total Primary Government 31,891,452 31,891,452
Component Units
Texpool 1,540,145 1,540,145 0.003
LOGIC 649,982 649,982 0.003
Total Component Units 2,190,127 2,190,127
Total $ 34,181,579 % 34,181,679

NOTE 3. PROPERTY TAXES

Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property as of October 1. Taxes are levied
on October 1 and are due and payable on or before January 31 of the following year. All
unpaid taxes become delinquent February 1 of the following year. Tax collections for the
year ended September 30, 2010, were 97.0% of the levy. Dallas County bills and collects
property taxes for the City. Any uncollected property taxes at September 30 which are not
expected to be collected within 60 days are recorded as taxes receivable and deferred
revenues. Anticipated refunds of such taxes are recorded as liabilities and reductions of
revenue when they are measurable and their validity seems certain.

The statutes of the State of Texas do not prescribe a legal debt limit, nor does the City's
charter provide for a debt limit. However, Article XI, Section 5 of the Texas Constitution
applicable to cities of more than 5,000, population limits ad valorem tax rate to $2.50 per $100
assessed valuation. However, as a city, which operates under a Home Rule Charter,
Lancaster has a debt limit of $1.50 per $100 assessed valuation. For the year ended
September 30, 2010, the City had a tax rate of $.7775 per $100 assessed valuation, of which
$.6441 was allocated for general government and $.1334 was allocated for the payment of
principal and interest on general obligation debt.
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CITY OF LANCASTER
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 3. PROPERTY TAXES — CONTINUED

In Texas, countywide central appraisal districts are required to assess all property within the
appraisal district on the basis of 100% of its appraised value and are prohibited from applying
any assessment ratios. The value of property within the appraisal district must be reviewed
every three years; however, the Clty may, at its own expense, require annual reviews of
appralsed values.

The City may challenge appraised values established by the appralsal district through various
appeals and, if necessary, legal action. Under this legislation, the City continues to set tax
rates on Clty property.

However, if the effective tax rate, excluding tax rates for bonds and other contractual
obligations, adjusted for new improvements, exceeds the tax rate for the previous year by
more than 8%, qualified voters of the City may petition for an election to determine whether to
fimit the tax rate to no more than 8% above the tax rate of the previous year. This legislation
provides that, if approved by the qualified voters in the City, both the appraisal and collection
functions may be placed with the appralsal district. In addition, the City may obtain approval
from its governing body to place these functions with the appraisal district.

NOTE 4. INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS

At September 30, 2010, interfund balances and transactions, excluding discretely presented
component units were as follows:

Interfund Interfund Transfers Transfers
Receivables Payables In Out

General Fund $ - $ - $2485238 $ -
HUD Fund - - - 62,000
Capital Projects Fund - - - -
Non-major Governmental

Funds 38,051 38,051 - 42000
Water and Sewer Fund 2,851,393 - - 2,374,238
Non-major Enterprise Funds - 2,851,393 - 7,000

$2889,444 $2889444 $2485236 $2,485236

The Water and Sewer Fund and Non-major Governmental Funds interfund receivables are a
temporary cash overdraft for & Non-major Enterprise fund and Non-major Governmental Fund.
The interfund transfer to the General Fund from the HUD Fund, Non-major Governmental
Funds, Water and Sewer Funds, and Non-major Enterprise Funds is for indirect services
provided by central service departments accounted for in the General Fund.



CITY OF LANCASTER
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE §. FIXED ASSETS
Governmental Funds

Capital assets of the Governmental Funds are as follows:

Balance Balance
September 30, September 30,
© 2008 Increases Decraases Transfers 2010

Governmental activities:
Capital assets not

being depredated:

Land $ 11898383 § 330474 § - $ - $ 12,337,857

Construction in progress 4,037,011 2,747,596 - {3,004 783) 3,779,844
Total capltal assels not

being deprecistad 16,036,394 3,086,070 - {3,004,763) 16,117,701
Capital assets belng

depreciated:

Bulldings 22,789,952 - - 1,717,244 24,487,196

Improvements 86,328,251 5,226,128 - 1,287,519 92,839,898

Equipment and furniture 14,608,568 817,378 - - 15,425,946
Total capital assets

being depreciated 123,704,771 6,043,508 - 3,004,763 132,753,040
Less accurmnulated depreciation 45,528,344 3,936,411 - - 49,462,765
Total capital assets

belng depreciated, net 78,178,427 2,107,005 - 3,004,763 83,260,285
Govemmental activitles

capital assets, net $ 94214821 § 5193165 § - $ - $_ 99,407,088

Depreciafion expense was charged as a direct expense {o programs of the primary
government as follows:

General and administrative $ 1,226,305
Public safety 863,082
Public works 1,677,339
Community development and recreation 139,675

Total depreciation expense - governmental activities $ 3,936,411
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CITY OF LANCASTER
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 5. FIXED ASSETS — CONTINUED

Enterprise Funds

Fixed assets of the Enterprise Funds are as follows:

Balance Balance
September 30, September 30,
2009 Increases Decreases 2010
Business-type activities:
Capltal assets not
baing depreciated:
Land $ 3596261 $1,283520 % - $ 4,879,781
Construction In progress 1,945 797 2,616,969 - 4,662,768
Total capital assets not
being depreciated 5,542 058 3,900,489 - 9,442 547
Capital assets
baing depraciated:
Plants and buildings 4,887,634 73,414 - 4,941,048
Improvements 54,987,088 697,844 - 55,664,032
Rumways and taxiways 2,796,087 613,002 . 3.410,079
Other structures 938,717 14,905 - 951,622
Machinery and equipment 2,658,003 145,304 - 2,803,307
Total capitat agsets
being depreciated 86,225,529 1,645 459 - 67,770,988
Less accumulated depreciation 28,054,157 1,473,818 - 29,627,975
Total capital assets
being depreciated, net 38,171,372 71,641 - 38,243,013
Business-type aclivities
capital assets, net $ 43,713,430 $ 3.972!130 $ - $ 47,685,580

Depreciation expense was charged as a direct expense to programs of the primary
government as follows:

Water and sewer $ 1,384,054
Airport 22,930
Golf 66,834

Total depreciation expense - business-type activities $ 1473818
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NOTE 6. FIXED ASSETS — CONTINUED
Discretely Presented Component Units

Capital assets of the Lancaster Economlc Development Corporation are as follows:

Balance Balance
September 30, September 30,
2009 Increages Decreases 2010
Lancaster Economic
Development Corporation:
Capital assets not
belng depreciated;
Land $ 100,378 § - $ - $ 100,378
Total capital assets not
being depreciated $ 100,378 § & $ 3 100,378

Capital assets of the | ancaster Recreational Development Corporation are as follows:
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Balance Balance
September 30, September 30,
2009 Increases  Decreases 2010
Lancaster Recreatlonal
Development Corporation:
Capltal assets not
belng depreciated:
Land $ 089,118 § = $ - 3 989,118
Total capital assets not
belng depreclated 980,118 - - 989,118
Capital assets
being depreclated:
Bulidings 16,797,360 - - 15,797,360
Park structures 3,965,808 - - 3,065,809
Equipment amd furniture 384,299 46 447 - 430,748
Total capital assets
being depreclated 20,147,468 46,447 - 20,193,915
Less accumulated depreciation 8,403,925 783,262 - 7,277,187
Total capital assets
belng depreclated, net 13,653,543 (736,815) - 12,916,728
Lancaster Recreational
Development Corporation
capital assets, net $ 14842861 § (736.815) $ - § 13,005,848




CITY OF LANCASTER
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 6. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

The following is a summary of changes in long-term labliities:

Balance Balance Due
Saplember 30, Prior Pedod September 30, Within
2009 Adjusiment Addiions Retremenis 2010 One Year

Governmaniat aciivilies

General obligalion bonds $ 30181531 $ - $22006000 $ (735000) $ 52,441,531 $ 525,000

Cerillicales of cbligation 13,710,000 - 12,000,000 (365,000) 25,345,000 380,000

Premiums on bond debt 306,551 - - {13,803} 201,848 -

Defoermed loss on refunding (0Z3ATY) - . 55,084 (767,813) -

Compensated absences 1,320,180 1,402,019 580,188 {047 521) 2,733,974 470,600

OPEB Iiabilty 23,320 s . 5 23,320 -

CapHal lnases 716,187 - = (216,238) 408,061 216,600
Total govemmenial activilles 3 45,441‘312 $ 1.492|019 5351575i160 H ‘1 MiIGOGI ! 80'560 810 $1 302|380
Business-lype activilies

General obligation bonds $ 8163471 $ - H . $ (505000) § 5648471 $ 535000

Notes payable 417,358 g - (264,708) 152,580 80,008

Cartificates of obligation 2,770,000 - - {200,000) 2,670,000 210,000

Premiums on bond debt 230,647 - - (28,377) 210,270 -

Defarred loss on refunding (85,044) - - 9,153 (75,891) -

Revenute bonds 530,000 - - {80,000) 450,000 80,000

Compensated absences 84,396 - 16,182 {15,218) 5,364 28,260

Capilal [eases A52 546 = - {4 D45} 447,800 441,304
Totel business-lype aclivities $ 10&1@?3 $ = § 18,162 § i1 089|191! i 9&08.374 $ 1|3'MET1
Distretely presented

componen units

Notea payahie 1o primary govemmem _$§ 13,010,000 $ - $ - $ (605000) _§ 12405000 _§& 630,000
Total discrotely presanted

component unite $ 13l01 OEDM 3 - $ L $ (805& $ l2|405i000 i aaa!ooo

General long-term debt consists of capital leases, liabilities for accrued vacation leave, general
obligation bonds, and certificates of obligation, which are direct obligations, issued on the full
faith and credit of the City. Principal and interest payments on the general obligation bonds
and certificates of obligation are secured by ad valorem taxes levied on all taxable property
within the City and surplus revenues of the Water and Sewer Fund and Airport Fund. A
portion of the general obligation bonds has been issued on behalf of the Water and Sewer
Fund. Although these bonds are secured by the fuli faith and credit of the City and have no
specific claim against Water and Sewer Fund assets, debt service requirements are provided
by the Water and Sewer Fund. Accordingly, this debt is reflected as an obligation of the Water
and Sewer Fund.

On March 15, 2010, the City sold $22,995,000 General Obligation Build America Bonds and
$12,000,000 Tax and Waterworks and Sewer System Surplus Revenue, Ceriificates of
Obligation Build America Bonds. The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009
authorized the City to issue taxable obligations to finance capital expenditures that could be
financed with the issuance of tax-exempt bonds and to elect to receive a subsidy payment
from the federal government equal to 35% of the amount of each interest payment on such
taxable obligations. The City will deposit the subsidy payments for the Bonds within the
interest and sinking fund to be used to reduce the amount of regularly scheduled debt
service payments on the Bonds,
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NOTE 6. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES - CONTINUED

General obligation bonds, revenue bonds, cerlificates of obligation, notes payable, and
capital leases outstanding at September 30, 2010, consist of the following:

Total
Govemmental Water Primary
Activities and Sewer Alrport Government

Generai Obligation Bonds

$14,200,000 2002 General Obligation
Refunding Bonds, due In annuai
instaiiments through February 15,
2024, 3.00% - 4.50% $11856531 § 371,191 $ 77200 $12,305,002

$24,300,000 2007 General Obligation
Refunding Bonds, due In annuai
instalments through February 15,
2032, 4.00% - 5.00% 17,590,000 5,130,000 70,000 22,790,000

$22,995,000 2010 General Obligation
Build America Bonds, due in annuat
installments through February 15,
2032, 1.82% -6.53% 22995 000 - - 22,985,000

$52,441,531 $5,501,191 $147280 § 58,090,002

nue

$2,905,000 1995 Waterworks and
Sewer System Revenue Refunding
and improvement Bonds, due in
annual instaliments through
September 1, 2015, 3.90% - 5.60% $ - $ 450000 & - $ 450,000

Cerificates of Obfigation

$3,210,000 2003 Certificate of
Ohbligation Bonds, due In annual
installments through February 15,
2023, 3.25% - 4.50% $ 2400000 $ - $ - $ 2,400,000

$14,565,000 2007 Cerificate of
Obilgation Bonds, due in annual
Installments through February 15,
2032, 4.00% - 4.375% 10,945,000 2,570,000 - 13,515,000

$12,000,000 2010 Cerificate of Obligation
Build America Bonds, dus in annuat

installments through February 15,
2032, 1.82% - 8.53% 12,000,000 - - 12,000,000
$25,345,000 $2!5?0.000 $ - $27,915,000




CITY OF LANCASTER
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 6. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES - CONTINUED

Discretely
; Total Presented
Govemmental Woater Primary Component
. Aclivities and Sewer Alrport Govemment Units
Note pavable
$11,530,000 note payable, due in
annual instaiiments on
February 15, 3.00% - 4.50% § . $ S $ s $ - $ 9,635,000
$3,035,000 note payable, due in
annual inglaliments through
February 15, 2032; 4.00% - 4.375% - - - - 2,770,000
$812,500 note payabla, due In
quarterly Instalimenis through
November 15, 2010; 6.5% - - 62,500 62,500 -
$116,441 note payable, due in
monthly Installments through
July 1, 2015; 7.5% - - 90,080 80,080 -
$ - $ - $152,860 § 1525680 § 12,405,000
Capjtal Leaseg

$1,885,000 Legse Purchase Agreement,
due In monthly instailments through
March 1, 2011; 4.35% - 5.00% $ - $ 435000 5 e $ 435000 $ G

$500,000 Lease Purchase Agresment,
due in annual installments through
January 1, 2012, 4.38% 182,877 12,600 - 195,477 -

$260,128 Lease Purchese Agreement,
due In annual Instaliments through
January 1, 2012; 4.38% . 97,430 - - 165,457 -

$265,987 Lease Purchase Agreamanl,
due In annual instailments through
Septembar 30, 2015; 5.00% 218,654 - - 218,654

$ 498961 § 447600 § - $ 1014588 §

Capital eases represent the remaining principal amounts payable under lease purchase

agreements for the acquisition of equipment through the General and Water and Sewer
Funds,

As of September 30, 2010, property and equipment under capital leases is carried at
$1,111,117, with $283,652 in accumulated depreciation,



CITY OF LANCASTER
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NOTE 6. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES — CONTINUED

The annual requirements to amortize the long-term debt as of September 30, 2010 are as
follows:

General Obiigation Bonds

Flscal Gaovemmental Activtisa Business-typs Activities

Year Princlpal Interest Total Princlpal Interest Total

2011 $ 825,000 $ 3,032,724 3 3,657,724 $ 535,000 ] 252,435 $ 767,435

2012 1,345,000 2,506,807 3,941,907 555,000 230,835 766,635

2013 1,440,000 2,552,662 3,892,852 680,000 207,935 787,035

2014 1,630,000 2,488,418 4,028 418 805,000 161,210 786,210

2018 1,610,000 2,435,031 4,046,031 640,000 160,085 780,085
2016-2020 10,180,130 10,649,010 21,120,148 2,486,862 253,486 2,743,247
2021.2025 12,231,392 8,253,788 20,485,160 243,800 22715 268,324
2026-2030 9,835,000 5,542.413 15,177,413 - - -
2031-2035 7,570,000 2,835,022 10,508,022 S e 5
2038-2040 8,075,000 1,025,060 7,100,080 - - -

Totsl $ 52441531 8 41621005 § 042625 3 5848471  § 1,288600 & 8,046,971

Centificates of Obligation

Figcal Governmental Activilies Buslness-type Activities

Year Principal Interest Total Princlpal Inlerest Total

2011 3 380,000 $ 1,473 477 $ 1,853,477 $ 210,000 $ 101,708 3 311,706

2012 805,000 1,243,738 1,038,736 220,000 23,106 313,108

2013 735,000 1,215,488 1,854,486 230,000 84,106 314,108

2014 780,000 1,192,184 1,872,184 240,000 74,706 314,706

2015 865,000 1,181,120 2,028,120 400,000 87,906 187,808
2016-2020 4,605,000 5,236,318 10,043,318 §80,000 274,856 834,855
2021-2025 5,355,000 4,058,768 8,411,788 600,000 148,641 838,841
2026-2030 4,905,000 2,764,134 7,669,134 320,000 14,216 324,216
2031-2085 3,845,000 1,522,000 5,167,080 - - -
2036-2040 3,180,000 535,840 3,716,048 S S S

Total $ 25345000 § 20407279 § 45752278 § 2570000 $ 857444 $ 3427444

Noto Payable

Fiscal Buslnass-type Activitiss Comporent Ui

Year Principat Inferest Total Principal Interest Total

2011 $ 80,008 $ 50678 $ 85,688 $ 830,000 § 507,049 $ 1,137,048

2012 18,568 3,880 22,248 860,000 484,190 1,134,180

2013 19,734 2,514 22,248 885,000 450,795 1,144,765

2014 20,951 1,287 22,248 715,000 433,380 1,148,360

2015 13,279 o7 13,376 740,000 405,147 1,145,147
2016-2020 - - - 4,215,000 1,530,087 5,745,007
2021-2026 - - . 4,330,000 514,830 4,044,630
2026-2030 - - - 440,000 19,469 456,469

$ 152,660 $ 13,246 § 185,808 $ 12,405,000 $ 4,354,827 $ 16,750,827
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NOTE 6. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES ~ CONTINUED

Revenue Bonds
Flsoal Buglness-type Activities
Year Princlpal nterest Total
201 $ B0,000 $ 24,775 3 104,775
2012 85,000 20,455 106,456
2013 90,000 16,823 106,823
2014 95,000 10,672 106,872
2015 100,000 5,600 106,600
Total 3 450,000 $ 77,626 3 527,626
Capital Leases
Flzcal Governmental Activities Businsse-type Activilies
Year Princlpal Interest Total Principal Interesl Toial
2011 3 218,680 3 20,204 $ 238,064 ] A41,304 3 22,%64 E ] 483,668
2012 150,534 5,864 166,398 6,208 277 8,573
2013 43,730 549 44,279 - 0 0
2014 43,912 387 44,279
2016 44,005 184 44,279
2016-2020 - - - - - -
Total 3 468,961 3 27,268 3 526,218 $ 447 8O0 S 22841 3 470,241

NOTE 7. RETIREMENT PLAN
Plan Description

The City provides pension benefits for all of its full-ime employess through a
nontraditional, joint contributory, hybrid defined benefit plan in the state-wide Texas
Municipal Retirement System (TMRS), an agent multipie-employer public employee
retirement system. The plan provisions that have been adopted by the City are within
options available in the goveming state statutes of TMRS.

TMRS issues a publicly available comprehensive financial report that inciudes financial
statements and required supplementary information (RSI) for TMRS; the report also
provides detailed explanations of the contributions, benefits, and actuarial methods and
assumptions used by the System. This report may be obtained by writing to TMRS, P.O.
Box 149153, Austin, Texas, 78714-9153 or by calling 800-924-8677; in addition, the
report is available on TMRS' website at www. TMRS.com.
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NOTE 7. RETIREMENT PLAN — CONTINUED
Plan Description — Continued

The plan provisions are adopted by the governing body of the City, within the options
available in the state statutes governing TMRS. Plan provisions for the City were as

follows:
12/31/09 12/31108
Deposit rate 7% 7%
Matching ratio (City to employee) 2t01 2to1
Years required for vesting 5 5
Service retirement eligibility
{expressed as age / years of service) 60/5, 0/20 60/5, 0/20
100% Repeating 100% Repeating
Updated service credit Transfers Transfers
70% of CPI 70% of CPI
Annuity increase (to retirees) Repeating Repeating
Contributions

Under the state law goveming TMRS, the contribution rate for each clty Is determined
annually by the actuary, using the Projected Unit Credit actuarial cost methed. This rate
consists of the normal cost contribution rate and the prior service contribution rate, which
is calculated to be a level percent of payroll from year to year. The normal cost
contribution rate finances the portion of an active member's projected benefit allocated
annuaily, the prior service contribution rate amortizes the unfunded actuarial liability over
the applicable period for that city. Both the normal cost and prior service contribution
rates include recognition of the projected impact of annually repeating benefits, such as
Updated Service Credits and Annuity Increases.

The City contributes to the TMRS Plan at an actuarially determined rate. Both the
employees and the City make contributions monthly, Since the City needs to know its
contribution rate in advance for budgetary purposes, there is a one-year delay between
the actuarial valuation that serves as the basis for the rate and the calendar year when
the rate goes into effect (.e. December 31, 2008 valuation is effective for the rates

beginning January 2010).
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NOTE 7. RETIREMENT PLAN — CONTINUED

Annual Penslon Cost

Contributions by the City were $1,764,808, or 12.15% of the covered payroll of

$14,525,485 as required by the actuarial valuation. The total fiscal year 2010 payroll was
$13,565,513.

Annual City pension cost and related information for the last three years is as follows:

Actuarial Information 12/31/09 12/31/108 12131107
Project Unit Project Unit Project Unit
Aciuaral cost method Credit Credit Cradit
Amonrtization method Level % Level % Level %
28 years-closed 29 years-closed 30 years-closed
Amortization period period period period
10-year
Asset valualion method smoocthed markel Amoriized cost  Amortized cost
Assumptions
Invesiment retum 7.5% 7.5% 7.0%
. variea by age varias by age varies by age
Projecled salary increases and services and services and services
Inflation 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Cost-of-living adjustmant 2.1% 21% 2.1%
City specific assumptions
Payroll growth assumption 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Wilhdrawal rates for Male/Femals Mid-High/High Mid-High/High  Mid-High/High
(tow, midflow, mid, mid/high or high)
Schedule of Funding Information
Actuarial valuation date 1213109 12/31/08 12/31/07
Actuarial Value of Assets $ 20362600 § 26431828 $ 26,7354030
Actuarial Accrued Liability $ 45558535 § 42,814,837 $ 42,017,887
Unfunded (Over-funded) Actuarial
Accrued Liabillty (UAAL) $ 16195935 § 16,383,009 $ 15282429
Funded ratio 654.5% 6t.7% 63.6%
Annual Covered Payroll $ 14525485 $ 14507867 $ 13,260,730
UAAL as a Percentage of Covered Payroli 111.5% 112.9% 115.2%
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CITY OF LANCASTER
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 7. RETIREMENT PLAN — CONTINUED

Annual Pension Cost — Continued

The City's net pension obligation (NPO) for TMRS at December 31, 2009, 2008 and
2007 is calculated as follows:

December 31,
Actuarial valuation date: 2009 2008 2007
NPO, beginning of the year $ - § - % c
Annual pension cost;
Annual required contribution (ARC) 1,764,808 1,727,903 1,481,222
Contributions Made (1,764,8086) (1,727,903) {1,481,222)
NPO, end of the year $ - % - 3 -

Supplemental Death Benefit Fund

The City also participates in the cost sharing multiple-employer defined benefit group-term
life insurance plan operated by the TMRS known as the Supplemental Death Benefits fund
(SDBF). The City elected, by ordinance, to provide group term life insurance coverage to
active and retired members. The City may terminate coverage under and discontinue
participation in the SDBF by adopting an ordinance before November 1 of any year to be
effective the following January 1.

The death benefit for active employees provides a lump-sum payment approximately
equal fo the employee's annual salary (calculated based on the employee's actual
eamings, for the 12-month period preceding the month of death); retired empioyees are
insured for $7,500; this coverage is an "other postemployment benefit” or OPEB.

The City contributes to the SDBF at a contractually required rate as determined by an
annual actuarial valuation. This rate is equal to the cost of providing one-year term life
insurance. The funding policy for the SDBF program is to assure that adeguate resources
are available to meet all death henefit payments for the upcoming year; the intent is not to
prefund retiree life insurance during employees’ entire careers.

The City's contributions to SDBF for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2010, 2009 and
2008, were $25,157, $73,918, and $111,113, respectively, which equaled the required
contributions each year.



CITY OF LANCASTER
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 8. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Plan Description

The City provides post-smployment medical care (OPEB) for employees throtigh a single-
empioyer defined benefit medical plan. The plan provides medical benefits for eligible
retirees, their spouses and dependents through the City’s group health insurance plans,
which cover both active and retired members. The benefit levels and contribution rates
are approved annually by the City management and the City Council as part of the budget
process. Since an Irrevocable trust has not been established, the plan is not accounted
for as a frust fund. The plan does not issue a separate financial report.

Benefits Provided
The City provides post-employment medical and dental care benefits to its retirees.
Retirees who elect COBRA cannot later elect retiree coverage. To be eligible for coverage
an employee must qualify under all three of the foliowing:

1. The retiree musi have been covered for medical benefits under the City Health Plan as
an employee immediately prior to termination of employment.

2.Apply for pension benefits from TMRS in accordance with their requirements and
deadlines, but in no event later than ninety days from termination of employment; and

3. Enroll for retiree Health coverage within thirty-one days of the date of termination.

As of September 30, 2010, membership consisted of:

Retirees and baneficiarles receiving benefits 7
Active employees 275
Total 282

Funding Policy

The plan’s premium rates are determined annually by City management and approved by
the City Council as part of the annual budget. Members receiving HMO medical benefits
contribute $412 per month for retiree-only coverage, $824 per month for retiree and
spouse and $1,402 per month for retiree and family. Members receiving PPO medical
benefits contribute $456 per month for retiree~only coverage, $1,005 per month for refiree
and spouse and $1,554 per month for retiree and family. By the City not contributing
anything toward this plan in advance, the City employs a pay-as-you-go method through
ensuring the annual employer contributions each year are equal to the benefits that are
paid on behalf of the retirees.
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CITY OF LANCASTER
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 8. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS ~ CONTINUED
Annual OPEB Costs

The City's annual OPEB cost is calculated based on the annual required contribution of
the City (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of
GASB 45. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is
projected to cover normal cost each year and to amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities
over a period not to exceed thirty years. The City's annual OPEB cost for the current year
and the related information are as follows. at September 30, 2010:

2010
Annual required contribution $ 68,395
Interest on prior year Net OPEB obligation -
Adjustment to annual required contribution -
Annual OFPEB cost 68,305
Contributions made (68,395)
Increase in net OPEB obligation -
Net Obligation - beginning of year 23,320
Net Obligation - end of year 3 23,320
Percentage of OPEB costs contributed 100.00%

Funded Status and Funding Progress

The funded status of the plan as of actuarial measurement date of December 31, 2009
was as follows:

Actuarial accrued liability $ 498,266
Actuarial value of plan assets -
Unfunded actuarial accrued liability $ 498,266
Funded ratio 0.0%
Covered payroll 14,525,485
Unfunded actuarial accrued liability

as a percentage of covered payroll 3.43%
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CITY OF LANCASTER
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 8. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS — CONTINUED
Actuarlal Methods and Assumptions

Projections of benefits are based on the substantive plan (the plan understood by the
employer and plan members) and include the type of benefits in force at the valuation date
and the pattern of sharing benefits between the City and the plan members at that point,
The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to
reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and actuariai value of assets,
consistent with the long-lerm perspective of the calculations.

in the December 31, 2009 actuarial valuation, the projected unit credit actuarial cost
method was used. The actuarial assumptions include a 4.5% investment rate of retumn (net
of adminlistrative expenses) and an annual healthcare cost trend rate of 10.0% initially,
reduced by decrements to an ultimate rate of 4.5% afier ten years. The rete of inflation is
assumed to be 3%.

NOTE 8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Risk Management

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft of, damage to and
destruction of assets; errors and omissions; Injuries to employees; and natural disasters.
The City is part of the Texas Municipal League Intergovernmental Risk Pool. Premiums
are paid to the Pool, which retain a limit of loss. Reinsurance companies insure the risks
beyond those limits. The City retains, as a risk, only the deductible amount of each policy.
There were no significant reductions In coverage in the past fiscal year and there were no
settlements exceeding insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.

Trinity River Authority of Texas

The City contracts with Trinity River Authority of Texas (TRA), a conservation and
reclamation district, whereby the Authority finances, constructs, operates and maintains
sewage transportation and treatment facilities for the benefit of the City. The current
contract is extended through the date until which all bonds have been paid. The City
makes paymenfs monthly, which are based on an estimate of its share of costs. The
City’s share of costs for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2010 was $3,615,468. This
estimate is calculated by TRA who makes adjustments for over/under charges in the City's
next fiscal year. There were no adjustments to the amounts as caiculated by the TRA for
the year ended September 30, 2010.
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CITY OF LANCASTER
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 9. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES ~ CONTINUED
Federal and State Programs

The City participates in several state and federal grant programs, which are governed by
various rules and regulations of the grantor agencles. Costs charged to the respective
grant programs are subject to audit and adjustment by the grantor agencies, therefore, to
the extent that the City has not complied with the rules and regulations governing the
grants, refunds of any money received may be required and the collectabiiity of any
related receivable at September 30, 2010 may be impaired.

Subsequent to the fiscal year ended September 30, 2007, potential improprieties were
discovered and an investigation was performed. The information related to this
investigation has been provided to the Office of the Inspector General for the Federal
Department of Housing and Urban Development and they are continuing the investigation.
The resolution of this matter and financial impact to the Lancaster Housing Agency has not
been determined.

Other Contingencles

There are other claims and pending actions incidental to normal operations of the City. In
the opinion of the City administration, the City’s potential Hability in these matters will not
have a material impact on the financial statements.

NOTE 10. RESERVATIONS AND DESIGNATIONS OF FUND BALANCE / RETAINED
EARNINGS

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report reservations of fund balance for
amounts that are not available for appropriations or are iegally restricted by outside parties for
use for a specific purpose. Amounts are designated within the General Fund's unreserved
fund balance as the City Council has designated current revenues for future period
expenditures of Bear Creek Park.

Reserves of retained eamings consist of rescurces accumulated for the retirement of debt

(reserve for debt service) and the unexpended portion of impact fees which are restricted for
water and sewer improvements {reserve for capital improvements).
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CITY OF LANCASTER
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 11. EXCESS OF EXPENDITURES OVER APPROPRIATIONS

The foliowing funds and expenditure categories had excesses of expenditures over
appropriations at the legal level of control (fund level):

Excess Expenditures

Fund over Appropriations
General Fund 3 1,170,821
HUD Fund 580,173

NOTE 12. DEFICIT FUND BALANCES

A deficit undesignated fund balance of $5,857 and $18,615 exists in the Police State
Seized Fund and Emergency 911 Fund, respectively. The deficit results from the unfunded
expenditures approved by the City. The Clty plans to eliminate the deficit.

NOTE 13. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The date to which events occurring after September 30, 2010 have been evaluated for
possible adjustment to the financiat statements or disclosure is August 16, 2011, the date
these financial statements were available to be issued. During this period, there were no
material recognizable subsequent events.

NOTE 14. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT

A prior period adjustment was made for the correction of prior year's accrued sick leave
liability for the public safety depariment. The prior year accrual had vacation leave accrued but
did not include the sick feave that the public safety department had accumulated. Upon
termination of employment, the public safety department receives thelr accumulated sick pay
and therefore a liabllity for the balance should be included. The adjustment increased the
current year liabilities and decreased net assets on the government-wide financial statements
by $1,492,019.



s,
_-‘ .

Lancaster



REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION



REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

CITY OF LANCASTER, TEXAS

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS FOR PARTICIPATION
IN TEXAS MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT SYSTEM

SEPTEMBER 30, 2010
UAAL asa
Actuarial Valuation Actuarlal Value of  Acfuarlal Accrued Unfunded AAL percantage of
Date Assets Liability (AAL) Funded Ratio {UAAL) Covered Payroll  Covered Payroll
[ (2] 131 14l & 16}
i11/124 -1 14]/18}
12/31/2007 26,735438 42,017,867 63.8% 15,282,429 13,260,730 115.2%
12/31/2008 26,431,328 42,814,837 61.7% 16,383,009 14,507 867 112.9%
12/31/2009 29,362,600 45,568,535 64.5% 16,195,035 13,887,238 116.6%
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CITY OF LANCASTER, TEXAS
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
EMPLOYEES' OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN
ANALYSIS OF FUNDING PROGRESS
(UNAUDITED)
SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

Actuarial Value of  Acluarial Accrued Unfunded AAL
Flscal Year Assels Liability (AAL) Funded Ratic (UAAL) Covered Payroll
M1 [2 I3 4] 51
11/12 [21-0
2009 - 5 408,266 0.0% $ 498,268 § 14,507,887
2010 - $ 488,266 0.0% 3 498,266 $ 13,887,238

UAAL as a

percantage of

Covered P
[6)
4]/ 51
3.4%
3.6%



CITY OF LANCASTER, TEXAS
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCES — BUDGET AND ACTUAL
GENERAL FUND
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

Variance with
Actual Final Budget
. Budgeted Amounts GAAP Positive
Original Final Basis (Negative)
Revenues:
Taxes and fees § 15425632 § 15425632 §$ 16014357 § 588725
Licenses and permits 483,750 463,750 502,840 39,190
Intergovemmental 339,608 339,608 295,736 {43,872)
Charges for services 584,358 564,358 516,420 (67,938)
Fines and forfeits 1,049,822 1,049,822 839,868 (209,854)
Interest 12,818 12,818 7,073 (5,745)
Miscellansous 726,577 726,577 604,188 (122,389)
Total revenues 18,802,565 18,802,565 16,780,582 178,017
Expenditures:
Current;
General govemment 3,070,791 3,070,791 3,332,021 (261,230)
Public safety 13,636,205 13,623,124 13,416,346 208,778
Publlc works 2,225,275 2,225,275 3,243,523 {1,016,248)
Community development and recreation 1,162,108 1,162,108 1,010,385 151,723
Capital outlay 59,500 72,581 360,037 {(287,455)
Debt service:
Principal retirement 73,072 73,072 54,254 18,818
Interest and fiscal charges 18,794 18,794 - 18794
Total expenditures 20,245,745 20,245,745 21,416,508 (1,170,821)
Deficiency of revenues
under expenditures (1,643 180) (1,643,180} (2,835,984) {992,804)
Other finanding sources:
Operating transfers in 1,687 421 1,687,421 2486,236 797,815
Total other financing sources 1,687,421 1,687,421 2,485,238 797,815
Net change in fund balances 44,241 44,241 (150,748) (194,989)
Fund balances - beginning of year 3,808,328 3,908,328 3,908,328 -
Fund balances - end of year $ 3952569 §$ 3952668 $ 3757580 $ (194,989)
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CITY OF LANCASTER, TEXAS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

Revenues:
Intergovernmental
Interest
Miscellaneous

Total revenues
Expenditures:

Social and welfare
Capital outlay
Total expenditures

Excess of revenues
over expenditures

Other financing uses:
Operating transfers out

Total other financing uses
Net change in fund balances
Fund balances - beginning of year

Fund balances - end of year

HUD FUND

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

Varlance with
Actual Final Budget
Budgeted Amounts GAAP Positive
Original Final Basis __(Negative)
$ 8046054 $8046054 $8733102 $ 687,048
5,757 5,757 1,679 (4,078}
59,600 59,600 81,575 21,975
8,111,411 8,111,411 8,816,356 704,945
8,037,997 8,037,997 8,598,376 (561,379)
60,000 80,000 78,794 {18,794)
8,007,097 8,097,097 8,678,170 {580,173)
13,414 13,414 138,186 124772
(62,000) (62,000 (62,000) -
(62,000) {62,000) (82,000) =
(48,588) (48,586) 76,186 124,772
884,078 884,078 884,078 -
$ 835492 $ 835492 $ 060,264 §$ 124,772
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CITY OF LANCASTER, TEXAS
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

BUDGETS AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING

The City adopts an "appropriated budget’ of governmental fund types on the modified accrual
basis of accounting by department. The City is required to present the adopted and final
amended budgeted revenues and expenditures. The City compares the final amended budget
to actual revenues and expenditures.

An operating budget for the General Fund and HUD Fund is legally adopted each fiscal year.

The budget is adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles

(GAAP),

The City generally follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the
financiat statements:

1.

A proposed operating budget including proposed expenditures and the means of
financing them is submitted to the City Councit by the City Manager.

Upon receipt of the budget estimates, the Council hoids a first reading on the Budget
Ordinance and Tax Roll Ordinance. Information about the Budget Ordinance is then
published in the official newspaper of the City.

A public hearing on the budget is held.

Prier to October 1, the budget is legally enacled through passage of an ordinance.
The legal levei of budgetary control is at the fund level, The City Manager is
authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between departments within any fund;
however, any revisions that aiter the iotal expenditures of any fund must be
approved by the City Council. Budgetary control has been established at the detail
level by line item activity for management control.

Departmental appropriations that have not been expended or encumbered by the
departments at the end of the fiscal year will lapse.

EXCESS OF EXPENDITURES OVER APPROPRIATIONS

The following funds had expenditures in excess of appropriations for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2010:

Excess Expenditures

Fund over Appropriations
General Fund $ 1,170,821
HUD Fund 580,173
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FORM OF BOND AND SPECIAL TAX COUNSELS' OPINIONS



[FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION]

October ___, 2011

WE HAVE ACTED as Bond Counsel for the CITY OF LANCASTER, TEXAS, a municipal
corporation of the State of Texas (the “City”) in connection with an issue of certificates of
obligation (the “Certificates”) described as follows:

CITY OF LANCASTER, TEXAS TAX AND WATERWORKS AND SEWER
SYSTEM SURPLUS REVENUE CERTIFICATES OF OBLIGATION, SERIES
2011, dated September 15, 2011, in the aggregate principal amount of § ,
maturing on August 15 in the years through and including ,and as a
Term Certificate maturing August 15, 20__. The Certificates are issuable in fully
registered form only, in denominations of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof, bear
interest and may be transferred and exchanged as set out in the Certificates and in
the ordinance (the “Ordinance”) adopted by the City Council of the City (the “City
Council”) authorizing their issuance.

WE HAVE ACTED as Bond Counsel for the sole purpose of rendering an opinion with
respect to the legality and validity of the Certificates under the Constitution and laws of the State of
Texas. In such capacity we have examined the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas and a
transcript of certain certified proceedings pertaining to the issuance of the Certificates, as described
in the Ordinance. The transcript contains certified copies of certain proceedings of the City; certain
certifications and representations and other material facts within the knowledge and control of the
City, upon which we rely; and certain other customary documents and instruments authorizing and
relating to the issuance of the Certificates. We have also examined executed Certificate No. R-1.

WE HAVE NOT BEEN REQUESTED to examine, and have not investigated or verified,
any original proceedings, records, data or other material, but have relied upon the transcript of
certified proceedings. We have not assumed any responsibility with respect to the financial
condition or capabilities of the City or the disclosure thereof in connection with the sale of the
Certificates.  Our role in connection with the City’s Official Statement prepared for use in
connection with the sale of the Certificates has been limited as described therein.

BASED ON SUCH EXAMINATION, it is our opinion as follows:

(1) The transcript of certified proceedings evidences complete legal
authority for the issuance of the Certificates in full compliance with the Constitution
and laws of the State of Texas presently in effect; the Certificates constitute valid and
legally binding obligations of the City enforceable in accordance with the terms and
conditions thereof, except to the extent that the rights and remedies of the owners of
the Certificates may be limited by laws heretofore or hereafter enacted relating to
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws affecting



the rights of creditors of political subdivisions and the exercise of judicial discretion
in appropriate cases; and the Certificates have been authorized and delivered in
accordance with law;

(2) The Certificates are payable, both as to principal and interest, from
the receipts of an annual ad valorem tax levied, within the limits prescribed by law,
upon taxable property located within the City, which taxes have been pledged
irrevocably to pay the principal of and interest on the Certificates; and

(3) The surplus revenues (limited in an amount not to exceed $1,000) of
the City’s combined Waterworks and Sewer System, after the payment of all
operation and maintenance expenses thereof (the “Net Revenues”), are pledged to
the payment of the principal of and interest on the Certificates; provided, however,
that such pledge is junior and subordinate in all respects to the pledge of Net
Revenues to the payment of any obligation of the City, whether authorized
heretofore or hereafter, which the City designates as having a pledge senior to the
pledge of Net Revenues to the payment of the Certificates.

The City has reserved the right to issue, for any lawful purpose at any time, in one or more

installments, bonds, certificates of obligation and other obligations of any kind secured by a pledge
of the Net Revenues that may be prior and superior in right to, on a parity with, or junior and

subordinate to the pledge of Net Revenues securing the Certificates.

WE EXPRESS NO OPINION as to any insurance policies issued with respect to the

payment due for the principal of and interest on the Certificates, nor as to any such insurance

policies issued in the future.

Respectfully submitted,



[FORM OF SPECIAL TAX COUNSEL OPINION]

October __, 2011

WE HAVE ACTED as  Special Tax Counsel for the CITY OF LANC ASTER, TEXAS, a
municipal corporation of the State of Texas (the “City”), in connection with an issue of certificates of
obligation (the “Certificates™) described as follows:

CITY OF LA NCASTER, TEX AS TAX AND WA TERWORKS AND SEWER
SYSTEM SURPLUS R EVENUE C ERTIFICATES O F OBLIGATION, SERIES
2011, dated September 15, 2011, in i nitial denominations of $5,000 each or integral
multiples thereof, aggreg ating $ . The Certificates m ature, bear interest
and m ay be transferred and exchanged as set out in the Certificates and in the
ordinance of the City  Councilo fthe C ity authorizing the Certificates (the
“Ordinance”). The Certificates are subject to optional redemption prior to maturity as
set out in the Certificates and in the Ordinance.

WE HAVE ACTED as Special Tax Counsel fo r the sole purpose of rendering an opi nion
with respect to the exclus ion of interest on the Cer tificates from gross income under federal inco me
tax law. In such capacity we have e xamined the federal income tax law and a transcript of certain
certified proceedings pertaining to th e issuance of th e Certificates, as described in the Ordinance.
The transcript contains c ertified copies of certain proceedings of the Cit y; certain certifications an d
representations and other material facts within the knowledge and control of the City, upon which we
rely; and certain other customary documents and instruments authorizing and relating to the issuance
of the Certificates. '

WE HAVE NOT BEEN REQUE STED to exam ine, and have not investig ated or verified,
any original proceedings, records, da ta or other m aterial, but have relied upon the transcript of
certified proceedings. We have not assumed any responsibility with respect to the financial condition
or capabilities of the City or the disclosure thereof in connection with the sale of the Certificates.

BASED ON OUR EXAMINATION AS DESCRIBED ABOVE, and on the opinion of West
& Associates, L.L.P., Bond Counsel, dated the d ate he reof, that the Certificates are issued in full
compliance with the Constitution and laws of the St ate of Texas presentl y in effect and constitute
valid and legally bindin g obligations of the City , it is our opinion that, subject to the restrictions
hereinafter described, interest on the Certificates is excludable from  gross incom e of the owners
thereof for federal incom e tax purposes un der existing law and isnot  subject to the alternative
minimum tax on individuals or, exce pt as described, corporations. The op inion set forth in the first
sentence of this paragraph is subject to the condition that the City comply with all requirem ents of
the Internal Revenue Co de of 1986, as amended (the “Code™), that m ust be satisfied subsequent to
the issuance of the Certificates in order that interest thereon be, or continue to be, excluded from
gross income for federal income tax purposes. The City has covenanted in the Ordinanc e to comply
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with each such requirement. Failure to com ply with certain of such requirements may cause the
inclusion of interest on the Certificates in gross incom ¢ fo r federal incom e tax pur poses to be

retroactive to the date of issuance of the Certificates. The Code and the existing regulations, rulings
and court decisions thereunder, upon which the foregoing opinions of Special Tax Counsel are based,
are subject to change, which could prospectively or retroactively result in the inclusion of the interest
on the Certificates in gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes.

INTEREST ON all tax-exem  pt obligations, including the Certificates, owned by a
corporation {other than an § corporat ion, a regulated investm ent company, a real estate investm ent
trust (REIT), a real estate m ortgage investment conduit (REMIC) or a financial asset securitization
investment t rust (FASIT)) will be i ncluded in su ch corporation’ s adjusted current earnings for
purposes of calculating such corporat ion’s alterna tive m inimum taxable in come. A co rporation’s
alternative minimum taxable income is the basis on which the alternative minimum tax i mposed by
the Code is computed.

EXCEPT AS DESCRIBED HEREIN, we express no opinions as to any other matters except
with respect to the excludability of the interest on the Certificates from  gross incom e fro m the
owners thereof for federal income tax purposes.

IN PROVIDING THE FOREGOING OPINIONS, we have relied upon representations of the
City withrespecttom atters solely within the  knowledge ofthe Cit y, which we have not
independently verified, and have assumed the accuracy and completeness thereof.

IN AD DITION, EXCE PT AS DES CRIBED A BOVE, we express no opinion asto an y
federal, state or local tax consequenc es under pre sent law, or future legislation, resulting from the
ownership of, receipt or accrual of interest on, or the acquisition or disposition of, the Certificates.
Prospective purchasers of the Certificates should be aware that the ownership  of tax-exem pt
obligations, such as the Certificates, m ay resultin collateral federal incom e tax consequences to,
among others, financial institutions, life insuranc e com panies, propert y a nd casualt y insurance
companies, certain foreign corporatio ns doing bu siness in the United States, certain S corporations
with Subcha pter C earn ings and profits, individua 1recipients of  Social Security or Railroad
Retirement benefits, tax payers who are deem edto have i ncurred or continued in debtedness t o
purchase or carry tax-exempt obligations, taxpa yers owning an interest in a FASIT t hat holds tax-
exempt obligations and individuals otherwise qualified for the earned incom e credit. Forth e
foregoing reasons, prospective purchasers should consult their tax advisors as to the consequences of
investing in the Certificates.

OUR OPINIONS ARE BASE D ON EXISTING LAW, which is subject to change. Such
opinions are further based on our kno wledge of facts as of the date hereof. We assum e no duty to
update or supplem ent our opinions to reflect any facts or circu mstances that may thereafter come to
our attention or to reflec t any changes in any law that m ay thereafter occur or becom e effective .
Moreover, our opinions are not a guarantee of result and are not binding on the Internal Revenue
Service; rather, such opinions represent our le gal judgment based upon o ur review of existing law
that we dee m relevant to such o pinions and in reliance upon the represe ntations and covenants
referenced above.

HOU 3151204 |



Financial Advisory Services
Provided By

FirstSouthwest‘m

A PlainsCapital Company.




LANCASTER CITY COUNCIL 7

Agenda Communication for
September 26, 2011

AG11-007

Discuss and consider confirmation of a Civil Service Commission

appointment as designated by the City Manager.

This request supports the City Council 2011-2012 Policy Agenda.

Goal 6: Civic Engagement

Background

Our Police Officers and Firefighters serve under the State Civil Service provisions. State
law requires the City to have a three-member Civil Service Commission. It also requires
that the City Manager make the appointments to the Commission with confirmation by
City Council.

We have received a request from Lafayette Miles to be reappointed as one of the three
members of the Commission. There are no other terms that expire in 2011. The City

Manager is now prepared to present his re-appointment, Lafayette Miles, to City Council
for confirmation.

The City Manager respectfully submits the following name for reappointment to the Civil
Service Commission:

LaFayette Miles, term expires 2011
Current members include:

¢ Will Armstead, term expires 2012
o Audley Logan, term expires 2013

Considerations

= Operational - State law requires that the City maintain a Civil Service Commission.
With only three members on the Commission, it is important that all three positions be
filled in order for the Commission to conduct its required business.

s Legal - State law requires that the City Manager make the appointments to the
Commission with confirmation by City Council.
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* Financial — Civil Service Commission members are not compensated.
*  Public Information — There are no public information requirements

Options/Alternatives

1. Confirm the City Manager’s appointment for the reappointment of LaFayette Miles to
the Civit Service Commission.

2. Reject the City Manager’s reappointment and provide direction to the City Manager
regarding the appointment.

Recommendation

The City Manager requests favorable consideration from City Council by confirming the
reappointment of LaFayette Miles.

Attachments
¢ LaFayette Miles application to seek reappointment to the Commission.

Prepared and submitted by:
Dori Lee, Director of Human Resources

Date: September 13, 2011




Anettte Miles 872-218-6042

I l!. Boards and Commissions 2011

Laucaster TRER USA.

Dear Board or Commission member:

Our records indicate your currenl appointment will expire in July 2011. Please compiete the
information below to indicate if ‘you are interested in being reappointed.

= ! "
Ll‘ I; 2 TTE | ) ‘-L H S (b fim o ¥
(Nameg (Board or Commission)

Desire reappointment & Do not wish to be reappointed 0

(Please complete the enclosed application and retumn with this form to the address below or via fax.)

If you wish to apply for a different board, please indicate name of board or cominission on the enclosed
application with this form and return it to the address below or via fax.

7;7 L or é-"z;?_." /1/
Sig@t:'g Date

Deadline is July 12, 2011.

For more information, please call (972) 218-1310. Thank you for your service to the City of
Lancaster.

Please mail form and application to: Angie Arenas, Assistant City Secretary
City of Lancaster
211 N. Heary St.
P.O. Box 940
Lancaster, TX 75146

Fax form and application to: (972) 218-1399

For Office Use Only

mww:ﬂaq@_@zmas Date: (0. 82 1/







LANCASTER CITY COUNCIL 8

Agenda Communication for
September 26, 2011

AG11-008

Consider confirmation of nominations by the Planning and
Zoning Commission for appointment to the Lancaster Historic
Landmark Preservation Committee (HLPC).

This request supports the City Council 2010-2011 Policy Agenda.

Goal 2: Quality Development

Background

Annually, appointments and re-appointments are made to the Boards and Commissions
for the City of Lancaster. The Historic Landmark Preservation Committee (HLPC) is
appointed by the members of the Planning and Zoning Commission and confirmed by
the City Council. The following excerpt is from the Lancaster Development Code:

The HLPC shall consist of five (5) members to be appointed by the Planning and
Zoning Commission and confirmed by the City Council. Of the five (5) members of
the HLPC, at least three (3) shall have experience and/or expertise in the following
fields: architecture, pianning, landscape architecture, building construction or real
estate appraisal. At least one member shall be a member of the Lancaster
Historical Society. At ieast one member shail be the owner of a designated historic
landmark or property within a historic district. All HLPC members shall be
residents of the city and shall have a demonstrated interest in or knowledge of
historic preservation practices and principles.

Terms of Office: HLPC members shall serve for terms of two (2) years with three
(3) member’'s terms expiring in odd numbered years and two (2) members’ terms
expiring in even numbered years.

This being an odd numbered year, three reguiar members and the alternate are up for
re-appointment. Two of the regular members and the alternate expressed a desire to be
re-appointed. One of the regular members did not wish to be re-appointed. The
Planning and Zoning Commission at their September 6, 2011 meeting voted to re-
appoint the regular members, Glenn Hooper and Cheryt Wright, to the Committee and
move the altemnate, Gilles Delaisse, to the vacant regular member position. With the
alternate position open, the Planning and Zoning Commission voted to name Patricia
Siegfried-Giles as the alternate to this Committee. Mrs. Giles was one of two applicants
expressing a desire to serve on this Committee.
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Historic Landmark Preservation Term Member name Desires Notes
Committee (HLPC) Expires Reappointment
Yes No

{P&Z appoints, Council confirms) 2011 Glenn Hooper {Vice Chair) v

2011 Emily Lewis v

2011 Cheryl Wright v

2011 Gllles Delaisse (Alternate) v

Considerations

= Operational - This is an administrative policy established by the City Council.
= Legal - None

= Financial - None

= Public Information - No public notice is required.

Options/Alternatives

1. Confirm the appointments as presented.
2. Take no action at this time. Those cumently seated remain until new
appointments are made.
Recommendation
Planning and Zoning Commission recommends approval of this item.
There is no staff recommendation given for this item.
Attachments
¢ Planning and Zoning Agenda Communication (September 6, 2011)
e New applications
Prepared and submitted by:

Nathaniel Bamett, Senior Planner

Date: September 13, 2011




PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION
Agenda Communication for #5
September 6, 2011

M11-08 Discuss and Consider Annual Appointments to the City of
Lancaster Historic Landmark Preservation Committee (HLPC).

Considerations

it has been past practice to bring this item forward with applications and allow the Planning and
Zoning Commission to fill vacancies in the same manner as the City Council makes appointments
to Boards and Commissions. The only difference is the City Council conducts interviews prior to
making appointments. Two of the current members and the alternate, whose terms are expiring,
are requesting to be reappointed. One of the current members does not wish to be reappointed.

The Planning and Zoning Commission has several options. They are listed below:

Make appointments from new applications.

Reappoint members whose terms are expiring.

Appoint the alternate to fill a regular position and then appoint a new alternate.
Delay some appointments until a future P&Z meeting.

Leave any regular position or alternate position unfilied at this time.

MhwN =

Staff does not make a recommendation on these items. The following table depicts those HLPC
members and their desire for reappointment.

[Historic Landmark Preservation | Term Member name Desires Notes
Yes No
{P&Z appoints, Council confirms) 2011 Glenn Hooper {Vice Chair) v
2011 Emily Lewis 4
2011___| Cheryl Wright v
2011 Gilles Delaisse (Alternate) v

Attachments
e New applications (alphabetical order)
Prepared and Submiitted By:

Nathaniel Bamett
Senior Planner

Date: ___ September 1, 2011







l E Chty of Lancaster, Texas

Boards and Commissions @
Lansacter Application  y _ ¢ T civom,

{ 7
Name: -&ZLG_LZ—ZZOLC& Date: __-
Address: Zﬁlfatﬁ;ﬂa_@,& Zip:

List any particular qualif you feel would be beneficial
pommission. . You may also attach additional sheets 3s well ag
W K s 2T PN A Lcr > 7 g

L CALL% £ L RPLTS a2 2 £ &l
4 2l &d oL 5 A s

To be an effective member of a Board or Commission, you must be willing to attend and participate in
all scheduled meetings.

For consideration during the annual m‘mﬁm.ﬂaumbmitmappﬁmﬁmby
ApMommdeastyoocmﬂuou@omdnmn

r . (
%MMMMM Date

Please return your completed application to the City Secretary’s Office at 211 N. Henry St., or
mail to P. O. Box 940, Lancaster, TX 75146 or fax to 972-218-1399.

. Office Uss Only
Received bﬁ:% Date: _F/2// l






| L BOARDS & COMMISSIONS APPLICATION

L

Zip: _’IL51"\7-0

tome Poame U722 AP S71L  WorkiCell Phone:

.

Laonad Ao _NWM of residency: 39:\ gors
g T -M@ef

Pcoe B8 G Buards/Commissions/Corporations you wish to serve on in order of preference.

' Mﬁ&mﬁm}&&

. -

)

’u#

senved as a member of any Lancaster boards, commissions, or committees?

322D -Q008
qualifications you feel would be beneficial to serving on any pamw cc)i

¥ou may also attach additional sheets as well as 8 resume. e

o Ciuie Leodethp Acaderyy QOO

ol CikizensPudlic Sa.&- ey Dol

member of a Board or Commission, you must be willing to attend and participate in
meelings.

For consideration during the annual appointment process,
please submit your application by

July 11, 2011.
Applications are always welcome as vacancies may occur throughout the year.
<5 ‘!‘ () Date \ o\

=

. o
T L

e "

A completed application to the City Secretary’s Office at 211 N. Henry St., or mail your
Ml P O. Box 940, Lancaster, TX 75146 or fax to 972-218-1399.

Office Use Only

» MMR- Date: Qaq-ﬂ

W g



Patricia

The Artist Cotinge

102 West 7th Street
Lancaster, Texas 75146
972.227.5714

E-mail psg@ijergiles.com

PERSONAL:
Husband, Jorry W. Giles: Artist - Designer

EDUCATION:
Bachelor of Arts Speech and Drams, University of Nosth Texas, 1970;
Double Minor History and English

PROFESSIONAL:
Self-emploved Designer/Astist 1987 to Present
Agency Director Dallas Taping for the Blind, 1982-1987
UMWMMMMWMWM“W&M
Scenic Artist, 1977-1982

VOLUNTEER ACTIVITIES:
Genergl Federation of Women’s Clubs;
International Board of Directors 2006-2008
South Ceatral Region; various appoistments Board of Directors since 1995
Teans Federation of Women’s Claba:
State President 2006-2008, over 4000 members, 12 districts, 172 chubs
mmmmmnmm-msmvwm
2002, Recording Secretary IMQMWWMMM:M!%
Trinity District Volunteer of the Year 1997
Trinity District President 1994-1996; 30 clubs, 11 counties
Waxabachie:
WMWMMMZM.W!MNNM#&TM
Federation of Women’s Chubs General Federation of Women’s Clubs
Lasoecaster:
Historic Landmark Preservation Committoe, City of Lancaster
City Council appointment 1993-2005
Lancaster Cultural Arts Center Task Force, member 2006
Lancaster Historical Society; member 1974, Recording Secretary 2010-2012, President
2004-2006, Vice President, 1996- 2004; Chair Bringing Back the Cly of Trees Project,
Chair Mussum Feasibility 1993-2000; Board of Directors 1992-1996; Vice President
1991; Secretary 1975-1983, Author, Produces, Director Lancaster History Puppet Show -
toured Elementary Schools and one performance Town Square Celebration; Author of two
chapters Lancaster History Book published 1976
Ploasant Run Chapter, National Society Daughters of the American Revolution; member
1994, Regent 1998-2000, Vice Regent 1996-1998
Lancaster Shakespeare Club; member 1977-2008, President 75th Ammiversary 1984-1986
Dallas:
Les Femmes du Monde, member 1998, Secrotary 2009-2011, President 2004, Secretary
2003, varions committees
Women’s Council Dallas Arboretum and Botanical Garden; member 1996, Chair Bulk Mail
M-M.WZWI-MPRﬁrHoWnM Arboretum Dimner Dance 2000
Hugh O’Brian Youth Leadership; Texas North Corporate Board of Directars 1997-2001
Library of Congress Talking Books Progrem; Narrator for 11 years, 1977-1988

HOBBIES:
NASCAR auto racing fan, sometime gardener, collector of Santa Claus & flamingo figurines



Tor Gilas: Potrialo Stegfretd-Cilas
The Cirttat Cottoge 1O2 W ‘7% Stieet $-Hstoria Loncoaler T g 07—

TearGlllas Clrtuwolls Eodk Story

Jor Glax  Attist* Designer * Visionary * Problem Solver  Grew up in Huntsville, Alabama at the
he!ghtofmespaoelaoemmamm&ﬂmwasmtmonﬁon.Hegothvdvedhﬂnalreaswf;as
mnm.mmmrmmumwwwammmmmmm
Production from the University of Texas in Austin in 1973. From there he worked in Dallas, known as “the
third coast’, as a Scenic Artist and painted sets for nationaf stage, screen and television with three shows
he’s paintad on Broadway.

21981 he crossed the foollights, started his own business, and began taking conwmissions to paint in
homes, restaurants and offices. His is one of the most recognized names in the Decorative Arts in the
Metroplex. With 29 years working in homes, Jer is a seasoned professional. He is experienced with new
construction and remodeling pit-falls, knows how to deal with the other trades on the job, and defivers a
masterpiece every tine!

Potricdo SSegfreid-Giles Designer* Director*  Grew up in the Air Force living in six states
and one foreign country. She graduated from the University of North Texas with a Bachelor of Arts in
Speech and Drama with a double minor in History and English in 1970. Her first job out of college was in a
summer theatre in Carisbad, New Mexico where she met Jer Giles who was the Designer and Technical
Director. it was love at first sight and 2011 marks the year of their 41% wedding anniversary.

Patricia is active in many civic and social clubs most notably the Texas Federation of Women's Clubs
General Federation of Women's Clubs. She served as State President for 2006-2008 representing over
4000 members and 172 clubs state wide. She is the past president of Les Femmes du Monde of Dallas,
the Shakespeare Club in Waxahachie, the Lancaster Historical Society in Lancaster and past regent of the
Pleasant Run Chapter of the National Society of the Daughters of the American R jon.

“Together they make a formidable couple providing painted solutions so that homes, offices, and
~en industial spaces become warm, Inviting, friendly and weicoming. As designers and artists they offer
their ciients quality, arfistic integrity, service, attention to their needs and competitive, professional foes.



For Gilas Patiricle SSugfretd-Clilas
“The CLrliat Cottages HOZR W 7 SStreat S-ftatorlo Lornooater T 75100

Clr it/ Duaigeruas/\Astororsy’ Problem Slolver
Murals, custom wall finishes, fantasy finishes

ot St
mmmmmnmdmmmmmamwmmm

Clomaricor T raintng in the Ewropean T
Tuscan finishes, Old World borders and mokding, Asian influences e
Gold leat, siver & metal leaf, traditional faux finishes, faux masonvy,

You name it - we paint it

Polattla
Works from a palette to mix, match, and create his own colors

Konpae Ghrean Studis
Uses watsr base paints since 1980's; no ham o homeowner, the arist, or the environment

CGOY =t lbhe the movies
WWWANBWMMWM.NWNWmmm
thMbMWMMWhm,MNWMEMb

TPrblicrty
Television:

Books:
| gn
Newspapers: Dallas Moming News, Today Papers, DMN Dallas Life Magazine

Cloirs To Faoma
Jer is the artist The State Fair of Texas commissions o paint Big Tex

TerGiles ClLrtwalls waiorgiles com 21«3 A15 0712



IS City of Lancaster, Texas
] Boards and Commissions @
Lancasier Application  y _ ¥ TS cirv o,

Name: ne. Il/ Mamﬂ/ :.i Date:
¥yl

Address: 232 7% r £ /[ Tac. Zip:
Home Phone: Worl/Cell Phone: o/~ 2 / P~ 324 D

9 oel would b eficlal any particular board

as a resume.
LA

may also attagh &

To be an effective member of a Board or Commission, you must be wiling to attend and participate in
all scheduled meetings.

For consideration dmﬁgﬁemﬂ%m,pl«nmbnﬁtwmapﬂhﬂmby
11.
Appﬁmﬁomare:lwmwdconwasvmdmmayownﬂamugbom&emr.

segnammMM Date

Please retum your completed application to the City Secretary’s Office at 211 N. Henry St,, or
mail to P. O. Box 840, Lancaster, TX 75146 or fax to 972-218-1399.

. Office Usp Onl
Received by Date: P24/







| lz BOARDS & COMMISSIONS APPLICATION

i L.
Namg ) . Date: _ 5 -\ .\
Adivem AW TSz S\

Hhomy FRume ; | L} Work/Cell Phone:

Lanad AdDew Length of residency: _ DS 1 0 S

sen cd as a member of any Lancaster boards, commissions, or committees?

LPC o No
qualifications you feel would be beneficial to serving on any panicm ccpi

You may also atiach additional sheets as well as a resume. S M\ eq) ——

‘ot Cwie Leatsp Acade nyy QOO

ol CbizensPudlic Saled emy Lol
e member of a Board or Commission, you must be willing to attend and participate in

meelings.

For consideration during the annual appointment process,
please submit your application by
July 11, 2011,
Applications are always welcome as vacancies may occur throughout the year.

3 y o
B AL - AL - ““.?l:,_“ Date!g}a 'SSQ QO\E

§ your completed application to the City Secretary’s Office at 211 N. Heary St., or mail your
i £ O. Box 940, Lancaster, TX 75146 or fax to 972-218-1399.
~ 43

Office Use Only

" ﬂm‘m Date: __ - A1)




Patricia

The Artist

162 West 7th Street
Lancagter, Texas 75146
Mm.N7.5TNe

E-mail psg@jergilex com

PERSONAL:
Husband, Jerry W. Giles: Artist - Designer

EDUCATION: ,
Bachelos of Arts Speech and Drams, University of North Texas, 1970;
Double Minor History and English

PROFESSIONAL:
Self-employed Designer/Artist 1987 to Present
Ageacy Director Dallas Taping for the Blind, 1982-1987
WWWMMMMummmmnm
Scenic Artist, 1977-1982

VOLUNTEER ACTIVITIES:
Geners] Federstion of Women’s Clubs:
International Board of Directors 20062008
South Central Region; various appointments Board of Directors since 1995
Texas Federation of Women’s Clubs:
State President 2006-2008, over 4000 members, 12 districts, 172 chubs
President-elect 2004-2006, First Vice President 2002-2004, Second Vice President 2000-
MWMIMWWM“MMIM
Trinity District Vohmteer of the Year 1997
Trinity District President 1994-1996; 30 clubs, 11 counties
Waxabachie:
Waxahachie mmmwzm,mmmo.mwmm
Federation of Women’s Clubs General Federation of Women’s Clubs
Lanecaster:
Historic Landmark Preservation Committee, City of Lancaster
City Council appointment 1993.2005
Lancaster Cuitural Arts Center Task Force, member 2006
Lancaster Historical Society; member 1974, Recording Secretary 2010-2012, President
2004-2006, Vice Pregident, 1996- m;m&mmmcnyofmrmm
Chair Museum Feasibility 1998-2000; Board of Divectors 1992-1996; Vice President
lwl;mlw&tm,m,m.mmwm«m-
toursd Elementary Schools and one performance Town Square Celebention; Author of two
chapters Lancaster History Book published 1976
Pleasant Run Chapser, Natiowal SoduyDanglnmoftlnAmichIﬁon;mbc
1954, Regeat 1998-2000, Vice Regent 1996-1998
Lancaster Shakespeare Club; member 1977-2005, President 75th Anniversary 1984-1986
Daliss:
Les Fammes du Monde, member lmmmzou,mmsm
2003, various committees
Wom’sCmcﬂDanasMhuanmandBomimlemlmmnnIanﬂ
m-m,mzwl-mpnhmauwmmm
Hugh O’Brian Youth Leadership; Texas North Corporate Board of Directars 1997-200}
Libeary of Congress Talking Books Program; Narrator for 11 years, 1977-1988

HOBBIES:
NASCAR auto racing fan, sometime gardener, collector of Santa Claus & flsmingo figurines



Tor llax Platricle Stegfretd-Giles
“Tha CLrTiat Qottlaga 1022 W T Streat HitsTorta Lonenater “TIC TElas

TerGiles Qrtuwdlis Fodk Story

For Cilas  Artist* Designer * Visionary * Problem Solver  Grew up in Huntsville, Alabama at the
height of the space race in the town where fallure was not an option. He got involved in theatre as early as
mnm.mmmremwmmmaamofmmnmmm
Production from the University of Texas in Austin in 1973. From there he worked in Dallas, known as the
third coast”, as a Scenic Artist and painted sets for national stage, screen and television with three shows

he's painted on Broadway.

2 1981 he crossed the footlights, started his own business, and began taking commissions to paint in
homes, restaurants and offices. His is one of the most recognized names in the Decorative Arts in the

Metroplex. With 29 years working in homes, Jer s a seasoned professional. He is experienced with new
mmmmmm,mmmwmmemvmsmmmmmnma

masterpiece every tinel

Potricdo Stegfreid(lles Designer * Director*  Grew up in the Air Force living in six states
and one foreign country. She graduated from the University of North Texas with a Bachelor of Arts in
smmwmuMaMbmmmHmmd&glbhm1970.Harﬁ13tioboutofcoﬂsgemma
summer theatre in Carisbad, New Mexico where she met Jer Giles who was the Designer and Technical
Director. It wes love at first sight and 2011 marks the year of their 41% wedding anniversary.

Patricia is active in many civic and social clubs most notably the Texas Federation of Women's Clubs
General Federation of Women’s Clubs. She served as State President for 2006-2008 representing over
4000membemand172dubsstabwlde.$hoishpmtpmsidwofLesFmduMmdeofDdlas.
the Shakespeare Club in Waxahachie, the Lancaster Historical Society in Lancaster and past regent of the
Pleasant Run Chapter of the National Society of the Daughters of the American Revolution.

“Togather MeynHeafomidd:boouplem\ﬁdingpaMadsduﬁGwsomathm,ofﬁms,m
~en industrial spaces become warm, inviting, friendly and welcoming. As designers and artists they offer
their clents quaiity, artistic integrity, service, attention to their needs and competitive, professional fees,



Tor Gilas Patiicio SSlegfretd-Giilea
“The CLeTist Cottoge mwvﬁs&-.tml.an-u‘lxm

Clr Cia T/ Dnsigrer/\istonoryy/ Problem Sobuesr
Murais, custom wall finishes, fantasy finishes

ot Shat
mmmmmﬂmwmmofmm%m

Tuscan finishes, Old World borders and moiding, Asian influences
Goid tsaf, siver & metal leaf, tradiional faux finishes, faux masorvy,
You name it - we paint it

M.agin Poletta
Works from a palette to mix, match, and create his own colors

Kaspas Green Studio
Uses water base paints since 1980's; no harm to homeowner, the artist, or the environment

COY =t lihn the movies

Computer Generated wagnmmmmmm.mmmmmm
MMWBMDMWMMMBMMMMWth
the client via o-mail

FPudbliorty
Telovision:  Designing Texas with Joycelyn White
Michae! Holigan's Your New Home
Books: Vil Décor by Betty Lou Philips
by Rhonda Ralney
Magazings:  Dailas Home Design, Dallas-Fort Worth Design,
Dallag/Fort Worth Home and Design
Newspapers. Dallas Moming News, Today Papers, DMN Dallas Life Magazine

Clobrn To Fomna
HBNWWWF&“TMW&)MBDT&X



